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Davis Graham & Stubbs LLP
1550 Seventeenth Street, Suite 500
Denver, Colorado 80202
(303) 892-9400

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public:
As soon as practicable after the effective date of this Registration Statement.

If the securities being registered on this Form are being offered in connection with the formation of a holding company and there is compliance with
General Instruction G, check the following box. o

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the
Securities Act registration number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. o

If this Form is a post effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act
registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an
emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:

non

Large accelerated filer y Accelerated filer o Non-accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company o
(Do not check if a
smaller reporting Emerging growth company o
company)

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new
or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of Securities Act. o

If applicable, place an X in the box to designate the appropriate rule provision relied upon in conducting this transaction:

Exchange Act Rule 13e-4(i) (Cross-Border Issuer Tender Offer) o
Exchange Act Rule 14d-1(d) (Cross-Border Third-Party Tender o
Offer)

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Proposed Maximum  Proposed Maximum

Title of Each Class of Securities Amount to be Offering Price per Aggregate Offering Amount of
to be Registered(1) Registered Note Price(1) Registration Fee
5.750% Senior Notes due 2026 $600,000,000 100% $600,000,000 $74,700
Guarantee(2)(3) NA NA NA NA

@
Estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the registration fee in accordance with Rule 457(f) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
"Securities Act").

@)
The guarantor is PDC Permian, Inc., a subsidiary of PDC Energy, Inc. that has guaranteed the notes being registered. The subsidiary is identified below
in the "Co-Registrant Information."

3

No separate consideration will be received for the guarantee, and no separate fee is payable pursuant to Rule 457(n) under the Securities Act of 1933.

The Registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the Registrant
shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a)
of the Securities Act of 1933 or until this registration statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting
pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.
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CO-REGISTRANT INFORMATION

The following subsidiary of PDC Energy, Inc. guarantees the debt securities issued hereunder and is a co-registrant under this Registration
Statement.

State or Other

Jurisdiction of
Exact Name of Co-Registrant LR.S. Employer Incorporation or
as Specified in its Charter Identification No. Organization

PDC Permian, Inc. 46-3894005 Delaware
ii
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The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not
soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

Subject to Completion, dated June 13, 2018

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS

PDC Energy, Inc.
Offer to Exchange up to
$600,000,000

5.750% Senior Notes due 2026
That Have Been Registered Under the Securities Act of 1933

For

Any and All Outstanding Unregistered
5.750% Senior Notes due 2026

The Exchange Offer

We are offering to exchange up to $600,000,000 of our outstanding unregistered 5.750% Senior Notes due 2026 ("old
notes") for newly-issued notes with substantially identical terms that have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933,

as amended ("new notes").

The exchange offer expires at 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on , 2018, unless we decide to extend the
expiration date.

We will exchange for an equal principal amount of new notes all old notes that you validly tender and do not validly
withdraw before the exchange offer expires.

Tenders of old notes may be withdrawn at any time prior to the expiration date of the exchange offer.

The exchange of new notes for old notes should generally not be a taxable event for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Please
read "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations."

The New 5.750% Senior Notes due 2026 Offered in the Exchange Offer
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The terms of the new notes are identical to the terms of the old notes that were issued on November 29, 2017, except that the
new notes will be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and there are certain terms
relating to transfer restrictions, registration rights and payment of additional interest in case of non-registration relating to the
old notes that do not apply to the new notes. We will not list the new notes on any securities exchange.

You should carefully consider the risk factors beginning on page 12 of this prospectus before participating in
the exchange offer.

Each broker-dealer that receives new notes for its own account pursuant to the exchange offer must acknowledge that it will deliver a
prospectus in connection with any resale of such new notes. The letter of transmittal states that by so acknowledging and by delivering a
prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an "underwriter” within the meaning of the Securities Act. This prospectus, as it
may be amended or supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with resales of new notes received in
exchange for old notes where such old notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading
activities. We have agreed to make this prospectus available until the earlier of 180 days from the completion date of this exchange offer or such
time as such broker-dealers no longer hold any old notes, to any broker-dealer for use in connection with any such resale; provided that if the
letters of transmittal relating to the exchange offer as provided to us indicate that no holder is a broker-dealer, we will not be obligated to
maintain the effectiveness of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part after the consummation of the exchange offer.

See "Plan of Distribution."

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these
securities or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Prospectus dated ,2018
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ANNEX A: A-1
In this prospectus, unless the context otherwise requires, references to "we," "us," "our," the "Company" or "PDC" refer to PDC

Energy, Inc.

SIS SRS SIS I I I s IS 16 100 o

—

This prospectus incorporates business and financial information about us that is not included in or delivered with this prospectus. You
should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus or information contained in documents incorporated by reference in this
prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. The information contained in this prospectus is accurate
only as of its date or, in the case of an incorporated document, the date of its filing, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or of any
exchange of our old notes for new notes. We are not making this exchange offer to, nor will we accept surrenders for exchange from, holders of
old notes in any jurisdiction in which the exchange offer would violate securities or blue sky laws or where it is otherwise unlawful.

You can obtain documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus by requesting them in writing or by telephone from us at the
following:

Corporate Secretary
PDC Energy, Inc.
1775 Sherman Street, Suite 3000
Denver, Colorado 80203
303-860-5800

In order to ensure timely delivery of the requested documents, requests should be made no later than five business days prior to the
expiration of this exchange offer. In the event that we extend the exchange offer, we urge you to submit your request at least five business days
before the expiration date, as extended. You will not be charged for any of the documents that you request.




Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

Table of Contents

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus contain forward-looking statements within the meaning
of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") regarding our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects. All statements other than statements of historical facts included in and incorporated by reference
into this prospectus are forward-looking statements. Words such as expects, anticipates, will, intends, plans, believes, seeks, estimates, projects,
targets, aims and similar expressions or variations of such words are intended to identify forward-looking statements herein.

Although forward-looking statements contained and incorporated by reference in this prospectus reflect our good faith judgment, such
statements can only be based on facts and factors currently known to us. Consequently, forward-looking statements are inherently subject to
risks and uncertainties, including known and unknown risks and uncertainties incidental to the exploration for, and the acquisition, development,
production and marketing of, crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids, and actual outcomes may differ materially from the results and
outcomes discussed in the forward-looking statements.

Furthermore, we urge you to carefully review and consider the cautionary statements and disclosures made in this prospectus and the
documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus, including the risks and uncertainties that could affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows as discussed in the "Risk Factors" section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2017, as amended (the "2017 Form 10-K"). We caution you not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which
speak only as of the respective dates on which they were made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements in order to
reflect any event or circumstance occurring after the date of this prospectus or currently unknown facts or conditions or the occurrence of
unanticipated events. If we do update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that we will make additional
updates with respect to those or other forward-looking statements.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. This summary does not contain all the information
you should consider before making an investment decision. You should read this entire prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference
in this prospectus carefully before making an investment decision. Please read the section entitled "Risk Factors" commencing on page 12 of
this prospectus and additional information contained in our 2017 Form 10-K incorporated by reference in this prospectus for more information
about important factors you should consider before making an investment decision.

Our Company

We are a domestic independent exploration and production company that acquires, explores, and develops properties for the production of
crude oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids. Our primary operations are located in the Wattenberg Field in Colorado and the Delaware Basin in
Texas. Our operations in the Wattenberg Field are focused on the Niobrara and Codell formations and our Delaware Basin operations are
currently focused on the Wolfcamp zones.

Corporate information
Our common stock is quoted on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol "PDCE."

Our principal executive offices are located at 1775 Sherman Street, Suite 3000, Denver, Colorado 80203. Our telephone number is
303-860-5800.

We also maintain an internet website at www.pdce.com, which contains information about us. Our website and the information contained in
and connected to it are not a part of or incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

Summary of the Exchange Offer

On November 29, 2017, we completed a private offering of $600,000,000 principal amount of unregistered 5.750% Senior Notes due 2026
(the "old notes"). We entered into a registration rights agreement with the initial purchasers in the private offering in which we agreed to,
among other things, offer new notes with substantially identical terms in exchange for the old notes.

Exchange Offer We are offering to exchange our 5.750% Senior Notes due 2026
registered under the Securities Act, which we refer to as "new notes,"
for any and all of our outstanding old notes. We sometimes refer to
the old notes and the new notes collectively as the "notes," and, as
used herein, "notes" is used to describe terms equally applicable to
the old notes and new notes. The old notes may be tendered in an
amount equal to $2,000 in principal amount or in integral multiples
of $1,000 in excess of $2,000. In order to exchange an old note, you
must follow the required procedures and we must accept the old note
for exchange. We will exchange all old notes validly offered for
exchange, or "tendered," and not validly withdrawn. As of the date of
this prospectus, there is $600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of
old notes outstanding.




Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

Table of Contents

Expiration Date

Participation in the Exchange Offer and Resale of the New Notes

The exchange offer expires at 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time,

on , 2018, unless we decide to extend the expiration date.
We reserve the right, in our sole discretion, to extend the exchange
offer, delay accepting for exchange any old notes in connection with
the extension of the exchange offer, terminate the exchange offer, or
amend the terms of the exchange offer in any way we determine. If
we amend the exchange offer in a manner that we determine to
constitute a material change, or if we waive a material condition, we
will extend the offer such that at least five business days remain in
the offer following notice of a material change. Pursuant to the terms
of the registration rights agreement, the expiration date of the
exchange offer may not be less than twenty business days following
commencement of the exchange offer. The term "expiration date"
means the latest date and time to which we extend the exchange
offer.

Based on interpretive letters of the SEC staff to third parties, we
believe that you may participate in the exchange offer and may offer
for resale, resell and otherwise transfer the new notes issued pursuant
to the exchange offer without compliance with the registration and
prospectus delivery provisions of the Securities Act, if you:

are not an "affiliate" of ours, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act;

are not a broker-dealer that acquired the old notes directly from us;

are not engaged in and do not intend to engage in, and have no
arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in, a
distribution of new notes to be issued in the exchange offer;

will acquire the new notes issued in the exchange offer in the
ordinary course of your business; and

are not acting on behalf of any person who could not truthfully and
completely make the foregoing representations.

In addition, if you are a broker-dealer that will acquire new notes
pursuant to the exchange offer in exchange for old notes that you
acquired as a result of market-making or other trading activities, you
must comply with the prospectus delivery requirements of the
Securities Act in connection with a resale of the new notes as
described in this summary under "Restrictions on Sale by
Broker-Dealers" below.

10
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Restrictions on Sale by Broker-Dealer

Consequences If You Do Not Exchange Your Old Notes

Conditions

Procedures Applicable to Old Notes Held in Book-Entry Form
with DTC

We base our belief on interpretations by the SEC staff in certain
no-action letters issued to other issuers in exchange offers like ours.
We cannot guarantee that the SEC Staff would make a similar
decision about our exchange offer. If our belief is wrong, you could
incur liability under the Securities Act. We will not protect you
against any loss incurred as a result of this liability under the
Securities Act.

By tendering your notes as described in "The Exchange

Offer Procedures for Tendering," you will be making representations
to this effect. If you fail to satisfy any of these conditions, you cannot
rely on the position of the SEC set forth in the no-action letters
referred to above, you may not tender your old notes in the exchange
offer, and you must comply with the applicable registration and
prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act in connection
with a resale of the new notes.

If you are a broker dealer that has received new notes for your own
account in exchange for old notes that were acquired as a result of
market making or other trading activities, you must (i) inform us per
the instructions in the letter of transmittal and (ii) represent that you
will comply with the prospectus delivery requirements of the
Securities Act in connection with any resale of the new notes. A
broker dealer that so informs us may use this prospectus until

180 days from the completion date of this exchange offer.

If you are eligible to participate in the exchange offer and you do not
tender your old notes, you will not have any further registration or
exchange rights, and your old notes will continue to be subject to
transfer restrictions. These transfer restrictions and the availability of
new notes could adversely affect the trading market for your old
notes.

The exchange offer is subject to certain customary conditions, which
we may waive, as described below under "The Exchange

Offer Conditions to the Exchange Offer."

The old notes were issued as global securities. Beneficial interests in
old notes held by participants in The Depository Trust Company
("DTC") are shown on, and transfers of these interests are effected
only through, records maintained in book-entry form by DTC with
respect to its participants.

11
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If you hold your old notes in the form of book-entry interests and you
wish to tender your old notes for exchange pursuant to the exchange
offer, you must transmit to U.S. Bank National Association, as
Exchange Agent (the "Exchange Agent"), on or prior to the
Expiration Date, either:

a computer-generated message transmitted by means of DTC's
Automated Tender Offer Program system and received by the
Exchange Agent and forming a part of a confirmation of book-entry
transfer, in which you acknowledge and agree to be bound by the
terms of the letter of transmittal; or

a written or facsimile copy of a properly completed and duly
executed letter of transmittal, including all other documents required
by the letter of transmittal, to the Exchange Agent at the address set
forth on the cover page of the letter of transmittal.

In addition, in order to deliver old notes held in the form of
book-entry interests, a timely confirmation of book-entry transfer of
such old notes into the Exchange Agent's account at DTC pursuant to
the procedure for book-entry transfers described under "The
Exchange Offer Procedures for Tendering Procedures Applicable to
Old Notes Held in Book-Entry Form with DTC" must be received by
the Exchange Agent prior to the Expiration Date.

A form of letter of transmittal accompanies this prospectus. By
executing the letter of transmittal or delivering a computer-generated
message through DTC's Automated Tender Offer Program system,
you will represent to us, among other things, your eligibility to
participate in the exchange offer.

No definitive certificated old notes are issued and outstanding as of
the date of this prospectus. If you acquire certificated old notes prior
to the expiration of the exchange offer, you must tender your
certificated old notes in accordance with the procedures described in
this prospectus under the heading "The Exchange Offer Procedures
for Tendering Procedures Applicable to Holders of Certificated Old
Notes."

If you are a beneficial owner whose old notes are registered in the
name of a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other
nominee and wish to tender such old notes in the exchange offer,
please contact the registered holder as soon as possible and instruct
them to tender on your behalf and comply with our instructions set
forth elsewhere in this prospectus and the letter of transmittal. Please
see the procedures described in this prospectus under the heading
"The Exchange Offer Procedures for Tendering Procedures Applicable
to Beneficial Holders."

12
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Withdrawal of Tenders You may withdraw your tender of old notes under the exchange offer
at any time prior to 5 p.m., Eastern Time, on the expiration date.
Fees and Expenses We will bear all expenses related to the exchange offer. Please refer

to the section in this prospectus entitled "The Exchange Offer Fees
and Expenses."

Use of Proceeds The issuance of the new notes will not provide us with any new
proceeds. We are making this exchange offer solely to satisfy our
obligations under the registration rights agreement.

Tax Consequences The exchange of new notes for old notes in the exchange offer should
generally not be a taxable event for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
Please read "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations."

Exchange Agent U.S. Bank National Association is serving as Exchange Agent in
connection with the exchange offer. You should direct questions and
requests for assistance, for additional copies of this prospectus or the
letter of transmittal to the Exchange Agent addressed as follows:
Attn: Specialized Finance, telephone number 800-934-6802. Eligible
institutions may make requests by facsimile at 651-466-7367.

Summary of the Terms of the New Notes

The following summary contains basic information about the new notes and is not intended to be complete. It does not contain all the

information that is important to you. For a more complete understanding of the new notes, please refer to the section of this prospectus entitled

"Description of the New Notes."

Issuer PDC Energy, Inc.

Securities $600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of our 5.750% senior notes
due 2026.

Maturity May 15, 2026.

Interest Payment Dates May 15 and November 15, commencing May 15, 2018.

Guarantees Each of our domestic subsidiaries that is a "material subsidiary" (as

defined in "Description of the New Notes") and guarantees our
revolving credit facility must guarantee the notes ("Subsidiary
Guarantors"). Our only current Subsidiary Guarantor is PDC
Permian, Inc. Any such guarantee of the notes may be released under
certain circumstances.

Ranking The notes will be our general unsecured senior obligations.
Accordingly, they will:

rank senior in right of payment to all existing and future subordinated
unsecured indebtedness of PDC;

13
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Optional Redemption

Change of Control Triggering Event; Asset Sales

rank pari passu in right of payment with any existing and future
senior unsecured indebtedness of PDC, including our existing
6.125% senior notes due 2024 and our existing 1.125% convertible
senior notes due 2021 (sometimes referred to collectively as our
"existing senior notes");

rank effectively junior in right of payment to PDC's existing and
future secured indebtedness, including indebtedness under our
revolving credit facility (sometimes referred to as the "Senior Credit
Agreement"), to the extent of the assets of PDC constituting
collateral securing that indebtedness; and

be unconditionally guaranteed by Subsidiary Guarantors on a senior
unsecured basis.

The notes are not redeemable until May 15, 2021. On and after

May 15, 2021, PDC may redeem all or a part of the notes, in each
case at the redemption price described under "Description of the New
Notes Optional Redemption," together with any accrued and unpaid
interest to the date of redemption.

Prior to May 15, 2021, PDC may redeem up to 35% of the principal
amount of the notes with all or a portion of the net cash proceeds of
certain equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 105.750% of
the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any,
on the notes redeemed to the redemption date (subject to the right of
holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due
on the relevant interest payment date), if at least 65% of the
aggregate principal amount of the notes issued under the indenture
(excluding notes held by PDC and its subsidiaries) remains
outstanding after each such redemption and the redemption occurs
within 180 days after the closing of such equity offering.

Upon the occurrence of a change of control triggering event (as
defined in the indenture for the notes), holders of the notes will have
the right to require us to repurchase all or a portion of the notes at a
price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes
repurchased, together with any accrued and unpaid interest to the
date of purchase. In connection with certain asset sales, we may,
under certain circumstances, be required to use the net cash proceeds
of such asset sale to make an offer to purchase the notes at 100% of
the principal amount, together with any accrued and unpaid interest
to the date of purchase. See "Description of the New

Notes Repurchase at the Option of Holders Change of Control
Triggering Event" and " Asset Sales."

14



Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

Table of Contents

Certain Covenants

Absence of Established Market for the Notes

Trustee
Governing Law

Risk Factors

The indenture governing the notes will contain covenants that,
among other things, limit our ability and the ability of our
subsidiaries to:

borrow money;

pay dividends or make other distributions on stock;

purchase or redeem stock or subordinated indebtedness;

make investments;

create certain liens;

enter into agreements that restrict distributions or other payments
from our restricted subsidiaries;

enter into transactions with affiliates;

sell assets;

consolidate with or merge with or into other companies or transfer all
or substantially all our assets; and

create unrestricted subsidiaries.

These covenants are subject to important exceptions and
qualifications. See "Description of the New Notes Covenants."

If the notes achieve an investment grade rating from either S&P or
Moody's and no default exists with respect to the notes, our
obligation to comply with many of the covenants will be suspended.
If the ratings from both S&P and Moody's subsequently decline to
below investment grade, the covenants will be reinstated as of the
date of such ratings decline. See "Description of the New

Notes Covenant Suspension."

The new notes generally will be freely transferable, but will also be
new securities for which there will not initially be a market.
Accordingly, we cannot assure you as to the development or liquidity
of any market for the new notes. We do not intend to apply for a
listing of the notes on any securities exchange or for the inclusion of
the new notes on any automated dealer quotation system.

U.S. Bank National Association.

The notes offered hereby and the indenture relating to the notes will
be governed by New York law.

Investing in the new notes involves risks. You should consider all of
the information contained in this prospectus before making an
investment in the new notes. In particular, you should consider the
factors described under "Risk Factors" beginning on page 12, risks
incorporated by reference into this prospectus, and the other

15
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cautionary language statements throughout this prospectus, for a
discussion of factors you should carefully consider before deciding to
invest in the new notes.

9
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Statement of Operations (From Continuing
Operations)(3):

Crude oil, natural gas, and NGLs sales
Commodity price risk management gain (loss), net
Total revenues

Income (loss) from continuing operations

Earnings per share from continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted

Statement of Cash Flows:
Net cash flows from:
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Three
Months
Ended/As

of

March 31,

$

Capital expenditures from development of crude oil and

natural gas properties(4)
Acquisition of crude oil and natural gas properties,

including settlement adjustments and deposit for pending

acquisition

Balance Sheet:
Total assets
Working capital (deficit)

2018

305.2

(47.2)

260.6
0.3)

(0.20)
(0.20)

205.1
(338.5)
(2.6)

196.9

180.8

2017(1)

Year Ended/As of December 31,
2016(2) 2015

(in millions, except per share data and as noted)

$ 9131
(3.9)

921.6
(127.5)

$ (194
(1.94)

$ 588.6
(717.0)
65.0

737.2

15.6

$

$

$

$ 45222 $ 44199 $

Total debt, net of unamortized discount and debt issuance

costs
Total equity
Average Pricing and Production Expenses From

Continuing Operations (per Boe and as a percent of

sales for production taxes) :

Crude oil equivalent sales price (excluding net settlements

on derivatives)

Lease operating expenses

Transportation, gathering, and processing expenses
Production taxes

Production taxes as a percent of sales

Production (MBoe):

Production from continuing operations
Production from discontinued operations

Total production

&hH PH BB

(223.7)

1,154.5
2,497.4

34.26
3.33
0.82
2.26

6.6%

8,908

8,908

(16.4)

1,151.9
2,507.6

31,830

31,830

@hH PH LB

4974 $§ 3787
(125.7) 203.2
382.9 595.3
(245.9) (68.3)
(s.01) $ (174
(5.01) (1.74)
4863 $ 411.1
(1,509.1) (604.3)
1,266.1 178.0
436.9 599.5
1,073.7
44858 $ 2,370.5
129.2 30.7
1,044.0 642.4
2,622.8 1,287.2
2243 §  24.64
270 $ 3.71
083 $ 0.66
142 $ 1.20
6.3% 4.9%
22,176 15,369
22,176 15,369

2014 2013
$ 4714 $  340.8
310.3 (23.9)
856.2 392.7
107.3 21.1)

$ 300 $ (0.65)
2.93 (0.65)

$ 2367 $ 1592
(474.1) (217.1)
60.3 248.7
623.8 384.7
9.7

$ 23311 $ 1,991.7
89.5 90.0
655.5 593.9
1,137.4 967.6
$ 5072 $ 5223
$ 456 $ 518
$ 049 $ 079
$ 276 $ 333
5.4% 6.4%
9,294 6,525
1,093 2,032
10,387 8,557
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Total proved reserves (MMBoe)(5) 452.9 341.4 272.8 250.1 265.8

e))

@

In 2017, we recorded an unproved and proved property impairment charge of $285.5 million. See footnote titled Properties and
Equipment Impairment of Properties and Equipment to our consolidated financial statements included in the 2017 Form 10-K for
further information regarding this impairment charge.

In 2016, we closed an acquisition in the Delaware Basin for aggregate consideration of approximately $1.76 billion. See footnotes
titled Properties and Equipment Delaware Basin Acreage Acquisition and Business

10
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Combination to our consolidated financial statements included in the 2017 Form 10-K for further information regarding this

acquisition.
3)
In 2014, we completed the sale of our ownership interest in PDC Mountaineer, LLC ("PDCM"). Our proportionate share of PDCM's
Marcellus Shale results of operations have been separately reported as discontinued operations for 2014 and 2013.
C))
Includes impact of change in accounts payable related to capital expenditures.
&)

Includes total proved reserves related to our Marcellus Shale and shallow Upper Devonian Appalachian Basin assets of 40 MMBoe as
of December 31, 2013. PDCM, which owned these reserves, was sold in late 2014.

11
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in the new notes involves risks. In addition to the other information set forth elsewhere or incorporated by reference in this
prospectus (including the risk factors included in our 2017 Form 10-K) the following factors relating to the exchange offer and the notes should
be considered carefully in deciding whether to participate in the exchange offer.

Risks Relating to the Exchange Offer
Your old notes will not be accepted for exchange if you fail to follow the procedures for the exchange offer.

We will not accept your old notes for exchange if you do not follow the procedures for the exchange offer. We are under no duty to give
notification of defects or irregularities with respect to the tenders of old notes for exchange. If there are defects or irregularities with respect to
your tender of old notes, we may not accept your old notes for exchange.

An active trading market may not develop for the new notes.

The new notes are a new issue of securities, and there is no established trading market for the new notes. An active trading market for the
new notes may not develop, in which case the market price and liquidity of the new notes may be adversely affected. In addition, you may not be
able to sell your new notes at a particular time or at a price favorable to you. Future trading prices of the new notes will depend on many factors,
including prevailing interest rates, our results of operations and financial condition, political and economic developments, the market for similar
securities, and the other factors described in this section and the risk factor disclosure incorporated by reference in this prospectus. It is possible
that the market for the new notes will be subject to disruptions. A disruption may have a negative effect on you as a holder of the new notes,
regardless of our prospects or performance.

Risks Associated with our Indebtedness and the Notes
We may be unable to fulfill our obligations under the notes.

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness. As a result, a significant portion of our cash flow will be required to pay interest and
principal on our indebtedness, and we may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations, or have future borrowing capacity available, to
enable us to repay our indebtedness, including the notes, or to fund other liquidity needs. As of March 31, 2018, we had approximately
$1.2 billion in outstanding indebtedness, including the old notes.

Servicing our indebtedness and satisfying our other obligations will require a significant amount of cash. Our cash flow from operating
activities and other sources may not be sufficient to fund our liquidity needs. Our ability to pay interest and principal on our indebtedness and to
satisfy our other obligations will depend on our future operating performance and financial condition and the availability of refinancing
indebtedness, which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions and financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our
control. We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations, or that future borrowings will be available to
us under our revolving credit facility or otherwise, in an amount sufficient to fund our liquidity needs, including the payment of principal and
interest on the notes.

A substantial decrease in our operating cash flow or an increase in our expenses could make it difficult for us to meet debt service
requirements and could require us to modify our operations, including by curtailing our exploration and drilling programs, selling assets,
reducing our capital expenditures, refinancing all or a portion of our existing debt or obtaining additional financing. These alternative measures
may not be successful and may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will
depend on the condition of the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher
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interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations.

In addition, the terms of future debt agreements may, and our existing debt agreements will, restrict us from implementing some of these
alternatives. In the absence of adequate cash from operations and other available capital resources, we could face substantial liquidity problems
and might be required to dispose of material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations. We may not be able to
consummate these dispositions for fair market value or at all. Furthermore, any proceeds that we could realize from any dispositions may not be
adequate to meet our debt service obligations then due.

Covenants in the indentures governing the notes and our existing senior notes and in our revolving credit facility currently impose, and
future financing agreements may impose, significant operating and financial restrictions.

The indentures governing the notes and our existing senior notes and our revolving credit facility contain restrictions, and future financing
agreements may contain additional restrictions, on our activities, including covenants that restrict our and our restricted subsidiaries' ability to:

incur additional debt;

pay dividends on, redeem or repurchase stock;

create liens;

make specified types of investments;

apply net proceeds from certain asset sales;

engage in transactions with our affiliates;

engage in sale and leaseback transactions;

merge or consolidate;

restrict dividends or other payments from restricted subsidiaries;

sell equity interests of restricted subsidiaries; and

sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or dispose of assets.

Our revolving credit facility is secured by substantially all of our oil and gas properties as well as a pledge of all ownership interests in

operating subsidiaries. The restrictions contained in our debt agreements may prevent us from taking actions that we believe would be in the best
interest of our business, and may make it difficult for us to successfully execute our business strategy or effectively compete with companies that

are not similarly restricted. We may also incur future debt obligations that might subject us to additional restrictive covenants that could affect
our financial and operational flexibility.

If we are unable to comply with the restrictions and covenants in the agreements governing the notes and other debt, there could be a
default under the terms of these agreements, which could result in an acceleration of payment of funds that we have borrowed and would
impact our ability to make principal and interest payments on the notes.
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Any default under the agreements governing our indebtedness, including a default under our revolving credit facility that is not waived by

the required lenders, and the remedies sought by the holders of any such indebtedness, could make us unable to pay principal and interest on the
notes and substantially decrease the market value of the notes. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow
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and are otherwise unable to obtain funds necessary to meet required payments of principal and interest on our indebtedness, or if we otherwise
fail to comply with the various covenants, including financial and operating covenants, in the instruments governing our indebtedness, we could
be in default under the terms of the agreements governing such indebtedness.

In the event of such default, the holders of such indebtedness could elect to declare all the funds borrowed thereunder to be due and
payable, together with accrued and unpaid interest, the lenders under our revolving credit facility could elect to terminate their commitments,
cease making further loans and institute foreclosure proceedings against our assets, and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation. If our
operating performance declines, we may in the future need to seek to obtain waivers from the required lenders under our revolving credit facility
to avoid being in default. If we breach our covenants under our revolving credit facility and seek a waiver, we may not be able to obtain a waiver
from the required lenders. If this occurs, we would be in default under our revolving credit facility, the lenders could exercise their rights as
described above, and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation. We cannot assure you that we will be granted waivers or amendments to
our debt agreements if for any reason we are unable to comply with these agreements, or that we will be able to refinance our debt on terms
acceptable to us, or at all.

Notwithstanding our current indebtedness levels and restrictive covenants, we may still be able to incur substantial additional debt or
make certain restricted payments, which could exacerbate the risks described above.

We may be able to incur additional debt in the future. Although the indentures governing the notes and our existing senior notes contain
restrictions on our ability to incur indebtedness, those restrictions are subject to a number of exceptions. In particular, we may borrow under the
revolving credit facility. In addition, if we designate some of our restricted subsidiaries under the indenture as unrestricted subsidiaries, those
unrestricted subsidiaries would be permitted to borrow beyond the limitations specified in the indenture and engage in other activities in which
restricted subsidiaries may not engage. We may also consider investments in joint ventures or acquisitions that may increase our indebtedness.
Also, under the indenture, we will be able to make substantial restricted payments in certain circumstances. Adding new debt to current debt
levels or making otherwise restricted payments could intensify the related risks that we and our subsidiaries now face.

Your right to receive payments on the notes is effectively subordinated to the rights of our and our restricted subsidiaries' existing and
future secured creditors.

The revolving credit facility is secured by liens on substantially all of our assets and the assets of our restricted subsidiaries. Accordingly,
the notes will be effectively subordinated to any secured indebtedness incurred under the revolving credit facility to the extent of the value of the
assets securing the revolving credit facility. In the event of any distribution or payment of our or any guarantor's assets in any foreclosure,
dissolution, winding-up, liquidation, reorganization or other bankruptcy proceeding, holders of secured indebtedness will have prior claim to
those of our or our restricted subsidiaries' assets that constitute their collateral. Holders of notes will participate ratably with all holders of our
unsecured indebtedness that is deemed to be of the same class as such notes, and potentially with all of our or any restricted subsidiary's other
general creditors, based upon the respective amounts owed to each holder or creditor, in our remaining assets. In any of the foregoing events, we
cannot assure you that there will be sufficient assets to pay amounts due on the notes. As a result, holders of notes may receive less, ratably, than
holders of secured indebtedness.

14
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The notes will be structurally subordinated to all indebtedness of those of our existing or future subsidiaries that are not, or do not
become, guarantors of the notes.

The indenture will not require all of our subsidiaries to become guarantors of the notes. Non-guarantor subsidiaries will have no obligation,
contingent or otherwise, to pay amounts due under the notes or to make any funds available to pay those amounts, whether by dividend,
distribution, loan or other payment. The notes will be structurally subordinated to all indebtedness and other obligations of the non-guarantor
subsidiaries such that, in the event of insolvency, liquidation, reorganization, dissolution or other winding up of any such subsidiary, all of the
subsidiary's creditors (including trade creditors and preferred stockholders, if any) would be entitled to payment in full out of the subsidiary's
assets before we would be entitled to any payment. In addition, the indenture governing the notes will, subject to some limitations, permit
non-guarantor subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness and will not contain any limitation on the amount of other liabilities, such as trade
payables, that may be incurred by these subsidiaries.

We may not be able to repurchase the notes upon a change of control triggering event as required by the indenture governing the notes.

Upon the occurrence of certain kinds of change of control events, we will be required to offer to repurchase all outstanding notes at 101%
of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of repurchase, unless all notes have been previously called
for redemption. The holders of our existing senior notes have a similar right, and other debt securities that we may issue in the future that rank
equally in right of payment with the notes may have similar rights as well. Our failure to purchase tendered notes would constitute an event of
default under the indenture governing the notes, which in turn would constitute an event of default under our revolving credit facility. In
addition, the occurrence of a change of control (as defined under the revolving credit facility) in itself would constitute an event of default under
our revolving credit facility.

Therefore, it is possible that we may not have sufficient funds at the time of the change of control triggering event to make the required
repurchase of notes. Moreover, our revolving credit facility restricts, and any future indebtedness we incur may restrict, our ability to repurchase
the notes, including following a change of control triggering event. As a result, following a change of control triggering event, we may not be
able to repurchase notes unless we first repay all indebtedness outstanding under our revolving credit facility and any of our other indebtedness
that contains similar provisions, or obtain a waiver from the holders of such indebtedness to permit us to repurchase the notes. We may be
unable to repay all of that indebtedness or obtain a waiver of that type. Any requirement to offer to repurchase outstanding notes may therefore
require us to refinance our other outstanding debt, which we may not be able to do on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.

These repurchase requirements may also delay or make it more difficult for others to obtain control of us. In addition, certain important
corporate events, such as leveraged recapitalizations that would increase the level of our indebtedness, would not constitute a "Change of
Control Triggering Events" under the indenture. See "Description of the New Notes Repurchase at the Option of Holders Change of Control
Triggering Event."

Following a sale of a substantial amount of our assets, you may not be able to determine if a change of control that may give rise to a
right to have the notes repurchased has occurred.

The definition of change of control in the indenture governing the notes includes a phrase relating to the sale of "all or substantially all" of
our assets. There is no precise, established definition of the phrase "substantially all" under applicable law. Accordingly, the ability of a holder

of notes to require us to repurchase its notes as a result of a sale of less than all our assets to another person may be uncertain.
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U.S. federal and state fraudulent transfer laws may permit a court to void, subordinate or limit the notes and all guarantees as a
Jfraudulent transfer, and, if that occurs, you may not receive any payments on the notes or may be required to return payments received on
the notes.

U.S. federal and state fraudulent transfer and conveyance statutes may apply to the issuance of the notes and the incurrence of the
guarantees of the notes. Under U.S. federal bankruptcy law and comparable provisions of state fraudulent transfer or conveyance laws, which
may vary from state to state, the notes or the guarantees thereof (or the grant of collateral securing any such obligations) could be voided,
subordinated or limited as a fraudulent transfer or conveyance if we or the guarantors of the notes, as applicable, (i) issued the notes or incurred
the guarantees with the intent of hindering, delaying or defrauding creditors, or (ii) received less than reasonably equivalent value or fair
consideration in return for either issuing the notes or incurring the guarantees and, in the case of (ii) only, one of the following is also true at the
time thereof:

we or any guarantor, as applicable, were insolvent or rendered insolvent by reason of the issuance of the notes or the
incurrence of the guarantees;

the issuance of the notes or the incurrence of the guarantees left us or any guarantor, as applicable, with an unreasonably
small amount of capital or assets to carry on its business;

we or any guarantor intended to, or believed that we or such guarantor would, incur debts beyond our or such guarantor's
ability to pay as they mature; or

we or any guarantor were a defendant in an action for money damages, or had a judgment for money damages docketed
against us or such guarantor if, in either case, after final judgment, the judgment is unsatisfied.

As a general matter, value is given for a transfer or an obligation if, in exchange for the transfer or obligation, property is transferred or a
valid antecedent debt is secured or satisfied. A court would likely find that a subsidiary guarantor did not receive reasonably equivalent value or
fair consideration for its guarantee to the extent such guarantor did not obtain a reasonably equivalent tangible benefit directly or indirectly from
the issuance of the notes.

We cannot be certain as to the standards a court would use to determine whether or not we or any guarantor were insolvent at the relevant
time or, regardless of the standard that a court uses, whether the notes or the guarantees would be subordinated to our or any guarantor's other
debt. In general, however, a court would deem an entity insolvent if:

the sum of its debts, including contingent and unliquidated liabilities, was greater than the fair saleable value of all of its
assets;

the present fair saleable value of its assets was less than the amount that would be required to pay its probable liability on its
existing debts, including contingent liabilities, as they become absolute and mature; or

it could not pay its debts as they became due.

If a court were to find that the issuance of the notes, the incurrence of a guarantee or the grant of security was a fraudulent transfer or
conveyance, the court could void the payment obligations under the notes or such guarantee or subordinate or limit the notes or such guarantee
to presently existing and future indebtedness of ours or of the related guarantor, or require the holders of the notes to repay any amounts received
with respect to such guarantee. In the event of a finding that a fraudulent transfer or conveyance occurred, you may not receive any repayment
on the notes or guarantees. Further, the avoidance of the notes could result in an event of default with respect to our and our subsidiaries' other
debt that could result in acceleration of such debt.
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Each guarantee will contain a provision intended to limit the guarantor's liability to the maximum amount that it could incur without
causing the incurrence of obligations under its guarantee to be a fraudulent transfer. This provision may not be effective to protect the guarantees
from being avoided under applicable fraudulent transfer laws or may reduce the guarantor's obligation to an amount that effectively makes the
guarantee worthless. Finally, as a court of equity, a bankruptcy court may subordinate the claims in respect of the notes to other claims against
us under the principle of equitable subordination, if the court determines that: (i) the holder of notes engaged in some type of inequitable
conduct, (ii) such inequitable conduct resulted in injury to our other creditors or conferred an unfair advantage upon the holder of notes and
(iii) equitable subordination is not inconsistent with the provisions of the bankruptcy code.

We face risks related to rating agency downgrades.

The notes are rated by Moody's Investor Service and Standard & Poor's. If such rating agencies reduce the rating in the future, the market
price of the notes would be adversely affected. In addition, if any of our other outstanding debt is subsequently downgraded, raising capital will
become more difficult, borrowing costs under revolving credit facility and other future borrowings may increase and the market price of the
notes may decrease.

Many of the covenants contained in the indenture will be suspended if the notes are rated investment grade by either Standard & Poor's
Ratings Services or Moody's Investors Service, Inc.

Many of the covenants in the indenture governing the notes will be suspended if the notes are rated investment grade by either Standard &
Poor's Ratings Services or Moody's Investors Service, Inc., and certain other conditions are satisfied. These covenants include restrictions on our
ability to pay dividends, to incur debt and to enter into certain other transactions. Suspension of these covenants would allow us to engage in
certain transactions that would not have been permitted while these covenants were in force, and the effects of any such transactions will be
permitted to remain in place even if the notes are subsequently downgraded. There can be no assurance that the notes will ever be rated
investment grade, or that if they are rated investment grade, that the notes will maintain such ratings. See "Description of the New
Notes Covenant Suspension."
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RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The following table shows our historical ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the periods indicated. For the purposes of calculating the ratio
of earnings to fixed charges, "earnings" represents income from continuing operations before income taxes minus income from equity investees
plus distributed earnings from equity investees and fixed charges. "Fixed charges" consist of interest expense, including amortization of debt
issuance costs and that portion of rental expense considered to be a reasonable approximation of interest.

Three Months
Ended March 31, Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges (a) (a) (a) (a) 4.3x (a)

@
For the three months ended March 31, 2018 and the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, 2015, and 2013, earnings were insufficient
to cover total fixed charges by $19.0 million, $341.3 million, $394.1 million, $109.2 million, and $33.6 million, respectively.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any proceeds from the exchange offer. In consideration for issuing the new notes, we will receive old notes from you in
the same principal amount. The old notes surrendered in exchange for the new notes will be retired and canceled and cannot be reissued.
Accordingly, issuance of the new notes will not result in any change in our indebtedness. The net proceeds from the offering of the old notes
were approximately $592.4 million.

THE EXCHANGE OFFER

The following summary of the registration rights agreement and letter of transmittal is not complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its
entirety by, all of the provisions of the registration rights agreement and the letter of transmittal, each of which is filed as an exhibit to the
registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. The letter of transmittal is included in this prospectus as Annex A. We urge you to read
the entire registration rights agreement and the letter of transmittal carefully.

Purpose and Effect of the Exchange Offer
In connection with the issuance of the old notes, we entered into a registration rights agreement with respect to the notes. Pursuant to the

registration rights agreement, we agreed that we will, subject to certain exceptions,

prepare and file a registration statement (the "exchange offer registration statement"), with the SEC with respect to a
registered exchange offer to exchange each outstanding old note for a new note having terms substantially identical in all

material respects to such old note (except that the new note will not contain terms with respect to transfer restrictions);

after the effectiveness of the exchange offer registration statement, offer the new notes in exchange for the old notes; and

keep the exchange offer open for a period of at least twenty business days after the date notice of the exchange offer is
mailed or made available to the holders of the old notes.

We have also agreed to include in the exchange offer registration statement a prospectus for use in any resales by any holder of old notes
that is a "participating broker-dealer" (as defined in the registration rights agreement) and to keep such exchange offer registration statement
effective for a period ending 180 days from the expiration date of this exchange offer; provided that if the letters of
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transmittal relating to the exchange offer as provided to us indicate that no holder is a broker-dealer, we will not be obligated to maintain the
effectiveness of such registration statement after the consummation of the exchange offer.

In the event that:

any change in law or in applicable interpretations thereof by the staff of the SEC does not permit us to effect the exchange
offer;

the exchange offer is not for any other reason completed by November 24, 2018; or

any initial purchaser notifies us that its old notes are or were ineligible to be exchanged in the exchange offer under
applicable law or applicable interpretations of the SEC staff,

then, we and any subsidiary guarantors will, in lieu of or in addition to conducting the exchange offer, shall as soon as reasonably practicable

cause to be filed a shelf registration statement providing for the sale of all the old notes by the holders thereof and to have such shelf registration

statement become effective; provided that no holder will be entitled to have any "registrable securities" (as defined in the registration rights
agreement) included in any shelf registration statement, or entitled to use the prospectus forming a part of such shelf registration statement, until
such holder shall have delivered a completed and signed "notice and questionnaire" (as defined in the registration rights agreement) and
provided such other information to the Company as is required.

We will pay, as liquidated damages, additional cash interest on the applicable notes, subject to certain exceptions:

if we do not complete the exchange offer;

if the shelf registration statement, if required, is not declared effective prior to November 24, 2018; or

if the shelf registration statement, if required, is declared effective or automatically becomes effective, and thereafter either
ceases to be effective or the prospectus contained therein ceases to be useable for more than 30 days in any 12-month period.

The additional interest will be increased by 1.00% per annum during the registration default period. We will pay such additional interest on
regular interest payment dates.

Terms of the Exchange Offer

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus, for each $2,000, and $1,000 integral multiples in excess of $2,000,
principal amount of old notes properly tendered and not withdrawn before the expiration date of the exchange offer, we will issue $2,000, and
$1,000 integral multiples in excess of $2,000, principal amount of new notes. Holders may tender some or all of their old notes pursuant to the
exchange offer in denominations of $2,000 and $1,000 integral multiples in excess of $2,000 thereof. The exchange offer is not conditioned
upon any minimum aggregate principal amount of old notes being tendered.

The form and terms of the new notes will be the same as the form and terms of the old notes except that:

the new notes will have a different CUSIP number from the old notes;

the new notes will be registered under the Securities Act and, therefore, the global securities representing the new notes will
not bear legends restricting the transfer of interests in the new notes;
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the new notes will not contain provisions for payment of additional interest in case of non-registration.

The new notes will evidence the same indebtedness as the old notes they replace, and will be issued under, and be entitled to the benefits of,
the same indenture governing the issuance of the old notes. As a result, the old notes and the new notes will be treated as a single series of notes
under the indenture.

No interest will be paid in connection with the exchange. The new notes will accrue interest from and including the last interest payment
date on which interest has been paid on the old notes. Accordingly, the holders of old notes that are accepted for exchange will not receive
accrued but unpaid interest on old notes at the time of tender. Rather, that interest will be payable on the new notes delivered in exchange for the
old notes on the first interest payment date after the expiration date.

Under existing SEC interpretations, the new notes would generally be freely transferable after the exchange offer without further
registration under the Securities Act, except that broker dealers receiving the new notes in the exchange offer in exchange for old notes that were
acquired as a result of market-making or other trading activities will be subject to a prospectus delivery requirement with respect to their resale.
This view is based on interpretations by the staff of the SEC in no action letters issued to other issuers in exchange offers like this one. We have
not, however, asked the SEC to consider this particular exchange offer in the context of a no action letter. Therefore, the SEC might not treat it
in the same way it has treated other exchange offers in the past. You will be relying on the no action letters that the SEC has issued to third
parties in circumstances that we believe are similar to ours. Based on these no action letters, you must meet the following conditions in order to
participate in the exchange offer and receive freely transferable new notes:

you are not an "affiliate" of ours, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act;

you are not engaged in and do not intend to engage in, and have no arrangement or understanding with any person to
participate in, a distribution of new notes to be issued in the exchange offer;

you are acquiring the new notes issued in the exchange offer in the ordinary course of your business;

you are not a broker-dealer that acquired the old notes directly from us; and

you are not acting on behalf of any person who could not truthfully and completely make the foregoing representations.
By tendering your old notes as described in " Procedures for Tendering," you will be representing to us that you satisfy all of the above

listed conditions. If you do not satisfy all of the above listed conditions:

you cannot rely on the position of the SEC set forth in the no-action letters referred to above;

you cannot tender your old notes in the exchange offer; and

you must comply with the applicable registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act in connection
with a resale of the new notes.

In addition, if you are a broker-dealer that acquires new notes pursuant to the exchange offer in exchange for old notes that you acquired as
a result of market-making or other trading activities, you must comply with the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act in
connection with a resale of the new notes. Such broker-dealers may use this prospectus to fulfill their prospectus delivery requirements with

respect to the new notes. We have agreed in the registration rights agreement to
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send a prospectus to any broker-dealer that requests copies in the letter of transmittal accompanying the prospectus until the earlier of 180 days
from the completion date of this exchange offer or such time as such broker-dealers no longer hold any old notes.

Unless you are required to do so because you are a broker-dealer, you may not use this prospectus for an offer to resell, resale or other
retransfer of new notes. We are not making this exchange offer to, nor will we accept tenders for exchange from, holders of old notes in any
jurisdiction in which the exchange offer or the acceptance of it would not be in compliance with the securities or blue sky laws of that
jurisdiction.

Holders of old notes do not have appraisal or dissenters' rights under state law or under the indenture in connection with the exchange offer.
We intend to conduct the exchange offer in accordance with the applicable requirements of Regulation 14E under the Exchange Act.

Expiration Date

The exchange offer will expire at 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on , 2018, unless, in our sole discretion, we extend the expiration
date. If we so extend the expiration date, the term "expiration date" shall mean the latest date and time to which we extend the exchange offer.
Pursuant to the terms of the registration rights agreement, the expiration date of the exchange offer may not be more than thirty business days

following the commencement of the exchange offer. Accordingly, we expect that the maximum period of time that the exchange offer will
remain in effect, including any extensions, is thirty business days from the date it commences.

Extensions, Delays in Acceptance, Termination or Amendment

We reserve the right, in our sole discretion to:

delay accepting for exchange any old notes in connection with the extension of the exchange offer;

extend the exchange offer;

terminate the exchange offer; or

amend the terms of the exchange offer in any way we determine.

We will give notice of any delay, extension or termination to the Exchange Agent. In addition, we will give, as promptly as practicable,
notice regarding any delay in acceptance, extension or termination of the offer to the registered holders of old notes by press release or other
public announcement. Any extension notice will disclose the approximate number of old notes tendered as of the notice date. If we amend the
exchange offer in a manner that we determine to constitute a material change, or if we waive a material condition, we will promptly disclose the
amendment or waiver in a manner reasonably calculated to inform the holders of old notes of the amendment or waiver, and extend the offer if
required by law, and in any event will extend the offer as necessary such that at least five business days remain in the offer following notice of a
material change.

We intend to make public announcements of any delay in acceptance, extension, termination, amendment or waiver regarding the exchange
offer prior to 9 a.m., Eastern time, on the next business day after the previously scheduled expiration date.
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Conditions to the Exchange Offer

We will not be required to accept for exchange, or to exchange new notes for, any old notes, and we may terminate the exchange offer as
provided in this prospectus at or before the expiration date, if:

any law, statute, rule or regulation shall have been proposed, adopted or enacted, or interpreted in a manner, which, in our
reasonable judgment, would impair our ability to proceed with the exchange offer;

any action or proceeding is instituted or threatened in any court or by or before the SEC or any other governmental agency
with respect to the exchange offer which, in our reasonable judgment, would impair our ability to proceed with the exchange

offer;

we have not obtained any governmental approval which we, in our reasonable judgment, consider necessary for the
completion of the exchange offer as contemplated by this prospectus;

any change, or any condition, event or development involving a prospective change, shall have occurred or be threatened in
the general economic, financial, currency exchange or market conditions in the United States or elsewhere that, in our

reasonable judgment, would impair our ability to proceed with the exchange offer;

any other change or development shall have occurred, including a prospective change or development, that, in our
reasonable judgment, has or may have a material adverse effect on us, the market price of the new notes or the old notes or

the value of the exchange offer to us; or

there shall have occurred (i) any suspension or limitation of trading in securities generally on the NASDAQ Global Market
or the over-the-counter market; (ii) a declaration of a banking moratorium by United States federal or New York authorities;
or (iii) a commencement or escalation of a war or armed hostilities involving or relating to a country where we do business
or other international or national emergency or crisis directly or indirectly involving the United States.

The conditions listed above are for our sole benefit and we may assert them regardless of the circumstances giving rise to any of these
conditions. We may waive these conditions in our sole discretion in whole or in part at any time and from time to time. A failure on our part to
exercise any of the above rights shall not constitute a waiver of that right, and that right shall be considered an ongoing right which we may
assert at any time and from time to time.

If we determine in our reasonable judgment that any of the events listed above has occurred, we may, subject to applicable law:

refuse to accept any old notes and return all tendered old notes to the tendering holders and terminate the exchange offer;

extend the exchange offer and retain all old notes tendered before the expiration of the exchange offer, subject, however, to
the rights of holders to withdraw these old notes; or

waive unsatisfied conditions relating to the exchange offer and accept all properly tendered old notes which have not been
withdrawn. With respect to any such waiver, we would treat all tendering holders alike to the extent similarly situated. If this
waiver constitutes a material change to the exchange offer, we will disclose this change by means of a prospectus
supplement that will be distributed to the registered holders of the old notes. If the exchange offer would otherwise expire,
we will extend the exchange offer for five to ten business days, depending on how significant the waiver is and the manner
of disclosure to registered holders.

Any determination by us concerning the above events will be final and binding.
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In addition, we reserve the right in our sole discretion, to the extent permitted by applicable law, to:

purchase or make offers for any old notes that remain outstanding subsequent to the expiration date; and

purchase old notes in the open market, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise.
The terms of any such purchases or offers may differ from the terms of the exchange offer.
Procedures for Tendering

We have forwarded to you, along with this prospectus, a letter of transmittal relating to this exchange offer. Because all of the old notes are
held in book-entry accounts maintained by the Exchange Agent at DTC, a holder need not submit a letter of transmittal. However, all holders
who exchange their old notes for new notes in accordance with the procedures outlined below will be deemed to have acknowledged receipt of,
and agreed to be bound by, and to have made all of the affirmative acknowledgements required by and the representations and warranties
contained in the letter of transmittal.

Procedures Applicable to Beneficial Holders

Only a registered holder of record of old notes may tender old notes in the exchange offer. If you are a beneficial owner of old notes which
are registered in the name of a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee, and you wish to tender old notes in the
exchange offer, you should contact the registered holder as soon as possible and instruct them to tender on your behalf and comply with our
instructions set forth elsewhere in this prospectus and the letter of transmittal. If you wish to tender on your own behalf, you must, prior to
completing and executing the letter of transmittal and delivering your old notes, either make appropriate arrangements to register ownership of
the old notes in your name or obtain a properly completed bond power from the registered holder. The transfer of registered ownership may take
considerable time and may not be able to be completed prior to the expiration date.

Procedures Applicable to Old Notes Held in Book-Entry Form with DTC

The old notes were issued as global securities. Beneficial interests in the old notes, held by direct or indirect participants in DTC, are shown
on, and transfers of these interests are effected only through, records maintained in book-entry form by DTC with respect to its participants.

If you hold your old notes in the form of book-entry interests and you wish to tender your old notes for exchange pursuant to the Exchange
Offer, you must transmit to the Exchange Agent on or prior to the Expiration Date either:

(1) acomputer-generated message transmitted by means of DTC's Automated Tender Offer Program system and received by the
Exchange Agent and forming a part of a confirmation of book-entry transfer, in which you acknowledge and agree to be bound by the
terms of the letter of transmittal; or

(2) a written or facsimile copy of a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal, including all other documents
required by the letter of transmittal, to the Exchange Agent at the address set forth on the cover page of the letter of transmittal.

We understand that the Exchange Agent will make a request promptly after the date of this prospectus to establish accounts with respect to
the old notes at DTC for the purpose of facilitating the exchange offer. Any financial institution that is a participant in DTC's system may make
book-entry delivery of old notes by causing DTC to transfer such old notes into the Exchange Agent's DTC
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account in accordance with DTC's electronic Automated Tender Offer Program procedures for such transfer. The exchange of new notes for
tendered old notes will only be made after timely:

confirmation of book-entry transfer of the old notes into the Exchange Agent's account; and

receipt by the Exchange Agent of an "agent's message" and all other required documents specified in the letter of transmittal.

The term "agent's message" means a message, transmitted from the DTC participant to DTC and forming part of the confirmation of a
book-entry transfer from DTC to the Exchange Agent, which states that DTC has received an express acknowledgment from a participant in
DTC tendering old notes and:

the aggregate principal amount of old notes which have been tendered by the participant;

that such participant has received an appropriate letter of transmittal and agrees to be bound by the terms of the letter of
transmittal and the terms of the exchange offer; and

that we may enforce such agreement against the participant.

Delivery of an agent's message will also constitute an acknowledgment from the tendering DTC participant that the representations
contained in the letter of transmittal and described below under "Representations on Tendering Old Notes" are true and correct.

Procedures Applicable to Holders of Certificated Old Notes

No definitive certificated notes are issued and outstanding as of the date of this prospectus. Only registered holders of certificated old notes
may tender those notes in the exchange offer. If your old notes are certificated notes and you wish to tender those notes for exchange pursuant to
the exchange offer, you must transmit to the Exchange Agent, on or prior to the expiration date, a written or facsimile copy of a properly
completed and duly executed letter of transmittal, including all other required documents, to the address set forth below under " Exchange
Agent." In addition, in order to validly tender your certificated old notes the certificates representing your old notes must be received by the
Exchange Agent prior to the expiration date.

Procedures Applicable to All Holders

The tender by a holder that is not withdrawn before expiration of the exchange offer will constitute an agreement between that holder and
us in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus and in the letter of transmittal. If a holder tenders less
than all of the old notes held by the holder, the tendering holder should so indicate. The amount of old notes delivered to the Exchange Agent
will be deemed to have been tendered unless otherwise indicated.

The method of delivery of old notes, the letter of transmittal and all other required documents or transmission of an agent's message to the
Exchange Agent is at the election and risk of the holder. Rather than mail these items, we recommend that holders use an overnight or hand
delivery service. In all cases, holders should allow sufficient time to assure delivery to the Exchange Agent before expiration of the exchange
offer. Holders should not send the letter of transmittal or old notes to us. Delivery of documents to DTC in accordance with its procedures will
not constitute delivery to the Exchange Agent.

We will determine in our sole discretion all questions as to the validity, form, eligibility, including time of receipt, acceptance and
withdrawal of tendered outstanding notes. Our determination will be final and binding. We reserve the absolute right to reject any outstanding
notes not properly tendered or any outstanding notes the acceptance of which would, in the opinion of our counsel, be unlawful. We also reserve
the right to waive any defects, irregularities or conditions of tender as to particular
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outstanding notes. Our interpretation of the terms and conditions of the exchange offer, including the instructions in the letter of transmittal, will
be final and binding on all parties. However, we do not expect to treat any holder of outstanding notes differently from other holders to the
extent they present the same facts or circumstances.

Unless waived, any defects or irregularities in connection with tenders of outstanding notes must be cured within the time that we
determine. Although we intend to notify holders of defects or irregularities with respect to tenders of outstanding notes, neither we, the
Exchange Agent nor any other person will incur any liability for failure to give notification. Tenders of outstanding notes will not be deemed
made until those defects or irregularities have been cured or waived.

Outstanding notes received by the Exchange Agent that are not properly tendered and as to which the defects or irregularities have not been
cured or waived will be returned by the Exchange Agent without cost to the tendering holder, unless otherwise provided in the letter of
transmittal, as soon as practicable following the expiration date.

In addition, we reserve the right in our sole discretion to (a) purchase or make offers for any outstanding notes that remain outstanding
subsequent to the expiration date, and (b) to the extent permitted by applicable law, purchase outstanding notes in the open market, in privately
negotiated transactions or otherwise. The terms of any such purchases or offers may differ from the terms of the exchange offer.

Representations on Tendering Old Notes

To exchange your old notes for transferable new notes in the exchange offer, you will be required to represent to the effect that you:

are not an "affiliate” of ours, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act;

are not a broker dealer that acquired the old notes directly from us;

are not engaged in and do not intend to engage in, and have no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate
in, a distribution of new notes to be issued in the exchange offer;

are acquiring the new notes issued in the exchange offer in the ordinary course of your business;

if you are a broker-dealer that will acquire new notes pursuant to the exchange offer in exchange for old notes that you
acquired as a result of market-making or other trading activities, you will comply with the prospectus delivery requirements

of the Securities Act in connection with a resale of the new notes; and

are not acting on behalf of any person who could not truthfully and completely make the foregoing representations.

If you are a broker dealer and you will receive new notes for your own account in exchange for old notes that were acquired as a result of
market making activities or other trading activities, you will be required to (i) inform us per the instructions in the letter of transmittal and
(ii) represent that you will comply with the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act in connection with any resale of the new
notes, as set forth in the letter of transmittal. The letter of transmittal states that, by complying with their obligations, a broker dealer will not be
deemed to admit that it is an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act. See also "Plan of Distribution."

The SEC considers broker-dealers that acquired old notes directly from us, but not as a result of market-making activities or other trading
activities, to be making a distribution of the new notes if they participate in the exchange offer. Consequently, these broker-dealers must comply
with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act in connection with a resale of the new notes, and may not
participate in the exchange offer.

25

38



Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

Table of Contents
Withdrawal Rights

Any holder will be entitled to withdraw its tender of old notes, not later than the close of business on the last day of the exchange offer, by
(a) sending to the Exchange Agent a facsimile transmission or letter setting forth the name of such holder, the principal amount of new notes
delivered for exchange and a statement that such holder is withdrawing its election to have such old notes exchanged or (b) effecting such
withdrawal in compliance with the applicable procedures of the DTC.

For a withdrawal to be effective for DTC participants, holders must comply with their respective standard operating procedures for
electronic tenders and the Exchange Agent must receive an electronic notice of withdrawal from DTC.

Any notice of withdrawal must specify the name and number of the account at DTC to be credited with the withdrawn old notes and
otherwise comply with the procedures of DTC. We will determine in our sole discretion all questions as to the validity, form and eligibility,
including time of receipt, for such withdrawal notices, and our determination shall be final and binding on all parties. Any old notes so
withdrawn will be deemed not to have been validly tendered for purposes of the exchange offer and no new notes will be issued with respect to
them unless the old notes so withdrawn are validly re-tendered. Any old notes which have been tendered but which are withdrawn or not
accepted for exchange will be returned to the holder without cost to such holder promptly after withdrawal, rejection of tender or termination of
the exchange offer. Properly withdrawn old notes may be re-tendered by following the procedures described above under " Procedures for
Tendering" at any time prior to the expiration date.

Exchange Agent

U.S. Bank National Association has been appointed as the Exchange Agent for the exchange offer. U.S. Bank National Association also
acts as trustee under the indenture governing the notes. You should direct all executed letters of transmittal and all questions and requests for
assistance and requests for additional copies of this prospectus or of the letters of transmittal to the Exchange Agent addressed as follows:

U.S. Bank National Association
Attn: Corporate Actions
111 Fillmore Avenue
St. Paul, MN 55107-1402
Fax: 651-466-7367
Phone: 800-934-6802

If you deliver the letter of transmittal to the Company or to an address other than the one set forth above or transmit instructions via
facsimile other than the one set forth above, that delivery or those instructions will not be effective.

Fees and Expenses

We will bear the expenses of soliciting tenders with respect to the exchange offer. The principal solicitation is being made by electronic
means; however, we may make additional solicitation by telephone or in person by our officers and regular employees and those of our affiliates.

We have not retained any dealer manager in connection with the exchange offer and will not make any payments to broker-dealers or others
soliciting acceptances of the exchange offer. We will, however, pay the Exchange Agent reasonable and customary fees for its services and
reimburse it for its related reasonable out of pocket expenses.
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We will pay the cash expenses to be incurred in connection with the exchange offer. They include the following:

SEC registration fees;

fees and expenses of the Exchange Agent and trustee;

accounting and legal fees and printing costs; and

related fees and expenses.
Transfer Taxes

Holders who tender their old notes for exchange will not be obligated to pay any transfer taxes. If, however, a transfer tax is imposed for
any reason other than the exchange of old notes in connection with the exchange offer, then the tendering holder must pay the amount of any
transfer taxes due, whether imposed on the registered holder or any other persons. If the tendering holder does not submit satisfactory evidence
of payment of these taxes or exemption from them with the letter of transmittal, the amount of these transfer taxes will be billed directly to the
tendering holder.

Accounting Treatment

We will record the new notes in our accounting records at the same carrying value as the old notes. This carrying value is the aggregate
principal amount of the old notes, as reflected in our accounting records on the date of exchange. Accordingly, we will not recognize any gain or
loss for accounting purposes in connection with the exchange offer, nor will this be recorded as a redemption and issuance.

Consequences of Failure to Properly Tender Old Notes in the Exchange

We will issue the new notes in exchange for old notes under the exchange offer only after timely confirmation of book-entry transfer of the
old notes into the Exchange Agent's account and timely receipt by the Exchange Agent of an agent's message and all other required documents
specified in the letter of transmittal. Therefore, holders of the old notes desiring to tender old notes in exchange for new notes should allow
sufficient time to ensure timely delivery. We are under no duty to give notification of defects or irregularities of tenders of old notes for
exchange or waive any such defects or irregularities. Old notes that are not tendered or that are tendered but not accepted by us will, following
completion of the exchange offer, continue to be subject to the existing transfer restrictions under the Securities Act. Thus, you may not resell
the old notes, offer them for resale or otherwise transfer them unless they are subsequently registered or resold under an exemption from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. There will be no guaranteed delivery procedures for the
exchange offer.

Participation in the exchange offer is voluntary. In the event the exchange offer is completed, we will generally not be required to register
the remaining old notes, and therefore holders of old notes will not have any further rights to have their old notes exchanged for new notes
registered under the Securities Act. Remaining old notes will continue to be subject to the following restrictions on transfer:

holders may resell old notes only if an exemption from registration is available or, outside the United States, to non-U.S.
persons in accordance with the requirements of Regulation S under the Securities Act; and

the remaining old notes will bear a legend restricting transfer in the absence of registration or an exemption.
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To the extent that old notes are tendered and accepted in connection with the exchange offer, any trading market for remaining old notes
could be adversely affected.

Neither we nor our board of directors make any recommendation to holders of old notes as to whether to tender or refrain from
tendering all or any portion of their old notes pursuant to the exchange offer. Moreover, no one has been authorized to make any such
recommendation. Holders of old notes must make their own decision whether to tender pursuant to the exchange offer and, if so, the
aggregate amount of old notes to tender, after reading this prospectus and the letter of transmittal and consulting with their advisors, if
any, based on their own financial position and requirements.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE NEW NOTES

We issued the old notes, and will issue the new notes, under an indenture (the "indenture"), between us and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee (the "trustee"). The old notes were issued in a private transaction that was not subject to the registration requirements of
the Securities Act. The indenture is governed by the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 (the "Trust Indenture Act"). The terms of the notes will include
those stated in the indenture and those made part of the indenture by reference to the Trust Indenture Act. For purposes of this description, unless
the context otherwise requires, references to the "notes" includes the new notes, the old notes, and any additional notes (as described below).
This description of the new notes is qualified by the indenture which is filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is
part.

You can find the definitions of terms used in this description of notes below under the caption " Definitions." Capitalized terms used in this
description but not defined below under the caption " Definitions" have the meanings assigned to them in the indenture. In this description, the
words "PDC," "we," "us," and "our" refer only to PDC Energy, Inc., and not to any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates.

The registered holder of a note will be treated as the owner of it for all purposes. Only registered holders will have rights under the
indenture.

Brief Description of the New Notes and the Subsidiary Guarantees
The Notes

The old notes and the new notes will:

be general unsecured, senior obligations of PDC;

rank senior in right of payment to all existing and future subordinated unsecured indebtedness of PDC;

rank pari passu in right of payment with any existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness of PDC, including the
Existing Senior Notes and the Existing Convertible Notes;

rank effectively junior in right of payment to PDC's existing and future secured indebtedness, including indebtedness under
the Senior Credit Agreement, to the extent of the assets of PDC constituting collateral securing that indebtedness; and

be unconditionally guaranteed by future Subsidiary Guarantors on a senior unsecured basis.
The Subsidiary Guarantees
Initially, the notes will be guaranteed by PDC Permian, Inc. but not by any of our other Subsidiaries. However, in the future, each of our

other Domestic Restricted Subsidiaries will be required to guarantee the notes if, on any date after the Issue Date, such Subsidiary both:

Guarantees (or otherwise becomes liable for) Obligations under the Senior Credit Agreement; and

constitutes a Material Subsidiary.

Additional Subsidiaries will be required to become Subsidiary Guarantors under the circumstances described below under
" Covenants Subsidiary Guarantees."

Each Subsidiary Guarantee will:
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rank senior in right of payment to all existing and future subordinated indebtedness of such Subsidiary Guarantor;

rank pari passu in right of payment with any existing and future senior indebtedness of such Subsidiary Guarantor; and

rank effectively junior to all existing and future secured indebtedness of such Subsidiary Guarantor (including any
Indebtedness under the Senior Credit Agreement), to the extent of the assets of such Subsidiary Guarantor constituting
collateral securing that indebtedness.

For purposes of preparing our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP, our drilling partnerships are not considered
"Subsidiaries" as defined in the indenture governing the notes.

All of our Subsidiaries are currently "Restricted Subsidiaries." However, under the circumstances described below under the caption
" Covenants Designation of Restricted and Unrestricted Subsidiaries," we will be permitted to designate Subsidiaries as "Unrestricted
Subsidiaries." Our Unrestricted Subsidiaries will not be subject to many of the restrictive covenants in the indenture, and will not guarantee the
notes.

Principal, Maturity and Interest

The old notes had, and the new notes will have (together with any old notes that remain outstanding), an initial aggregate principal amount
of $600 million. We may issue additional notes ("Additional Notes") under the indenture from time to time. Any issuance of Additional Notes is
subject to all of the covenants in the indenture, including the covenant described below under the caption " Covenants Incurrence of Indebtedness
and Issuance of Preferred Stock." The old notes, the new notes issued in this exchange offer, and any Additional Notes will be treated as a single
class for all purposes under the indenture, including, without limitation, waivers, amendments, redemptions and offers to purchase; provided that
if the Additional Notes are not fungible with the old notes or the new notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes, such Additional Notes will
have a different CUSIP. We may also issue other debt securities under the indenture. If issued, such other debt securities will not vote together
with the notes on any matter. The notes will mature on May 15, 2026, and will be issued in denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of
$1,000 in excess of $2,000.

Interest on the notes will accrue at the rate of 5.750% per annum and will be payable semi-annually in arrears on May 15 and November 15,
beginning on May 15, 2018. Additional interest may accrue on the notes in certain circumstances described below under " Registration Rights;
Additional Interest," and all references to "interest" in this description include any additional interest that may be payable on the notes. Interest
on overdue principal, premium, if any, and interest will accrue at the applicable interest rate on the notes. PDC will make each interest payment
to the holders of record of the notes on the immediately preceding May 1 and November 1. Interest on the notes will accrue from the date of
original issuance or, if interest has already been paid, from the date it was most recently paid. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day
year comprised of twelve 30-day months. If a payment date is a Legal Holiday at a place of payment, payment may be made at that place on the
next succeeding day that is not a Legal Holiday, and no interest shall accrue on such payment for the intervening period.

Methods of Receiving Payments on the Notes

Payments in respect of the notes represented by the global notes are to be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the
accounts specified by the holder or holders of the global notes. With respect to certificated notes, PDC will make all payments by wire transfer
of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the holders thereof or, if no such account is specified, by mailing a check to each

holder's registered address.
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Paying Agent and Registrar

The trustee is currently acting as paying agent and registrar for the notes. PDC may change the paying agent or registrar without prior
notice to the holders of the notes, and PDC or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries may act as paying agent or registrar.

Transfer

The registrar and the trustee may require a holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents in
connection with a transfer of the notes, and PDC may require a holder to pay any taxes and fees required by law or permitted by the indenture.
PDC will not be required to transfer any note (or portion of a note) selected for redemption. Also, PDC will not be required to transfer any note
for a period of 15 days before a selection of notes to be redeemed.

Subsidiary Guarantees of the Notes

Initially, the notes will be guaranteed by PDC Permian, Inc. but not by any of our other Subsidiaries, as none of our other Domestic
Restricted Subsidiaries are Material Subsidiaries. Our Subsidiaries will be required to become Subsidiary Guarantors as described under
" Covenants Subsidiary Guarantees." The Subsidiary Guarantees will be joint and several obligations of the Subsidiary Guarantors and limited to
the maximum amount the Guarantors are permitted to guarantee under applicable law without creating a fraudulent conveyance. See "Risk
Factors Risks Associated with our Indebtedness and the Notes U.S. federal and state fraudulent transfer laws may permit a court to void,
subordinate or limit the notes and all guarantees, and, if that occurs, you may not receive any payments on the notes or may be required to return
payments received on the notes."

A Subsidiary Guarantor may not sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its properties or assets to, or consolidate with or
merge with or into (regardless of whether such Subsidiary Guarantor is the surviving Person), another Person, other than PDC or another
Subsidiary Guarantor, unless:

(1) immediately after giving effect to that transaction, no Default or Event of Default exists; and
(2) either:

(a) (i) such Subsidiary Guarantor is the surviving Person or (ii) the Person acquiring the properties or assets in any
such sale or other disposition or the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger (if other than such
Subsidiary Guarantor) assumes all the obligations of such Subsidiary Guarantor under the indenture (including its Subsidiary
Guarantee) pursuant to a supplemental indenture; or

(b) such transaction does not violate the provisions of the indenture described under the caption " Repurchase at the
Option of Holders Asset Sales."

The Subsidiary Guarantee of a Subsidiary Guarantor will be released as set forth under the caption " Covenants Subsidiary Guarantees," and
will also be released immediately:

(1) upon any sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of such Subsidiary Guarantor
(including by way of merger or consolidation) to a Person that is not (either before or after giving effect to such transaction) PDC or a
Restricted Subsidiary, if the sale or other disposition does not violate the provisions of the indenture described below under the caption
" Repurchase at the Option of Holders Asset Sales;"

(2) upon any sale or other disposition of the Capital Stock of such Subsidiary Guarantor to a Person that is not (either before or
after giving effect to such transaction) PDC or a Restricted

31

45



Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

Table of Contents

Subsidiary, if the sale or other disposition does not violate the provisions of the indenture described under " Repurchase at the Option
of Holders Asset Sales" and such Subsidiary Guarantor no longer qualifies as a Subsidiary of PDC as a result of such disposition;

(3) upon designation of such Subsidiary Guarantor as an Unrestricted Subsidiary, in accordance with the provisions of the
indenture described below under the caption " Covenants Designation of Restricted and Unrestricted Subsidiaries;"

(4) upon legal defeasance, covenant defeasance or satisfaction and discharge of the indenture as provided pursuant to the
defeasance or satisfaction and discharge provisions of the indenture as described below under the captions " Legal Defeasance and
Covenant Defeasance;" and " Satisfaction and Discharge;" or

(5) upon the liquidation or dissolution of such Subsidiary Guarantor, provided no Default or Event of Default occurs as a result
thereof or has occurred or is continuing.

Optional Redemption

Except as described in the last paragraph of " Repurchase at the Option of Holders Change of Control Triggering Event," the notes are not
redeemable until May 15, 2021. On and after May 15, 2021, PDC may redeem all or a part of the notes, from time to time, at the following
redemption prices (expressed as a percentage of principal amount) plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the notes redeemed to the
applicable redemption date (subject to the rights of holders of notes on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest
payment date), if redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on May 15 of the years indicated below:

Redemption
Years price
2021 104.313%
2022 102.875%
2023 101.438%
2024 and thereafter 100.000%

At any time or from time to time prior to May 15, 2021, PDC may also redeem all or a part of the notes, at a redemption price equal to the
Make-Whole Price, subject to the rights of holders of notes on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment
date.

"Make-Whole Price" with respect to any notes to be redeemed, means an amount equal to the greater of:
(1) 100% of the principal amount of such notes; and

(2) the sum of the present values of (a) the redemption price of such notes at May 15, 2021 (as set forth above) and (b) the
remaining scheduled payments of interest from the redemption date to May 15, 2021 (not including any portion of such payments of
interest accrued as of the redemption date) discounted back to the redemption date on a semiannual basis (assuming a 360-day year
consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the Treasury Rate (as defined below) plus 50 basis points;

plus, in the case of both (1) and (2), accrued and unpaid interest on such notes, if any, to the redemption date.

"Comparable Treasury Issue" means, with respect to notes to be redeemed, the U.S. Treasury security selected by an Independent
Investment Banker as having a maturity most nearly equal to the period from the redemption date to May 15, 2021, that would be utilized at the
time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities of a
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comparable maturity; provided that if such period is less than one year, then the U.S. Treasury security having a maturity of one year shall be
used.

"Comparable Treasury Price" means, with respect to any redemption date, (1) the average of the Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations for
such redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest of such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, or (2) if the trustee obtains fewer
than four such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations.

"Independent Investment Banker" means Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and its successors, or, if such firm is
unwilling or unable to select the applicable Comparable Treasury Issue, an independent investment banking institution of national standing
appointed by PDC.

"Reference Treasury Dealer" means each of Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and its successors and three additional
primary Government Securities dealers in New York City (each a "Primary Treasury Dealer") selected by PDC, and their respective successors;
provided, however, that if any such firm or any such successor, as the case may be, shall cease to be a primary Government Securities dealer in
New York City, PDC shall substitute therefor another Primary Treasury Dealer.

"Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations" means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption date, the average, as
determined by the Independent Investment Banker, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a
percentage of its principal amount) quoted in writing to the trustee by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the
third Business Day preceding such redemption date.

"Treasury Rate" means, with respect to any redemption date, (1) the yield, under the heading which represents the average for the
immediately preceding week, appearing in the most recently published statistical release designated "H.15(159)" or any successor publication
that is published weekly by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and that establishes yields on actively traded U.S. Treasury
securities adjusted to constant maturity under the caption "Treasury Constant Maturities," for the maturity corresponding to the Comparable
Treasury Issue (if no maturity is within three months before or after the stated maturity, yields for the two published maturities most closely
corresponding to the Comparable Treasury Issue shall be determined, and the Treasury Rate shall be interpolated or extrapolated from such
yields on a straight-line basis, rounding to the nearest month) or (2) if such release (or any successor release) is not published during the week
preceding the calculation date or does not contain such yields, the rate per annum equal to the semi-annual equivalent yield to maturity of the
Comparable Treasury Issue, calculated using a price for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal
to the Comparable Treasury Price for such redemption date. The Treasury Rate shall be calculated on the third Business Day preceding the
redemption date.

The notice of redemption with respect to the foregoing redemption need not set forth the Make-Whole Price but only the manner of
calculation thereof. PDC will notify the trustee of the Make-Whole Price with respect to any redemption promptly after the calculation, and the
trustee shall not be responsible for such calculation.

In addition, prior to May 15, 2021, PDC may on any one or more occasions redeem up to 35% of the principal amount of the notes with all
or a portion of the net cash proceeds of one or more Equity Offerings at a redemption price equal to 105.750% of the principal amount thereof,
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the notes redeemed to the redemption date (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant
record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date); provided that:

(1) atleast 65% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes issued on the Issue Date (excluding notes held by PDC and its
Subsidiaries) remains outstanding after each such redemption; and
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(2) the redemption occurs within 180 days after the closing of such Equity Offering.

Notice of any redemption upon an Equity Offering may be given prior to the completion of the related Equity Offering, and any such
redemption or notice may at PDC's discretion, be subject to one or more conditions precedent, including, but not limited to completion of the
related Equity Offering.

Unless PDC defaults in the payment of the redemption price, interest, if any, will cease to accrue on the notes or portions thereof called for
redemption on the applicable redemption date.

Selection and Notice

If less than all of the notes are to be redeemed at any time, the trustee will select notes for redemption on a pro rata basis (or, in the case of
notes in global form, the trustee will select notes for redemption based on DTC's required method), unless otherwise required by law or
applicable stock exchange requirements.

Notes redeemed in part must be redeemed only in amounts of $2,000 or whole multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof (subject to the
procedures of DTC or any other depositary). Notices of redemption will be mailed by first class mail or delivered in accordance with the
procedures of DTC at least 30 but not more than 60 days before the redemption date to each holder of notes to be redeemed at its registered
address, except that redemption notices may be mailed or delivered more than 60 days prior to a redemption date if the notice is issued in
connection with a defeasance of the notes or a satisfaction and discharge of the indenture.

If any note is to be redeemed in part only, the notice of redemption that relates to such note shall state the portion of the principal amount
thereof to be redeemed. A new note in principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion thereof will be issued in the name of the holder thereof
upon cancellation of the original note. Notes called for redemption become due on the date fixed for redemption, unless the redemption is
subject to a condition precedent that is not satisfied or waived. On and after the redemption date, interest ceases to accrue on notes or portions of
notes called for redemption, unless PDC defaults in making the redemption payment, in which case interest will continue to accrue on notes or
portions of notes called for redemption until the redemption price is paid. Any redemption or notice of redemption may, at our discretion, be
subject to one or more conditions precedent and, in the case of a redemption with the net cash proceeds of an Equity Offering, be given prior to
the completion of the related Equity Offering.

Open Market Purchases; Mandatory Redemption; No Sinking Fund

We may at any time and from time to time purchase notes in the open market or otherwise. We are not required to make mandatory
redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the notes. However, under certain circumstances, we may be required to offer to purchase
notes pursuant to the covenants described under the caption " Repurchase at the Option of Holders."

Repurchase at the Option of Holders
Change of Control Triggering Event

If a Change of Control Triggering Event occurs, each holder of notes will have the right to require PDC to repurchase all or any part (equal
to $2,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000 in excess of $2,000) of that holder's notes pursuant to an offer (a "Change of Control Offer") on the
terms set forth in the indenture. In the Change of Control Offer, PDC will offer a payment in cash (the "Change of Control Payment") equal to
not less than 101% of the aggregate principal amount of notes repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the notes repurchased to
the date of purchase (the "Change of Control Payment Date"), subject to the rights of holders of notes on the relevant record date to receive
interest due on the relevant interest payment date.

34

48



Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

Table of Contents

Within 30 days following any Change of Control Triggering Event, or, at PDC's option, prior to such Change of Control Triggering Event
but after the Change of Control is publicly announced, PDC will provide a notice to each holder describing the transaction or transactions that
constitute the Change of Control Triggering Event and offering to repurchase notes on the Change of Control Payment Date specified in the
notice, which date will be no earlier than 30 days and no later than 60 days from the date such notice is mailed or delivered or such later date as
is necessary to comply with requirements under the Exchange Act, pursuant to the procedures required by the indenture and described in such
notice. PDC will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws and regulations to the extent
those laws and regulations are applicable in connection with the repurchase of the notes as a result of a Change of Control Triggering Event. To
the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the Change of Control Triggering Event provisions of the
indenture, PDC will comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and will not be deemed to have breached its obligations under
the Change of Control Triggering Event provisions of the indenture by virtue of such compliance.

On the Change of Control Payment Date, PDC will, to the extent lawful:
(1) accept for payment all notes or portions of notes properly tendered pursuant to the Change of Control Offer;

(2) deposit with the paying agent an amount equal to the Change of Control Payment in respect of all notes or portions of notes
properly tendered; and

(3) deliver or cause to be delivered to the trustee the notes properly accepted together with an Officers' Certificate stating the
aggregate principal amount of notes or portions of notes being purchased by PDC.

The paying agent will promptly mail or wire transfer to each holder of notes properly tendered the Change of Control Payment for such
notes (or, if all the notes are then in global form, make such payment through the facilities of DTC), and the trustee will promptly authenticate
and mail (or cause to be transferred by book entry) to each holder a new note equal in principal amount to any unpurchased portion of the notes
surrendered, if any; provided that each such new note will be in a principal amount of $2,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000 in excess of
$2,000. Any note so accepted for payment will cease to accrue interest on and after the Change of Control Payment Date unless PDC defaults in
making the Change of Control Payment, in which case interest will continue to accrue on notes accepted for payment until the Change of
Control Payment is made. PDC will publicly announce the results of the Change of Control Offer on or as soon as practicable after the Change
of Control Payment Date.

The provisions described herein that require PDC to make a Change of Control Offer following a Change of Control Triggering Event will
be applicable regardless of whether any other provisions of the indenture are applicable. Except as described above with respect to a Change of
Control Triggering Event, the indenture will not contain provisions that permit the holders of the notes to require that PDC repurchase or redeem
the notes in the event of a takeover, recapitalization or similar transaction.

PDC will not be required to make a Change of Control Offer upon a Change of Control Triggering Event if (1) a third party makes the
Change of Control Offer in the manner, at the price, at the times and otherwise in compliance with the requirements set forth in the indenture
applicable to a Change of Control Offer made by PDC and purchases all notes properly tendered and not withdrawn under the Change of Control
Offer, or (2) PDC has given notice of redemption pursuant to the indenture as described above under the caption " Optional Redemption," unless
and until there is a Default in payment of the applicable redemption price.

A Change of Control Offer may be made in advance of a Change of Control Triggering Event, and conditioned upon the occurrence of such
Change of Control Triggering Event, if a definitive agreement
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is in place for the Change of Control at the time of making the Change of Control Offer. Notes repurchased by PDC pursuant to a Change of
Control Offer will have the status of notes issued but not outstanding or will be retired and cancelled, at PDC's option. Notes purchased by a
third party pursuant to the preceding paragraph will have the status of notes issued and outstanding.

The definition of Change of Control includes a phrase relating to the direct or indirect sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other disposition
of "all or substantially all" of the properties or assets of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries taken as a whole. Although there is a limited body of
case law interpreting the phrase "substantially all," there is no precise established definition of the phrase under New York law, which is the
governing law of the indenture. Accordingly, the ability of a holder of notes to require PDC to repurchase its notes as a result of a sale, lease,
transfer, conveyance or other disposition of less than all of the properties or assets of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries taken as a whole to
another Person or group may be uncertain.

In the event that holders of at least 90% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes accept a Change of Control Offer and
PDC (or any third party making such Change of Control Offer, in lieu of PDC, as described above) purchases all of the notes held by such
holders, PDC will have the right, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' prior notice, given not more than 30 days following a Change of
Control Payment Date, to redeem all, but not less than all, of the notes that remain outstanding at a redemption price equal to the Change of
Control Payment plus, to the extent not included in the Change of Control Payment, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the notes that remain
outstanding, to the date of redemption (subject to the right of holders on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest
payment date).

Asset Sales
PDC will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, consummate an Asset Sale unless:

(1) PDC (or the Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be) receives consideration at the time of such Asset Sale at least equal to
the Fair Market Value of the assets or Equity Interests issued or sold or otherwise disposed of; and

(2) (x) at least 75% of the consideration received in respect of such Asset Sale by PDC or such Restricted Subsidiary is in the
form of cash or Cash Equivalents or (y) the Fair Market Value of all forms of consideration other than cash and Cash Equivalents
received for all Asset Sales since the Issue Date does not exceed in the aggregate 10% of the Adjusted Consolidated Net Tangible
Assets of PDC at the time each determination is made. For purposes of this provision, each of the following will be deemed to be cash:

(a) any liabilities, as shown on PDC's most recent consolidated balance sheet, of PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary
(other than contingent liabilities, Subordinated Debt and any obligations in respect of preferred stock) that are assumed by
the transferee of any such assets or Equity Interests pursuant to (1) a customary novation agreement (or other legal
documentation with the same effect) that includes a full release of PDC or such Restricted Subsidiary from any and all
liability therefor or (2) an assignment agreement that includes, in lieu of such release, the agreement of the transferee or its
parent company to indemnify and hold harmless PDC or such Restricted Subsidiary from and against any loss, liability or
other cost in respect of such assumed liability;

(b) Liquid Securities;

(c) promissory notes or other obligations of the transferee in the Asset Sale that are converted to cash or Cash
Equivalents within 180 days of the Asset Sale; and
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(d) Additional Assets.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 75% limitation referred to above shall be deemed satisfied with respect to any Asset Sale in which the
cash or Cash Equivalents portion of the consideration received therefrom, determined in accordance with the foregoing provision on an after-tax
basis, is equal to or greater than what the after-tax proceeds would have been had such Asset Sale complied with the aforementioned 75%
limitation.

Within 365 days after the receipt of any Net Proceeds from an Asset Sale or, if PDC has entered into a binding commitment or
commitments with respect to any of the actions described in clauses (2) or (3) below, within the later of (x) 365 days after the receipt of any Net
Proceeds from an Asset Sale or (y) 180 days after the entering into of such commitment or commitments, PDC (or the applicable Restricted
Subsidiary, as the case may be) may apply such Net Proceeds:

(1) to permanently repay or purchase Senior Debt;
(2) toinvest in Additional Assets; or
(3) to make capital expenditures in respect of a Related Business of PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries.

However, pending application or investment of such Net Proceeds as provided in clauses (1) through (3), such Net Proceeds may be applied
to temporarily reduce revolving credit Indebtedness. An amount equal to any Net Proceeds from Asset Sales that are not applied or invested as
provided in clauses (1) through (3) above will constitute "Excess Proceeds."

Within ten Business Days after the aggregate amount of Excess Proceeds exceeds $30 million, PDC will make an offer (an "Asset Sale

Offer") to all holders of notes and all holders of other Indebtedness that is pari passu with the notes containing provisions similar to those set
forth in the indenture with respect to offers to purchase or redeem with the proceeds of sales of assets, to purchase the maximum principal

amount of notes and such other pari passu Indebtedness that may be purchased out of the Excess Proceeds. The offer price in any Asset Sale
Offer will be equal to 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase, and will be payable in cash.
If any Excess Proceeds remain after consummation of an Asset Sale Offer, PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary may use those Excess Proceeds for

any purpose not otherwise prohibited by the indenture. If the aggregate principal amount of notes and other pari passu Indebtedness tendered

into such Asset Sale Offer exceeds the amount of Excess Proceeds, PDC will use the Excess Proceeds to purchase the notes and such other pari
passu Indebtedness on a pro rata basis. Upon completion of each Asset Sale Offer, the amount of Excess Proceeds will be reset at zero.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the sale, conveyance or other disposition of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of PDC and its
Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, will be governed by the provisions of the indenture described under the caption " Repurchase at the
Option of Holders Change of Control Triggering Event" and/or the provisions described under the caption " Covenants Merger, Consolidation or
Sale of Substantially All Assets" and not by the provisions of the Asset Sales covenant.

PDC will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws and regulations to the extent
those laws and regulations are applicable in connection with each repurchase of notes pursuant to an Asset Sale Offer. To the extent that the
provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the Asset Sales provisions of the indenture, or compliance with the Asset Sales
provisions of the indenture would constitute a violation of any such laws or regulations, PDC will comply with the applicable securities laws and
regulations and will not be deemed to have breached its obligations under the Asset Sales provisions of the indenture by virtue of such
compliance.
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The Senior Credit Agreement contains, and future debt agreements may contain, prohibitions of certain events, including events that would
constitute a Change of Control or an Asset Sale and including repurchases of or other prepayments in respect of the notes. The exercise by the
holders of notes of their right to require PDC to repurchase the notes upon a Change of Control or an Asset Sale could cause a default under
these other agreements, even if the Change of Control Triggering Event or Asset Sale itself does not, due to the financial effect of such
repurchases on PDC or otherwise. In the event a Change of Control Triggering Event or Asset Sale occurs at a time when PDC is prohibited
from purchasing notes, PDC could seek the consent of the applicable lenders to the purchase of notes or could attempt to refinance the
Indebtedness that contain such prohibitions. If PDC does not obtain a consent or repay that Indebtedness, PDC will remain prohibited from
purchasing notes. In that case, PDC's failure to purchase tendered notes would constitute an Event of Default under the indenture which could, in
turn, constitute a default under other Indebtedness. Finally, PDC's ability to pay cash to the holders of notes upon a repurchase may be limited by
PDC's then-existing financial resources. See "Risk Factors Risks Related to the Notes We may not be able to repurchase the notes upon a change
of control triggering event as required by the indenture governing the notes."

Covenants
Restricted Payments
PDC will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly:

(1) declare or pay any dividend or make any other payment or distribution on account of PDC's or any of its Restricted
Subsidiaries' Equity Interests (including, without limitation, any payment in connection with any merger or consolidation involving
PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries) or to the direct or indirect holders of PDC's or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries' Equity
Interests in their capacity as such (other than dividends or distributions payable in Equity Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) of
PDC and other than dividends or distributions payable to PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary);

(2) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire or retire for value (including, without limitation, any such purchase, redemption,
acquisition or retirement made in connection with any merger or consolidation involving PDC) any Equity Interests of PDC or any
direct or indirect parent company of PDC;

(3) make any payment on or with respect to, or purchase, redeem, defease or otherwise acquire or retire for value any
Subordinated Debt, except a payment of interest or principal at or within three Business Days prior to or after the Stated Maturity
thereof (excluding (a) any intercompany Indebtedness between or among PDC and any of its Restricted Subsidiaries or (b) the
purchase or other acquisition of Subordinated Debt acquired in anticipation of satisfying a sinking fund obligation, principal
installment or final maturity, in each case due within one year of the date of such purchase or other acquisition); or

(4) make any Restricted Investment;

(all such payments and other actions set forth in clauses (1) through (4) above being collectively referred to as "Restricted Payments"), unless, at
the time of and after giving effect to such Restricted Payment:

(1) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would occur as a consequence of such Restricted Payment;

(2) PDC would, at the time of such Restricted Payment and after giving pro forma effect thereto as if such Restricted Payment
had been made at the beginning of the most recently ended four-quarter period, have been permitted to incur at least $1.00 of
additional Indebtedness
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pursuant to the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio test set forth in the first paragraph of the covenant described below under the caption
" Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock;" and

(3) such Restricted Payment, together with the aggregate amount of all other Restricted Payments made by PDC and its
Restricted Subsidiaries since the Existing Senior Notes Issue Date (excluding Restricted Payments permitted by clauses (2), (3), (4),
(5), (6), (7), (8), (9) and (12) of the next succeeding paragraph), is equal to or less than the sum, without duplication, of:

(a) 50% of the Consolidated Net Income of PDC for the period (taken as one accounting period) from the beginning of
the most recent fiscal quarter commencing before the Existing Senior Notes Issue Date to the end of PDC's most recently
ended fiscal quarter for which internal financial statements are available at the time of such Restricted Payment (or, if such

Consolidated Net Income for such period is a deficit, less 100% of such deficit); plus

(b) 100% of (A) (i) the aggregate net cash proceeds and (ii) the Fair Market Value of (x) marketable securities (other
than marketable securities of PDC or an Affiliate of PDC), (y) Capital Stock of a Person (other than PDC or an Affiliate of
PDC) engaged primarily in any Related Business and (z) other assets used or useful in any Related Business, in each case
received by PDC since the Existing Senior Notes Issue Date as a contribution to its common equity capital or from the issue
or sale of Equity Interests of PDC (other than Disqualified Stock) or from the issue or sale of convertible or exchangeable
Disqualified Stock or convertible or exchangeable debt securities of PDC that have been converted into or exchanged for
such Equity Interests (other than Equity Interests (or Disqualified Stock or debt securities) sold to a Subsidiary of PDC),
(B) with respect to Indebtedness that is incurred on or after the Existing Senior Notes Issue Date, the amount by which such
Indebtedness of PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries is reduced on PDC's consolidated balance sheet upon the
conversion or exchange after the Existing Senior Notes Issue Date of any such Indebtedness into or for Equity Interests of
PDC (other than Disqualified Stock), and (C) the aggregate net cash proceeds, if any, received by PDC or any of its

Restricted Subsidiaries upon any conversion or exchange described in clause (A) or (B) above; plus

(c) with respect to Restricted Investments made by PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries after the Existing Senior Notes
Issue Date, an amount equal to the sum, without duplication, of (A) the net reduction in such Restricted Investments in any
Person resulting from (i) repayments of loans or advances, or other transfers of assets, in each case to PDC or any Restricted
Subsidiary, (ii) other repurchases, repayments or redemptions of such Restricted Investments, (iii) the sale of any such
Restricted Investment to a purchaser other than PDC or a Subsidiary of PDC or (iv) the release of any Guarantee (except to
the extent any amounts are paid under such Guarantee) that constituted a Restricted Investment plus (B) with respect to any
Unrestricted Subsidiary designated as such after the Existing Senior Notes Issue Date that is redesignated as a Restricted
Subsidiary after the Existing Senior Notes Issue Date, the Fair Market Value of PDC's Investment in such Subsidiary held by

PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries at the time of such redesignation; plus

(d) 100% of any dividends received by PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary after the Existing Senior Notes Issue Date from
an Unrestricted Subsidiary, to the extent such dividends were not otherwise included in the Consolidated Net Income of
PDC for such period.

The preceding provisions will not prohibit:

(1) the payment of any dividend or the consummation of any irrevocable redemption within 60 days after the date of declaration
of the dividend or giving of the redemption notice, as the
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case may be, if at the date of declaration or notice, the dividend or redemption payment would have complied with the provisions of
the indenture;

(2) the making of any Restricted Payment in exchange for, or out of the net cash proceeds from the substantially concurrent sale
(other than to a Subsidiary of PDC) of, Equity Interests of PDC (other than Disqualified Stock and other than Equity Interests issued or
sold to an employee stock ownership plan, option plan or similar trust to the extent such sale to an employee stock ownership plan,
option plan or similar trust is financed by loans from or Guaranteed by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries unless such loans
have been repaid with cash on or prior to the date of determination) or from the substantially concurrent contribution of common
equity capital to PDC; provided that the amount of any such net cash proceeds that are utilized for any such Restricted Payment will be
excluded from clause (3)(b) of the preceding paragraph and clause (7) of this paragraph;

(3) the purchase, redemption, defeasance or other acquisition or retirement for value of Subordinated Debt (including the
payment of any required premium and any fees and expenses incurred in connection with such purchase, redemption, defeasance or
other acquisition or retirement) with the net cash proceeds from a substantially concurrent incurrence of Permitted Refinancing
Indebtedness;

(4) the purchase, redemption or other acquisition or retirement for value of any Equity Interests of PDC or any Restricted
Subsidiary held by any of PDC's or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries' current or former directors or employees in connection with the
exercise or vesting of any equity compensation (including, without limitation, stock options, restricted stock and phantom stock) in
order to satisfy PDC's or such Restricted Subsidiary's tax withholding obligation with respect to such exercise or vesting;

(5) purchases of Capital Stock deemed to occur upon the exercise of stock options if such Capital Stock represents a portion of
the exercise price thereof;

(6) payments to fund the purchase, redemption or other acquisition or retirement for value by PDC of fractional Equity Interests
arising out of stock dividends, splits or combinations, business combinations or other transactions permitted by the indenture;

(7) as long as no Default has occurred and is continuing or would be caused thereby, the purchase, redemption or other
acquisition or retirement for value of any Equity Interests of PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary held by any of PDC's (or any of its
Restricted Subsidiaries') current or former directors or employees; provided that the aggregate price paid for all such purchased,
redeemed, acquired or retired Equity Interests may not exceed the sum of (a) $25 million plus (b) the aggregate amount of cash
proceeds received by PDC from the sale of PDC's Equity Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) to any such directors or employees
that occurs after the Issue Date; provided that the amount of such cash proceeds utilized for any such purchase, redemption or other
acquisition or retirement will be excluded from clause (3)(b) of the immediately preceding paragraph and clause (2) of this paragraph
plus (c) the cash proceeds of key man life insurance policies received by PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries after the Issue Date;

(8) as long as no Default has occurred and is continuing or would be caused thereby, the declaration and payment of regularly
scheduled or accrued dividends to holders of any class or series of Disqualified Stock of PDC or any class or series of preferred stock
of any Restricted Subsidiary issued on or after the Issue Date in accordance with the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio test described
below under the caption " Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock;"
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(9) the payment of any dividend (or, in the case of any partnership or limited liability company, any similar distribution) by a
Restricted Subsidiary to the holders of Equity Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) of such Restricted Subsidiary; provided that
such dividend or similar distribution is paid to all holders of such Equity Interests on a pro rata basis based on their respective holdings
of such Equity Interests;

(10) purchases of Subordinated Debt at a purchase price not greater than (a) 101% of the principal amount of such Subordinated
Debt and accrued and unpaid interest thereon in the event of a Change of Control or (b) 100% of the principal amount of such
Subordinated Debt and accrued and unpaid interest thereon in the event of an Asset Sale in connection with any change of control
offer or asset sale offer required by the terms of such Subordinated Debt, but only if:

(i) in the case of a Change of Control Triggering Event, PDC has first complied with and fully satisfied its obligations
under the covenant described under " Repurchase at the Option of Holders Change of Control Triggering Event;" or

(i1) in the case of an Asset Sale, PDC has complied with and fully satisfied its obligations under the covenant
described under " Repurchase at the Option of Holders Asset Sales;"

(11) payments or distributions to dissenting stockholders pursuant to applicable law in connection with a merger, consolidation or
transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of PDC that complies with the provisions described under the caption " Merger,
Consolidation or Sale of Substantially All Assets;" and

(12) other Restricted Payments in an aggregate amount at any time outstanding not to exceed $50 million.

The amount of all Restricted Payments (other than cash) shall be the Fair Market Value, on the date of such Restricted Payment, of the
Restricted Investment proposed to be made or the asset(s) or securities proposed to be paid, transferred or issued by PDC or such Restricted
Subsidiary, as the case may be, pursuant to such Restricted Payment. The Fair Market Value of any cash Restricted Payment shall be its face
amount, and the Fair Market Value of any non-cash Restricted Payment shall be determined in accordance with the definition of that term. For
purposes of determining compliance with this covenant, in the event that a Restricted Payment meets the criteria of more than one of the
exceptions described in (1) through (12) above or is entitled to be made pursuant to the first paragraph of this covenant, PDC shall, in its sole
discretion, classify such Restricted Payment, or later classify, reclassify or re-divide all or a portion of such Restricted Payment, in any manner
that complies with this covenant.

Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock

PDC will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to directly or indirectly create, incur, issue, assume, Guarantee or
otherwise become directly or indirectly liable, contingently or otherwise, with respect to (collectively, "incur;" with "incurrence" having a
correlative meaning) any Indebtedness (including Acquired Debt), and PDC will not issue any Disqualified Stock and will not permit any of its
Restricted Subsidiaries to issue any preferred stock; provided, however, that PDC may incur Indebtedness (including Acquired Debt) and issue
Disqualified Stock, and Subsidiary Guarantors may incur Indebtedness (including Acquired Debt) and issue preferred stock, if the Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio for PDC's most recently ended four full fiscal quarters for which internal financial statements are available immediately
preceding the date on which such additional Indebtedness is incurred or such Disqualified Stock or preferred stock is issued, as the case may be,
would have been at least 2.0 to 1.0, determined on a pro forma basis (including a pro forma application of the net proceeds therefrom), as if the
additional Indebtedness had been incurred or the Disqualified Stock or preferred stock had been issued, as the case may be, at the beginning of
such four-quarter period.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, the first paragraph of this covenant will not prohibit the incurrence of any of the following items of
Indebtedness or the issuance of any Disqualified Stock or preferred stock described below (collectively, "Permitted Debt"):

(1) the incurrence by PDC and any Restricted Subsidiary of Indebtedness under Credit Facilities in an aggregate principal
amount at any one time outstanding under this clause (1) (with letters of credit being deemed to have a principal amount equal to the
maximum potential liability of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries thereunder) not to exceed the greatest of (i) $1.4 billion, (ii) the
sum of $500 million plus an amount equal to 35.0% of Adjusted Consolidated Net Tangible Assets of PDC and (iii) the Borrowing
Base, in each case of clauses (ii) and (iii), determined as of the date of the incurrence of such Indebtedness after giving pro forma
effect to such incurrence and the application of the proceeds therefrom;

(2) the incurrence by PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries of Existing Indebtedness;
(3) the incurrence by PDC of Indebtedness represented by the notes;

(4) the incurrence by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of Indebtedness represented by Capital Lease Obligations,
mortgage financings or purchase money obligations, in each case, incurred for the purpose of financing all or any part of the purchase
price or cost of design, construction, installation, improvement, deployment, refurbishment or modification of property, plant or
equipment or furniture, fixtures and equipment, in each case, used in the business of PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, in an
aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding, including all Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness incurred to extend, renew,
refund, refinance, replace, defease, discharge or otherwise retire for value any Indebtedness incurred pursuant to this clause (4), not to
exceed the greater of (a) $50 million and (b) 4.0% of Adjusted Consolidated Net Tangible Assets of PDC, determined as of the date of
the incurrence of such Indebtedness;

(5) the incurrence or issuance by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness in exchange
for, or the net proceeds of which are used to extend, renew, refund, refinance, replace, defease, discharge or otherwise retire for value
any Indebtedness (other than intercompany Indebtedness) or Disqualified Stock of PDC, or Indebtedness (other than intercompany
Indebtedness) or preferred stock of any Restricted Subsidiary, in each case that was permitted by the indenture to be incurred or issued
under the first paragraph of this covenant or clause (2), (3), (4), (10) or (15) of this paragraph or this clause (5);

(6) the incurrence by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of intercompany Indebtedness between or among PDC and any
of its Restricted Subsidiaries; provided, however, that (a) if PDC or any Subsidiary Guarantor is the obligor on such Indebtedness and
the payee is not PDC or a Subsidiary Guarantor, such Indebtedness must be expressly subordinated to the prior payment in full in cash
of all obligations then due with respect to the notes, in the case of PDC, or the Subsidiary Guarantee, in the case of a Subsidiary
Guarantor; and (b) (i) any subsequent issuance or transfer of Equity Interests that results in any such Indebtedness being held by a
Person other than PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary and (ii) any sale or other transfer of any such Indebtedness to a Person that is not
either PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary will be deemed, in each case, to constitute an incurrence of such Indebtedness by PDC or such
Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be, that was not permitted by this clause (6);

(7) the issuance by any of PDC's Restricted Subsidiaries to PDC or to any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of any preferred stock;
provided, however, that:

(a) any subsequent issuance or transfer of Equity Interests that results in any such preferred stock being held by a
Person other than PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary; and

42

56



Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

Table of Contents

(b) any sale or other transfer of any such preferred stock to a Person that is not either PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary,
will be deemed, in each case, to constitute an issuance of such preferred stock by such Restricted Subsidiary that was not
permitted by this clause (7);

(8) the incurrence of obligations of PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary pursuant to Hedging Obligations;

(9) the Guarantee by PDC or any of the Subsidiary Guarantors of Indebtedness of PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary that was
permitted to be incurred by another provision of this covenant; provided that if the Indebtedness being Guaranteed is subordinated to

or pari passu with the notes, then the Guarantee shall be subordinated or pari passu, as applicable, to the same extent as the
Indebtedness Guaranteed;

(10) the incurrence by PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary of Permitted Acquisition Indebtedness;

(11) the incurrence by PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary of Indebtedness arising from the honoring by a bank or other financial
institution of a check, draft or similar instrument inadvertently drawn against insufficient funds, so long as such Indebtedness is
covered within five Business Days;

(12) the incurrence by PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary of Indebtedness consisting of the financing of insurance premiums in
customary amounts consistent with the operations and business of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(13) the incurrence by PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary of Indebtedness constituting reimbursement obligations with respect to
letters of credit; provided that, upon the drawing of such letters of credit, such obligations are reimbursed within 30 days following
such drawing;

(14) the incurrence by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of Indebtedness in the form of Guarantees of Indebtedness of
joint ventures; provided that the aggregate principal amount of the Obligations incurred pursuant to such Guarantees shall not exceed
the greater of (a) $100 million and (b) 4.0% of Adjusted Consolidated Net Tangible Assets, determined as of the date of each
incurrence of such Guarantee after giving pro forma effect to the application of proceeds of the Indebtedness being guaranteed; and

(15) the incurrence by PDC or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries of Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount that, when
taken together with all other Indebtedness of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries outstanding on the date of such incurrence (other
than Indebtedness permitted by clauses (1) through (14) above or the first paragraph of this covenant) and any Permitted Refinancing
Indebtedness incurred to extend, renew, refund, refinance, replace, defease, discharge or otherwise retire for value any Indebtedness
incurred pursuant to this clause (15) does not exceed the greater of (a) 5.0% of Adjusted Consolidated Net Tangible Assets of PDC,
determined as of the date of the incurrence of such Indebtedness after giving pro forma effect to such incurrence and the application of
the proceeds therefrom and (b) $150 million.

PDC will not incur, and will not permit any Subsidiary Guarantor to incur, any Indebtedness (including Permitted Debt) that is
contractually subordinated in right of payment to any other Indebtedness of PDC or such Subsidiary Guarantor unless such Indebtedness is also
contractually subordinated in right of payment to the notes and the applicable Subsidiary Guarantee, on substantially identical terms; provided,
however, that no Indebtedness will be deemed to be contractually subordinated in right of payment to any other Indebtedness of PDC solely by
virtue of being unsecured or by virtue of being secured on a first or junior Lien basis.

For purposes of determining compliance with this " Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock" covenant, (a) in the event
that an item of proposed Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock
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or preferred stock meets the criteria of more than one of the categories of Permitted Debt described in clauses (1) through (15) of the second
paragraph of this covenant, or is entitled to be incurred or issued pursuant to the first paragraph of this covenant, PDC will be permitted to divide
and classify such item on the date of its incurrence or issuance, or later divide and reclassify all or a portion of such item, in any manner that
complies with this covenant and (b) all Indebtedness outstanding on the Issue Date under the Senior Credit Agreement shall be deemed to have
been Incurred on the Issue Date under clause (1) of the second paragraph of this covenant and may not be later divided or reclassified pursuant
to clause (a) of this sentence. The accrual of interest, the accretion or amortization of original issue discount, the payment of interest on any
Indebtedness in the form of additional Indebtedness with the same terms, the reclassification of preferred stock as Indebtedness due to a change
in accounting principles, and the payment of dividends on Disqualified Stock or preferred stock in the form of additional Disqualified Stock or
preferred stock of the same class will be deemed not to be an incurrence of Indebtedness or an issuance of Disqualified Stock or preferred stock
for purposes of this covenant; provided, in each such case, that the amount of any such accrual, accretion or payment is included in Fixed
Charges of PDC as accrued.

For purposes of determining compliance with any U.S. dollar-denominated restriction on the incurrence of Indebtedness, the U.S.
dollar-equivalent principal amount of Indebtedness denominated in a foreign currency shall be calculated based on the relevant currency
exchange rate in effect on the date such Indebtedness was incurred, in the case of term Indebtedness, or first committed, in the case of revolving
credit Indebtedness; provided that if such Indebtedness is incurred to refinance other Indebtedness denominated in a foreign currency, and such
refinancing would cause the applicable U.S. dollar-denominated restriction to be exceeded if calculated at the relevant currency exchange rate in
effect on the date of such refinancing, such U.S. dollar-denominated restriction shall be deemed not to have been exceeded so long as the
principal amount of such refinancing Indebtedness does not exceed the principal amount of such Indebtedness being refinanced.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this covenant, the maximum amount of Indebtedness that PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary may incur
pursuant to this covenant shall not be deemed to be exceeded solely as a result of fluctuations in the exchange rate of currencies. The principal
amount of any Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness incurred to refinance other Indebtedness, if incurred in a different currency from the
Indebtedness being refinanced, shall be calculated based on the currency exchange rate applicable to the currencies in which such Permitted
Refinancing Indebtedness is denominated that is in effect on the date of such refinancing.

Limitation on Liens

PDC will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, create, incur or permit to exist any Lien (the
"Initial Lien"), other than Permitted Liens, upon any of its property or assets (including Capital Stock and Indebtedness of any Subsidiaries of
PDC and including any income or profits from such property or assets), whether owned on the Issue Date or thereafter acquired, which Lien
secures any Subordinated Debt or other Indebtedness, unless:

(1) in the case of Liens securing Subordinated Debt of PDC or a Subsidiary Guarantor, the notes or Subsidiary Guarantee, as
applicable, are secured by a Lien on such property or assets on a senior basis to the Subordinated Debt so secured with the same
priority as the notes or such Subsidiary Guarantee, as applicable, has to such Subordinated Debt until such time as such Subordinated
Debt is no longer so secured by a Lien; and

(2) in the case of Liens securing other Indebtedness of PDC or a Subsidiary Guarantor, the notes or Subsidiary Guarantees, as
applicable, are secured by a Lien on such property or assets on an equal and ratable basis with the other Indebtedness so secured until
such time as such other Indebtedness is no longer so secured by a Lien.
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Any Lien securing the notes or Subsidiary Guarantees created pursuant to the preceding paragraph shall provide by its terms that such Lien
shall be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged upon the unconditional release and discharge of the Initial Lien.

Dividend and Other Payment Restrictions Affecting Restricted Subsidiaries

PDC will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, create or permit to exist or become effective
any consensual encumbrance or restriction on the ability of any Restricted Subsidiary to:

(a) pay dividends or make any other distributions on its Capital Stock to PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, or pay any
Indebtedness owed to PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(b) make loans or advances to PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries; or
(c) sell, lease or transfer any of its properties or assets to PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries.
However, the preceding restrictions will not apply to encumbrances or restrictions existing under, by reason of or with respect to:

(1) the Senior Credit Agreement, any Existing Indebtedness, Capital Stock or any other agreements or instruments, in each case
as in effect on the Issue Date and any amendments, restatements, modifications, renewals, extensions, supplements, increases,
refundings, replacements or refinancings thereof; provided that the encumbrances and restrictions in any such amendments,
restatements, modifications, renewals, extensions, supplements, increases, refundings, replacements or refinancings are, in the
reasonable good faith judgment of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of PDC, no more restrictive, taken as a
whole, than those contained in the applicable agreements or instruments as in effect on the Issue Date;

(2) the indenture, the notes and the Subsidiary Guarantees;
(3) applicable law, rule, regulation, order, approval, permit or similar restriction;

(4) any instrument governing Indebtedness or Capital Stock of a Person acquired by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries as
in effect at the time of such acquisition (except to the extent such Indebtedness or Capital Stock was incurred in connection with or in
contemplation of such acquisition), which encumbrance or restriction is not applicable to any Person, or the properties or assets of any
Person, other than the Person, or the property or assets of the Person, so acquired and any amendments, restatements, modifications,
renewals, extensions, supplements, increases, refundings, replacements or refinancings thereof; provided, that the encumbrances and
restrictions in any such amendments, restatements, modifications, renewals, extensions, supplements, increases, refundings,
replacements or refinancings are, in the reasonable good faith judgment of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of
PDC, no more restrictive, taken as a whole, than those in effect on the date of the acquisition; provided, further, that, in the case of
Indebtedness, such Indebtedness was permitted by the terms of the indenture to be incurred;

(5) customary non-assignment provisions in contracts, leases and licenses (including, without limitation, licenses of intellectual
property) entered into in the ordinary course of business;

(6) any agreement for the sale or other disposition of the Equity Interests in, or all or substantially all of the properties or assets
of, a Restricted Subsidiary, that restricts distributions by the applicable Restricted Subsidiary pending the sale or other disposition;

(7) Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness; provided that the restrictions contained in the agreements governing such Permitted
Refinancing Indebtedness are not materially more restrictive,
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taken as a whole, than those contained in the agreements governing the Indebtedness being refinanced;

(8) Liens permitted to be incurred under the provisions of the covenant described above under the caption " Limitation on Liens"
that limit the right of the debtor to dispose of the assets subject to such Liens;

(9) the issuance of preferred stock by a Restricted Subsidiary or the payment of dividends thereon in accordance with the terms
thereof; provided that issuance of such preferred stock is permitted pursuant to the covenant described under the caption " Incurrence of
Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock" and the terms of such preferred stock do not expressly restrict the ability of a Restricted
Subsidiary to pay dividends or make any other distributions on its Capital Stock (other than requirements to pay dividends or
liquidation preferences on such preferred stock prior to paying any dividends or making any other distributions on such other Capital
Stock);

(10) other Indebtedness of PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries permitted to be incurred pursuant to an agreement entered
into subsequent to the Issue Date in accordance with the covenant described under the caption " Incurrence of Indebtedness and
Issuance of Preferred Stock;" provided that the provisions relating to such encumbrance or restriction contained in such Indebtedness
are not materially less favorable to PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in the reasonable good faith judgment of the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of PDC, than the provisions contained in the Senior Credit Agreement as in effect
on the Issue Date;

(11) Indebtedness incurred or Capital Stock issued by any Restricted Subsidiary, provided that the restrictions contained in the
agreements or instruments governing such Indebtedness or Capital Stock (a) apply only in the event of a payment default or a default
with respect to a financial covenant in such agreement or instrument or (b) will not materially affect PDC's ability to pay all principal,
interest and premium, if any, on the notes, in the reasonable good faith judgment of the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial
Officer of PDC;

(12) customary provisions restricting subletting or assignment of any lease governing a leasehold interest;
(13) Hedging Obligations permitted from time to time under the indenture;

(14) restrictions on cash or other deposits or net worth imposed by customers under contracts entered into in the ordinary course
of business; and

(15) with respect only to encumbrances or restrictions of the type referred to in clause (c) of the immediately preceding
paragraph:

(a) customary nonassignment provisions (including provisions forbidding subletting) in leases governing leasehold
interests or Farm-In Agreements or Farm-Out Agreements relating to leasehold interests in oil and gas properties to the
extent such provisions restrict the transfer of the lease, the property leased thereunder or the other interests therein;

(b) provisions limiting the disposition or distribution of assets or property in, or transfer of Capital Stock of, joint
venture agreements, asset sale agreements, sale-leaseback agreements, stock sale agreements and other similar agreements
entered into (i) in the ordinary course of business, or (ii) with the approval of PDC's Board of Directors, which limitations
are applicable only to the assets, property or Capital Stock that are the subject of such agreements; and
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(c) Capital Lease Obligations, security agreements, mortgages, purchase money agreements or similar instruments to
the extent such encumbrance or restriction restricts the transfer of the property (including Capital Stock) subject to such
Capital Lease Obligations, security agreements, mortgages, purchase money agreements or similar instruments.

Transactions with Affiliates

PDC will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, make any payment to, or sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of
any of its properties or assets to, or purchase any property or assets from, or enter into or make or amend any transaction, contract, agreement,
understanding, loan, advance or Guarantee with, or for the benefit of, any Affiliate of PDC (each, an "Affiliate Transaction"), involving
aggregate payments or consideration in excess of $1 million, unless:

(1) the Affiliate Transaction is on terms that are no less favorable to PDC or the relevant Restricted Subsidiary than those that
would have been obtained in a comparable transaction by PDC or such Restricted Subsidiary with a Person that is not an Affiliate of
PDC; and

(2) PDC delivers to the trustee:

(a) with respect to any Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions involving aggregate
consideration in excess of $25 million, a resolution of the Board of Directors of PDC set forth in an Officers' Certificate
certifying that such Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions complies with this covenant and that such
Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions has been approved by a majority of the disinterested members
of the Board of Directors of PDC; and

(b) with respect to any Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions involving aggregate
consideration in excess of $50 million, an opinion as to the fairness to PDC or such Restricted Subsidiary of such Affiliate
Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions from a financial point of view issued by an accounting, appraisal or
investment banking firm of national standing.

The following items will not be deemed to be Affiliate Transactions and, therefore, will not be subject to the provisions of the prior
paragraph:

(1) any employment, consulting or similar agreement or arrangement, stock option or stock ownership plan, employee benefit
plan, officer or director indemnification agreement, restricted stock agreement, severance agreement or other compensation plan or
arrangement entered into by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business and payments, awards, grants
or issuances of securities pursuant thereto;

(2) transactions between or among PDC and/or its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(3) transactions with a Person (other than an Unrestricted Subsidiary) that is an Affiliate of PDC solely because PDC owns,
directly or through a Subsidiary, an Equity Interest in, or controls, such Person;

(4) reasonable fees and expenses and compensation paid to, and indemnity or insurance provided on behalf of, officers, directors
or employees of PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(5) any issuance of Equity Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) of PDC to, or receipt of a capital contribution from,
Affiliates of PDC;

(6) Restricted Payments that do not violate the provisions of the indenture described above under the caption " Restricted
Payments" or any Permitted Investments;
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(7) loans or advances to employees in the ordinary course of business or consistent with past practice;

(8) advances to or reimbursements of employees for moving, entertainment and travel expenses, drawing accounts and similar

expenditures in the ordinary course of business;

(9) the performance of obligations of PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries under the terms of any written agreement to
which PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries was a party on the Issue Date, as these agreements may be amended, modified or
supplemented from time to time; provided, however, that any future amendment, modification or supplement entered into after the

Issue Date will be permitted to the extent that its terms do not materially and adversely affect the rights of any holders of the notes (as

determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of PDC) as compared to the terms of the agreements in effect on the Issue Date;

(10) (a) guarantees of performance by PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries of Unrestricted Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of

business, except for Guarantees of Indebtedness in respect of borrowed money, and (b) pledges of Equity Interests of Unrestricted

Subsidiaries for the benefit of lenders of Unrestricted Subsidiaries;

(11) transactions between PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary and any Person, a director of which is also a director of PDC or any
direct or indirect parent company of PDC and such director is the sole cause for such Person to be deemed an Affiliate of PDC or any
Restricted Subsidiary; provided, however, that such director abstains from voting as director of PDC or such direct or indirect parent

company of PDC, as the case may be, on any matter involving such other Person; and

(12) transactions with customers, clients, suppliers, or purchasers or sellers of goods or services that are Affiliates, in each case in

the ordinary course of business and otherwise in compliance with the terms of the indenture, provided that in the reasonable

determination of the Board of Directors of PDC or the senior management of PDC, such transactions are on terms not materially less

favorable to PDC or the relevant Restricted Subsidiary than those that could reasonably be expected to be obtained in a comparable

transaction at such time on an arm's-length basis from a Person that is not an Affiliate of PDC.

Designation of Restricted and Unrestricted Subsidiaries

The Board of Directors of PDC may designate any Restricted Subsidiary to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary if that designation would not
cause a Default. If a Restricted Subsidiary is designated as an Unrestricted Subsidiary, the aggregate Fair Market Value of all outstanding

Investments owned by PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries in the Subsidiary designated as an Unrestricted Subsidiary will be deemed to be an

Investment made as of the time of the designation. That designation will only be permitted if the applicable Restricted Subsidiary meets the
definition of an Unrestricted Subsidiary and if such Investment would be permitted at that time, either pursuant to (a) the covenant described

above under the caption " Restricted Payments" or (b) the definition of Permitted Investment.

Any designation of a Subsidiary of PDC as an Unrestricted Subsidiary will be evidenced to the trustee by filing with the trustee a certified

copy of a resolution of the Board of Directors of PDC giving effect to such designation and an Officers' Certificate certifying that such
designation complied with the preceding conditions and was permitted by the covenant described above under the caption " Restricted

Payments." If, at any time, any Unrestricted Subsidiary would fail to meet the requirements of the definition of "Unrestricted Subsidiary" set

forth below under " Definitions," it will thereafter cease to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary for purposes of the indenture and any Indebtedness of

such Subsidiary will be deemed to be incurred by a Restricted Subsidiary as of such date and, if such Indebtedness is not permitted to be

incurred as of such date under the covenant
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described under the caption " Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock," PDC will be in Default of such covenant.

The Board of Directors of PDC may at any time designate any Unrestricted Subsidiary to be a Restricted Subsidiary; provided that such
designation will be deemed to be an incurrence of Indebtedness by a Restricted Subsidiary of any outstanding Indebtedness of such Unrestricted
Subsidiary, and such designation will only be permitted if (1) such Indebtedness is permitted under the covenant described under the caption
" Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock," calculated on a pro forma basis as if such designation had occurred at the
beginning of the four-quarter reference period; and (2) no Default or Event of Default would be in existence following such designation.

Reports

Regardless of whether required by the rules and regulations of the SEC, so long as any notes are outstanding, PDC will file with the SEC
for public availability, within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and regulations (unless the SEC will not accept such a filing, in which
case PDC will comply with the requirements described in the second succeeding paragraph):

(1) all quarterly and annual reports that would be required to be filed with the SEC on Forms 10-Q and 10-K if PDC were
required to file such reports; and

(2) all current reports that would be required to be filed with the SEC on Form 8-K if PDC were required to file such reports.

All such reports will be prepared in all material respects in accordance with all of the rules and regulations applicable to such reports. Each
annual report on Form 10-K will include a report on PDC's consolidated financial statements by PDC's certified independent accountants.

If, at any time, PDC is no longer subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act for any reason, PDC will nevertheless
continue filing the reports specified in the preceding paragraphs of this covenant with the SEC within the time periods specified above unless the
SEC will not accept such a filing. PDC will not take any action for the purpose of causing the SEC not to accept any such filings. If,
notwithstanding the foregoing, the SEC will not accept PDC's filings for any reason, PDC will post the reports referred to in the preceding
paragraphs on its website within the time periods that would apply if PDC were required to file those reports with the SEC. Any default or event
of default arising from a failure to file with the SEC or post in a timely manner any information shall be deemed cured upon filing or posting
such information.

Subsidiary Guarantees
If, after the Issue Date, any Domestic Restricted Subsidiary that is not already a Subsidiary Guarantor both:
(1) Guarantees (or otherwise becomes liable for) Obligations under the Senior Credit Agreement, and
(2) constitutes a Material Subsidiary,

then such Subsidiary will become a Subsidiary Guarantor by executing and delivering a supplemental indenture, in the form provided for in the
indenture, to the trustee within 30 days of the date on which it is required to become a Subsidiary Guarantor.

If, at any date after the Issue Date, PDC's Domestic Restricted Subsidiaries that are not Subsidiary Guarantors are Material in the
Aggregate, then PDC shall cause one or more of such Domestic Restricted Subsidiaries (the selection thereof to be at PDC's discretion) to
promptly become
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Subsidiary Guarantors by executing and delivering a supplemental indenture, in the form provided for in the indenture, such that, after giving
effect thereto, the remaining Domestic Restricted Subsidiaries would not be Material in the Aggregate and otherwise not meet the definition of
"Material Subsidiary."

The Subsidiary Guarantee of a Subsidiary Guarantor will be released at such time as such Subsidiary Guarantor ceases to (i) Guarantee (or
otherwise be liable for) Obligations under the Senior Credit Agreement or (ii) constitute a Material Subsidiary or, if after giving effect to such
release, PDC's Domestic Restricted Subsidiaries would not be Material in the Aggregate.

Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Substantially All Assets

PDC will not (1) consolidate or merge with or into another Person (regardless of whether PDC is the surviving corporation), convert into
another form of entity or continue in another jurisdiction; or (2), directly or indirectly, sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of
all or substantially all of its properties or assets, in one or more related transactions, to another Person, unless:

(1) either: (a) PDC is the surviving corporation; or (b) the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger or
resulting from such conversion (if other than PDC) or to which such sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition
has been made is a corporation, limited liability company or limited partnership organized or existing under the laws of the United
States, any state of the United States or the District of Columbia;

(2) the Person formed by or surviving any such conversion, consolidation or merger (if other than PDC) or the Person to which
such sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition has been made assumes all the obligations of PDC under the
notes and the indenture (and the Registration Rights Agreement, if any obligations thereunder remain unsatisfied) pursuant to
agreements; provided that, unless such Person is a corporation, a corporate co-issuer of the notes will be added to the indenture by a
supplement to the indenture;

(3) immediately after such transaction or transactions, no Default or Event of Default exists; and

(4) PDC or the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger (if other than PDC), or to which such sale,
assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition has been made, would (on the date of such transaction after giving pro
forma effect thereto and to any related financing transactions as if the same had occurred at the beginning of the applicable
four-quarter period) either (a) be permitted to incur at least $1.00 of additional Indebtedness pursuant to the Fixed Charge Coverage
Ratio test set forth in the first paragraph of the covenant described above under the caption " Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance
of Preferred Stock;" or (b) have a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio that is not less than the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of PDC and its
Restricted Subsidiaries immediately before such transaction.

For purposes of this covenant, the sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition of all or substantially all of the
properties or assets of one or more Subsidiaries of PDC, which properties or assets, if held by PDC instead of such Subsidiaries, would
constitute all or substantially all of the properties or assets of PDC on a consolidated basis, shall be deemed to be the transfer of all or
substantially all of the properties or assets of PDC.

The surviving entity will succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power of, PDC under the indenture; provided,
however, that PDC will not be released from the obligation to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the notes in the case of a
lease of all or substantially all of PDC's properties or assets in a transaction that is subject to, and that complies with the provisions of, this
covenant.
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Notwithstanding the restrictions described above, any Restricted Subsidiary may consolidate with, merge into or dispose of all or part of its
properties or assets to PDC, PDC may merge into a Restricted Subsidiary for the purpose of reincorporating PDC in another jurisdiction, and any
Restricted Subsidiary may consolidate with, merge into or dispose of all or part of its properties or assets to another Restricted Subsidiary.

Although there is a limited body of case law interpreting the phrase "substantially all," there is no precise established definition of the
phrase under applicable law. Accordingly, in certain circumstances there may be a degree of uncertainty as to whether a particular transaction
would involve "all or substantially all" of the properties or assets of a Person.

Covenant Suspension

From and after the occurrence of an Investment Grade Rating Event, the covenants specifically listed under the following captions in this
prospectus will be suspended:

(a) clause (4) of the covenant described under " Covenants Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Substantially All Assets" and

(b) the provisions of the indenture described above under the following headings:

Repurchase at the Option of Holders Asset Sales;"

Covenants Restricted Payments;"

Covenants Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock;"

Covenants Dividend and Other Payment Restrictions Affecting Restricted Subsidiaries;" and

Covenants Transactions with Affiliates."

During any period that the foregoing covenants have been suspended (the "Suspension Period"), PDC may not designate any of its
Subsidiaries as Unrestricted Subsidiaries pursuant to the covenant described below under the caption " Covenants Designation of Restricted and
Unrestricted Subsidiaries." We and our Restricted Subsidiaries will remain subject to all other covenants in the indenture, including those
described above under "Repurchase at the Option of Holders Change of Control Triggering Event" and " Covenants Subsidiary Guarantees."

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the rating assigned to the notes by both Rating Agencies should subsequently decline to below an
Investment Grade Rating, the foregoing covenants will be reinstituted as of and from the date of such rating decline. Calculations under the
reinstated "Restricted Payments" covenant will be made as if the "Restricted Payments" covenant had been in effect since the Issue Date except
that no Default will be deemed to have occurred solely by reason of a Restricted Payment made while that covenant was suspended.
Furthermore, all Indebtedness incurred, or Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock issued, during the Suspension Period will be deemed to have
been incurred or issued pursuant to clause (2) of the definition of "Permitted Debt." In addition, for purposes of the covenant described under
" Covenants Transactions with Affiliates," all agreements and arrangements entered into by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary with an
Affiliate of the Company during the Suspension Period will be deemed to have been entered into prior to the Issue Date and permitted by
clause (9) of such covenant, and for purposes of the covenant described under " Covenants Dividend and Other Payment Restrictions Affecting
Restricted Subsidiaries," all contracts entered into during the Suspension Period that contain any of the restrictions contemplated by such
covenant will be deemed to have been existing on the Issue Date.

There can be no assurance that the notes will ever achieve an Investment Grade Rating, or that any such rating will be maintained.
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Events of Default
Under the indenture, each of the following will constitute an "Event of Default" with respect to the notes:
(1) default for 30 days in the payment when due of interest on the notes;
(2) default in the payment when due of the principal of, or premium, if any, on the notes;

(3) failure by PDC to comply with its obligations under " Covenants Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Substantially All Assets"
or to consummate a purchase of notes when required pursuant to the covenants described under the caption " Repurchase at the Option
of Holders;"

(4) failure by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries for 30 days after written notice from the trustee or the holders of at least
25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes to comply with the provisions described under the captions
" Covenants Restricted Payments" or " Covenants Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock" or to comply with the
provisions described under the caption " Repurchase at the Option of Holders" to the extent not described in clause (3) above;

(5) (a) except as addressed in subclause (b) of this clause (5), failure by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries for 60 days
after written notice from the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes to
comply with any of the other agreements in the indenture or the notes or (b) failure by PDC for 180 days after notice from the trustee
or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes to comply with the covenant described under
the caption " Covenants Reports;"

(6) default under any mortgage, indenture or instrument under which there may be issued or by which there may be secured or
evidenced any Indebtedness for money borrowed by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries (or the payment of which is Guaranteed
by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries), other than Indebtedness owed to PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, whether such
Indebtedness or Guarantee now exists, or is created after the Issue Date, which default:

(a) is caused by a failure to pay principal of, or interest or premium, if any, on such Indebtedness prior to the
expiration of the grace period provided in such Indebtedness ("Payment Default"); or

(b) results in the acceleration of such Indebtedness prior to its maturity;

and, in each case, the principal amount of any such Indebtedness, together with the principal amount of any other such Indebtedness under which
there has been a Payment Default or the maturity of which has been so accelerated, aggregates $50 million or more;

(7) failure by PDC or any Significant Subsidiary or group of PDC's Restricted Subsidiaries that, taken together (as of the latest
audited consolidated financial statements for PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries), would constitute a Significant Subsidiary to pay
final judgments aggregating in excess of $50 million (net of any amounts that a reputable and creditworthy insurance company has
acknowledged liability for in writing), which judgments are not paid, discharged or stayed for a period of 60 days;

(8) except as permitted by the indenture, any Subsidiary Guarantee is held in a judicial proceeding to be unenforceable or invalid
or ceases for any reason to be in full force and effect, or any Subsidiary Guarantor, or any Person acting on behalf of any Subsidiary

Guarantor, denies or disaffirms its obligations under its Subsidiary Guarantee; or

52

66



Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

Table of Contents

(9) certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization with respect to PDC or a Significant Subsidiary or group of
Restricted Subsidiaries that, taken together (as of the latest audited consolidated financial statements for PDC and its Restricted
Subsidiaries), would constitute a Significant Subsidiary.

The indenture will provide that in the case of an Event of Default arising from certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency with respect to
PDC, any Restricted Subsidiary that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Restricted Subsidiaries that, taken together, would constitute a
Significant Subsidiary, all then outstanding notes will become due and payable immediately without further action or notice. However, the effect
of such provision may be limited by applicable law. If any other Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the trustee or the holders of at least
25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes may declare all of the notes to be due and payable immediately by notice in
writing to PDC and, in case of a notice by holders, also to the trustee specifying the respective Event of Default and that it is a notice of
acceleration.

Subject to certain limitations, holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes may direct the trustee in its
exercise of any trust or power with respect to the notes. The trustee may withhold from holders of the notes notice of any continuing Default or
Event of Default if it determines that withholding notice is in their interest, except a Default or Event of Default relating to the payment of
principal, interest or premium, if any.

Subject to the provisions of the indenture relating to the duties of the trustee in case an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the
trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers under the indenture at the request or direction of any holders of notes
unless such holders have offered to the trustee indemnity or security satisfactory to the trustee against any loss, liability or expense. Except to
enforce the right to receive payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest, when due, no holder of a note may pursue any remedy with
respect to the indenture or the notes unless:

(a) such holder has previously given the trustee notice of a continuing Event of Default;

(b) holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes have made a written request to the trustee
to pursue the remedy;

(c) such holders have offered the trustee reasonable security or indemnity against any loss, liability or expense;

(d) the trustee has not complied with such request within 60 days after the receipt of the request and the offer of security or
indemnity; and

(e) holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes have not given the trustee a direction that is
inconsistent with such request within such 60-day period.

The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes by notice to the trustee may, on behalf of the holders
of all of the notes, rescind an acceleration or waive any existing Default or Event of Default and its consequences under the indenture except a
continuing Default or Event of Default in the payment of interest or premium, if any, on, or the principal of, the notes.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Event of Default specified in clause (6) above shall have occurred and be continuing, such Event of
Default and any consequential acceleration (to the extent not in violation of any applicable law or in conflict with any judgment or decree of a
court of competent jurisdiction) shall be automatically rescinded if (a) (i) the Indebtedness that is the subject of such Event of Default has been
repaid or (ii) if the default relating to such Indebtedness is waived by the holders of such Indebtedness or cured and if such Indebtedness has
been accelerated, then the holders thereof have rescinded their declaration of acceleration in respect of such Indebtedness and (b) any other
existing Events of Default, except nonpayment of principal, premium, if any, or interest

53

67



Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

Table of Contents
on the notes that became due solely because of the acceleration of the notes, have been cured or waived.

PDC is required to deliver to the trustee annually an Officers' Certificate regarding compliance with the indenture. Upon becoming aware of
any Default or Event of Default, PDC is required within five Business Days to deliver to the trustee a statement specifying such Default or Event
of Default.

No Personal Liability of Directors, Officers, Employees and Stockholders

No director, officer, employee, incorporator, stockholder, member, manager or partner of PDC or any Subsidiary Guarantor, as such, will
have any liability for any obligations of PDC or the Subsidiary Guarantors under the notes, the indenture, the Subsidiary Guarantees or for any
claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or their creation. Each holder of notes by accepting a note waives and releases all
such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for issuance of the notes. The waiver may not be effective to waive liabilities
under the federal securities laws.

Legal Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance

PDC may, at any time, at the option of its Board of Directors evidenced by a resolution set forth in an Officers' Certificate, elect to have all
of its obligations discharged with respect to the outstanding notes and all obligations of the Subsidiary Guarantors discharged with respect to
their Subsidiary Guarantees ("Legal Defeasance") except for:

(1) the rights of holders of outstanding notes to receive payments in respect of the principal of, or interest or premium, if any, on
such notes when such payments are due from the trust referred to below;

(2) PDC's obligations with respect to the notes concerning issuing temporary notes, registration of notes, mutilated, destroyed,
lost or stolen notes and the maintenance of an office or agency for payment and money for security payments held in trust;

(3) the rights, powers, trusts, duties and immunities of the trustee, and PDC's and the Subsidiary Guarantors' obligations in
connection therewith; and

(4) the Legal Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance provisions of the indenture.

In addition, PDC may, at its option and at any time, elect to have the obligations of PDC and the Subsidiary Guarantors released with
respect to the provisions of the indenture described above under " Repurchase at the Option of Holders" and under " Covenants" (other than the
covenant described under " Covenants Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Substantially All Assets," except to the extent described below) and the
limitation imposed by clause (4) under " Covenants Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Substantially All Assets" (such release and termination
being referred to as "Covenant Defeasance"), and thereafter any omission to comply with such obligations or provisions will not constitute a
Default or Event of Default with respect to the notes. In the event Covenant Defeasance occurs in accordance with the indenture, the Events of
Default described under clauses (3) through (7) under the caption " Events of Default" and the Event of Default described under clause (9) under
the caption " Events of Default”" (but only with respect to Subsidiaries of PDC), in each case, will no longer constitute an Event of Default with
respect to the notes. In addition, upon the occurrence of Covenant Defeasance all obligations of the Subsidiary Guarantors with respect to their
Subsidiary Guarantees will be discharged.

In order to exercise either Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance:

(1) PDC must irrevocably deposit with the trustee, in trust, for the benefit of the holders of the notes, cash in U.S. dollars,
non-callable Government Securities, or a combination of cash in U.S. dollars and non-callable Government Securities, in amounts as
will be sufficient, in the
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opinion of a nationally recognized investment bank, appraisal firm or firm of independent public accountants to pay the principal of, or
interest and premium, if any, on the outstanding notes on the stated date for payment thereof or on the applicable redemption date, as
the case may be, and PDC must specify whether the notes are being defeased to such stated date for payment or to a particular
redemption date;

(2) in the case of Legal Defeasance, PDC must deliver to the trustee an opinion of counsel confirming that (a) PDC has received
from, or there has been published by, the Internal Revenue Service a ruling or (b) since the Issue Date, there has been a change in the
applicable U.S. federal income tax law, in either case to the effect that, and based thereon such opinion of counsel will confirm that,
the holders of the outstanding notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a result of such
Legal Defeasance and will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as
would have been the case if such Legal Defeasance had not occurred;

(3) in the case of Covenant Defeasance, PDC has delivered to the trustee an opinion of counsel confirming that the holders of
the outstanding notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a result of such Covenant
Defeasance and will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would
have been the case if such Covenant Defeasance had not occurred;

(4) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing on the date of such deposit (other than a Default or Event of
Default resulting from the borrowing of funds to be applied to such deposit or the grant of Liens securing such borrowing);

(5) such Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance and the related deposit will not result in a breach or violation of, or
constitute a default under, any material agreement or instrument (other than the indenture) to which PDC or any of its Subsidiaries is a
party or by which PDC or any of its Subsidiaries is bound;

(6) PDC must deliver to the trustee an Officers' Certificate stating that the deposit was not made by PDC with the intent of
preferring the holders of notes over the other creditors of PDC with the intent of defeating, hindering, delaying or defrauding any
creditors of PDC or others;

(7) PDC must deliver to the trustee an Officers' Certificate stating that all conditions precedent set forth in clauses (1) through
(6) of this paragraph have been complied with; and

(8) PDC must deliver to the trustee an opinion of counsel, stating that all conditions precedent set forth in clauses (2), (3) and
(5) of this paragraph have been complied with.

Amendment, Supplement and Waiver

Except as provided in the next two succeeding paragraphs, the indenture, the debt securities issued thereunder (including the notes) or any
Guarantee thereof may be amended or supplemented with the consent of the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the
then-outstanding debt securities of each series affected by such amendment or supplemental indenture, with each such series voting as a separate
class (including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, debt securities)
and, subject to certain exceptions relating to waivers of past Defaults and rights of holders of notes to receive payment, any existing Default or
Event of Default or compliance with any provision of the indenture or the debt securities issued thereunder (including the notes) or any
Guarantee thereof may be waived with respect to each series of debt securities with the consent of the holders of a majority in aggregate
principal amount of the then-outstanding debt securities of such series voting as a separate class (including, without limitation, consents obtained
in connection with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, debt securities).
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Without the consent of each holder of the outstanding debt securities affected, an amendment, supplement or waiver may not (with respect
to any notes held by a non-consenting holder):

(1) change the Stated Maturity of the principal of, or any installment of principal of or interest on, any debt security, or reduce
the principal amount thereof or the rate of interest thereon or any premium payable upon the redemption thereof, or reduce the amount
of the principal of an original issue discount security that would be due and payable upon a declaration of acceleration of the maturity
thereof pursuant to the indenture, or change any place of payment where, or the coin or currency in which, any debt security or any
premium or the interest thereon is payable, or impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after the
Stated Maturity thereof (or, in the case of redemption, on or after the redemption date therefor);

(2) reduce the percentage in principal amount of the then-outstanding debt securities of any series, the consent of whose holders
is required for any such amendment, supplement or waiver;

(3) modify any of the provisions set forth in (i) the provisions of the indenture related to the holder's unconditional contractual
right to receive principal, premium, if any, and interest on the debt securities or (ii) the provisions of the indenture related to the waiver
of past Defaults under such indenture except to increase any such percentage or to provide that certain other provisions of such
indenture cannot be modified or waived without the consent of the holder of each then-outstanding debt security affected thereby;

(4) waive a redemption payment with respect to any debt security; provided, however, that any purchase or repurchase of debt
securities shall not be deemed a redemption of the debt securities;

(5) release any Subsidiary Guarantor from any of its obligations under its Subsidiary Guarantee or the indenture, except in
accordance with the terms of such indenture (as supplemented by any supplemental indenture); or

(6) make any change in the foregoing amendment and waiver provisions of the indenture.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, without the consent of any holder of debt securities, PDC, the Subsidiary Guarantors (if any) and the trustee
may amend or supplement the indenture or the debt securities or the Guarantees thereof issued thereunder to:

(1) cure any ambiguity or defect or to correct or supplement any provision therein that may be inconsistent with any other
provision therein;

(2) evidence the succession of another Person to PDC and the assumption by any such successor of the covenants of PDC
therein and, to the extent applicable, to the debt securities;

(3) provide for uncertificated notes in addition to or in place of certificated notes;

(4) add a Subsidiary Guarantee and cause any Person to become a Subsidiary Guarantor, and/ or to evidence the succession of
another Person to a Subsidiary Guarantor and the assumption by any such successor of the Subsidiary Guarantee of such Subsidiary
Guarantor therein;

(5) secure the debt securities of any series;

(6) add to the covenants of PDC such further covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions as PDC shall consider to be
appropriate for the benefit of the holders of all or any series of debt securities (and if such covenants, restrictions, conditions or
provisions are to be for the benefit of less than all series of debt securities, stating that such covenants are expressly being included

solely for the benefit of such series) or to surrender any right or power therein conferred upon PDC and
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to make the occurrence, or the occurrence and continuance, of a Default in any such additional covenants, restrictions, conditions or
provisions an Event of Default permitting the enforcement of all or any of the several remedies provided in the indenture as set forth
therein; provided, that in respect of any such additional covenant, restriction, condition or provision, such supplemental indenture may
provide for a particular period of grace after Default (which period may be shorter or longer than that allowed in the case of other
Defaults) or may provide for an immediate enforcement upon such an Event of Default or may limit the remedies available to the
trustee upon such an Event of Default or may limit the right of the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the debt
securities of such series to waive such an Event of Default;

(7) make any change to any provision of the indenture that would provide any additional rights or benefits to the holders of the
debt securities issued thereunder or that does not adversely affect the rights or interests of any such holder;

(8) provide for the issuance of additional debt securities in accordance with the provisions set forth in the indenture on the date
of such indenture;

(9) add any additional Defaults or Events of Default in respect of all or any series of debt securities;

(10) change or eliminate any of the provisions of the indenture; provided that any such change or elimination shall become
effective only when there is no debt security outstanding of any series created prior to the execution of such supplemental indenture
that is entitled to the benefit of such provision;

(11) establish the form or terms of debt securities of any series as permitted thereunder, including to reopen any series of any debt
securities as permitted thereunder;

(12) evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment thereunder by a successor trustee with respect to the debt securities
of one or more series and to add to or change any of the provisions of the indenture as shall be necessary to provide for or facilitate the
administration of the trusts thereunder by more than one trustee, pursuant to the requirements of such indenture;

(13) conform the text of the indenture (and/or any supplemental indenture) or any debt securities issued thereunder to any
provision of a description of such debt securities appearing in a prospectus or prospectus supplement or an offering memorandum or
offering circular pursuant to which such debt securities were offered to the extent that such provision was intended to be a verbatim
recitation of a provision of such indenture (and/or any supplemental indenture) or any debt securities or Guarantees issued thereunder;

(14) add a corporate co-issuer in accordance with the covenant set forth under the caption " Covenants Merger, Consolidation or
Sale of Substantially All Assets;" or

(15) modify, eliminate or add to the provisions of the indenture to such extent as shall be necessary to effect the qualification of
such indenture under the Trust Indenture Act, or under any similar federal statute subsequently enacted, and to add to such indenture
such other provisions as may be expressly required under the Trust Indenture Act.

The consent of the holders is not necessary under the indenture to approve the particular form of any proposed amendment, supplement or
waiver, but it is sufficient if such consent approves the substance thereof. After an amendment, supplement or waiver under the indenture
requiring approval of the holders becomes effective, PDC shall provide to the holders of debt securities affected thereby a notice briefly
describing such amendment, supplement or waiver. However, the failure to give such notice to all such holders, or any defect therein, will not
impair or affect the validity of the applicable amendment, supplement or waiver.

57

71



Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

Table of Contents
Satisfaction and Discharge

The indenture will be discharged and will cease to be of further effect as to all notes issued thereunder (except as to surviving rights of
registration of transfer or exchange of the notes and as otherwise specified in the indenture), when:

(1) either:

(a) all notes that have been authenticated, except lost, stolen or destroyed notes that have been replaced or paid and
notes for whose payment money has been deposited in trust and thereafter repaid to PDC, have been delivered to the trustee
for cancellation; or

(b) all notes that have not been delivered to the trustee for cancellation have become due and payable by reason of the
delivering of a notice of redemption or otherwise or will become due and payable within one year and PDC or any
Subsidiary Guarantor has irrevocably deposited or caused to be deposited with the trustee as trust funds in trust solely for the
benefit of the holders, cash in U.S. dollars, non-callable Government Securities, or a combination of cash in U.S. dollars and
non-callable Government Securities, in amounts as will be sufficient, without consideration of any reinvestment of interest,
to pay and discharge the entire Indebtedness on the notes not delivered to the trustee for cancellation for principal, premium,
if any, and accrued interest to the date of maturity or redemption;

(2) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing on the date of the deposit (other than a Default or Event of
Default resulting from the borrowing of funds to be applied to such deposit or the grant of Liens securing such borrowing);

(3) such deposit will not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under, any material agreement or instrument
(other than the indenture) to which PDC or any Subsidiary Guarantor is a party or by which PDC or any Subsidiary Guarantor is
bound;

(4) PDC or any Subsidiary Guarantor has paid or caused to be paid all sums payable by it under the indenture; and

(5) PDC has delivered irrevocable instructions to the trustee to apply the deposited money toward the payment of the notes at
maturity or on the redemption date, as the case may be.

In addition, PDC must deliver to the trustee (a) an Officers' Certificate, stating that all conditions precedent set forth in clauses (1) through
(5) above have been satisfied and (b) an opinion of counsel, stating that all conditions precedent set forth in clauses (3) and (5) above have been
satisfied.

Concerning the Trustee

If the trustee is a creditor of PDC or any Subsidiary Guarantor, the indenture will limit the right of the trustee to obtain payment of claims
in certain cases, or to realize on certain property received in respect of any such claim as security or otherwise. The trustee will be permitted to
engage in other transactions; however, if it has any conflicting interest (as defined in the Trust Indenture Act) after a Default has occurred and is
continuing, it must eliminate such conflict within 90 days, apply to the SEC for permission to continue as trustee (if the indenture has been
qualified under the Trust Indenture Act) or resign.

The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes will have the right to direct the time, method and
place of conducting any proceeding for exercising any remedy available to the trustee, subject to certain exceptions. If an Event of Default
occurs and is continuing, the trustee will be required, in the exercise of its powers, to use the degree of care of a prudent man in the conduct of
his own affairs. Subject to such provisions, the trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the indenture at
the request of any holder of notes, unless
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such holder has offered to the trustee security or indemnity satisfactory to the trustee against any loss, liability or expense.
Additional Information

Anyone who receives this prospectus may obtain a copy of the indenture and the Registration Rights Agreement without charge by writing
to PDC Energy, Inc., 1775 Sherman Street, Suite 3000, Denver, Colorado 80203, Attention: Corporate Secretary.

Governing Law
The indenture, the notes and the Subsidiary Guarantees will be governed by the laws of the State of New York.
Book-entry, Delivery and Form of the New Notes

The new notes will be represented by one or more permanent global notes in registered form without interest coupons (the "Global Notes").
The Global Notes will be deposited upon issuance with the trustee as custodian for The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), and registered in
the name of DTC or its nominee, in each case for credit to an account of a direct or indirect participant in DTC as described below.

Except as set forth below, the Global Notes may be transferred, in whole and not in part, only to another nominee of DTC or to a successor
of DTC or its nominee. Beneficial interests in the Global Notes may not be exchanged for definitive notes in registered certificated form
("Certificated Notes") except in the limited circumstances described below. See " Exchange of Global Notes for Certificated Notes." Except in
the limited circumstances described below, owners of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of
notes in certificated form.

Transfers of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will be subject to the applicable rules and procedures of DTC and its direct or indirect
participants, which may change from time to time.

Depository Procedures

The following description of the operations and procedures of DTC is provided solely as a matter of convenience. These operations and
procedures are solely within the control of DTC and are subject to changes by DTC. PDC takes no responsibility for these operations and
procedures and urges investors to contact DTC or their participants directly to discuss these matters. Neither PDC nor the trustee nor any of their
respective agents will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC or its participants or indirect participants of its obligations under the
rules and procedures governing its operations, and the information in this section is subject to change at any time.

DTC has advised PDC that DTC is a limited-purpose trust company created to hold securities for its participating organizations
(collectively, the "Participants") and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of transactions in those securities between the Participants through
electronic book-entry changes in accounts of its Participants. The Participants include securities brokers and dealers (including the initial
purchasers), banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. Access to DTC's system is also available to other
entities such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Participant, either
directly or indirectly (collectively, the "Indirect Participants"). Persons who are not Participants may beneficially own securities held by or on
behalf of DTC only through the Participants or the Indirect Participants. The ownership interests in, and transfers of ownership interests in, each
security held by or on behalf of DTC are recorded on the records of the Participants and Indirect Participants.
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DTC has also advised PDC that, pursuant to procedures established by it:

(1) upon deposit of the Global Notes, DTC will credit the accounts of the Participants designated by the initial purchasers with
portions of the principal amount of the Global Notes; and

(2) ownership of these interests in the Global Notes will be shown on, and the transfer of ownership of these interests will be
effected only through, records maintained by DTC (with respect to the Participants) or by the Participants and the Indirect Participants
(with respect to other owners of beneficial interests in the Global Notes).

Investors in the Global Notes who are Participants may hold their interests therein directly through DTC. Investors in the Global Notes who
are not Participants may hold their interests therein indirectly through organizations (including Euroclear and Clearstream) which are
Participants in such system. All interests in a Global Note, including those held through Euroclear or Clearstream, may be subject to the
procedures and requirements of DTC. Those interests held through Euroclear or Clearstream may also be subject to the procedures and
requirements of such systems.

The laws of some states require that certain Persons take physical delivery in definitive form of securities that they own. Consequently, the
ability to transfer beneficial interests in a Global Note to such Persons will be limited to that extent. Because DTC can act only on behalf of the
Participants, which in turn act on behalf of the Indirect Participants, the ability of a Person having beneficial interests in a Global Note to pledge
such interests to Persons that do not participate in the DTC system, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interests, may be affected by the
lack of a physical certificate evidencing such interests.

Except as described below, owners of interests in the Global Notes will not have notes registered in their names, will not receive

physical delivery of notes in certificated form and will not be considered the registered owners or '"holders' thereof under the indenture
for any purpose.

Payments in respect of the principal of, and interest and premium, if any, on a Global Note registered in the name of DTC or its nominee
will be payable to DTC in its capacity as the registered holder under the indenture. Under the terms of the indenture, PDC, the Subsidiary
Guarantors and the trustee will treat the Persons in whose names the notes, including the Global Notes, are registered as the owners thereof for
the purpose of receiving payments and for all other purposes. Consequently, neither PDC, the Subsidiary Guarantors, the trustee nor any agent of
any of them has or will have any responsibility or liability for:

(1) any aspect of DTC's records or any Participant's or Indirect Participant's records relating to or payments made on account of
beneficial ownership interest in the Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of DTC's records or any
Participant's or Indirect Participant's records relating to the beneficial ownership interests in the Global Notes; or

(2) any other matter relating to the actions and practices of DTC or any of its Participants or Indirect Participants.

DTC has advised PDC that its current practice, at the due date of any payment in respect of securities such as the notes (including principal
and interest), is to credit the accounts of the relevant Participants with the payment on the payment date unless DTC has reason to believe that it
will not receive payment on such payment date. Each relevant Participant is credited with an amount proportionate to its beneficial ownership of
an interest in the principal amount of the relevant security as shown on the records of DTC. Payments by the Participants and the Indirect
Participants to the beneficial owners of notes will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices and will be the responsibility of
the Participants or the Indirect Participants and will not be the responsibility of DTC, the trustee or PDC. Neither PDC nor the trustee will be
liable for any delay by DTC or any of its Participants in identifying the beneficial owners of the notes, and PDC and the trustee may
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conclusively rely on and will be protected in relying on instructions from DTC or its nominee for all purposes.

DTC has advised PDC that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of notes only at the direction of one or more Participants
to whose account DTC has credited the interests in the Global Notes and only in respect of such portion of the aggregate principal amount of the
notes as to which such Participant or Participants has or have given such direction. However, if there is an Event of Default under the notes,
DTC reserves the right to exchange the Global Notes for legended notes in certificated form, and to distribute such notes to its Participants.

Exchange of Global Notes for Certificated Notes
A Global Note is exchangeable for Certificated Notes if:

(1) DTC (a) notifies PDC that it is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for the Global Note or (b) has ceased to be a
clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act, and in each case PDC fails to appoint a successor depositary within 90 days;

(2) PDC, at its option, notifies the trustee in writing that it elects to cause the issuance of Certificated Notes; or

(3) aDefault or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and DTC notifies the trustee of its decision to exchange the
Global Note for Certificated Notes.

In addition, beneficial interests in a Global Note may be exchanged for Certificated Notes upon prior written notice given to the trustee by
or on behalf of DTC in accordance with the indenture. In all cases, Certificated Notes delivered in exchange for any Global Note or beneficial
interests in Global Notes will be registered in the names, and issued in any approved denominations, requested by or on behalf of the depositary
(in accordance with its customary procedures).

Exchange of Certificated Notes for Global Notes Certificated

Certificated Notes may not be exchanged for beneficial interests in any Global Note unless the transferor first delivers to the trustee a
written certificate (in the form provided in the indenture) to the effect that such transfer will comply with the appropriate transfer restrictions
applicable to such notes. See "Transfer Restrictions."

Same Day Settlement and Payment

PDC will make payments in respect of the notes represented by the Global Notes (including principal, premium, if any, and interest) by
wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by DTC or its nominee. PDC will make all payments of principal, interest
and premium, if any, with respect to Certificated Notes by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the holders
thereof or, if no such account is specified, by mailing a check to each such holder's registered address. The notes represented by the Global
Notes are expected to trade in DTC's Same-Day Funds Settlement System, and any permitted secondary market trading activity in such notes
will, therefore, be required by DTC to be settled in immediately available funds. PDC expects that secondary trading in any Certificated Notes
will also be settled in immediately available funds.

Registration Rights; Additional Interest

The following description is a summary of the material provisions of the Registration Rights Agreement. It does not restate that agreement
in its entirety. We urge you to read the Registration Rights Agreement in its entirety because it, and not this description, defines your registration
rights as holders of the old notes. See " Additional Information."
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PDC, the Subsidiary Guarantors and the initial purchasers entered into the Registration Rights Agreement on November 29, 2017. PDC and
the Subsidiary Guarantors agreed for the benefit of holders of the old notes to file with the SEC and use commercially reasonable efforts to cause
to become effective a registration statement relating to an offer to exchange the old notes for the new notes.

In the event that applicable interpretations of the staff of the SEC do not permit us to effect the exchange offer or if, for any other reason,
we do not complete the exchange offer by the 360th day following Issue Date, we will use commercially reasonable efforts to cause to become
effective a shelf registration statement relating to resales of the old notes and to keep that shelf registration statement effective until the earlier of
one year following the issuance of the old notes and such time as all old notes covered by the shelf registration statement have been sold. We
will, in the event of such a shelf registration, provide to each holder copies of a prospectus, notify each holder when the shelf registration
statement has become effective, and take certain other actions to permit resales of the old notes. A holder of the old notes that sells old notes
under the shelf registration statement generally will be required to be named as a selling security holder in the related prospectus and to deliver a
prospectus to purchasers, will be subject to certain of the civil liability provisions under the Securities Act in connection with those sales, and
will be bound by the provisions of the Registration Rights Agreement that are applicable to such a holder of the old notes (including certain
indemnification obligations).

If the exchange offer is not completed (or, if required, the shelf registration statement is not declared effective or does not automatically
become effective) on or before the 360th day following the Issue Date, then we will pay additional interest to all holders of old notes with the
effect that the annual interest rate borne by the old notes will be increased by one percentage point (1.0%) until the exchange offer is completed
or the shelf registration statement is declared effective (or becomes automatically effective). All accrued additional interest will be paid by PDC
on the next scheduled interest payment date in the same manner as interest is paid on the old notes. Following the time that the old notes are
registered, the accrual of additional interest will cease. The provisions for additional interest will be the only monetary remedy available to
holders under the Registration Rights Agreement.

The Registration Rights Agreement may be amended or supplemented (and rights of holders of old notes thereunder may be waived) only
pursuant to the written consent of the holders of a majority in principal amount of the notes; provided, however, that without the consent of each
holder of the outstanding old notes affected, an amendment, supplement or waiver may not (with respect to any old notes held by a
non-consenting holder) change any provision of the Registration Rights Agreement in a manner that could affect adversely the rights of such
non-consenting holder to receive additional interest in the amount and on the payment dates as provided in the Registration Rights Agreement as
in effect on the Issue Date.

Definitions
"Acquired Debt" means, with respect to any specified Person:

(1) Indebtedness of any other Person existing at the time such other Person is merged with or into or became a Subsidiary of
such specified Person, regardless of whether such Indebtedness is incurred in connection with, or in contemplation of, such other
Person merging with or into, or becoming a Restricted Subsidiary of, such specified Person, but excluding Indebtedness which is
extinguished, retired or repaid in connection with such Person merging with or becoming a Subsidiary of such specified Person; and

(2) Indebtedness secured by a Lien encumbering any asset acquired by such specified Person.
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"Additional Assets" means:

(1) any property or assets (other than Indebtedness and Capital Stock) to be used by PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary in a Related
Business;

(2) the Capital Stock of a Person that becomes a Restricted Subsidiary as a result of the acquisition of such Capital Stock by
PDC or another Restricted Subsidiary;

(3) Capital Stock constituting a minority interest in any Person that at such time is a Restricted Subsidiary; or

(4) Capital Stock of any Restricted Subsidiary; provided that all the Capital Stock of such Subsidiary held by PDC or any of its
Restricted Subsidiaries shall entitle PDC or such Restricted Subsidiary to not less than a pro rata portion of all dividends or other
distributions made by such Subsidiary upon any of such Capital Stock;

provided, however, that, in the case of clauses (2), (3) and (4), such Subsidiary is primarily engaged in a Related Business.

"Adjusted Consolidated Net Tangible Assets" means, with respect to any specified Person or Persons (all of such specified Persons,
whether one or more, being referred to in this definition as the "Referent Person"), as of the date of determination (without duplication), the
remainder of:

(a) the sum of:

(i) discounted future net revenues from proved oil and gas reserves of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries
calculated in accordance with SEC guidelines before any provincial, territorial, state, federal or foreign income taxes, as
estimated by PDC in a reserve report prepared as of the end of PDC's most recently completed fiscal year for which audited
financial statements are available and giving effect to applicable Oil and Natural Gas Hedging Contracts, (A) as increased
by, as of the date of determination, the estimated discounted future net revenues from (1) estimated proved oil and gas
reserves acquired since such year end, which reserves were not reflected in such year-end reserve report, and (2) estimated
oil and gas reserves attributable to upward revisions of estimates of proved oil and gas reserves (including previously
estimated development costs incurred during the period and the accretion of discount since the prior period end) since such
year-end due to exploration, development, exploitation or other activities, and (B) as decreased by, as of the date of
determination, the estimated discounted future net revenues from (1) estimated proved oil and gas reserves reflected in such
reserve report produced or disposed of since such year-end, and (2) estimated oil and gas reserves attributable to downward
revisions of estimates of proved oil and gas reserves reflected in such reserve report since such year-end due to changes in
geological conditions or other factors that would, in accordance with standard industry practice, cause such revisions, in each
case described in this clause (i) calculated in accordance with SEC guidelines and estimated by PDC's petroleum engineers
or any independent petroleum engineers engaged by PDC for that purpose;

(ii) the capitalized costs that are attributable to oil and gas properties of the Referent Person and its Restricted
Subsidiaries to which no proved oil and gas reserves are attributable, based on PDC's books and records as of a date no
earlier than the date of PDC's latest available annual or quarterly financial statements;

(iii) the Net Working Capital of the Referent Person on a date no earlier than the date of PDC's latest annual or
quarterly financial statements; and

(iv) the greater of (A) the net book value of other tangible assets of the Referent Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries,
as of a date no earlier than the date of PDC's latest annual or
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quarterly financial statements, and (B) the appraised value, as estimated by independent appraisers, of other tangible assets
of the Referent Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries, as of a date no earlier than the date of PDC's latest audited financial
statements (provided that PDC shall not be required to obtain such appraisal solely for the purpose of determining this

value); minus
the sum of:

(i) the net book value of any Capital Stock of a Restricted Subsidiary of the Referent Person that is not owned by the
Referent Person or another Restricted Subsidiary of the Referent Person;

(ii) to the extent not otherwise taken into account in determining Adjusted Consolidated Net Tangible Assets of the
Referent Person, any net gas-balancing liabilities of the Referent Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries reflected in PDC's
latest audited financial statements;

(iii) to the extent included in (a)(i) above, the discounted future net revenues, calculated in accordance with SEC
guidelines (utilizing the prices utilized in PDC's year-end reserve report), attributable to reserves that are required to be
delivered by the Referent Person to third parties to fully satisfy the obligations of the Referent Person and its Restricted
Subsidiaries with respect to Volumetric Production Payments (determined, if applicable, using the schedules specified with
respect thereto); and

(iv) the discounted future net revenues, calculated in accordance with SEC guidelines, attributable to reserves subject
to Dollar-Denominated Production Payments that, based on the estimates of production and price assumptions included in
determining the discounted future net revenues specified in (a)(i) above, would be necessary to fully satisfy the payment
obligations of the Referent Person and its Subsidiaries with respect to Dollar-Denominated Production Payments
(determined, if applicable, using the schedules specified with respect thereto).

If PDC changes its method of accounting from the successful efforts or a similar method to the full cost method of accounting, "Adjusted
Consolidated Net Tangible Assets" of the Referent Person will continue to be calculated as if PDC were still using the successful efforts or a
similar method of accounting.

"Affiliate" of any specified Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect
common control with such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, "control," as used with respect to any Person, means the possession,
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of such Person, whether through the ownership

of voting securities, by agreement or otherwise. For purposes of this definition, the terms "controlling,

non

controlled by" and "under common

control with" have correlative meanings.

"Asset Sale" means:

(1) the sale, lease, conveyance or other disposition of any assets or rights (including by way of a Production Payment or a sale
and leaseback transaction); provided that the sale, lease, conveyance or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of PDC
and its Restricted Subsidiaries taken as a whole will be governed by the provisions of the indenture described above under the caption
" Repurchase at the Option of Holders Change of Control Triggering Event" and/or the provisions described above under the caption
" Covenants Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Substantially All Assets" and not by the provisions of the Asset Sales covenant; and
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(2) the issuance of Equity Interests in any of PDC's Restricted Subsidiaries (other than directors' qualifying shares) or the sale of
Equity Interests held by PDC or its Restricted Subsidiaries in any of its Subsidiaries.

Notwithstanding the preceding, none of the following items will be deemed to be an Asset Sale:

(1) any single transaction or series of related transactions that involves assets having a Fair Market Value of less than
$20 million;

(2) atransfer of assets between or among PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries;
(3) anissuance of Equity Interests by a Restricted Subsidiary to PDC or to a Restricted Subsidiary;

(4) the sale, lease or other disposition of equipment, inventory, products, services, accounts receivable or other assets in the
ordinary course of business, including in connection with any compromise, settlement or collection of accounts receivable, and any
sale or other disposition of damaged, worn-out or obsolete assets or assets that are no longer useful in the conduct of the business of
PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(5) the sale or other disposition of cash or Cash Equivalents;

(6) a Restricted Payment that does not violate the covenant described above under the caption " Covenants Restricted Payments,"
including the issuance or sale of Equity Interests or the sale, lease or other disposition of products, services, equipment, inventory,
accounts receivable or other assets pursuant to any such Restricted Payment;

(7) the consummation of a Permitted Investment, including, without limitation, unwinding any Hedging Obligations, and
including the issuance or sale of Equity Interests or the sale, lease or other disposition of products, services, equipment, inventory,
accounts receivable or other assets pursuant to any such Permitted Investment;

(8) adisposition of Hydrocarbons or mineral products inventory in the ordinary course of business;

(9) the farm-out, lease or sublease of developed or undeveloped crude oil or natural gas properties owned or held by PDC or any
Restricted Subsidiary in exchange for crude oil and natural gas properties owned or held by another Person;

(10) the creation or perfection of a Lien (but not, except as contemplated in clause (11) below, the sale or other disposition of the
properties or assets subject to such Lien);

(11) the creation or perfection of a Permitted Lien and the exercise by any Person in whose favor a Permitted Lien is granted of
any of its rights in respect of that Permitted Lien;

(12) the licensing or sublicensing of intellectual property, including, without limitation, licenses for seismic data, in the ordinary
course of business and which do not materially interfere with the business of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(13) surrender or waiver of contract rights or the settlement, release or surrender of contract, tort or other claims of any kind;

(14) any Production Payments and Reserve Sales; provided that all such Production Payments and Reserve Sales (other than
incentive compensation programs on terms that are reasonably customary in the oil and gas business for geologists, geophysicists and
other providers of technical services to PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary) shall have been created, incurred, issued, assumed or
Guaranteed in connection with the financing of, and within 90 days after the acquisition of, the oil and gas properties that are subject
thereto;
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(15) the sale or other disposition (regardless of whether in the ordinary course of business) of oil and gas properties; provided
that, at the time of such sale or other disposition, such properties do not have attributed to them any proved reserves; and

(16) any trade or exchange by PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary of properties or assets used or useful in a Related Business for
other properties or assets used or useful in a Related Business owned or held by another Person (including Capital Stock of a Person
engaged in a Related Business that is or becomes a Restricted Subsidiary), including any cash or Cash Equivalents necessary in order
to achieve and exchange of equivalent value, provided that the Fair Market Value of the properties or assets traded or exchanged by
PDC or such Restricted Subsidiary (including any cash or Cash Equivalents to be delivered by PDC or such Restricted Subsidiary) is
reasonably equivalent to the Fair Market Value of the properties or assets (together with any cash or Cash Equivalents) to be received
by PDC or such Restricted Subsidiary, and provided, further, that any cash received in the transaction must be applied in accordance
with the covenant described above under " Repurchase at the Option of Holders Asset Sales" as if such transaction were an Asset Sale.

"Beneficial Owner" has the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 13d-3 and Rule 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except that in
calculating the beneficial ownership of any particular "person" (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), such "person" will
be deemed to have beneficial ownership of all securities that such "person" has the right to acquire by conversion or exercise of other securities,
whether such right is currently exercisable or is exercisable only after the passage of time or upon the occurrence of a subsequent condition. The
terms "Beneficially Owns," "Beneficially Owned" and "Beneficially Owning" will have a corresponding meaning.

"Board of Directors" means:

(1) with respect to a corporation, the board of directors of the corporation or any committee thereof duly authorized to act on
behalf of such board;

(2) with respect to a partnership, the board of directors of the general partner of the partnership;

(3) with respect to a limited liability company, the managers or managing member or members of such limited liability company
(as applicable) or any duly authorized committee of managers or managing members (as applicable) thereof; and

(4) with respect to any other Person, the board of directors or duly authorized committee of such Person serving a similar
function.

"Borrowing Base" means, with respect to borrowings under the Senior Credit Agreement and any amendment to and/or modification or
replacement of the foregoing in the form of a reserve-based borrowing base credit facility, in each case with lenders that include commercial
banks regulated by the U.S. Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the maximum amount determined or re-determined by the lenders
thereunder as the aggregate lending value to be ascribed to the oil and gas properties and other assets of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries
against which such lenders are prepared to provide loans, letters of credit or other Indebtedness to the credit parties, using customary practices
and standards for determining reserve-based borrowing base loans and which are generally applied to borrowers in the Related Business by
commercial lenders, as determined semi-annually during each year and/or on such other occasions as may be required or provided for therein.

"Business Day" means any day other than a Legal Holiday.
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"Capital Lease Obligation" means, at the time any determination is to be made, the amount of the liability in respect of a capital lease that
would at that time be required to be capitalized on a balance sheet in accordance with GAAP, and the Stated Maturity thereof shall be the date of
the last payment of rent or any other amount due under such lease prior to the first date upon which such lease may be prepaid by the lessee
without payment of a penalty.

"Capital Stock" means:
(1) in the case of a corporation, corporate stock;

(2) in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents
(however designated) of corporate stock;

(3) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership interests (whether general or limited) or membership
interests; and

(4) any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or
distributions of assets of, the issuing Person, but excluding from all of the foregoing any debt securities convertible into Capital Stock,
regardless of whether such debt securities include any right of participation with Capital Stock.

"Cash Equivalents" means:

(1) United States dollars;

(2) Government Securities having maturities of not more than one year from the date of acquisition;

(3) marketable general obligations issued by any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision of any such
state or any public instrumentality thereof maturing within one year from the date of acquisition thereof and, at the time of acquisition
thereof, having a credit rating of "A" or better from either S&P or Moody's;

(4) certificates of deposit, demand deposit accounts and eurodollar time deposits with maturities of one year or less from the
date of acquisition, bankers' acceptances with maturities not exceeding one year and overnight bank deposits, in each case, with any

domestic commercial bank having capital and surplus in excess of $500 million and a Thomson Bank Watch Rating of "B" or better;

(5) repurchase obligations with a term of not more than seven days for underlying securities of the types described in clauses (2),
(3) and (4) above entered into with any financial institution meeting the qualifications specified in clause (4) above;

(6) commercial paper having one of the two highest ratings obtainable from Moody's or S&P and, in each case, maturing within
one year after the date of acquisition;

(7) money market funds at least 95% of the assets of which constitute Cash Equivalents of the kinds described in clauses (1)
through (6) of this definition; and

(8) deposits in any currency available for withdrawal on demand with any commercial bank that is organized under the laws of

any country in which PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary maintains its chief executive office or is engaged in the Related Business;
provided that all such deposits are made in such accounts in the ordinary course of business.

"Change of Control" means:

(1) any "person" or "group" of related persons (as such terms are used in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) is or becomes a
Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of PDC (or its successor by
merger, consolidation or
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purchase of all or substantially all of its properties or assets) (for the purposes of this clause, such person or group shall be deemed to
Beneficially Own any Voting Stock of PDC held by an entity, if such person or group Beneficially Owns, directly or indirectly, more
than 50% of the voting power of the Voting Stock of such entity);

(2) the direct or indirect sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than by way of merger or consolidation), in
one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries taken
as a whole to any "person” (as such term is used in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act); or

(3) the adoption or approval by the stockholders of PDC of a plan for the liquidation or dissolution of PDC.

"Change of Control Triggering Event" means the occurrence of a Change of Control that is accompanied or followed by a downgrade by
one or more gradations (including gradations within ratings categories as well as between ratings categories) or withdrawal of the rating of the
notes within the Ratings Decline Period by one of the Rating Agencies, as a result of which the rating of the notes on any day during such
Ratings Decline Period is below the rating by such Rating Agency in effect immediately preceding the first public announcement of the Change
of Control (or occurrence thereof if such Change of Control occurs prior to public announcement).

"Consolidated Cash Flow" means, with respect to any specified Person for any period, the Consolidated Net Income of such Person for
such period plus, without duplication:

(1) an amount equal to any extraordinary loss plus any net loss realized by such Person or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in
connection with an Asset Sale (together with any related provision for taxes and any related non-recurring charges relating to any
premium or penalty paid, write-off of deferred financing costs or other financial recapitalization charges in connection with redeeming
or retiring any Indebtedness prior to its Stated Maturity), to the extent that such losses were deducted in computing such Consolidated
Net Income; plus

(2) provision for taxes based on income or profits of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period, to the extent
that such provision for taxes was deducted in computing such Consolidated Net Income; plus

(3) the Fixed Charges of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period, to the extent that such Fixed Charges were
deducted in computing such Consolidated Net Income; plus

(4) exploration and abandonment expense (if applicable) to the extent deducted in calculating Consolidated Net Income; plus

(5) depreciation, depletion, amortization (including amortization of intangibles but excluding amortization of prepaid cash
expenses that were paid in a prior period), impairment, other non-cash expenses and other non-cash items (excluding any such
non-cash expense to the extent that it represents an accrual of or reserve for cash expenses in any future period or amortization of a
prepaid cash expense that was paid in a prior period) of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period to the extent that
such depreciation, depletion, amortization, impairment and other non-cash expenses were deducted in computing such Consolidated
Net Income; plus

(6) any interest expense attributable to any Oil and Natural Gas Hedging Contract, to the extent that such interest expense was
deducted in computing such Consolidated Net Income; plus

(7) the accretion of interest charges on future plugging and abandonment obligations and future retirement benefits, to the extent
such charges were deducted in computing such Consolidated Net Income; minus
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(8) non-cash items increasing such Consolidated Net Income for such period, other than items that were accrued in the ordinary
course of business, and minus

(9) the sum of (a) the amount of deferred revenues that are amortized during such period and are attributable to reserves that are
subject to Volumetric Production Payments and (b) amounts recorded in accordance with GAAP as repayments of principal and
interest pursuant to Dollar-Denominated Production Payments;

in each case, on a consolidated basis and determined in accordance with GAAP. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, clauses (1) through
(7) relating to amounts of a Restricted Subsidiary of the referent Person will be added to Consolidated Net Income to compute Consolidated
Cash Flow of such Person only to the extent (and in the same proportion) that the Net Income of such Restricted Subsidiary was included in
calculating the Consolidated Net Income of such Person and if a corresponding amount would be permitted at the date of determination to be
dividended to the referent Person by such Restricted Subsidiary without prior governmental approval (that has not been obtained), pursuant to
the terms of its charter and all agreements, instruments, judgments, decrees, orders, statutes, rules and governmental regulations applicable to
that Restricted Subsidiary or the holders of its Capital Stock.

"Consolidated Net Income" means, with respect to any specified Person for any period, the aggregate of the Net Income of such Person and
its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period, on a consolidated basis, determined in accordance with GAAP; provided that:

(1) the Net Income (but not loss) of any Person that is not a Restricted Subsidiary or that is accounted for by the equity method
of accounting will be included only to the extent of the amount of dividends or similar distributions paid in cash to the specified
Person or a Restricted Subsidiary of the Person;

(2) the Net Income of any Restricted Subsidiary will be excluded to the extent that the declaration or payment of dividends or
similar distributions by that Restricted Subsidiary of that Net Income is not at the date of determination permitted without any prior
governmental approval (that has not been obtained) or, directly or indirectly, by operation of the terms of its charter or any agreement,
instrument, judgment, decree, order, statute, rule or governmental regulation applicable to that Restricted Subsidiary or its
stockholders, members or partners;

(3) the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles will be excluded;

(4) any gain (loss) realized upon the sale or other disposition of any property, plant or equipment of such Person or its
consolidated Restricted Subsidiaries (including pursuant to any sale or leaseback transaction) that is not sold or otherwise disposed of
in the ordinary course of business and any gain (loss) realized upon the sale or other disposition of any Capital Stock of any Person
will be excluded;

(5) any asset impairment writedowns on oil and gas properties under GAAP or SEC guidelines will be excluded;

(6) any non-cash mark-to-market adjustments to assets or liabilities resulting in unrealized gains or losses in respect of Hedging
Obligations (including those resulting from the application of the Financial Standards Accounting Board's Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 815) shall be excluded; and

(7) to the extent deducted in the calculation of Net Income, any non-cash or other charges associated with any premium or
penalty paid, write-off of deferred financing costs or other financial recapitalization charges in connection with redeeming or retiring
any Indebtedness will be excluded.
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"Consolidated Tangible Assets" means, with respect to any Person as of any date, the amount which, in accordance with GAAP, would be
set forth under the caption "Total Assets" (or any like caption) on a consolidated balance sheet of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries,
less all goodwill, patents, tradenames, trademarks, copyrights, franchises, experimental expenses, organization expenses and any other amounts
classified as intangible assets in accordance with GAAP.

"Credit Facilities" means, with respect to PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, one or more debt facilities (including, without
limitation, the Senior Credit Agreement), commercial paper facilities or Debt Issuances providing for revolving credit loans, term loans,
receivables financing (including through the sale of receivables to any lenders, other financiers or to special purpose entities formed to borrow
from (or sell such receivables to) any lenders or other financiers against such receivables), letters of credit, bankers' acceptances, other
borrowings or Debt Issuances, in each case, as amended, restated, modified, renewed, extended, refunded, replaced or refinanced (in each case,
without limitation as to amount), in whole or in part, from time to time (including through one or more Debt Issuances).

"Currency Agreement" means in respect of a Person any foreign exchange contract, currency swap agreement or other similar agreement as
to which such Person is a party or a beneficiary.

"Debt Issuances" means, with respect to PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary, one or more issuances after the Issue Date of Indebtedness
evidenced by notes, debentures, bonds or other similar securities or instruments.

"Default” means any event which is, or after notice or passage of time or both would be, an Event of Default.

"Disqualified Stock" means any Capital Stock that, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible, or for which it
is exchangeable, in each case at the option of the holder of the Capital Stock), or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily
redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or redeemable at the option of the holder of the Capital Stock, in whole or in
part, on or prior to the date that is 91 days after the date on which the notes mature. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, any Capital Stock
that would constitute Disqualified Stock solely because the holders of the Capital Stock have the right to require PDC to repurchase or redeem
such Capital Stock upon the occurrence of a Change of Control Triggering Event or an Asset Sale will not constitute Disqualified Stock if the
terms of such Capital Stock provide that PDC may not repurchase or redeem any such Capital Stock pursuant to such provisions unless such
repurchase or redemption complies with the covenant described above under the caption " Covenants Restricted Payments." The amount of
Disqualified Stock deemed to be outstanding at any time for purposes of the indenture will be the maximum amount that PDC and its Restricted
Subsidiaries may become obligated to pay upon the maturity of, or pursuant to any mandatory redemption provisions of, such Disqualified
Stock, exclusive of accrued dividends.

"Dollar-Denominated Production Payments" means production payment obligations recorded as liabilities in accordance with GAAP,
together with all undertakings and obligations in connection therewith.

"Domestic Restricted Subsidiary" means any Restricted Subsidiary that (a) was formed under the laws of the United States or any state of
the United States or the District of Columbia or (b) Guarantees or otherwise provides direct credit support for any Indebtedness of PDC or any
Restricted Subsidiary (other than a Foreign Subsidiary).

"Equity Interests" means Capital Stock and all warrants, options or other rights to acquire Capital Stock (but excluding any debt security
that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, Capital Stock).
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"Equity Offering" means (1) an offering for cash by PDC of its Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock), or options, warrants or rights
with respect to its Capital Stock or (2) a cash contribution to PDC's common equity capital from any Person.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"Existing Convertible Notes" means $200 million aggregate principal amount of 1.125% senior convertible notes due 2021 issued by PDC
on September 14, 2016.

"Existing Indebtedness" means Indebtedness of PDC and its Subsidiaries (other than Indebtedness under the Senior Credit Agreement, the
notes and the Subsidiary Guarantees) in existence on the Issue Date, including the Existing Senior Notes and the Existing Convertible Notes,
until such amounts are repaid.

"Existing Senior Notes" means, collectively, the 7.75% Senior Notes Due 2022 issued pursuant to that certain indenture dated as of
October 3, 2012 between PDC and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, and the 6.125% Senior Notes Due 2024 issued pursuant to that
certain indenture dated as of September 15, 2016 between PDC and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee.

"Existing Senior Notes Issue Date" means October 3, 2012.

"Fair Market Value" means the value that would be paid by a willing buyer to an unaffiliated willing seller in a transaction not involving
distress or necessity of either party. Fair Market Value of an asset or property in excess of $10 million shall be determined by an Officer of PDC,
and in the case of amounts in excess of $25 million, by the Board of Directors of PDC, in each case, acting in good faith. The determination
shall be conclusive and, in the case of determinations exceeding $25 million, evidenced by a resolution of the Board of Directors.

"Farm-In Agreement" means an agreement whereby a Person agrees to pay all or a share of the drilling, completion or other expenses of an
exploratory or development well (which agreement may be subject to a maximum payment obligation, after which expenses are shared in
accordance with the working or participation interests therein or in accordance with the agreement of the parties) or perform the drilling,
completion or other operation on such well in exchange for an ownership interest in an oil or gas property.

"Farm-Out Agreement" means a Farm-In Agreement, viewed from the standpoint of the party that transfers an ownership interest to
another.

"Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio" means with respect to any specified Person for any four-quarter reference period, the ratio of the
Consolidated Cash Flow of such Person for such period to the Fixed Charges of such Person for such period. In the event that the specified
Person or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries incurs, assumes, Guarantees, repays, repurchases, redeems, defeases or otherwise discharges any
Indebtedness (other than ordinary working capital borrowings) or issues, repurchases or redeems preferred stock subsequent to the
commencement of the period for which the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is being calculated and on or prior to the date on which the event for
which the calculation of the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is made (the "Calculation Date"), then the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio will be
calculated giving pro forma effect to such incurrence, assumption, Guarantee, repayment, repurchase, redemption, defeasance or other discharge
of Indebtedness, or such issuance, repurchase or redemption of preferred stock, and the use of the proceeds therefrom, as if the same had
occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter reference period.

In addition, for purposes of calculating the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio:

(1) acquisitions that have been made by the specified Person or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, including through mergers,
consolidations or otherwise (including acquisitions of assets used or useful in a Related Business), or any Person or any of its
Restricted Subsidiaries
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acquired by the specified Person or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, and including in each case any related financing transactions and
increases in ownership of Restricted Subsidiaries, during the four-quarter reference period or subsequent to such reference period and
on or prior to the Calculation Date will be given pro forma effect as if they had occurred on the first day of the four-quarter reference
period, and any Consolidated Cash Flow for such period will be calculated giving pro forma effect to any operating improvements or
cost savings that have occurred or are reasonably expected to occur in the reasonable judgment of the principal accounting officer or
Chief Financial Officer of PDC (regardless of whether those operating improvements or cost savings could then be reflected in pro
forma financial statements prepared in accordance with Regulation S-X under the Securities Act or any other regulation or policy of
the SEC related thereto);

(2) the Consolidated Cash Flow attributable to discontinued operations, as determined in accordance with GAAP, and operations
or businesses (and ownership interests therein) disposed of prior to the Calculation Date, will be excluded;

(3) the Fixed Charges attributable to discontinued operations, as determined in accordance with GAAP, and operations or
businesses (and ownership interests therein) disposed of prior to the Calculation Date, will be excluded, but only to the extent that the
obligations giving rise to such Fixed Charges will not be obligations of the specified Person or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries
following the Calculation Date;

(4) any Person that is a Restricted Subsidiary on the Calculation Date will be deemed to have been a Restricted Subsidiary at all
times during such four-quarter period;

(5) any Person that is not a Restricted Subsidiary on the Calculation Date will be deemed not to have been a Restricted
Subsidiary at any time during such four-quarter period; and

(6) if any Indebtedness bears a floating rate of interest, the interest expense on such Indebtedness will be calculated as if the rate
in effect on the Calculation Date had been the applicable rate for the entire period (taking into account any Hedging Obligation
applicable to such Indebtedness, but if the remaining term of such Hedging Obligation is less than 12 months, then such Hedging
Obligation shall only be taken into account for that portion of the period equal to the remaining term thereof).

"Fixed Charges" means, with respect to any specified Person for any period, the sum, without duplication, of:

(1) the consolidated interest expense of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period, whether paid or accrued
(excluding (i) any interest attributable to Production Payments and Reserve Sales, (ii) write-off of deferred financing costs and
(iii) accretion of interest charges on future plugging and abandonment obligations, future retirement benefits and other obligations that
do not constitute Indebtedness, but including, without limitation, amortization of debt issuance costs and original issue discount,
noncash interest payments, the interest component of any deferred payment obligations other than that attributable to any Oil and
Natural Gas Hedging Contract, the interest component of all payments associated with Capital Lease Obligations, commissions,
discounts and other fees and charges incurred in respect of letter of credit or bankers' acceptance financings), and net of the effect of
all payments made or received pursuant to Interest Rate Agreements; plus

(2) the consolidated interest expense of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries that was capitalized during such period; plus

(3) any interest on Indebtedness of another Person that is Guaranteed by the specified Person or one or more of its Restricted
Subsidiaries or secured by a Lien on assets of such
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specified Person or one or more of its Restricted Subsidiaries, regardless of whether such Guarantee or Lien is called upon; plus

(4) all dividends, whether paid or accrued and regardless of whether in cash, on any series of preferred stock of such Person or
any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, other than dividends on Equity Interests payable solely in Equity Interests of PDC (other than
Disqualified Stock) or to PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary, in each case, on a consolidated basis and determined in accordance with
GAAP.

"Foreign Subsidiary" means any Restricted Subsidiary other than a Domestic Restricted Subsidiary.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States which are in effect from time to time; provided, however, that
operating leases and Capital Leases shall be accounted for during the term of the indenture in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States in effect on the Issue Date. Subject to the proviso in the previous sentence or PDC's election in the following
sentence, all ratios and computations based on GAAP contained in the indenture will be computed in conformity with GAAP. At any time after
the Issue Date, PDC may elect to apply International Financial Reporting Standards, or IFRS, accounting principles in lieu of GAAP and, upon
any such election, references herein to GAAP shall thereafter be construed to mean IFRS (except as otherwise provided in the indenture);
provided that any such election, once made, shall be irrevocable; provided, further, that any calculation or determination in the indenture that
requires the application of GAAP for periods that include fiscal quarters ended prior to PDC's election to apply IFRS shall remain as previously
calculated or determined in accordance with GAAP. PDC shall give notice of any such election made in accordance with this definition to the
trustee and the holders of notes.

"Government Securities" means direct obligations of, or obligations Guaranteed by, the United States of America, and the payment for
which the United States pledges its full faith and credit.

"Guarantee" means a guarantee other than by endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business, direct
or indirect, in any manner including, without limitation, by way of a pledge of assets or through letters of credit or reimbursement agreements in
respect thereof, of all or any part of any Indebtedness (whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, or by agreements to keep-well, to
purchase assets, goods, securities or services or to take or pay or to maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise), or entered into for
purposes of assuring in any other manner the obligee of such Indebtedness of the payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in
respect thereof (in whole or in part). "Guarantee" used as a verb has a correlative meaning.

"Hedging Obligations" of any Person means the obligations of such Person pursuant to any Interest Rate and Currency Hedges, Oil and
Natural Gas Hedging Contracts and other agreements or arrangements designed to protect such Person against fluctuations in currency exchange
rates or commodity prices, in each case entered into for non-speculative purposes.

"Hydrocarbons" means oil, gas, casinghead gas, drip gasoline, natural gasoline, condensate, distillate, liquid hydrocarbons, gaseous
hydrocarbons, natural gas liquids, and all constituents, elements or compounds thereof and products refined or processed therefrom.

"Indebtedness" means, with respect to any specified Person, without duplication, any indebtedness of such Person, regardless of whether
contingent:

(1) inrespect of borrowed money;

(2) evidenced by bonds, notes, credit agreements, debentures or similar instruments or letters of credit (or reimbursement
agreements in respect thereof);
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(3) inrespect of bankers' acceptances;
(4) representing Capital Lease Obligations;

(5) inrespect of any Guarantee by such Person of production or payment with respect to a Production Payment (but not any
other contractual obligation in respect of such Production Payment);

(6) representing the balance deferred and unpaid of the purchase price of any property or services due more than six months
after such property is acquired or such services are completed, except any such balance that constitutes an accrued expense or a trade
payable; or

(7) representing any Interest Rate and Currency Hedges, if and to the extent any of the preceding items (other than letters of
credit and Interest Rate and Currency Hedges) would appear as a liability upon a balance sheet of the specified Person prepared in
accordance with GAAP. In addition, the term "Indebtedness" includes (a) all Indebtedness of any other Person, of the types described
above in clauses (1) through (7), secured by a Lien on any asset of the specified Person (regardless of whether such Indebtedness is
assumed by the specified Person); provided that the amount of such Indebtedness will be the lesser of (i) the Fair Market Value of such
asset at such date of determination and (ii) the amount of such Indebtedness of such other Person, and (b) to the extent not otherwise
included, the Guarantee by the specified Person of any Indebtedness of any other Person, of the types described above in clauses (1)
through (7) above. Furthermore, the amount of any Indebtedness outstanding as of any date will be the accreted value thereof, in the
case of any Indebtedness issued with original issue discount; and the principal amount thereof, together with any interest thereon that
is more than 30 days past due, in the case of any other Indebtedness.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following shall not constitute "Indebtedness:"
(i) accrued expenses and trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of business;

(ii) except as provided in clause (5) of the first paragraph of this definition, any obligation in respect of any Production Payment
and Reserve Sales;

(iii) any obligation in respect of any Farm-In Agreement;

(iv) any indebtedness which has been defeased in accordance with GAAP or defeased pursuant to the deposit of cash or
Government Securities (in an amount sufficient to satisfy all such indebtedness obligations at maturity or redemption, as applicable,
and all payments of interest and premium, if any) in a trust or account created or pledged for the sole benefit of the holders of such
indebtedness, and subject to no other Liens, and the other applicable terms of the instrument governing such indebtedness;

(v) oil or natural gas balancing liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice;
(vi) any obligation in respect of any Oil and Natural Gas Hedging Contract;

(vii) any unrealized losses or charges in respect of Hedging Obligations (including those resulting from the application of ASC
815);

(viii) any obligations in respect of (a) bid, performance, completion, surety, appeal and similar bonds, (b) obligations in respect of
bankers' acceptances, (c) insurance obligations or bonds and other similar bonds and obligations and (d) any Guarantees or letters of
credit functioning as or supporting any of the foregoing bonds or obligations; provided, however, that such bonds or obligations
mentioned in subclause (a), (b), (c) or (d) of this clause (viii), are incurred in the
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ordinary course of the business of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries and do not relate to obligations for borrowed money;
(ix) any Disqualified Stock of PDC or preferred stock of a Restricted Subsidiary;

(x) any obligation arising from any agreement providing for indemnities, guarantees, purchase price adjustments, holdbacks,
contingency payment obligations based on the performance of the acquired or disposed assets or similar obligations (other than
Guarantees of Indebtedness) incurred by any Person in connection with the acquisition or disposition of assets; and

(xi) all contracts and other obligations, agreements, instruments or arrangements described in clauses (20), (21), (22) and (23) of
the definition of "Permitted Liens."

"Interest Rate Agreement" means with respect to any Person any interest rate protection agreement, interest rate future agreement, interest
rate option agreement, interest rate swap agreement, interest rate cap agreement, interest rate collar agreement, interest rate hedge agreement or
other similar agreement or arrangement as to which such Person is party or a beneficiary.

"Interest Rate and Currency Hedges" of any Person means the obligations of such Person pursuant to any Interest Rate Agreement or
Currency Agreement.

"Investment Grade Rating" means a rating equal to or higher than:
(1) Baa3 (or the equivalent) by Moody's; or
(2) BBB (or the equivalent) by S&P,

or, if either such entity ceases to rate the notes for reasons outside of the control of PDC, the equivalent investment grade credit rating from any
other Rating Agency.

"Investment Grade Rating Event" means the first day on which (a) the notes have an Investment Grade Rating from at least one Rating
Agency, (b) no Default with respect to the notes has occurred and is then continuing under the indenture and (c) PDC has delivered to the trustee
an Officers' Certificate certifying as to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in clauses (a) and (b) of this definition.

"Investments" means, with respect to any Person, all direct or indirect investments by such Person in other Persons (including Affiliates) in
the forms of loans (including Guarantees or other obligations, advances or capital contributions (excluding endorsements of negotiable
instruments and documents in the ordinary course of business, and commission, travel and similar advances to officers, employees and
consultants made in the ordinary course of business), purchases or other acquisitions for consideration of Indebtedness, Equity Interests or other
securities, together with all items that are or would be classified as investments on a balance sheet of such Person prepared in accordance with
GAAP. If PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary sells or otherwise disposes of any Equity Interests of any direct or indirect Restricted Subsidiary
such that, after giving effect to any such sale or disposition, such Person is no longer a Restricted Subsidiary, PDC will be deemed to have made
an Investment on the date of any such sale or disposition equal to the Fair Market Value of PDC's Investments in such Restricted Subsidiary that
were not sold or disposed of in an amount determined as provided in the final paragraph of the covenant described above under the caption
" Covenants Restricted Payments." The acquisition by PDC or any Subsidiary of PDC of a Person that holds an Investment in a third Person will
be deemed to be an Investment by PDC or such Subsidiary in such third Person in an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of the Investments
held by the acquired Person in such third Person in an amount determined as provided in the final paragraph of the covenant described above
under the caption " Covenants Restricted Payments." Except as otherwise provided in the indenture, the amount of an Investment will be
determined at the time the Investment is made and without giving effect to subsequent changes in value.
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"Issue Date" means the first date on which old notes were issued under the indenture.

"Legal Holiday" means a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking institutions in the City of New York or at a place of payment for
the notes are authorized by law, regulation or executive order to remain closed.

"Lien" means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such
asset, regardless of whether filed, recorded or otherwise perfected under applicable law, including any conditional sale or other title retention
agreement, any lease in the nature thereof, any option or other agreement to sell or give a security interest in and any filing of or agreement to
give any financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code (or equivalent statutes) of any jurisdiction other than a precautionary
financing statement respecting a lease not intended as a security agreement.

"Liquid Securities" means securities that are publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange, NYSE MKT, the Nasdaq Stock Market or
any other regulated stock exchange in the United States, Canada, Europe or Australia (or any of their successors) and as to which PDC is not
subject to any restrictions on sale or transfer (including any volume restrictions under Rule 144 under the Securities Act or any other restrictions
imposed by the Securities Act) or as to which a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the resale thereof is in effect for as long
as the securities are held; provided that securities meeting such requirements shall be treated as Liquid Securities from the date of receipt thereof
until and only until the earlier of (a) the date on which such securities are sold or exchanged for cash or Cash Equivalents and (b) 180 days
following the date of receipt of such securities. If such securities are not sold or exchanged for cash or Cash Equivalents within 180 days of
receipt thereof, for purposes of determining whether the transaction pursuant to which PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary received the securities
was in compliance with the provisions of the indenture described under " Asset Sales," such securities shall be deemed not to have been Liquid
Securities at any time.

"Material Subsidiary" means any Domestic Restricted Subsidiary (a) that has Consolidated Tangible Assets that exceed 5.0% of the
Consolidated Tangible Assets of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries as of the end of the most recent fiscal quarter of PDC for which financial
statements are required to be delivered under the indenture, (b) whose Consolidated Cash Flow exceeds 5.0% of the Consolidated Cash Flow of
PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries for the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters of PDC most recent ended for which financial statements
are required to be delivered under the indenture or (c) together with all other Domestic Restricted Subsidiaries that would not otherwise be
deemed to be Material Subsidiaries, would represent, in the aggregate ("Material in the Aggregate"), (x) 10.0% or more of the Consolidated
Tangible Assets of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries as of the end of the most recent fiscal quarter of PDC for which financial statements are
required to be delivered under the indenture or (y) 10.0% or more of the Consolidated Cash Flow of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries for the
period of four consecutive fiscal quarters of PDC most recently ended for which financial statements are required to be delivered under the
indenture.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or any successor to the rating agency business thereof.

"Net Income" means, with respect to any specified Person, the net income (loss) of such Person, determined in accordance with GAAP and
before any reduction in respect of non-cash preferred stock dividends, excluding, however:

(1) any gain or loss, together with any related provision for taxes on such gain or loss, realized in connection with: (a) any Asset
Sale (including, without limitation, any cash received pursuant to any sale and leaseback transaction) or (b) the disposition of any

securities by such Person or the extinguishment of any Indebtedness of such Person; and
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(2) any extraordinary or non-recurring gain or loss, together with any related provision for taxes on such extraordinary or
non-recurring gain or loss.

"Net Proceeds" means the aggregate cash proceeds received by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in respect of any Asset Sale
(including, without limitation, any cash received upon the sale or other disposition of any non-cash consideration received in any Asset Sale), net
of:

(1) all legal, accounting, investment banking, title and recording tax expenses, commissions and other fees and expense incurred,
and all federal, state, provincial, foreign and local taxes required to be paid or accrued as a liability under GAAP (after taking into
account any available tax credits or deductions and any tax sharing agreements), as a consequence of such Asset Sale;

(2) all payments made on any Indebtedness which is secured by any assets subject to such Asset Sale, in accordance with the
terms of such Indebtedness, or which must by its terms, or in order to obtain a necessary consent to such Asset Sale, or by applicable
law be repaid out of the proceeds from such Asset Sale;

(3) all distributions and other payments required to be made to holders of minority interests in Subsidiaries or joint ventures as a
result of such Asset Sale; and

(4) the deduction of appropriate amounts to be provided by the seller as a reserve, in accordance with GAAP, or held in escrow,
in either case for adjustment in respect of the sale price or for any liabilities associated with the assets disposed of in such Asset Sale
and retained by PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary after such Asset Sale.

"Net Working Capital" means (a) all current assets of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries except current assets from Oil and Natural Gas
Hedging Contracts, less (b) all current liabilities of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries, except (i) current liabilities included in Indebtedness,
(i1) current liabilities associated with asset retirement obligations relating to oil and gas properties and (iii) any current liabilities from Oil and
Natural Gas Hedging Contracts, in each case as set forth in the consolidated financial statements of PDC prepared in accordance with GAAP
(excluding any adjustments made pursuant to ASC 815).

"Non-Recourse Debt" means Indebtedness:

(1) as to which neither PDC nor any Restricted Subsidiary (a) provides any Guarantee or credit support of any kind (including
any undertaking, Guarantee, indemnity, agreement or instrument that would constitute Indebtedness) or (b) is directly or indirectly
liable (as a guarantor or otherwise), in each case other than Liens on and pledges of the Equity Interests of any Unrestricted Subsidiary
or any joint venture owned by PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary to the extent securing otherwise Non-Recourse Debt of such
Unrestricted Subsidiary or joint venture; and

(2) no default with respect to which (including any rights that the holders thereof may have to take enforcement action against
an Unrestricted Subsidiary) would permit (upon notice, lapse of time or both) any holder of any other Indebtedness of PDC or any
Restricted Subsidiary to declare a default under such other Indebtedness or cause the payment thereof to be accelerated or payable
prior to its Stated Maturity.

"Obligations" means any principal, interest, penalties, fees, indemnifications, reimbursements, damages and other liabilities payable under
the documentation governing any Indebtedness.

"Officer" means, in the case of PDC, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, the Chief Financial Officer,
principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, any Vice President, the Treasurer or the Secretary (or persons performing similar
functions) of PDC and, in the case of any Subsidiary Guarantor, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, the Chief
Financial Officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, any Vice
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President, the Treasurer or the Secretary (or persons performing similar functions) of such Subsidiary Guarantor, or, with respect to a limited
liability company, either an Officer, manager, or managing member of such limited liability company.

"Officers' Certificate" means, in the case of PDC, a certificate signed by two Officers or by an Officer and either an Assistant Treasurer or
an Assistant Secretary of PDC and, in the case of any Subsidiary Guarantor, a certificate signed by two Officers or by an Officer and either an
Assistant Treasurer or an Assistant Secretary of such Subsidiary Guarantor, or, with respect to a limited liability company, either an Officer,
manager, or managing member of such limited liability company.

"Oil and Natural Gas Hedging Contract" means any Hydrocarbon hedging agreements and other agreements or arrangements entered into in
the ordinary course of business in the oil and gas industry for the purpose of protecting against fluctuations in Hydrocarbon prices.

"Permitted Acquisition Indebtedness" means Indebtedness or Disqualified Stock of PDC or any of PDC's Restricted Subsidiaries to the
extent such Indebtedness or Disqualified Stock was Indebtedness or Disqualified Stock of:

(1) a Subsidiary prior to the date on which such Subsidiary became a Restricted Subsidiary; or
(2) aPerson that was merged or consolidated into PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary;

provided that on the date of incurrence of such Indebtedness or issuance of such Disqualified Stock, or the date such Subsidiary became a
Restricted Subsidiary or the date such Person was merged or consolidated into PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary, as applicable, after giving pro
forma effect thereto,

(a) the Restricted Subsidiary or PDC, as applicable, would be permitted to incur at least $1.00 of additional Indebtedness
pursuant to the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio test described under " Covenants Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred
Stock," or

(b) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for PDC would be greater than the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for PDC immediately
prior to such transaction.

"Permitted Business Investments" means Investments and expenditures made in the ordinary course of, and of a nature that is or shall have
become customary in, a Related Business as means of actively exploiting, exploring for, acquiring, developing, processing, gathering, marketing
or transporting oil, natural gas, other Hydrocarbons and minerals (including with respect to plugging and abandonment) through agreements,
transactions, interests or arrangements that permit one to share risks or costs of such activities or comply with regulatory requirements regarding
local ownership, including without limitation, (a) ownership interests in oil, natural gas, other Hydrocarbons and minerals properties, liquefied
natural gas facilities, processing facilities, gathering systems, pipelines, storage facilities or related systems or ancillary real property interests;
(b) Investments in the form of or pursuant to operating agreements, working interests, royalty interests, mineral leases, processing agreements,
Farm-In Agreements, Farm-Out Agreements, contracts for the sale, transportation or exchange of oil, natural gas, other Hydrocarbons and
minerals, production sharing agreements, participation agreements, development agreements, area of mutual interest agreements, unitization
agreements, pooling agreements, joint bidding agreements, service contracts, joint venture agreements, partnership agreements (whether general
or limited), subscription agreements, stock purchase agreements, stockholder agreements and other similar agreements (including for limited
liability companies) with third parties; and (c) direct or indirect ownership interests in drilling rigs and related equipment, including, without
limitation, transportation equipment.

"Permitted Investments" means:
(1) any Investment in PDC or in a Restricted Subsidiary;
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(2) any Investment in Cash Equivalents;
(3) any Investment by PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary in a Person, if as a result of such Investment:
(a) such Person becomes a Restricted Subsidiary; or

(b) such Person is merged or consolidated with or into, or transfers or conveys substantially all of its properties or
assets to, or is liquidated into, PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary;

(4) any Investment made as a result of the receipt of non-cash consideration from an Asset Sale that was made pursuant to and in
compliance with the covenant described above under the caption " Repurchase at the Option of Holders Asset Sales;"

(5) any Investments received in compromise or resolution of (a) obligations of trade creditors or customers that were incurred in
the ordinary course of business of PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, including pursuant to any plan of reorganization or similar
arrangement upon the bankruptcy or insolvency of any trade creditor or customer; or (b) litigation, arbitration or other disputes with
Persons who are not Affiliates;

(6) Investments represented by Hedging Obligations;

(7) advances to or reimbursements of employees for moving, entertainment and travel expenses, drawing accounts and similar
expenditures in the ordinary course of business, in each case to the extent they constitute Investments;

(8) loans or advances to employees in the ordinary course of business or consistent with past practice, in each case to the extent
they constitute Investments;

(9) advances and prepayments for asset purchases in the ordinary course of business in a Related Business of PDC or any of its
Restricted Subsidiaries;

(10) receivables owing to PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary created or acquired in the ordinary course of business and payable or
dischargeable in accordance with customary trade terms; provided, however, that such trade terms may include such concessionary
trade terms as PDC or any such Restricted Subsidiary deems reasonable under the circumstances;

(11) surety and performance bonds and workers' compensation, utility, lease, tax, performance and similar deposits and prepaid
expenses in the ordinary course of business;

(12) guarantees by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of operating leases (other than Capital Lease Obligations) or of other
obligations that do not constitute Indebtedness, in each case entered into by PDC or any such Restricted Subsidiary in the ordinary
course of business;

(13) Investments of a Restricted Subsidiary acquired after the Issue Date or of any entity merged into PDC or merged into or
consolidated with a Restricted Subsidiary in accordance with the covenant described under " Covenants Merger, Consolidation or Sale
of Substantially All Assets" or the covenant described in the third paragraph under " Subsidiary Guarantees of the Notes" (as
applicable) to the extent that such Investments were not made in contemplation of or in connection with such acquisition, merger or
consolidation and were in existence on the date of such acquisition, merger or consolidation;

(14) Permitted Business Investments;

(15) Investments received as a result of a foreclosure by PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries with respect to any secured
Investment in default;

(16) Investments in any units of any oil and gas royalty trust;
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(17) Investments existing on the Issue Date, and any extension, modification or renewal of any such Investments existing on the
Issue Date, but only to the extent not involving additional advances, contributions or other Investments of cash or other assets or other
increases of such Investments (other than as a result of the accrual or accretion of interest or original issue discount or the issuance of
pay-in-kind securities, in each case, pursuant to the terms of such Investments as in effect on the Issue Date);

(18) repurchases of or other Investments in the notes;
(19) Investments to the extent that common stock of PDC is the consideration paid or provided by PDC; and

(20) other Investments in any Person having an aggregate Fair Market Value (measured on the date each such Investment was
made and without giving effect to subsequent changes in value), when taken together with all other Investments made pursuant to this
clause (20) that are at the time outstanding not to exceed the greater of (a) 5.0% of Adjusted Consolidated Net Tangible Assets of PDC
and (b) $150 million.

"Permitted Liens" means, with respect to any Person:

(1) Liens securing Indebtedness incurred under Credit Facilities pursuant to clause (1) of the second paragraph of the covenant
described under the caption " Covenants Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock;" provided that the aggregate
amount of such indebtedness does not exceed the aggregate amount that would be allowed under such clause (1);

(2) Liens to secure Indebtedness (including Capital Lease Obligations) permitted by clause (4) of the second paragraph of the
covenant entitled " Covenants Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock" covering only the assets acquired, improved,
or constructed with or financed by such Indebtedness;

(3) pledges or deposits by such Person under workers' compensation laws, unemployment insurance laws or similar legislation,
or good faith deposits in connection with bids, tenders, contracts (other than for the payment of Indebtedness) or leases to which such
Person is a party, or deposits to secure public or statutory obligations of such Person or deposits or cash or United States government
bonds to secure surety or appeal bonds to which such Person is a party, or deposits as security for contested taxes or import or customs
duties or for the payment of rent, in each case incurred in the ordinary course of business;

(4) landlords', carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's or similar Liens arising by contract or statute in
the ordinary course of business and with respect to amounts which are not yet delinquent or are being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings;

(5) Liens for taxes, assessments or other governmental charges or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings provided appropriate reserves required pursuant to GAAP have been made in respect thereof;

(6) Liens in favor of the issuers of surety or performance bonds or letters of credit or bankers' acceptances issued pursuant to the
request of and for the account of such Person in the ordinary course of its business; provided, however, that such letters of credit do
not constitute Indebtedness;

(7) encumbrances, easements or reservations of, or rights of others for, licenses, rights of way, sewers, electric lines, telegraph
and telephone lines and other similar purposes, or zoning or other restrictions as to the use of real properties or Liens incidental to the

conduct of the business of such Person or to the ownership of its properties which do not in the aggregate materially
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adversely affect the value of said properties or materially impair their use in the operation of the business of such Person;

(8) leases and subleases of real property which do not materially interfere with the ordinary conduct of the business of PDC and
its Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;

(9) any attachment or judgment Liens not giving rise to an Event of Default;

(10) Liens for the purpose of securing the payment of all or a part of the purchase price of, or Capital Lease Obligations with
respect to, or the repair, improvement or construction cost of, assets or property acquired or repaired, improved or constructed in the
ordinary course of business; provided that:

(a) the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness secured by such Liens is otherwise permitted to be incurred under
the indenture and does not exceed the cost of the assets or property so acquired or repaired, improved or constructed plus
fees and expenses in connection therewith; and

(b) such Liens are created within 180 days of repair, improvement or construction or acquisition of such assets or
property and do not encumber any other assets or property of PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary other than such assets or
property and assets affixed or appurtenant thereto (including improvements);

(11) Liens arising solely by virtue of any statutory or common law provisions relating to banker's Liens, rights of set-off or
similar rights and remedies as to deposit accounts or other funds maintained or deposited with a depositary institution; provided that:

(a) such deposit account is not a dedicated cash collateral account and is not subject to restrictions against access by
PDC in excess of those set forth by regulations promulgated by the Federal Reserve Board; and

(b) such deposit account is not intended by PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary to provide collateral to the depository
institution;

(12) Liens arising from Uniform Commercial Code financing statement filings regarding operating leases entered into by PDC
and its Restricted Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business;

(13) Liens existing on the Issue Date;

(14) Liens on property at the time PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary acquired the property, including any acquisition by means of a
merger or consolidation with or into PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary; provided, however, that such Liens are not created, incurred or
assumed in connection with, or in contemplation of, such acquisition; provided further, however, that such Liens may not extend to
any other property owned by PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary other than those of the Person merged or consolidated with PDC or
such Restricted Subsidiary;

(15) Liens on property or Capital Stock of a Person at the time such Person becomes a Restricted Subsidiary; provided, however,
that such Liens are not created, incurred or assumed in connection with, or in contemplation of, such other Person becoming a
Restricted Subsidiary; provided further, however, that such Liens may not extend to any other property owned by PDC or any
Restricted Subsidiary;

(16) Liens securing Indebtedness or other obligations of a Restricted Subsidiary owing to PDC or a Subsidiary Guarantor;

(17) Liens securing the notes, the Subsidiary Guarantees and other obligations arising under the indenture;
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(18) Liens securing Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness of PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary incurred to refinance Indebtedness of
PDC or a Restricted Subsidiary that was previously so secured; provided that any such Lien is limited to all or part of the same
property or assets (plus improvements, accessions, proceeds or dividends or distributions in respect thereof) that secured (or, under the
written arrangements under which the original Lien arose, could secure) the Indebtedness being refinanced or is in respect of property
or assets that is the security for a Permitted Lien hereunder;

(19) Liens in respect of Production Payments and Reserve Sales;
(20) Liens on pipelines and pipeline facilities that arise by operation of law;

(21) Liens arising under joint venture agreements, partnership agreements, oil and gas leases or subleases, assignments, purchase
and sale agreements, division orders, contracts for the sale, purchasing, processing, transportation or exchange of oil or natural gas,
unitization and pooling declarations and agreements, development agreements, area of mutual interest agreements, licenses,
sublicenses, net profits interests, participation agreements, Farm-Out Agreements, Farm-In Agreements, carried working interest, joint
operating, unitization, royalty, sales and similar agreements relating to the exploration or development of, or production from, oil and
gas properties entered into in the ordinary course of business in a Related Business;

(22) Liens reserved in oil and gas mineral leases for bonus, royalty or rental payments and for compliance with the terms of such
leases;

(23) Liens on, or related to, properties or assets to secure all or part of the costs incurred in the ordinary course of a Related
Business for exploration, drilling, development, production, processing, transportation, marketing, storage, abandonment or operation;

(24) Liens arising under the indenture in favor of the trustee for its own benefit and similar Liens in favor of other trustees, agents
and representatives arising under instruments governing Indebtedness permitted to be incurred under the indenture; provided that such
Liens are solely for the benefit of the trustees, agents or representatives in their capacities as such and not for the benefit of the holders
of the Indebtedness;

(25) Liens securing obligations of PDC and its Restricted Subsidiaries under non-speculative Hedging Obligations;

(26) Liens on and pledges of the Equity Interests of any Unrestricted Subsidiary or any joint venture owned by PDC or any
Restricted Subsidiary to the extent securing Non-Recourse Debt of such Unrestricted Subsidiary or joint venture;

(27) Liens securing Indebtedness of any Foreign Subsidiary which Indebtedness is permitted by the indenture;

(28) Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business of PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary with respect to obligations that, at any
one time outstanding, do not exceed the greater of (a) $150 million and (b) 5.0% of Adjusted Consolidated Net Tangible Assets of
PDC; and

(29) Liens on escrowed proceeds for the benefit of the related holders of debt securities or other Indebtedness (or the underwriters
or arrangers thereof) or on cash set aside at the time of the incurrence of any Indebtedness or government securities purchased with
such cash, in either case to the extent such cash or government securities prefund the payment of interest on such Debt and are held in
an escrow account or similar arrangement to be applied for such purpose.

"Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness" means any Indebtedness of PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, any Disqualified Stock of PDC
or any preferred stock of any Restricted Subsidiary (a) issued in exchange for, or the net proceeds of which are used to extend, renew, refund,
refinance,
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replace, defease, discharge or otherwise retire for value, in whole or in part, or (b) constituting an amendment, modification or supplement to or
a deferral or renewal of ((a) and (b) above, collectively, a "Refinancing"), any other Indebtedness of PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries
(other than intercompany Indebtedness), any Disqualified Stock of PDC or any preferred stock of a Restricted Subsidiary in a principal amount
or, in the case of Disqualified Stock of PDC or preferred stock of a Restricted Subsidiary, liquidation preference, not to exceed (after deduction
of reasonable and customary fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Refinancing) the lesser of:

(1) the principal amount or, in the case of Disqualified Stock or preferred stock, liquidation preference, of the Indebtedness,
Disqualified Stock or preferred stock so Refinanced (plus, in the case of Indebtedness, the amount of premium, if any paid in
connection therewith), and

(2) if the Indebtedness being Refinanced was issued with any original issue discount, the accreted value of such Indebtedness (as
determined in accordance with GAAP) at the time of such Refinancing.

Notwithstanding the preceding, no Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or preferred stock will be deemed to be Permitted Refinancing
Indebtedness, unless:

(1) such Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or preferred stock has a final maturity date or redemption date, as applicable, no
earlier than the final maturity date or redemption date, as applicable, of, and has a Weighted Average Life to Maturity equal to or
greater than the Weighted Average Life to Maturity of, the Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or preferred stock being Refinanced;

(2) if the Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or preferred stock being Refinanced is contractually subordinated or otherwise junior
in right of payment to the notes, such Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or preferred stock has a final maturity date or redemption date,
as applicable, no earlier than the final maturity date or redemption date, as applicable, of, and is contractually subordinated or
otherwise junior in right of payment to, the notes, on terms at least as favorable to the holders of notes as those contained in the
documentation governing the Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or preferred stock being Refinanced at the time of the Refinancing; and

(3) such Indebtedness or Disqualified Stock is incurred or issued by PDC or such Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or preferred
stock is incurred or issued by the Restricted Subsidiary that is the obligor on the Indebtedness being Refinanced or the issuer of the
Disqualified Stock or preferred stock being Refinanced; provided that a Restricted Subsidiary that is also a Subsidiary Guarantor may
guarantee Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness incurred by PDC, regardless of whether such Restricted Subsidiary was an obligor or
guarantor of the Indebtedness being Refinanced.

"Person" means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization,
limited liability company, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof or any other entity.

"Production Payments" means Dollar-Denominated Production Payments and Volumetric Production Payments, collectively.

"Production Payments and Reserve Sales" means the grant or transfer by PDC or a Subsidiary of PDC to any Person of a royalty, overriding
royalty, net profits interest, Production Payment, partnership or other interest in oil and gas properties, reserves or the right to receive all or a
portion of the production or the proceeds from the sale of production attributable to such properties, including any such grants or transfers
pursuant to incentive compensation programs on terms that are reasonably customary in the oil and gas business for geologists, geophysicists
and other providers of technical services to PDC or a Subsidiary of PDC.
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"Rating Agency" means any of S&P or Moody's, or if (and only if) S&P or Moody's shall not make a rating on the notes publicly available,
a nationally recognized statistical rating agency or agencies, as the case may be, selected by PDC, which shall be substituted for S&P or
Moody's, as the case may be.

"Ratings Decline Period" means the period that (i) begins on the occurrence of a Change of Control and (ii) ends 60 days following
consummation of such Change of Control.

"Registration Rights Agreement" means that certain registration rights agreement dated as of the Issue Date by and among PDC, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and the initial purchasers set forth therein.

"Related Business" means any business which is the same as or related, ancillary or complementary to any of the businesses of PDC and its
Restricted Subsidiaries on the Issue Date, which includes (1) the acquisition, exploration, exploitation, development, production, operation and
disposition of interests in oil, gas and other Hydrocarbon properties, and the utilization of PDC's and its Restricted Subsidiaries' properties,

(2) the gathering, marketing, treating, processing, storage, refining, selling and transporting of any production from such interests or properties
and products produced in association therewith, (3) any power generation and electrical transmission business, (4) oil field sales and services and
related activities, (5) development, purchase and sale of real estate and interests therein, and (6) any business or activity relating to, arising from,
or necessary, appropriate or incidental to the activities described in the foregoing clauses (1) through (5) of this definition.

"Reporting Failure" means the failure of PDC to file with the SEC and make available or otherwise deliver to the trustee and each holder of
notes, within the time periods specified in " Covenants Reports" (after giving effect to any grace period specified under Rule 12b-25 under the
Exchange Act), the periodic reports, information, documents or other reports that PDC may be required to file with the SEC pursuant to such
provision.

"Restricted Investment" means any Investment other than a Permitted Investment.

"Restricted Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary of PDC other than an Unrestricted Subsidiary.
"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.
"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

"Senior Credit Agreement" means the Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of May 23, 2018, or, where the context
indicates the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of May 21, 2013, as amended at various times prior to the Issue Date,
among (i) PDC, as borrower, (ii) the guarantors party thereto, (iii) JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and lender, and (iv) the
lenders party thereto from time to time, and any related notes, Guarantees, collateral documents, instruments and agreements executed in
connection therewith, and in each case as amended, restated, modified, supplemented, increased, renewed, refunded, replaced (including
replacement after the termination of such credit facility), supplemented, restructured or refinanced in whole or in part from time to time in one or
more agreements or instruments.

"Senior Debt" means:

(1) all Indebtedness of PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries outstanding under Credit Facilities and all Hedging Obligations
with respect thereto;

(2) the notes and any other Indebtedness of PDC or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries permitted to be incurred under the terms of
the indenture, unless the instrument under which such Indebtedness is incurred expressly provides that it is subordinated in right of
payment to the notes or any Subsidiary Guarantee; and
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(3) all Obligations with respect to the items listed in the preceding clauses (1) and (2).
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the preceding sentence, Senior Debt will not include:
(a) any intercompany Indebtedness of PDC or any of its Subsidiaries to PDC or any of its Affiliates;
(b) any Indebtedness that is incurred in violation of the indenture; or
(c) any trade payables or taxes owed or owing by PDC or any Restricted Subsidiary.

"Significant Subsidiary" means any Restricted Subsidiary that would be a "significant subsidiary" of PDC within the meaning of Rule 1-02
under Regulation S-X under the Securities Act.

"Sponsored Limited Partnerships" means any drilling partnership in existence as of December 31, 2007 in which PDC is the managing
general partner but which is not majority-owned by PDC, directly or indirectly.

"Stated Maturity" means, with respect to any installment of interest or principal on any series of Indebtedness, the date on which the
payment of interest or principal is scheduled to be paid in the documentation governing such Indebtedness as of its issue date, and will not
include any contingent obligations to repay, redeem or repurchase any such interest or principal prior to the date originally scheduled for the
payment thereof.

"Subordinated Debt" means Indebtedness of PDC or a Subsidiary Guarantor that is contractually subordinated in right of payment (by its
terms or the terms of any document or instrument relating thereto), to the notes or the Subsidiary Guarantee of such Subsidiary Guarantor, as
applicable.

"Subsidiary" means, with respect to any specified Person:

(1) any corporation, association or other business entity (other than a partnership) of which more than 50% of the total voting
power of its Voting Stock is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more of the other
Subsidiaries of that Person (or a combination thereof); and

(2) any partnership (a) the sole general partner or the managing general partner of which is such Person or a Subsidiary of such
Person or (b) the only general partners of which are that Person or one or more Subsidiaries of that Person (or any combination
thereof).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, none of the Sponsored Limited Partnerships shall be Subsidiaries.

"Subsidiary Guarantee" means any Guarantee of the notes by any Subsidiary Guarantor in accordance with the provisions of the indenture
described under the caption " Covenants Subsidiary Guarantees."

"Subsidiary Guarantor" means each Restricted Subsidiary that has become obligated under a Subsidiary Guarantee, in accordance with the
terms of the guarantee provisions of the indenture, but only for so long as such Subsidiary remains so obligated pursuant to the terms of the
indenture.

"Unrestricted Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary of PDC (including any newly acquired or newly formed Subsidiary or a Person becoming
a Subsidiary through merger or consolidation or Investment therein) that is designated by the Board of Directors of PDC as an Unrestricted
Subsidiary pursuant to a resolution of such Board of Directors, but only to the extent that such Subsidiary:

(1) has no Indebtedness other than Non-Recourse Debt;

(2) 1is a Person with respect to which neither PDC nor any of its Restricted Subsidiaries has any direct or indirect obligation
(a) to subscribe for additional Equity Interests or (b) to maintain
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or preserve such Person's financial condition or to cause such Person to achieve any specified levels of operating results; and

(3) has not guaranteed or otherwise directly or indirectly provided credit support for any Indebtedness of PDC or any of its
Restricted Subsidiaries, except to the extent such Guarantee or credit support would be released upon such designation.

Any Subsidiary of an Unrestricted Subsidiary shall also be an Unrestricted Subsidiary.

"Volumetric Production Payments" means production payment obligations recorded as deferred revenue in accordance with GAAP,
together with all related undertakings and obligations.

"Voting Stock" of any specified Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is at the time entitled (without regard to
the occurrence of any contingency and after giving effect to any voting agreement or stockholders' agreement that effectively transfers voting
power) to vote in the election of the Board of Directors of such Person.

"Weighted Average Life to Maturity" means, when applied to any Indebtedness at any date, the number of years obtained by dividing:

(1) the sum of the products obtained by multiplying (a) the amount of each then remaining installment, sinking fund, serial
maturity or other required payments of principal, including payment at final maturity, in respect of the Indebtedness, by (b) the number
of years (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth) that will elapse between such date and the making of such payment; by

(2) the then outstanding principal amount of such Indebtedness.
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MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following is a summary of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations that may be relevant to the exchange of old notes for new
notes and to the ownership and disposition of new notes, but does not purport to be a complete analysis of all the potential tax considerations
relating thereto. This summary is based upon the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), Treasury Regulations,
administrative rulings, and judicial decisions, all as in effect or in existence as of the date of this prospectus, all of which are subject to change,
possibly on a retroactive basis, or to different interpretations.

This summary applies only to holders who purchased old notes at a price equal to the issue price of the old notes (i.e., the first price at
which a substantial amount of the old notes were sold other than to bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the
capacity of underwriters, placement agents, or wholesalers), participate in the exchange described herein, and held the old notes and will hold
the new notes as "capital assets" within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (generally, investment property) and does not deal with
investors that may have special tax situations such as

dealers in securities;

traders in securities that use a mark-to-market method of accounting;

U.S. Holders (as defined below) whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;

persons holding notes as part of a conversion transaction, constructive sale, wash sale or other integrated transaction or a
hedge, a straddle or synthetic security;

persons subject to the alternative minimum tax;

certain former citizens or long-term residents of the United States;

foreign governments or international organizations;

financial institutions;

insurance companies;

controlled foreign corporations and passive foreign investment companies, and shareholders of such corporations;

real estate investment trusts;

regulated investment companies and shareholders of such companies;

entities that are tax-exempt for U.S. federal income tax purposes and retirement plans, individual retirement accounts and
tax-deferred accounts;
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pass-through entities, including partnerships and entities and arrangements classified as partnerships for U.S. federal tax
purposes, and beneficial owners of pass-through entities; and

persons that acquire the notes for a price other than their issue price.
If you are a partnership (including an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal tax purposes) holding notes or a partner in such a
partnership, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in the partnership generally will depend on the status of the partner and the

activities of the partnership, and you should consult your own tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the exchange of
old notes for new notes and the ownership and disposition of the new notes.

This summary does not discuss all of the aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to you in light of your particular
investment or other circumstances. In addition, this summary
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does not discuss any U.S. state or local income, foreign income, estate or gift or other tax consequences or the effect of any tax treaty. We have
not sought any ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") with respect to the statements made and the conclusions reached in the
following summary, and there can be no assurance that the IRS will agree with these statements and conclusions. This summary assumes that the
old notes are properly treated for tax purposes as not being issued with original issue discount ("OID") for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

HOLDERS WHO EXCHANGE OLD NOTES FOR NEW NOTES SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS WITH
RESPECT TO THE APPLICATION OF THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX LAWS TO THEIR PARTICULAR SITUATIONS, AS
WELL AS OF ANY TAX CONSEQUENCES ARISING UNDER THE LAWS OF ANY STATE, LOCAL, OR FOREIGN TAXING
JURISDICTION OR UNDER ANY APPLICABLE TAX TREATY.

Contingent Payment Debt Instruments

In certain circumstances, we may be required to make payments in excess of stated interest and the adjusted issue price of the notes (see
"Description of the New Notes Optional Redemption" and "Description of the New Notes Repurchase at the Option of Holders Change of Control
Triggering Event"). The possibility of such potential payments may cause the notes to be "contingent payment debt instruments" for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. We do not believe that and do not intend to treat such potential payments as causing the notes to be considered contingent
payment debt instruments, and our determination is binding on you unless you disclose a contrary position in the manner required by applicable
Treasury regulations. Our determination is not, however, binding on the IRS, and if the IRS were to challenge this determination, you might be
required to accrue income on the notes, based on a "comparable yield," at a higher rate than the stated interest rate on the notes and to treat as
ordinary income (rather than as capital gain) any income realized on a taxable disposition of notes before the resolution of the contingencies.

The remainder of this discussion assumes that the notes will not be treated as a contingent payment debt instrument for U.S. federal income tax
purposes.

Exchange of Old Notes for New Notes

The exchange of old notes for new notes pursuant to the exchange offer described above under "The Exchange Offer" should not constitute
a material modification of the terms of the old notes and therefore should not be a taxable event for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
Accordingly, you should not recognize gain or loss upon the receipt of new notes in exchange for old notes pursuant to the exchange offer. In
addition, you should have the same tax basis and holding period in the new notes received as in the old notes surrendered.

U.S. Holders
The following discussion applies to you if you are a "U.S. Holder" (as defined below).
Definition of U.S. Holder
You are a "U.S. Holder" for purposes of this discussion if you are a beneficial owner of notes and you are, for U.S. federal income tax

purposes:

an individual who is a U.S. citizen or U.S. resident alien;

a corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation) that was created or organized in or under the laws of the United
States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia;

an estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of the source of that income; or
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a trust, if (1) a U.S. court is able to exercise primary supervision over the trust's administration and one or more "United
States persons" (within the meaning of the Code) has the authority to control all of the trust's substantial decisions, or (2) the
trust has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury regulations to be treated as a "United States person."

Interest on the Notes

Interest paid on new notes will be taxed as ordinary interest income at the time it is received or accrued, in accordance with your method of
accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Sale or Other Disposition of Notes

Subject to the discussion above regarding an exchange of notes pursuant to the exchange offer, upon the sale, redemption, exchange,
retirement or other taxable disposition of new notes, you will recognize taxable gain or loss equal to the difference, if any, between:

the amount realized on the disposition (less any amount attributable to accrued and unpaid interest, which will be taxable as
ordinary interest income to the extent you have not previously included such amounts in income in the manner described

above under " Interest on the Notes"); and

your adjusted tax basis in the notes.
Your adjusted tax basis in a note generally will equal the amount you paid for the note.

Your gain or loss will be capital gain or loss. This capital gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if, at the time of the disposition,
you have held the notes for more than one year. Under current law, long-term capital gains of non-corporate taxpayers are taxed at reduced rates.
Short-term capital gains are taxed at ordinary income rates. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding
In general, information reporting is required as to certain payments of principal and interest on your notes and on the disposition of your

notes, unless you are a corporation or other exempt person. In addition, "backup withholding" at a rate of 24% may apply:

to any payments made to you of principal and interest on your notes, and

to payment of the proceeds of a sale or other disposition of your notes,

if you are not exempt and you fail to provide a correct taxpayer identification number certified under penalties of perjury, as well as certain other
information, or otherwise to comply with applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax and may be refunded or credited against your U.S. federal income tax liability, provided that
the correct information is timely provided to the IRS.

Medicare Tax on Unearned Income

A 3.8% tax is imposed on the "net investment income" of certain U.S. citizens and resident aliens, and on the undistributed "net investment
income" of certain estates and trusts, in both cases to the extent that net investment income exceeds a certain threshold. Among other items,
certain "net investment income" generally includes interest and net gain from the disposition of property (including the notes), less certain
deductions.
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You should consult your own tax advisor with respect to the tax consequences of the Medicare Tax on Unearned Income.
Non-U.S. Holders

The following discussion applies to you if you are a "Non-U.S. Holder" (as defined below).
Definition of Non-U.S. Holder

You are a "Non-U.S. Holder" for purposes of this discussion if you are a beneficial owner of a note and you are an individual, corporation,
estate or trust that is not a U.S. Holder.

Interest on the Notes

Payments to you of interest on the notes will not be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax if you qualify for the "portfolio
interest" exemption. You will qualify for the portfolio interest exemption if:

you do not, directly or indirectly, actually or constructively, own 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all
classes of our stock entitled to vote;

you are not a controlled foreign corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes that is related, directly or indirectly,
actually or constructively, to us;

you are not a bank receiving interest on the notes in connection with the extension of credit made pursuant to a loan
agreement entered into in the ordinary course of your trade or business; and

such interest is not effectively connected with your conduct of a U.S. trade or business.

The exemption from taxation and withholding described above and several of the special rules for non-U.S. holders described below
generally apply only if you appropriately certify as to your non-U.S. status. You can generally meet the certification requirement by providing a
properly completed and executed IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E (or other applicable form) to the applicable withholding agent. Other
methods might be available to satisfy the certification requirements described above, depending on your particular circumstances. Special rules
apply to foreign intermediaries, including partnerships, estates and trusts, and in certain circumstances certifications as to the foreign status of
partners, trust owners or beneficiaries may have to be provided to the applicable withholding agent.

If you cannot satisfy the requirements of the "portfolio interest" exemption described above, payments of interest made to you generally
will be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax at a 30% rate unless (1) you provide the applicable withholding agent with a properly executed
IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E (or other applicable form) claiming an exemption from or reduction in this withholding tax under an
applicable income tax treaty, or (2) the payments of interest are effectively connected with your conduct of a U.S. trade or business (and, if
required by an applicable income tax treaty, attributable to a permanent establishment by you in the United States (see " Income or Gain
Effectively Connected with a Trade or Business in the United States").

Sale or Other Disposition of Notes

You generally will not have to pay U.S. federal income tax on any gain realized from the sale, redemption, exchange, retirement or other
disposition of your notes unless:
you are an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more during the taxable year of the sale or other

disposition of your notes and specific other conditions are met; or
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the gain is effectively connected with your conduct of a U.S. trade or business (and, if required by an applicable income tax
treaty, is attributable to a U.S. "permanent establishment" maintained by you).

To the extent that the amount realized on any sale, exchange, redemption or other taxable disposition of the notes is attributable to accrued
but unpaid interest not previously included in income, such amount is treated as interest subject to the rules described above under " Non-U.S.
Holders Interest on the Notes."

Income or Gain Effectively Connected with a Trade or Business in the United States

If you are engaged in a trade or business in the United States and income or gain in respect of your notes is effectively connected with the
conduct of such trade or business (and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a U.S. "permanent establishment"
maintained by you), the income or gain generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular graduated income tax rates in generally the
same manner as if you were a U.S. holder (although such income or gain will be exempt from U.S. federal tax withholding if you provide the
appropriate certification). In addition, if you are a foreign corporation, you may be subject to U.S. "branch profits tax" equal to 30% of your
effectively connected earnings and profits for the taxable year, as adjusted for certain items, unless a lower rate applies to you under an
applicable U.S. income tax treaty. For this purpose, you must include interest, gain and income on your notes in the earnings and profits subject
to U.S. branch profits tax if these amounts are effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the United States.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

In certain circumstances, "backup withholding" at a rate of 24% may apply:

to any payments made to you of principal and interest on your notes, and

to payment of the proceeds of a sale or other disposition of your notes.

Backup withholding will not apply to payments made to you if you have provided the required certification that you are not a U.S. person
as described in " Non-U.S. Holders Interest on the Notes" above, and provided that the payer does not have actual knowledge or reason to know
that you are a U.S. person (as defined in the Code). However, the payer may be required to report to the IRS and you payments of interest on the
notes and the amount of tax, if any, withheld with respect to those payments. Copies of the information returns reporting such interest payments
and any withholding may also be made available to the tax authorities in the country in which you reside under the provisions of a treaty or
agreement.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax and may be refunded or credited against your U.S. federal income tax liability, provided that
the correct information is timely provided to the IRS.

Foreign Accounts

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code (commonly referred to as "FATCA") generally impose 30% withholding tax on "withholdable
payments," which include interest on, and the gross proceeds from the sale or other disposition of, notes paid to (i) a foreign financial institution
(as defined in Section 1471 of the Code) unless it agrees to collect and disclose to the IRS information regarding direct and indirect U.S. account
holders and (ii) a non-financial foreign entity unless it certifies certain information regarding substantial U.S. owners of the entity, which
generally includes any U.S. person who directly or indirectly owns more than 10% of the entity. Foreign financial institutions located in
jurisdictions that have an intergovernmental agreement with the United States governing FATCA may be subject to different rules. Under U.S.
Treasury regulations and IRS guidance, the withholding obligations described above will apply to payments of gross proceeds from a sale or
other disposition of the notes on or after January 1, 2019. You should consult your own tax advisor with respect to the potential tax
consequences of FATCA.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

If you want to participate in the exchange offer, you must represent, among other things, that you:

are not an "affiliate" of ours, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act (or if you are such an "affiliate," you must comply
with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act to the extent applicable);

are not a broker-dealer that acquired the old notes directly from us;

are not engaged in and do not intend to engage in, and have no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate
in, a distribution of new notes to be issued in the exchange offer;

acquired the new notes issued in the exchange offer in the ordinary course of your business; and

are not acting on behalf of any person who could not truthfully and completely make the foregoing representations.

In addition, if you are a broker-dealer that acquires new notes pursuant to the exchange offer in exchange for old notes that you acquired as
a result of market-making or other trading activities, you may be deemed to be an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act and
must comply with the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act in connection with a resale of the new notes.

This prospectus, as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with resales of
new notes received in exchange for old notes where such old notes were acquired as a result of market-making activities or other trading
activities.

New notes received by broker-dealers for their own account pursuant to the exchange offer may be sold from time to time in one or more
transactions in the over-the-counter market, in negotiated transactions, through the writing of options on the new notes or a combination of such
methods of resale, at market prices prevailing at the time of resale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices or negotiated prices. Any
such resale may be made directly to purchasers or to or through brokers or dealers who may receive compensation in the form of commissions or
concessions from any such broker-dealer or the purchasers of any such new notes. Any broker-dealer that resells new notes that were received
by it for its own account pursuant to the exchange offer may be deemed to be an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act, and any
profit on any such resale of new notes and any commission or concessions received by any such persons may be deemed to be underwriting
compensation under the Securities Act. The letter of transmittal states that, by acknowledging that it will deliver and by delivering a prospectus,
a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act.

Until the earlier of 180 days from the expiration date of this exchange offer or such time as such broker-dealers no longer hold any old
notes, we will promptly send additional copies of this prospectus and any amendment or supplement to this prospectus to any broker-dealer that
requests such documents in the letter of transmittal.

We have agreed in the registration rights agreement to pay all expenses incident to the exchange offer other than commissions or

concessions of any brokers or dealers and will indemnify the holders of the securities (including any broker-dealers) against certain liabilities,
including liabilities under the Securities Act.

LEGAL MATTERS
The validity of the new notes will be passed upon for us by Davis Graham & Stubbs LLP.
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EXPERTS

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The financial statements and management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting (which is included in
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting) incorporated in this prospectus by reference to the Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 have been so incorporated in reliance on the report (which contains an adverse opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting) of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

Independent Petroleum Consultants

Certain information contained in the documents we include and incorporate by reference into this prospectus with respect to the natural gas
and oil reserves associated with our natural gas and oil prospects is derived from the reports of Ryder Scott Company, L.P., an independent
petroleum and natural gas consulting firm, and has been incorporated by reference into this prospectus upon the authority of said firm as experts
with respect to the matters covered by such reports and in giving such reports. With respect to the 2017 Form 10-K, the information derived
from the reports of Ryder Scott is included under "Items 1 and 2. Business and Properties" and "Supplemental Information Unaudited" of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Certain information contained in the documents we include and incorporate by reference into this prospectus with respect to the natural gas
and oil reserves associated with our natural gas and oil prospects is derived from the reports of Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc., an
independent petroleum and natural gas consulting firm, and has been incorporated by reference into this prospectus upon the authority of said
firm as experts with respect to the matters covered by such reports and in giving such reports. With respect to the 2017 Form 10-K , the
information derived from the reports of Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. is included under "Items 1 and 2. Business and Properties" and
"Supplemental Information Unaudited" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. Our SEC filings are available to the
public from the SEC's website at www.sec.gov or from our website at www.pdce.com. You may also read and copy any document we file at the
SEC's public reference room in Washington, D.C., located at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room. Information about us is also available at our website at www.pdce.com.
However, the information on our website is not part of this prospectus.

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference"” in this prospectus the information in the documents that we file with it, which means that
we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is considered to
be a part of this prospectus. We expect to file additional documents with the SEC in the future that will, when filed, update the current
information included in or incorporated by reference into this prospectus. Any information that is part of this prospectus or any prospectus
supplement that speaks as of a later date than any other information that is part of this prospectus or any prospectus supplement updates or
supersedes such other information. You should consider any statement which is so modified or superseded to be a part of this prospectus only as
so modified or superseded.
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The following documents filed with the SEC are incorporated by reference herein:

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on February 27, 2018, as
amended by our Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on May 1,

2018;

The information in our Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 19, 2018 that is incorporated by reference
into our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017,

Our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2018 filed with the SEC on May 3, 2018;

Our Current Reports on Form 8-K and Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on January 5, 2018, February 9, 2018, May 25, 2018
and May 31, 2018;

All documents, or portions thereof, filed by us subsequent to the date of this prospectus, under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or
15(d) of the Exchange Act, prior to the termination of the offering made hereby; and

All documents filed pursuant to the Exchange Act after the date of this Registration Statement and prior to effectiveness of
this Registration Statement.

Documents, or portions thereof, furnished or deemed furnished by us are not incorporated by reference into this prospectus. Information
that we file later with the SEC will automatically update and supersede the previously filed information.

You may obtain, free of charge, a copy of any of these documents (other than exhibits to these documents unless the exhibits specifically
are incorporated by reference into these documents or referred to in this prospectus) by writing or calling us at the following address and
telephone number:

Investor Relations Department
Manager Investor Relations
PDC Energy, Inc.

1775 Sherman Street, Suite 3000
Denver, Colorado 80203
(303) 860-5800
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ANNEX A:

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

To Tender

$600,000,000 5.750% Senior Notes due 2026
That Have Been Registered Under the Securities Act of 1933
For Any and All Outstanding Unregistered
5.750% Senior Notes due 2026
of

PDC Energy, Inc.

Pursuant to the Prospectus dated ,2018

THE EXCHANGE OFFER WILL EXPIRE AT 11:59 P.M., EASTERN TIME, ON , 2018 UNLESS THE EXCHANGE
OFFER IS EXTENDED (THE "EXPIRATION DATE"). TENDERS MAY BE WITHDRAWN AT ANY TIME PRIOR TO THE
EXPIRATION DATE.

The Exchange Agent for the Exchange Offer is:

U. S. Bank National Association
Attn: Corporate Actions
111 Fillmore Avenue
St. Paul, MN 55107-1402
Fax: 651-466-7367
Phone: 800-934-6802

For Information, Call: 800-934-6802

Delivery of this Letter of Transmittal to an address other than as set forth above or transmission of instructions to a facsimile number other
than the one listed above will not constitute a valid delivery. The instructions set forth in this Letter of Transmittal should be read carefully
before this Letter of Transmittal is completed.

HOLDERS WHO WISH TO BE ELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE NEW NOTES FOR THEIR OLD NOTES PURSUANT TO THE
EXCHANGE OFFER MUST VALIDLY TENDER (AND NOT WITHDRAW) THEIR OLD NOTES TO THE EXCHANGE AGENT PRIOR
TO THE EXPIRATION DATE.

By execution hereof, the undersigned acknowledges receipt of the prospectus dated , 2018 (the "Prospectus") of PDC
Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company") which, together with this Letter of Transmittal (the "Letter of Transmittal"), constitutes
the Company's offer to exchange (the "Exchange Offer") up to $600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of its 5.750% Senior Notes due 2026
(the "New Notes"), which have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), pursuant to a registration
statement of which the Prospectus constitutes a part, for a like principal amount of its outstanding unregistered 5.750% Senior Notes due 2026
(the "Old Notes"), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Prospectus. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the
meanings given to them in the Prospectus.

This Letter of Transmittal is to be used by Holders if delivery of Old Notes is to be made by book-entry transfers to an account maintained
by the Exchange Agent at DTC pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Prospectus or certificates representing Old Notes are to be physically
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delivered to the Exchange Agent herewith by Holders. Delivery of documents to DTC does not constitute delivery to the Exchange Agent.

If delivery of the Old Notes is to be made by book-entry transfer to the account maintained by the Exchange Agent at DTC, this Letter of
Transmittal need not be manually executed; provided, however, that tenders of Old Notes must be effected in accordance with the procedures
mandated by The Depository Trust Company's ("DTC") Automated Tender Offer Program ("ATOP"). If tenders of Old Notes are to be made in
accordance with ATOP procedures, a tendering Holder will become bound by the terms and conditions hereof in accordance with the procedures
established under ATOP (including by execution hereof, an agreement by the tendering Holder that the Company may rely on the tendering
Holder's indication of its status as a broker-dealer as set forth below).

The term "Holder" with respect to the Exchange Offer means any person in whose name Old Notes are registered on the books of the
Company or the trustee or any other person who has obtained a properly completed bond power from the registered Holder.

The undersigned has completed, executed and delivered this Letter of Transmittal to indicate the action the undersigned desires to take with
respect to the Exchange Offer. Holders who wish to tender their Old Notes must complete this letter in its entirety.

The instructions included with this Letter of Transmittal must be followed. Questions and requests for assistance or for additional copies of
the Prospectus or this Letter of Transmittal may be directed to the Exchange Agent at the address set forth on the cover page of this Letter of
Transmittal. See Instruction 8. Requests sent to the Company will not be effective.

List below the Old Notes to which this Letter of Transmittal relates. If the space provided below is inadequate, list the certificate numbers
and principal amounts on a separately executed schedule and affix the schedule to this Letter of Transmittal. Tenders of Old Notes will be
accepted only in authorized denominations.

DESCRIPTION OF OLD NOTES

Name(s)
and Aggregate
Address(es) Certificate Principal
of Number(s)* Aggregate Amount
Holder(s) (attach signed Principal Tendered
(Please fill list Amount (if less than
in if blank) if necessary) of Old Note(s) all)**
TOTAL
PRINCIPAL
AMOUNT
OF OLD
NOTES
TENDERED

Need not be completed by Holders tendering by book-entry
*  transfer.

**  Need not be completed by Holders who wish to tender with respect
to all Old Notes listed. Old Notes tendered hereby must be in
denominations of $2,000 and $1,000 integral multiples of $2,000
thereof.
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o  CHECK HERE IF OLD NOTES ARE BEING DELIVERED BY DTC BOOK-ENTRY TRANSFER MADE TO THE ACCOUNT
MAINTAINED BY THE EXCHANGE AGENT WITH DTC AND COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING:

Name of Tendering Institution:

DTC Book-Entry Account Number:

Transaction Code Number:

BY CREDITING THE OLD NOTES TO THE EXCHANGE AGENT'S ACCOUNT WITH DTC'S ATOP AND BY COMPLYING
WITH APPLICABLE ATOP PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE EXCHANGE OFFER, THE HOLDER OF THE OLD
NOTES ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES TO BE BOUND BY THE TERMS OF THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL AND
CONFIRMS ON BEHALF OF ITSELF AND THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF SUCH OLD NOTES ALL PROVISIONS OF
THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL APPLICABLE TO IT AND SUCH BENEFICIAL OWNERS AS FULLY AS IF SUCH
BENEFICIAL OWNERS HAD COMPLETED THE INFORMATION REQUIRED HEREIN AND EXECUTED AND
TRANSMITTED THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL.

o CHECK HERE IF TENDERED BY BOOK-ENTRY TRANSFER AND NON-EXCHANGED OLD NOTES ARE TO BE
RETURNED BY CREDITING THE DTC ACCOUNT SET FORTH ABOVE.

o CHECK HERE IF YOU ARE A BROKER-DEALER AND ARE ELIGIBLE TO PARTICIPATE IN THE EXCHANGE OFFER.
IF SO, YOU WILL RECEIVE 10 ADDITIONAL COPIES OF THE PROSPECTUS AND 10 COPIES OF ANY AMENDMENTS
OR SUPPLEMENTS THERETO.

Name:

Address:

ATTENTION BROKER-DEALERS: IMPORTANT NOTICE
CONCERNING YOUR ABILITY TO RESELL THE NEW NOTES

IF THE EXCHANGE AGENT DOES NOT RECEIVE ANY LETTERS OF TRANSMITTAL FROM BROKER-DEALERS
REQUESTING ADDITIONAL COPIES OF THE PROSPECTUS FOR USE IN CONNECTION WITH RESALES OF THE NEW
NOTES, BROKER-DEALERS MAY NOT USE THE PROSPECTUS AND THE COMPANY WILL HAVE NO OBLIGATION
TO MAINTAIN THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT. IF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE
REGISTRATION STATEMENT IS TERMINATED, YOU WILL NOT BE ABLE TO USE THE PROSPECTUS IN
CONNECTION WITH RESALES OF NEW NOTES AFTER SUCH TIME. SEE SECTION ENTITLED "THE EXCHANGE
OFFER TERMS OF THE EXCHANGE OFFER" CONTAINED IN THE PROSPECTUS FOR MORE INFORMATION. BY
EXECUTION HEREOF, THE UNDERSIGNED AGREES THAT THE COMPANY MAY RELY ON THE UNDERSIGNED'S
INDICATION OF ITS STATUS AS BROKER-DEALER AS SET FORTH ABOVE.
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Ladies and Gentlemen:

Subject to the terms of the Exchange Offer, the undersigned hereby tenders to the Company the principal amount of Old Notes indicated
above. By executing this Letter of Transmittal the undersigned hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints the Exchange Agent its agent and
attorney-in-fact (with full knowledge that the Exchange Agent also acts as the agent of the Company and as trustee under the indenture for the
Old Notes and the New Notes) with respect to the tendered Old Notes with full power of substitution to (i) deliver certificates for such Old Notes
to the Company, or transfer ownership of such Old Notes on the account books maintained by DTC, together, in either such case, with all
accompanying evidences of transfer and authenticity to, or upon the order of, the Company and (ii) present such Old Notes for transfer on the
books of the Company, and (iii) receive all benefits and otherwise exercise all rights of beneficial ownership of such Old Notes, all in
accordance with the terms of the Exchange Offer. The power of attorney granted in this paragraph shall be deemed irrevocable and coupled with
an 1nterest.

The undersigned hereby further represents to the Company that (i) neither the undersigned nor any person receiving any New Notes directly
or indirectly from the undersigned pursuant to the Exchange Offer is an "affiliate" of the Company or its subsidiaries, as defined under Rule 405
under the Securities Act, (ii) neither the undersigned nor any person receiving any New Notes directly or indirectly from the undersigned
pursuant to the Exchange Offer is engaging or intends to engage in the distribution of the New Notes and none of them have any arrangement or
understanding with any person to participate in the distribution of the New Notes, (iii) the New Notes to be acquired pursuant to the Exchange
Offer will be acquired in the ordinary course of business of the person acquiring the New Notes, whether or not such person is the undersigned,
(iv) it is not a broker-dealer that acquired Old Notes directly from the Company, and if it is a broker-dealer that holds Old Notes that were
acquired for its own account as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities, it will deliver a Prospectus meeting the
requirements of the Securities Act in connection with any resales of the New Notes received by it in the Exchange Offer, (v) the undersigned and
each person receiving any New Notes directly or indirectly from the undersigned pursuant to the Exchange Offer acknowledge and agree that
any broker-dealer or any person participating in the Exchange Offer for the purpose of distributing the New Notes (x) must comply with the
registration and Prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act in connection with a secondary resale transaction of the New Notes
acquired by such person and (y) cannot rely on the position of the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") set forth
in the Exxon Capital Holdings Corporation no-action letter (available May 13, 1988) and the Morgan Stanley and Co., Inc. no-action letter
(available June 5, 1991), as interpreted in the Commission's no-action letter to Shearman & Sterling dated July 2, 1993, and similar no-action
letters, (vi) the undersigned and each person receiving any New Notes directly or indirectly from the undersigned pursuant to the Exchange
Offer understand that a secondary resale transaction described in clause (v) above should be covered by an effective registration statement; and
(vii) the undersigned is not acting on behalf of any person who could not truthfully and completely make the representations contained in the
foregoing subclauses (i) through (vii). If the undersigned is a broker-dealer that will receive New Notes for its own account in exchange for Old
Notes that were acquired as a result of market making or other trading activities, it acknowledges that it will deliver a Prospectus meeting the
requirements of the Securities Act in connection with any resale of such New Notes received in respect of such Old Notes pursuant to the
Exchange Offer; however, by so acknowledging and by delivering a Prospectus, the undersigned will not be deemed to admit that it is an
"underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act.

The Company has agreed that, subject to the provisions of the registration rights agreement, the Prospectus, as it may be amended or
supplemented from time to time, may be used by a participating broker-dealer (as defined below) in connection with resales of New Notes

received in exchange for Old Notes for a period of up to 180 days commencing when New Notes are first issued in the Exchange

A4
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Offer and ending upon the earlier of the expiration of the 180™ day after the Exchange Offer has been completed or such time as such
broker-dealers no longer own any Old Notes. In that regard, each broker-dealer who acquired Old Notes for its own account as a result of
market-making or other trading activities (a "participating broker-dealer"), by tendering such Old Notes and executing, or otherwise becoming
bound by, this Letter of Transmittal, agrees that, upon receipt of notice from the Company of the occurrence of any event or the discovery of any
fact which makes any statement contained or incorporated by reference in the Prospectus untrue in any material respect or which causes the
Prospectus to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained or incorporated by reference therein, in light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading or of the occurrence of certain other events specified in the registration rights
agreement, such participating broker-dealer will suspend the sale of New Notes pursuant to the Prospectus until the Company has amended or
supplemented the Prospectus to correct such misstatement or omission and has furnished copies of the amended or supplemented Prospectus to
the participating broker-dealer or the Company has given notice that the sale of the New Notes may be resumed, as the case may be.

The undersigned will, upon request, execute and deliver any additional documents deemed by the Exchange Agent or the Company to be
necessary or desirable to complete the assignment and transfer of the Old Notes tendered hereby.

The undersigned acknowledges that, for purposes of the Exchange Offer, the Company will be deemed to have accepted for exchange, and
to have exchanged, validly tendered Old Notes, if, as and when the Company gives oral or written notice thereof to the Exchange Agent.

All authority herein conferred or agreed to be conferred shall survive the death, incapacity, liquidation, dissolution, winding up or any other
event relating to the undersigned, and any obligation of the undersigned hereunder shall be binding upon the heirs, personal representatives,
successors and assigns of the undersigned.

The undersigned acknowledges that the Company's acceptance of Old Notes validly tendered for exchange pursuant to any one of the
procedures described in the section of the Prospectus entitled "The Exchange Offer" and in the instructions hereto will constitute a valid, binding
and enforceable agreement between the undersigned and the Company upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Exchange Offer.

Unless otherwise indicated in the box entitled "Special Issuance Instructions" below, please issue the New Notes (and, if applicable,
substitute certificates representing Old Notes for any Old Notes not exchanged) in the name of the undersigned or, in the case of a book-entry
delivery of Old Notes, please credit the account indicated above maintained at the Book-Entry Transfer Facility. Similarly, unless otherwise
indicated under the box entitled "Special Delivery Instructions" below, please send the New Notes (and, if applicable, substitute certificates
representing Notes for any Old Notes not exchanged) to the undersigned at the address shown above in the box entitled "Description of Old
Notes Tendered."

THE UNDERSIGNED ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE EXCHANGE OFFERS ARE SUBJECT TO THE MORE DETAILED
TERMS SET FORTH IN THE PROSPECTUS AND, IN CASE OF ANY CONFLICT BETWEEN THE TERMS OF THE
PROSPECTUS AND THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL, THE TERMS OF THE PROSPECTUS SHALL PREVAIL.

THE UNDERSIGNED, BY COMPLETING THE BOX ENTITLED "DESCRIPTION OF OLD NOTES TENDERED'" ABOVE
AND SIGNING THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL, WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE TENDERED THE OLD NOTES AS SET
FORTH IN SUCH BOX ABOVE.

A-5
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HOLDER(S) SIGN HERE

Date:

Signature of Owner
Must be signed by registered holder(s) exactly as name(s) appear(s) on certificate(s) for the Old Notes hereby tendered or on a security position
listing, or by any person(s) authorized to become the registered holder(s) by endorsements and documents transmitted herewith. If signature is
by an attorney-in-fact, executor, administrator, trustee, guardian, officer of a corporation or another acting in a fiduciary or representative
capacity, please set forth the signer's full title. See Instruction 6.

Names

Capacity (Full Title)

Address (including zip code)

Area Code and Telephone Number

Tax Identification Number or Social Security Number

SIGNATURE GUARANTEE
(SIGNATURE(S) MUST BE GUARANTEED IF REQUIRED BY INSTRUCTION 1)

(Name of Eligible Institution Guaranteeing Signatures)

(Address (including zip code) and Telephone Number (including area code) of Firm)

(Authorized Signature)
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SPECIAL ISSUANCE INSTRUCTIONS
(See Instruction 4 herein)

To be completed ONLY if certificates for Old
Notes in a principal amount not tendered are to be
issued in the name of, or the New Notes issued
pursuant to the Exchange Offer are to be issued to
the order of, someone other than the person or
persons whose signature(s) appear(s) within this
Letter of Transmittal or issued to an address
different from that shown in the box entitled
"Description of Old Notes" within this Letter of
Transmittal, or if Old Notes tendered by
book-entry transfer that are not accepted for

SPECIAL DELIVERY INSTRUCTIONS
(See Instruction 4 herein)

To be completed ONLY if certificates for
Old Notes in a principal amount not tendered or
not accepted for purchase or the New Notes
issued pursuant to the Exchange Offer are to be
sent to someone other than the person or persons
whose signature(s) appear(s) within this Letter of
Transmittal or to an address different from that
shown in the box entitled "Description of Old
Notes" within this Letter of Transmittal or to be
credited to an account maintained at DTC other
than the account at DTC indicated above.

purchase are to be credited to an account
maintained at DTC other than the account at DTC
indicated above.

Name: Name:
(Please Print) (Please Print)

Address: Address:
(Please Print) (Please Print)

Zip Code Zip Code

Taxpayer Identification or Social Security Number Taxpayer Identification or Social Security Number

30.40
Granted 18,102,340 44.42
Vested (11,677,381) 41.34
Cancelled (1,856,675) 44.52
Outstanding at
September 30,
2006 32,601,130 43.83

At September 30, 2006, there was $961 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to share-based compensation arrangements for
all awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of .95 years. The total fair value of restricted stock vested during the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 was $32 million and $525 million.

NOTE 14 Business Segment Information

The Corporation reports the results of its operations through three business segments: Global Consumer and Small Business Banking, Global
Corporate and Investment Banking, and Global Wealth and Investment Management. The Corporation may periodically reclassify business
segment results based on modifications to its management reporting methodologies and changes in organizational alignment.

Global Consumer and Small Business Banking provides a diversified range of products and services to individuals and small businesses through
its primary businesses: Deposits, Card Services, Mortgage and Home Equity. Global Corporate and Investment Banking serves domestic and
international issuer and investor clients, providing financial services, specialized industry expertise and local delivery through its primary
businesses: Business Lending, Capital Markets and Advisory Services, and Treasury Services. These businesses provide traditional bank deposit
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and loan products to large corporations and institutional clients, capital-raising solutions, advisory services, derivatives capabilities, equity and
debt sales and trading for clients, as well as treasury management and payment services. Global Wealth and Investment Management offers
investment services, estate management, financial planning services, fiduciary management, credit and banking expertise, and diversified asset
management products to institutional clients, as well as affluent and high-net-worth individuals through its primary businesses: The Private
Bank, Columbia Management and Premier Banking and Investments.

All Other consists of equity investment activities including Principal Investing, Corporate and Strategic Investments, the residual impact of the
allowance for credit losses and the cost allocation processes, Merger and Restructuring Charges, intersegment eliminations, and the results of
certain consumer finance and commercial lending businesses that are being liquidated. All Other also includes certain amounts associated with
ALM activities, including the residual impact of funds transfer pricing allocation methodologies, amounts associated with the change in the
value of derivatives used as economic hedges of interest rate and foreign exchange rate fluctuations that do not qualify for SFAS 133 hedge
accounting treatment, certain gains or losses on sales of whole mortgage loans, and Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities.

Total Revenue includes Net Interest Income on a fully taxable-equivalent (FTE) basis and Noninterest Income. The adjustment of Net Interest
Income to a FTE basis results in a corresponding increase in Income Tax Expense. The Net Interest Income of the businesses includes the results
of a funds transfer pricing process that matches assets and liabilities with similar interest rate sensitivity and maturity characteristics. Net Interest
Income of the business segments also includes an allocation of Net Interest Income generated by the Corporation s ALM activities.

Certain expenses not directly attributable to a specific business segment are allocated to the segments based on pre-determined means. The most
significant of these expenses include data processing costs, item processing costs and certain centralized or shared functions. Data processing
costs are allocated to the segments based on equipment usage. Item processing costs are allocated to the segments based on the volume of items
processed for each segment. The costs of certain centralized or shared functions are allocated based on methodologies which reflect utilization.
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The following tables present Total Revenue on a FTE basis and Net Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005,
and Total Assets at September 30, 2006 and 2005 for each business segment, as well as All Other.

Business Segments

For the Three Months Ended September 30

Global Consumer and Global Corporate and
Total Corporation Small Business Banking (1,2 Investment Banking (U
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Net interest income (FTE basis) $ 8,894 $ 7,933 $ 5,243 $ 47238 $ 2,643 $ 2,749
Noninterest income 10,067 6,416 5,200 3,028 3,372 2,540
Total revenue (FTE basis) 18,961 14,349 10,443 7,266 6,015 5,289
Provision for credit losses 1,165 1,159 1,144 1,107 22 12
Gains (losses) on sales of debt
securities (469) 29 (D 14 17
Amortization of intangibles 441 201 379 137 41 43
Other noninterest expense 8,422 7,084 4,351 3,118 2,924 2,811
Income before income taxes 8,464 5,934 4,569 2,903 3,042 2,440
Income tax expense 3,048 2,093 1,680 1,061 1,120 889
Net income $ 5,416 $ 3,841 $ 2,889 $ 1,842 $ 1,922 $ 1,551
Period-end total assets $ 1,449,211 $ 1,252,267 $ 394,920 $ 326,926 $ 675,893 $ 602,008
Global Wealth and
Investment Management (1,2) All Other
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005
Net interest income (FTE basis) $ 943 $ 937 $ 65 $ 9
Noninterest income 925 882 570 34)
Total revenue (FTE basis) 1,868 1,819 635 (25)
Provision for credit losses (@)) @)) 41
Gains (losses) on sales of debt
securities (483) 13
Amortization of intangibles 19 20 2 1
Other noninterest expense 973 904 174 251
Income before income taxes 877 896 24) (305)
Income tax expense (benefit) 324 328 (76) (185)
Net income $ 553 $ 568 $ 52 $  (120)
Period-end total assets $ 125247 $ 125,684 $ 253,151 $ 197,649

(D There were no material intersegment revenues among the segments.

(D Total Assets include asset allocations to match liabilities (i.e., deposits).

31

Table of Contents 121



Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

Table of Conten

Business Segments

For the Nine Months Ended September 30

(Dollars in millions)

Net interest income (FTE basis)
Noninterest income

Total revenue (FTE basis)
Provision for credit losses
Gains (losses) on sales of debt securities
Amortization of intangibles
Other noninterest expense
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense

Net income

Period-end total assets

(Dollars in millions)

Net interest income (FTE basis)
Noninterest income

Total revenue (FTE basis)
Provision for credit losses
Gains (losses) on sales of debt securities
Amortization of intangibles
Other noninterest expense
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income

Period-end total assets

Total Corporation

2006 2005

$ 26,860 $ 23467
28,566 19,403
55,426 42,870
3,440 2,614
(464) 1,013
1,322 613
25,182 20,748
25,018 19,908
9,141 7,017
$ 15877 $ 12,891
$ 1,449,211 $1,252,267

Global Wealth and

Investment Management (1>2)

2006
$ 2910
2,881
5,791
(42)

57
2,918
2,858
1,057

$ 1,801

$ 125247

(D There were no material intersegment revenues among the segments.

(D Total Assets include asset allocations to match liabilities (i.e., deposits).

Table of Contents

$

$
$

2005
2,814
2,607
5,421

(®)

59
2,704
2,666

959
1,707
125,684

32

Global Consumer and
Small Business Banking (1,2)

2006 2005
$ 15,788 $ 12,555
15,274 8,473
31,062 21,028
3,420 2,973
@ )
1,137 419
12,820 9,420
13,684 8,214
5,040 2,956
$ 8,644 $ 5,258
$ 394,920 $ 326,926

All Other

2006 2005
$ 93 $ (296)
1,187 1,066
1,280 770
(40) 37
(497) 847
4 4
615 589
204 987
7 169
$ 211 $ 818
$ 253,151 $ 197,649

Global Corporate and
Investment Banking ()

2006
$ 8,069
9,224
17,293
102

34

124
8,829
8,272
3,051
$ 5,221
$ 675,893

2005
$ 8394
7,257
15,651
(388)
168

131
8,035
8,041
2,933
$ 5,108
$ 602,008
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The following table presents reconciliations of the three business segments Total Revenue on a FTE basis and Net Income to the Consolidated
Statement of Income totals. The adjustments presented in the table below include consolidated income and expense amounts not specifically
allocated to individual business segments.

Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended
September 30 September 30
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005
Segments total revenue (FTE basis) $ 18,326 $ 14,374 $ 54,146 $42,100
Adjustments:
ALM activities (258) (690) (498) (297)
Equity investment gains 687 640 1,835 1,471
Liquidating businesses 43 48 219 151
FTE basis adjustment (308) (198) (868) (589)
Other 163 (23) (276) (555)
Consolidated revenue $ 18,653 $ 14,151 $ 54,558 $42,281
Segments net income $ 5,364 $ 3,961 $ 15,666 $12,073
Adjustments, net of taxes:
ALM activities "* (524) @71) (779) 243
Equity investment gains 433 410 1,156 941
Liquidating businesses 21 27 115 70
Merger and restructuring charges 169 80 353 235
Other 47) (166) (634) 671)
Consolidated net income $ 5416 $ 3,841 $ 15,877 $12,891

(DIncludes the impact of derivative instruments which were designated as economic hedges and did not qualify for SFAS 133 hedge accounting treatment.

(@ Includes pre-tax Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities of $(484) million and $11 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, and
$(498) million and $844 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.
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MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This report on Form 10-Q contains certain statements that are forward-looking within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are
difficult to predict. Actual outcomes and results may differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, our forward-looking statements.
Words such as expects,  anticipates,  believes,  estimates and other similar expressions or future or conditional verbs such as will,

should,

and could are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Readers of the Form 10-Q of Bank of America Corporation and its

subsidiaries (the Corporation) should not rely solely on the forward-looking statements and should consider all uncertainties and risks

throughout this report as well as those discussed under Item 1A. Risk Factors of the Corporation s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended December 31, 2005. The statements are representative only as of the date they are made, and the Corporation undertakes no
obligation to update any forward-looking statement.

Possible events or factors that could cause results or performance to differ materially from those expressed in our forward-looking statements
include the following: changes in general economic conditions and economic conditions in the geographic regions and industries in which the
Corporation operates which may affect, among other things, the level of nonperforming assets, charge-offs and provision expense; changes in
the interest rate environment which may reduce interest margins and impact funding sources; changes in foreign exchange rates; adverse
movements and volatility in debt and equity capital markets; changes in market rates and prices which may adversely impact the value of
financial products including securities, loans, deposits, debt and derivative financial instruments, and other similar financial instruments;
political conditions and related actions by the United States abroad which may adversely affect the Corporation s businesses and economic
conditions as a whole; liabilities resulting from litigation and regulatory investigations, including costs, expenses, settlements and judgments;
changes in domestic or foreign tax laws, rules and regulations as well as court, Internal Revenue Service or other governmental agencies
interpretations thereof; various monetary and fiscal policies and regulations, including those determined by the Board of Governors of the
Federal Reserve System (FRB), the Office of the Comptroller of Currency, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and state regulators;
changes in accounting standards, rules and interpretations; competition with other local, regional and international banks, thrifts, credit unions
and other nonbank financial institutions; ability to grow core businesses; ability to develop and introduce new banking-related products,
services and enhancements, and gain market acceptance of such products; mergers and acquisitions and their integration into the Corporation;
decisions to downsize, sell or close units or otherwise change the business mix of the Corporation; and management s ability to manage these
and other risks.

The Corporation, headquartered in Charlotte, North Carolina, operates in 30 states, the District of Columbia and 44 foreign countries. The
Corporation provides a diversified range of banking and nonbanking financial services and products domestically and internationally through
three business segments: Global Consumer and Small Business Banking, Global Corporate and Investment Banking, and Global Wealth and
Investment Management.

At September 30, 2006, the Corporation had $1.4 trillion in assets and approximately 200,000 full-time equivalent employees. Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements referred to in Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations are
incorporated by reference into Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. Certain prior period
amounts have been reclassified to conform to current period presentation.

Recent Events

In November 2006, the Corporation issued 74,000 shares of Bank of America Corporation Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Preferred Stock,
Series E with a par value of $0.01 per share for $1.9 billion. In addition, an option to purchase up to an additional 11,100 shares of Series E
Preferred Stock, at a purchase price of $25,000 per share, has been granted to the underwriters. In September 2006, the Corporation issued
33,000 shares of Bank of America Corporation 6.204% Non-Cumulative, Preferred Stock, Series D with a par value of $0.01 per share for $825
million. In July 2006, the Corporation redeemed its 700,000 shares, or $175 million, of Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock and
redeemed its 382,450 shares, or $96 million, of 6.75% Perpetual Preferred Stock. Both classes were redeemed at their stated value of $250 per
share, plus accrued and unpaid dividends.

In October 2006, the Board of Directors (the Board) declared a regular quarterly cash dividend on common stock of $0.56 per share, payable on
December 22, 2006 to common shareholders of record on December 1, 2006. In July 2006, the Board increased the quarterly cash dividend on
common stock 12 percent from $0.50 to $0.56 per share.
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In September 2006, the Corporation completed the sale of its Brazilian operations for approximately $1.9 billion in equity of Banco Itau Holding
Financeira S.A. (Banco Itau), Brazil s second largest nongovernment-owned banking company. The sale resulted in a $720 million gain (pre-tax)
that was recorded in Other Income.

In August 2006, the Corporation entered into an agreement to sell Bank of America (Asia) Ltd., including its consumer and commercial banking
franchise in Hong Kong, to China Construction Bank (CCB) for $1.25 billion. Closing is subject to regulatory approval.

MBNA Merger Overview

The Corporation acquired 100 percent of the outstanding stock of MBNA Corporation (MBNA) on January 1, 2006, for $34.6 billion. In
connection therewith 1,260 million shares of MBNA common stock were exchanged for 631 million shares of the Corporation s common stock.
Prior to the MBNA merger, this represented approximately 16 percent of the Corporation s outstanding common stock. MBNA shareholders also
received cash of $5.2 billion. The MBNA merger was a tax-free merger for the Corporation. The acquisition expands the Corporation s customer
base and its opportunity to deepen customer relationships across the full breadth of the Corporation by delivering innovative deposit, lending and
investment products and services to MBNA s customer base. Additionally, the acquisition allows the Corporation to significantly increase its
affinity relationships through MBNA s credit card operations and sell these credit cards through our delivery channels (including the retail branch
network). MBNA s results of operations were included in the Corporation s results beginning January 1, 2006. The transaction was accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price has been allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their
estimated fair values at the MBNA merger date. For more information related to the MBNA merger, see Note 2 of the Corporation s
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Performance Overview

Net Income totaled $5.4 billion, or $1.18 per diluted common share, for the three months ended September 30, 2006, increases of 41 percent and
24 percent from $3.8 billion, or $0.95 per diluted common share, for the three months ended September 30, 2005. Net Income totaled $15.9
billion, or $3.44 per diluted common share, for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, increases of 23 percent and nine percent from $12.9
billion, or $3.16 per diluted common share, for the nine months ended September 30, 2005.

Table 1

Business Segment Total Revenue and Net Income

Three Months Ended September 30 Nine Months Ended September 30

Total Revenue Net Income Total Revenue Net Income
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Global Consumer and Small Business Banking $10443 $ 7266 $2,889 $1,842 $31,062 $21,028 $ 8,644 $ 5258
Global Corporate and Investment Banking 6,015 5,289 1,922 1,551 17,293 15,651 5,221 5,108
Global Wealth and Investment Management 1,868 1,819 553 568 5,791 5,421 1,801 1,707
All Other 635 (25) 52 (120) 1,280 770 211 818
Total FTE basis 18,961 14,349 5,416 3,841 55,426 42,870 15,877 12,891
FTE adjustment (308) (198) (868) (589)
Total Consolidated $18,653 $14,151 $5416 $3.841 $54,558 $42,281 $15,877 $12.891

(DTotal revenue for the segments and A/l Other is on a fully taxable-equivalent (FTE) basis. For more information on a FTE basis, see Supplemental Financial
Data beginning on page 43.
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Global Consumer and Small Business Banking

Net Income increased $1.0 billion, or 57 percent, to $2.9 billion for the three months ended September 30, 2006. Total Revenue increased $3.2
billion, or 44 percent, to $10.4 billion for the three months ended September 30, 2006 compared to the same period in 2005. Driving the increase
was the impact of the MBNA merger, which contributed to increases in Card Income and Net Interest Income. Also impacting Net Income was
organic growth in Loans and Leases. Partially offsetting these changes was higher Noninterest Expense primarily driven by the acquisition of
MBNA.

Net Income increased $3.4 billion, or 64 percent, to $8.6 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. Total Revenue increased $10.0
billion, or 48 percent, to $31.1 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to the same period in 2005. Driving the increase
was the impact of the MBNA merger and organic growth which was partially offset by higher Noninterest Expense and Provision for Credit
Losses. For more information on Global Consumer and Small Business Banking, see page 52.

Global Corporate and Investment Banking

Net Income increased $371 million, or 24 percent, to $1.9 billion and $113 million, or two percent, to $5.2 billion for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in the prior year. Total Revenue increased $726 million, or 14 percent, to $6.0 billion
and $1.6 billion, or 10 percent, to $17.3 billion for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, driven primarily by the $720 million
gain (pre-tax) on the sale of our Brazilian operations. Also impacting the increase in Total Revenue was higher Trading Account Profits of $140
million and $1.1 billion for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in the prior year. Offsetting these
increases were spread compression in the loan portfolios and lower Asset Liability Management (ALM) allocation which adversely impacted
Net Interest Income. In addition, the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was impacted by increases in Provision for Credit Losses and
Noninterest Expense. For more information on Global Corporate and Investment Banking, see page 61.

Global Wealth and Investment Management

Net Income decreased $15 million, or three percent, to $553 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. The decrease was due to
higher Noninterest Expense resulting from higher personnel and incentive based compensation primarily reflecting growth in Global Wealth and
Investment Management workforce. Partially offsetting this decrease was an increase in Total Revenue of $49 million, or three percent, due
primarily to an increase in Investment and Brokerage Services.

Net Income increased $94 million, or six percent, to $1.8 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. The increase was due to higher
Total Revenue of $370 million, or seven percent, as a result of increases in Investment and Brokerage Services and Net Interest Income. Also
impacting the increase in Net Income was a credit loss recovery. Partially offsetting these increases was higher Noninterest Expense of $212
million or eight percent due primarily to higher personnel related costs.

Total assets under management increased $34.7 billion to $517.1 billion at September 30, 2006 compared to December 31, 2005. For more
information on Global Wealth and Investment Management, see page 67.

All Other
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Net Income increased $172 million to $52 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. Total Revenue increased $660 million driven
primarily by an increase in other income of $557 million. Offsetting this increase were Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities of $(483)
million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 compared to $13 million for the same period in 2005.

Net Income decreased $607 million to $211 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. This decrease was primarily a result of
lower Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities which were $(497) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to $847
million for the same period in 2005. For more information on All Other, see page 71.
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Financial Highlights

Net Interest Income

Net Interest Income on a FTE basis increased $961 million to $8.9 billion and $3.4 billion to $26.9 billion for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in 2005. The primary drivers of the increase were the impact of the MBNA merger, organic
loan growth, and increases in ALM activities including increased portfolio balances, wholesale funding activity, and the impact of rates. These
increases were partially offset by lower core deposit levels, excluding the impact of MBNA. The net interest yield on a FTE basis decreased 5
basis points (bps) to 2.73 percent for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and was flat at 2.85 percent for the nine months ended
September 30, 2006. Loan spreads continued to tighten due to the flat yield curve and heightened competition. Deposits spreads widened slightly
as we effectively managed pricing in a rising interest rate environment. The current year results were also positively impacted by wider margins
associated with the MBNA credit card portfolios. For more information on Net Interest Income on a FTE basis, see Tables 8 and 9 on pages 47
to 49.

Table 2
Noninterest Income
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30 September 30
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005
Service charges $ 2,147 $2,080 $ 6,125 $ 5,777
Investment and brokerage services 1,085 1,060 3,334 3,122
Mortgage banking income 189 180 415 590
Investment banking income 510 522 1,623 1,319
Equity investment gains 705 713 2,122 1,691
Card income 3,473 1,520 10,566 4,246
Trading account profits 731 557 2,706 1,464
Other income 1,227 (216) 1,675 1,194
Total noninterest income $ 10,067 $6,416 $ 28,566 $ 19,403

Noninterest Income increased $3.7 billion to $10.1 billion and $9.2 billion to $28.6 billion for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2006 compared to the same periods in 2005, due primarily to the following:

Service Charges grew $67 million and $348 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 due to increased
non-sufficient funds fees and overdraft charges, account service charges, and ATM fees resulting from new account growth.

Investment and Brokerage Services increased $25 million and $212 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006
primarily reflecting record levels of assets under management.

Mortgage Banking Income was relatively flat and decreased $175 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006. The
decrease for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, was driven primarily by weaker production income driven by lower volumes
sold and margin compression in addition to a strategic shift to retain a larger portion of mortgage production.

Investment Banking Income was relatively flat and increased $304 million for the three and nine months September 30, 2006. The
increase for the nine months was due to higher market activity and continued leadership in the leveraged debt underwriting market.
Equity Investment Gains was relatively flat and increased $431 million for the three and nine months September 30, 2006.

The increase for the nine months was driven by favorable market conditions and increased liquidity in the capital markets.

Card Income increased $2.0 billion and $6.3 billion for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 primarily due to the
addition of MBNA and higher debit card income.

Trading Account Profits increased $174 million and $1.2 billion for the three and nine months September 30, 2006 due to

increased capital markets activity, and previous investments in personnel and trading infrastructure coming to fruition.
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Other Income increased $1.4 billion and $481 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 primarily related to the
$720 million (pre-tax) gain on the sale of our Brazilian operations. Also impacting the third quarter comparison, was the negative
impact to 2005 of the change in the value of derivatives of $(418) million used as economic hedges that did not qualify for Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended (SFAS
133) hedge accounting treatment.

Provision for Credit Losses

The Provision for Credit Losses was relatively flat at $1.2 billion and increased $826 million to $3.4 billion for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in 2005. Provision expense rose due to increases from the addition of MBNA and the absence
of prior year releases of commercial credit reserves. These increases were partially offset by reduced credit-related costs on the domestic credit
card portfolio.

For more information on credit quality, see Credit Risk Management beginning on page 77.

Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities

Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 were $(469) million and $(464) million

compared to $29 million and $1.0 billion for the same periods in 2005. These decreases were primarily due to a loss on the sale of

mortgage-backed securities during the quarter. The decrease for the nine month period was also impacted by gains recorded on the sales of

mortgage-backed securities in 2005. For more information on Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities, see Interest Rate Risk Management
Securities beginning on page 99.

Table 3
Noninterest Expense
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30 September 30
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005
Personnel $4,474 $3,837 $ 13,767 $ 11,209
Occupancy 696 638 2,100 1,889
Equipment 318 300 978 894
Marketing 587 307 1,713 990
Professional fees 259 254 710 647
Amortization of intangibles 441 201 1,322 613
Data processing 426 361 1,245 1,093
Telecommunications 237 206 685 608
Other general operating 1,156 1,061 3,423 3,065
Merger and restructuring charges 269 120 561 353
Total noninterest expense $ 8,863 $7,285 $ 26,504 $21,361

Noninterest Expense increased $1.6 billion to $8.9 billion and $5.1 billion to $26.5 billion for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2006 compared to the same periods in 2005, due to the acquisition of MBNA as well as the following:

Personnel expense increased $637 million and $2.6 billion for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 due to the
acquisition of MBNA and higher revenue-related incentive compensation expense. Additionally, incremental stock-based compensation
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granted to retirement-eligible employees increased Personnel expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

Marketing expense increased $280 million and $723 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 due to the
acquisition of MBNA and higher marketing spending related to consumer banking initiatives.

Amortization of Intangibles expense increased $240 million and $709 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006
as the above mentioned MBNA merger increased purchased credit card relationships, affinity relationships, core deposit intangibles and
other intangibles.

Income Tax Expense

Income Tax Expense was $2.7 billion, an effective tax rate of 33.6 percent, for the three months ended September 30, 2006 compared to $1.9
billion and 33.0 percent for the three months ended September 30, 2005. Income Tax
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Expense was $8.3 billion, an effective tax rate of 34.3 percent, for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to $6.4 billion and 33.3
percent for the nine months ended September 30, 2005. The increase in the effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2006 was
primarily due to the January 1, 2006 addition of MBNA. The addition of MBNA, as well as the second quarter charge to Income Tax Expense
arising from the change in tax legislation discussed below, drove the increase for the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

During the second quarter of 2006, the President signed into law the Tax Increase Prevention and Reconciliation Act of 2005 (TIPRA). Among
other things, TIPRA repealed certain provisions of prior law relating to transactions entered into under the extraterritorial income and foreign
sales corporation regimes. The TIPRA repeal results in an increase in the U.S. taxes expected to be paid on certain of the income earned from
such transactions after December 31, 2006. Accounting for the change in law resulted in the discrete recognition of a $175 million charge to
Income Tax Expense during the second quarter of 2006.
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(Dollars in millions, except per share

information)

Income statement

Net interest income

Noninterest income

Total revenue

Provision for credit losses

Gains (losses) on sales of debt securities
Noninterest expense

Income before income taxes

Income tax expense

Net income

Average common shares issued and
outstanding (in thousands)

Average diluted common shares issued
and outstanding (in thousands)
Performance ratios

Return on average assets

Return on average common shareholders
equity

Total ending equity to total ending assets
Total average equity to total average
assets

Dividend payout

Per common share data

Earnings

Diluted earnings

Dividends paid

Book value

Average balance sheet

Total loans and leases

Total assets

Total deposits

Long-term debt

Common shareholders equity

Total shareholders equity

Capital ratios (period end)
Risk-based capital:

Tier 1

Total

Tier 1 Leverage

Market price per share of common
stock

Closing

High closing

Low closing
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Table 4

Selected Quarterly Financial Data

Third

$ 8,586
10,067
18,653

1,165

(469)

8,863
8,156
2,740
5,416

4,499,704
4,570,558
1.43

16.64
9.22

8.63
46.82

$ 1.20
1.18
0.56

29.52

$ 673,477
1,497,987
676,351
136,769
129,098

129,262

8.48
11.46

6.16

$ 53.57
53.57

47.98

%

%

2006 Quarters

Second

$ 8,630
9,598
18,228
1,005

©

8,717
8,497
3,022
5,475

4,534,627
4,601,169
1.51

17.26
8.85

8.75
41.76

$ 1.21
1.19
0.50

28.17

$ 635,649
1,456,004
674,796
125,620
127,102

127,373

8.33
11.25

6.13

$ 48.10
50.47

45.48

%

%

First

$ 8,776
8,901
17,677
1,270

14

8,924

7,497

2,511
4,986

4,609,481
4,666,405
1.43

15.44
9.41

9.26
46.75

$ 1.08
1.07
0.50

28.19

$ 615,968
1,416,373
659,821
117,018
130,881

131,153

8.45
11.32

6.18

$ 45.54
47.08

43.09

2005 Quarters

Fourth Third
$ 7,859 $ 7,735
5,951 6,416
13,810 14,151
1,400 1,159
71 29
7,320 7,285
5,161 5,736
1,587 1,895
3,574 3,841
3,996,024 4,000,573
4,053,859 4,054,659
% 1.09 % 1.18
14.21 15.09
7.86 8.12
7.66 7.82
56.24 52.60
$ 0.89 $ 0.96
0.88 0.95
0.50 0.50
25.32 25.28
$ 563,589 $ 539,497
1,305,057 1,294,754
628,922 632,771
99,601 98,326
99,677 100,974
99,948 101,246
% 825 % 8.27
11.08 11.19
591 5.90
$ 46.15 $ 42.10
46.99 45.98
41.57 41.60

%

%
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Table 5

Selected Year-to-Date Financial Data

(Dollars in millions, except per share information)
Income statement

Net interest income

Noninterest income

Total revenue

Provision for credit losses

Gains (losses) on sales of debt securities
Noninterest expense

Income before income taxes

Income tax expense

Net income

Average common shares issued and outstanding (in thousands)
Average diluted common shares issued and outstanding (in thousands)
Performance ratios

Return on average assets

Return on average common shareholders equity
Total ending equity to total ending assets
Total average equity to total average assets
Dividend payout

Per common share data

Earnings

Diluted earnings

Dividends paid

Book value

Average balance sheet

Total loans and leases

Total assets

Total deposits

Long-term debt

Common shareholders equity

Total shareholders equity

Assets

At September 30, 2006, Total Assets were $1.4 trillion, an increase of $157.4 billion, or 12 percent, from December 31, 2005. Average Total
Assets for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 increased $203.2 billion and $199.0 billion, or 16 percent increases, compared
to the same periods in 2005. Growth in period end and average Total Assets was primarily attributable to the MBNA acquisition. In addition,
growth in Loans and Leases was also attributable to organic growth, including retained mortgage production resulting from a strategic decision

Nine Months Ended September 30

2006

$ 25992
28,566
54,558

3,440

(464)

26,504
24,150
8,273
15,877
4,547,693
4,614,599

1.46
16.44
9.22
8.87
45.05

$ 349
3.44

1.56

29.52

$ 641,909
1,457,087
670,552
126,541
129,020
129,256

2005

$ 22878
19,403
42,281

2,614
1,013
21,361
19,319
6,428
12,891
4,012,924
4,072,991

% 1.37
17.29

8.12

7.94

43.94

$ 3.21
3.16

1.40

25.28

$ 528,331
1,258,041
633,614
97,072
99,561
99,832

%

made by the Corporation at the beginning of the second quarter of 2006 to retain a larger share of mortgage production and bulk purchases of
primarily residential mortgages and auto loans. Period end Other Assets includes $35.9 billion of broker receivables related to the sale of

securities that was not settled as of September 30, 2006.

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity
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At September 30, 2006, Total Liabilities were $1.3 trillion, an increase of $125.3 billion, or 11 percent, from December 31, 2005. Average Total
Liabilities for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 increased $175.2 billion and $169.6 billion, or 15 percent increases,
compared to the same periods in 2005. Growth in period end and average Total Liabilities was attributable to increases in Deposits and
Long-term Debt due to the assumption of liabilities in connection with the MBNA merger and the net issuances of Long-term Debt.

Period end and average Shareholders Equity increased primarily from the issuance of stock related to the MBNA merger.
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Supplemental Financial Data

Table 6 provides a reconciliation of the supplemental financial data mentioned below with financial measures defined by accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (GAAP). Other companies may define or calculate supplemental financial data differently.

Operating Basis Presentation

In managing our business, we may at times look at performance excluding certain non-recurring items. For example, as an alternative to Net
Income, we view results on an operating basis, which represents Net Income excluding Merger and Restructuring Charges. The operating basis
of presentation is not defined by GAAP. We believe that the exclusion of Merger and Restructuring Charges, which represent events outside our
normal operations, provides a meaningful period-to-period comparison and is more reflective of normalized operations.

Net Interest Income FTE Basis

In addition, we view Net Interest Income and related ratios and analysis (i.e., efficiency ratio, net interest yield and operating leverage) on a FTE
basis. Although this is a non-GAAP measure, we believe managing the business with Net Interest Income on a FTE basis provides a more
accurate picture of the interest margin for comparative purposes. To derive the FTE basis, Net Interest Income is adjusted to reflect tax-exempt
income on an equivalent before-tax basis with a corresponding increase in Income Tax Expense. For purposes of this calculation, we use the
federal statutory tax rate of 35 percent. This measure ensures comparability of Net Interest Income arising from taxable and tax-exempt sources.

Performance Measures

As mentioned above, certain performance measures including the efficiency ratio, net interest yield and operating leverage utilize Net Interest
Income (and thus Total Revenue) on a FTE basis. The efficiency ratio measures the costs expended to generate a dollar of revenue, and net
interest yield evaluates how many basis points we are earning over the cost of funds. Operating leverage measures the total percentage revenue
growth minus the total percentage expense growth for the corresponding period. During our annual integrated planning process, we set operating
leverage and efficiency targets for the Corporation and each line of business. Targets vary by year and by business, and are based on a variety of
factors including maturity of the business, investment appetite, competitive environment, market factors, and other items (e.g., risk appetite).
The aforementioned performance measures and ratios, earnings per common share (EPS), return on average assets, and dividend payout ratio, as
well as those measures discussed more fully below, are presented in Table 6.

Return on Average Common Shareholders Equity and Shareholder Value Added

We also evaluate our business based upon return on average common shareholders equity (ROE) and shareholder value added (SVA) measures.
ROE and SVA utilize non-GAAP allocation methodologies. ROE measures the earnings contribution of a unit as a percentage of the
Shareholders Equity allocated to that unit. SVA is defined as cash basis earnings on an operating basis less a charge for the use of capital. These
measures are used to evaluate our use of equity (i.e., capital) at the individual unit level and are integral components in the analytics for resource
allocation. Using SVA as a performance measure places specific focus on whether incremental investments generate returns in excess of the
costs of capital associated with those investments. Investments and initiatives are analyzed using SVA during the annual planning process for
maximizing allocation of corporate resources. In addition, profitability, relationship, and investment models all use ROE and SVA as key
measures to support our overall growth goal.
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Table 6

Supplemental Financial Data and Reconciliations to GAAP Financial Measures

(Dollars in millions, except per share information)
Operating basis (U

Operating earnings

Operating earnings per common share

Diluted operating earnings per common share
Shareholder value added

Return on average assets

Return on average common shareholders equity
Operating efficiency ratio (FTE basis)

Dividend payout ratio

Operating leverage

FTE basis data

Net interest income

Total revenue

Net interest yield

Efficiency ratio

Reconciliation of net income to operating earnings

Net income

Merger and restructuring charges

Related income tax benefit

Operating earnings

Reconciliation of EPS to operating EPS

Earnings per common share

Effect of merger and restructuring charges, net of tax benefit
Operating earnings per common share

Reconciliation of diluted EPS to diluted operating EPS
Diluted earnings per common share

Effect of merger and restructuring charges, net of tax benefit
Diluted operating earnings per common share
Reconciliation of net income to shareholder value added
Net income

Amortization of intangibles

Merger and restructuring charges, net of tax benefit

Cash basis earnings on an operating basis

Capital charge

Shareholder value added

Reconciliation of return on average assets to operating return on

average assets

Return on average assets

Effect of merger and restructuring charges, net of tax benefit
Operating return on average assets

Reconciliation of return on average common shareholders equity

to operating return on average common shareholders equity
Return on average common shareholders equity

Effect of merger and restructuring charges, net of tax benefit
Operating return on average common shareholders equity
Reconciliation of efficiency ratio to operating efficiency ratio
(FTE basis)

Efficiency ratio

Effect of merger and restructuring charges

Operating efficiency ratio

Reconciliation of dividend payout ratio to operating dividend
payout ratio

Dividend payout ratio

Effect of merger and restructuring charges, net of tax benefit
Operating dividend payout ratio
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$

$

$

$
$
$

Three Months Ended
September 30
2006 2005
5,585 $ 3921
1.24 0.98
1.22 0.97
2,446 1,323
148 % 1.20
17.16 15.39
45.33 49.92
45.40 51.52
10.45 1.01
8,894 $ 7,933
18,961 14,349
273 % 2.78
46.75 50.76
5,416 $ 3,841
269 120
(100) (40)
5,585 $ 3921
1.20 $ 096
0.04 0.02
1.24 $ 098
1.18 $ 095
0.04 0.02
1.22 $ 097
5,416 $ 3,841
441 201
169 80
6,026 4,122
3,580 2,799
2,446 $ 1,323
143 % 1.18
0.05 0.02
148 % 1.20
16.64 % 15.09
0.52 0.30
17.16 % 15.39
46.75 % 50.76
(1.42) (0.84)
4533 % 49.92
46.82 % 52.60
(1.42) (1.08)
4540 % 51.52

%o

%

%

%

%

%

Nine Months Ended
September 30
2006 2005
$ 16,230 $ 13,126
3.57 3.27
3.52 3.22
6,937 5,548
149 % 140 %
16.81 17.61
46.81 49.00
44.07 43.15
5.80 11.25
$ 26,860 $ 23,467
55,426 42,870
285 % 285 %
47.82 49.83
$ 15,877 $ 12,891
561 353
(208) (118)
$ 16,230 $13,126
$ 349 $ 321
0.08 0.06
$ 357 $ 327
$ 34 $ 3.16
0.08 0.06
$ 352 $ 322
$ 15,877 $12,891
1,322 613
353 235
17,552 13,739
10,615 8,191
$ 6,937 $ 5,548
146 % 137 %
0.03 0.03
149 % 140 %
1644 % 1729 %
0.37 0.32
16.81 % 17.61 %
4782 % 4983 %
(1.01) (0.83)
4681 % 49.00 %
45.05 % 4394 %
(0.98) (0.79)
44.07 % 43.15 %
140
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Reconciliation of operating leverage to operating basis operating

leverage

Operating leverage 1217 % (0.60) % 521 % 1137 %
Effect of merger and restructuring charges (1.72) 1.61 0.59 (0.12)
Operating basis operating leverage 1045 % 1.01 % 580 % 1125 %

(D Operating basis excludes Merger and Restructuring Charges which were $269 million and $120 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and
2005, and $561 million and $353 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.
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Core Net Interest Income Managed Basis

In managing our business, we review core net interest income on a managed basis, which adjusts reported Net Interest Income on a FTE basis

for the impact of market-based activities and certain securitizations. These securitizations include off-balance sheet Loans and Leases,
specifically those loans in revolving securitizations and other securitizations where servicing is retained by the Corporation (e.g., credit card and
home equity lines). As discussed in the Global Corporate and Investment Banking business segment section beginning on page 61, we evaluate

our market-based results and strategies on a total market-based revenue approach by combining Net Interest Income and Noninterest Income for

the Capital Markets and Advisory Services business. We also adjust for loans that we originated and sold into certain securitizations. Noninterest
Income, rather than Net Interest Income and Provision for Credit Losses, is recorded for assets that have been securitized as we are compensated

for servicing the securitized assets and record servicing income and gains or losses on securitizations, where appropriate. An analysis of core net
interest income managed basis, core average earning assets managed basis and core net interest yield on earning assets managed basis, which
adjusts for the impact of these two non-core items from reported Net Interest Income on a FTE basis, is shown below.

Table 7

Core Net Interest Income Managed Basis

Three Months Ended September 30 Nine Months Ended September 30
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005
Net interest income
As reported (FTE basis) $ 8,894 $ 7,933 $ 26,860 $ 23467
Impact of market-based net interest income (375) (453) (1,165) 1,527)
Core net interest income 8,519 7,480 25,695 21,940
Impact of securitizations 1,760 52 5,195 313
Core net interest income managed basis $ 10,279 $ 7,532 $ 30,890 $ 22,253
Average earning assets
As reported $ 1,302,366 $ 1,137,629 $ 1,258,927 $ 1,100,685
Impact of market-based earning assets (" (375,960) (335,043) (356,831) (319,856)
Core average earning assets 926,406 802,586 902,096 780,829
Impact of securitizations 98,722 7,827 97,265 9,905
Core average earning assets managed basis $ 1,025,128 $ 810413 $ 999,361 $ 790,734
Net interest yield contribution
As reported (FTE basis) 273 % 278 % 285 % 285 %
Impact of market-based activities 0.94 0.94 0.95 0.90
Core net interest yield on earning assets 3.67 3.72 3.80 3.75
Impact of securitizations 0.33 (0.01) 0.32 0.01
Core net interest yield on earning
assets managed basis 4.00 % 371 % 412 % 376 %

(DRepresents amounts from the Capital Markets and Advisory Services business within Global Corporate and Investment Banking.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Core net interest income on a managed basis increased $2.7 billion. This increase was primarily driven by the impact of the MBNA merger,
organic growth in consumer and commercial loans, and increases related to ALM activities, including increased portfolio balances and the
impact of rates. Partially offsetting these increases were lower core deposit levels, excluding the impact of MBNA, which were replaced with
higher cost, wholesale funding activity.

On a managed basis, core average earning assets increased $214.7 billion primarily due to the impact of the MBNA merger, higher ALM levels
(primarily residential mortgages), and higher levels of consumer and commercial loans from organic growth.

Core net interest yield on a managed basis increased 29 bps as a result of the impact of the MBNA merger partially offset by spread
compression. In addition, core net interest yield decreased as a result of a decline in core deposit levels, excluding the impact of MBNA, which

Table of Contents 142



Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

were replaced with higher cost, wholesale funding activity.

45

Table of Contents 143



Edgar Filing: PDC ENERGY, INC. - Form S-4

Table of Conten
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

On a managed basis, core net interest income increased $8.6 billion, core average earning assets increased $208.6 billion, and core net interest

yield increased 36 bps. These period over period changes were primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month discussion
above.
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Quarterly Average Balances and Interest Rates FTE Basis

(Dollars in millions)
Earning assets

Time deposits placed and other short-term investments
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell
Trading account assets
Securities

Loans and leases (1):
Residential mortgage
Credit card domestic
Credit card  foreign

Home equity lines
Direct/Indirect consumer
Other consumer @

Total consumer
Commercial domestic
Commercial real estate
Commercial lease financing
Commercial foreign
Total commercial

Total loans and leases
Other earning assets

Total earning assets (3

Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets, less allowance for loan and lease losses

Total assets

Interest-bearing liabilities

Domestic interest-bearing deposits:
Savings

NOW and money market deposit accounts
Consumer CDs and IRAs

Negotiable CDs, public funds and other time deposits
Total domestic interest-bearing deposits
Foreign interest-bearing deposits:

Banks located in foreign countries
Governments and official institutions
Time, savings and other

Total foreign interest-bearing deposits
Total interest-bearing deposits

Federal funds purchased, securities sold under agreements to repurchase and

other short-term borrowings
Trading account liabilities
Long-term debt

Total interest-bearing liabilities (3)

Noninterest-bearing sources:
Noninterest-bearing deposits
Other liabilities

Shareholders equity

Total liabilities and shareholders equity
Net interest spread

Impact of noninterest-bearing sources
Net interest income/yield on earning assets 4

Table of Contents

Table 8

Third Quarter 2006
Interest
Average Income/  Yield/
Balance Expense Rate
$ 15629 $ 173 4.39
173,381 2,146 4.94
146,817 1,928 5.24
236,033 3,136 5.31
222,889 3,151 5.65
62,508 2,189  13.90
9,455 286  12.02
70,075 1,351 7.65
61,361 1,193 7.74
11,075 298  10.66
437,363 8,468 7.71
153,007 2,805 7.28
37,471 724 7.67
20,875 232 4.46
24,761 454 7.27
236,114 4,215 7.09
673,477 12,683 7.49
57,029 914 6.38
1,302,366 20,980 6.41
33,495
162,126

$ 1,497,987

$ 34,268
212,690
147,607

14,105
408,670

38,588
12,801
40,444
91,833
500,503

429,882
69,462
136,769

1,136,616

176,348
55,761

129,262
$ 1,497,987

1,053
1,658

150
2,930

562
156
328
1,046
3,976

5,467
727
1,916

12,086

$ 8,894

0.81
1.96
4.46
4.19
2.84

5.78
4.83
3.22
4.52
3.15

5.05
4.15
5.60

4.23

2.18
0.55
2.73

%o

%

%

Second Quarter 2006
Interest
Average Income/  Yield/
Balance Expense  Rate
$ 16691 $ 168 405 %
179,104 1,900 425
133,556 1,712 5.13
236,967 3,162 5.34
197,228 2,731 5.54
64,980 2,168  13.38
8,305 269  12.97
67,182 1,231 7.35
56,715 1,057 7.46
10,804 294 10.95
405,214 7,750 7.66
148,445 2,695 7.28
36,749 680 741
20,896 262 5.01
24,345 456 7.52
230,435 4,093 7.12
635,649 11,843 747
51,928 808 6.24
1,253,895 19,593 6.26
35,070
167,039
$ 1,456,004
$ 35681 $ 76 0.84 %
221,198 996 1.81
141,408 1,393 3.95
13,005 123 3.80
411,292 2,588 2.52
32,456 489 6.05
13,428 155 4.63
37,178 276 2.98
83,062 920 4.44
494,354 3,508 2.85
408,734 4,842 475
61,263 596 3.90
125,620 1,721 5.48
1,089,971 10,667 3.92
180,442
58,218
127,373
$ 1,456,004
2.34
0.51
$ 8926 285 %
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(D Nonperforming loans are included in the respective average loan balances. Income on these nonperforming loans is recognized on a cash basis.

@ 1Includes consumer finance of $2.9 billion, $3.0 billion and $3.0 billion in the third, second and first quarters of 2006 and $2.9 billion and $3.1 billion in the
fourth and third quarters of 2005, respectively, and foreign consumer of $8.1 billion, $7.8 billion and $7.3 billion in the third, second and first quarters of 2006
and $3.7 billion and $3.5 billion in the fourth and third quarters of 2005, respectively.

G Interest income includes the impact of interest rate risk management contracts, which increased (decreased) interest income on the underlying assets $(128)
million, $(54) million and $8 million in the third, second and first quarters of 2006, and $29 million and $86 million in the fourth and third quarters of 2005,
respectively. Interest expense includes the impact of interest rate risk management contracts, which increased (decreased) interest expense on the underlying
liabilities $(48) million, $87 million and $136 million in the third, second and first quarters of 2006, and $254 million and $274 million in the fourth and third
quarters of 2005, respectively. For further information on interest rate contracts, see Interest Rate Risk Management beginning on page 98.

@ Interest income (FTE basis) for the three months ended June 30, 2006, does not include the cumulative tax charge resulting from a change in tax legislation
relating to extraterritorial tax income and foreign sales corporation regimes. The FTE impact to Net Interest Income and net interest yield on earning assets of
this retroactive tax adjustment is a reduction of $270 million and 9 bps, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2006. Management has excluded this
one-time impact to provide a more comparative basis of presentation for Net Interest Income and net interest yield on earning assets on a FTE basis. The impact
on any given future period is not expected to be material.
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First Quarter 2006 Fourth Quarter 2005 Third Quarter 2005
Interest Interest Interest
Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/
Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate
$ 14,347 $ 139 392 % $ 14,619 $ 132 359 % $ 14,498 $ 125 343 %
174,711 1,709 3.94 165,908 1,477 3.55 176,650 1,382 3.12
133,361 1,623 4.89 139,441 1,648 472 142,287 1,578 442
234,606 3,043 5.19 221,411 2,842 5.13 225,952 2,820 4.99
184,796 2,524 5.48 178,764 2,424 542 171,012 2,298 5.37
68,169 2,180 12.97 56,858 1,747 12.19 55,271 1,651 11.85
8,403 287 13.86
64,198 1,112 7.02 60,571 1,012 6.63 58,046 910 6.22
55,025 986 7.24 47,181 703 591 47,900 702 5.81
10,357 272 10.59 6,653 184 11.01 6,715 170 10.05
390,948 7,361 7.60 350,027 6,070 6.90 338,944 5,731 6.73
144,693 2,490 6.97 137,224 2,280 6.59 127,044 2,095 6.54
36,676 632 6.99 36,017 597 6.58 34,663 542 6.20
20,512 247 4.82 20,178 241 4.79 20,402 239 4.69
23,139 427 7.48 20,143 378 7.45 18,444 349 7.51
225,020 3,796 6.83 213,562 3,496 6.50 200,553 3,225 6.38
615,968 11,157 7.32 563,589 9,566 6.75 539,497 8,956 6.60
46,618 718 6.22 40,582 596 5.83 38,745 542 5.57
1,219,611 18,389 6.08 1,145,550 16,261 5.65 1,137,629 15,403 5.39
34,857 33,693 32,969
161,905 125,814 124,156
$1,416,373 $ 1,305,057 $ 1,294,754
$ 35,550 $ 76 087 % $ 35535 $ 68 0.76 % $ 35853 $ 56 062 %
227,606 908 1.62 224,122 721 1.28 224,341 743 1.31
135,068 1,177 3.53 120,321 1,029 3.39 130,975 1,094 3.31
8,551 70 3.30 5,085 27 2.13 4414 47 4.23
406,775 2,231 222 385,063 1,845 1.90 395,583 1,940 1.95
30,116 424 5.71 24,451 355 5.77 19,707 292 5.89
10,200 107 4.25 7,579 73 3.84 7,317 62 3.37
35,136 245 2.83 32,624 203 2.46 32,024 177 2.19
75,452 776 4.17 64,654 631 3.87 59,048 531 3.57
482,227 3,007 2.53 449,717 2,476 2.18 454,631 2,471 2.16
399,896 4,309 4.37 364,140 3,855 4.20 339,980 3,190 3.72
52,466 517 3.99 56,880 619 432 68,132 707 4.12
117,018 1,516 5.18 99,601 1,209 4.85 98,326 1,102 4.48
1,051,607 9,349 3.60 970,338 8,159 3.34 961,069 7,470 3.09
177,594 179,205 178,140
56,019 55,566 54,299
. 99,948 101,246
$1,416,373 $ 1,305,057 $ 1,294,754
2.48 2.31 2.30
0.50 0.51 0.48
$ 9,040 298 % $ 8,102 282 % $ 7,933 278 %
48
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Table 9

Year-to-date Average Balances and Interest Rates FTE Basis

(Dollars in millions)
Earning assets
Time deposits placed and other short-term investments

Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to

resell

Trading account assets
Securities

Loans and leases (1:
Residential mortgage
Credit card  domestic
Credit card  foreign
Home equity lines
Direct/Indirect consumer
Other consumer )

Total consumer
Commercial domestic
Commercial real estate
Commercial lease financing
Commercial foreign
Total commercial

Total loans and leases
Other earning assets
Total earning assets (3

Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets, less allowance for loan and lease losses

Total assets

Interest-bearing liabilities

Domestic interest-bearing deposits:

Savings

NOW and money market deposit accounts

Consumer CDs and IRAs

Negotiable CDs, public funds and other time deposits
Total domestic interest-bearing deposits

Foreign interest-bearing deposits:

Banks located in foreign countries

Governments and official institutions

Time, savings and other

Total foreign interest-bearing deposits

Total interest-bearing deposits

Federal funds purchased, securities sold under agreements to
repurchase and other short-term borrowings

Trading account liabilities

Long-term debt

Total interest-bearing liabilities (3)

Noninterest-bearing sources:
Noninterest-bearing deposits
Other liabilities

Shareholders equity

Total liabilities and shareholders equity
Net interest spread

Impact of noninterest-bearing sources
Net interest income/yield on earning assets 4

Average
Balance

$ 15,560

175,727
137,961
235,874

201,777
65,198
8,725
67,173
57,724
10,748
411,345
148,746
36,968
20,762
24,088
230,564
641,909
51,896

1,258,927
34,469

163,691
$ 1,457,087

$ 35162
220,443
141,407

11,907
408,919

33,751
12,152
37,606
83,509
492,428

412,948
61,126
126,541

1,093,043

178,124
56,664

129,256
$ 1,457,087

Nine Months Ended September 30

2006
Interest
Income/
Expense

$ 480

5,755
5,263
9,341

8,406
6,537
842
3,694
3,236
864
23,579
7,990
2,036
741
1,337
12,104
35,683
2,440

58,962

$ 221
2,957
4,228

343
7,749

1,475
418
849

2,742

10,491

14,618
1,840
5,153

32,102

$ 26,860

Yield/
Rate

4.12

4.37
5.09
5.28

5.56
13.40
12.91

7.35

749
10.73

7.66

7.18

7.36

4.76

742

7.02

7.43

6.28

6.25

0.84
1.79
4.00
3.84
2.53

5.84
4.60
3.02
4.39
2.85

4.73
4.03
5.43

3.92

2.33
0.52
2.85

Average
Balance
% $ 14,175
170,219

131,500
219,314

172,090
53,033

54,845
44,240
6,995
331,203
124,937
33,727
20,529
17,935
197,128
528,331
37,146

1,100,685
33,033

124,323
$ 1,258,041

% $ 36,961
228,936
125,755

7,463

399,115

22,437
7,363
31,261
61,061
460,176

313,692
57,962
97,072

928,902

173,438
55,869

99,832
$ 1,258,041

%

2005
Interest
Income/
Expense

$ 339

3,535
4,235
8,205

6,997
4,505

2,401
1,886
485
16,274
5,987
1,449
751
913
9,100
25,374
1,509

43,197

$ 143
2,118
3,063

223
5,547

846
164
459
1,469
7,016

7,760
1,745
3,209

19,730

$ 23,467

(D Nonperforming loans are included in the respective average loan balances. Income on these nonperforming loans is recognized on a cash basis.
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Yield/
Rate

2.77
4.30
4.99

5.43
11.36

5.85
5.70
9.24
6.56
6.41
5.75
4.88
6.81
6.17
6.42
5.43

5.24

052 %
1.24
3.26
4.00
1.86

5.04
2.99
1.96
3.22
2.04

331
4.03
441

2.84

2.40
0.45
285 %
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@1Includes consumer finance of $3.0 billion and $3.2 billion, and foreign consumer of $7.8 billion and $3.5 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2006
and 2005.

(3 Interest income includes the impact of interest rate risk management contracts, which increased (decreased) interest income on the underlying assets $(174)
million and $675 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. Interest expense includes the impact of interest rate risk management
contracts, which increased interest expense on the underlying liabilities $175 million and $1.1 billion in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.
For further information on interest rate contracts, see Interest Rate Risk Management beginning on page 98.

@ Interest income (FTE basis) for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, does not include the cumulative tax charge resulting from a change in tax legislation
relating to extraterritorial tax income and foreign sales corporation regimes. The FTE impact to Net Interest Income and net interest yield on earning assets of
this retroactive tax adjustment is a reduction of $270 million and 3 bps, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. Management has excluded
this one-time impact to provide a more comparative basis of presentation for Net Interest Income and net interest yield on earning assets on a FTE basis. The
impact on any given future periods is not expected to be material.
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Business Segment Operations

Segment Description

The Corporation reports the results of its operations through three business segments: Global Consumer and Small Business Banking, Global
Corporate and Investment Banking, and Global Wealth and Investment Management. All Other consists of equity investment activities including
Principal Investing and Corporate and Strategic Investments, the residual impact of the allowance for credit losses and the cost allocation
processes, Merger and Restructuring Charges, intersegment eliminations, and the results of certain consumer finance and commercial lending
businesses that are being liquidated. A/l Other also includes certain amounts associated with ALM activities, including the residual impact of
funds transfer pricing allocation methodologies, amounts associated with the change in the value of derivatives used as economic hedges of
interest rate and foreign exchange rate fluctuations that do not qualify for SFAS 133 hedge accounting treatment, gains or losses on sales of
whole mortgage loans, and Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities.

Basis of Presentation

We prepare and evaluate segment results using certain non-GAAP methodologies and performance measures, many of which are discussed in
Supplemental Financial Data on page 43. We begin by evaluating the operating results of the businesses, which by definition excludes Merger
and Restructuring Charges. The segment results also reflect certain revenue and expense methodologies, which are utilized to determine
operating income. The Net Interest Income of the businesses includes the results of a funds transfer pricing process that matches assets and
liabilities with similar interest rate sensitivity and maturity characteristics.

The management accounting reporting process derives segment and business results by utilizing allocation methodologies for revenue, expense,
and capital. The Net Income derived for the businesses are dependent upon revenue and cost allocations using an activity-based costing model,
funds transfer pricing, other methodologies, and assumptions management believes are appropriate to reflect the results of the business.

The Corporation s ALM activities maintain an overall interest rate risk management strategy that incorporates the use of interest rate contracts to
minimize significant fluctuations in earnings that are caused by interest rate volatility. The Corporation s goal is to manage interest rate
sensitivity so that movements in interest rates do not significantly adversely affect Net Interest Income. The results of the business segments will
fluctuate based on the performance of corporate ALM activities. Some ALM activities are recorded in the businesses (i.e., Deposits) such as
external product pricing decisions, including deposit pricing strategies, as well as the effects of our internal funds transfer pricing process and
other ALM actions such as portfolio positioning. These activities are reported in each of the Corporation s segments under ALM/Other. In
addition, any residual effect of the funds transfer pricing process is retained in All Other.

Certain allocation methodologies are utilized for expenses as well. An example, specifically with regard to cost allocation, is where banking
center costs are not only allocated to various consumer businesses (i.e., Deposits, Mortgage, Card Services, etc.) that utilize the banking center,
but also are allocated to businesses in other segments such as Treasury Services within Global Corporate and Investment Banking. A discussion
of the Corporation s allocation methodologies is presented as part of Business Segment Operations on page 16 of Management s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Corporation s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 25, 2006.

Certain expenses not directly attributable to a specific business segment are allocated to the segments based on pre-determined means. The most
significant of these expenses include data processing costs, item processing costs and certain centralized or shared functions. Data processing
costs are allocated to the segments based on equipment usage. Item processing costs are allocated to the segments based on the volume of items
processed for each segment. The costs of certain centralized or shared functions are allocated based on methodologies which reflect utilization.

Equity is allocated to business segments and related businesses using a risk-adjusted methodology incorporating each unit s credit, market and
operational risk components. The nature of these risks is discussed further beginning on page 77. ROE is calculated by dividing annualized Net
Income by average allocated equity. SVA is defined as cash basis earnings on an operating basis less a charge for the use of capital (i.e., equity).
Cash basis earnings on an operating basis is defined as Net
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Income adjusted to exclude Merger and Restructuring Charges and Amortization of Intangibles. The charge for capital is calculated by
multiplying 11 percent (management s estimate of the shareholders minimum required rate of return on capital invested) by average total
common shareholders equity at the corporate level and by average allocated equity at the business segment level. Average equity is allocated to
the business level using a methodology identical to that used in the ROE calculation. Management reviews the estimate of the rate used to
calculate the capital charge annually. The Capital Asset Pricing Model is used to estimate our cost of capital.

See Note 14 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional business segment information, selected financial information for the
business segments and reconciliations to consolidated Total Revenue and Net Income amounts.
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Global Consumer and Small Business Banking

(Dollars in millions)
Net interest income ?®

Noninterest income
Service charges

Mortgage banking income
Card income

All other income

Total noninterest income
Total revenue

Provision for credit losses

Gains (losses) on sales of debt
securities
Noninterest expense

. 2
Income before income taxes @

Income tax expense (benefit)

Net income

Shareholder value added

Net interest yield @
Return on average equity

Efficiency ratio @

Period end total assets’

(Dollars in millions)

Net interest income @
Noninterest income
Service charges

Mortgage banking income
Card income

All other income

Total noninterest income

Total revenue

Provision for credit losses
Gains (losses) on sales of debt
securities

Noninterest expense

. @
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense

Net income

Table of Contents

Total
$ 5243

1,410
215
3,262
313
5,200
10,443

1,144

4,730
4,569
1,680
$ 2,889

$ 1,542
6.33
18.42
45.31

$ 394,920

Total
$ 4238

1,386
230
1,344
68
3,028
7,266

1,107

(€]
3,255
2,903
1,061
$ 1,842

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006

Deposits
$ 2,463

1,410

501

1,911
4,374

51

2,267
2,056

756

$ 1,300

$ 966

% 2.93
33.96

51.85

$ 345,940

Deposits
$ 2,182

1,386

404

1,790
3,972

38

2,026
1,908

698

$ 1210

%

Card
Services 1)

$ 2,224

2,761

345
3,106
5,330

1,032

1,956
2,342

862

$ 1,480

$ 540
8.92
13.20
36.68

$ 138,161

Card
Services (1

$ 1,306

940

943
2,249

1,010

732
507
185
$ 322

Mortgage
$ 150

192

12
204
354

253

95

35

$ 60

$ 6

% 1.79
12.21

71.72

$ 38,206

Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Mortgage
$ 194

209

213
407

252
147
54

Home
Equity

$ 351

23

23
374

11

169

194

71

$ 123

$ 80

% 2.40
31.44

45.16

$ 59,700

Home
Equity

$ 333

21

21
354

159
186
69
$ 117

%

ALM/Other
$ 55

(44)
(44)
11

44

85
(118)
(44)
$ 79

ALM/Other
$ 223

61
61
284

42

ey

86

155

55

$ 100
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Shareholder value added $ 1,177
Net interest yield @ 5.61
Return on average equity 25.23
Efficiency ratio @ 44.80
Period end total assets’ $ 326,926

(1) Card Services presented on a held view.

(2)Fully taxable-equivalent basis

%

$ 879
2.77
32.10
51.03

$ 327,975

(3 Total Assets include asset allocations to match liabilities (i.e., deposits).

n/m= not meaningful

Table of Contents
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%

$ 58
9.00
11.14
32.53

$ 63,055

%

2.00
21.04
61.94

$ 44,606

%

2.71
40.55
44.77

$ 49,653

%

109
n/m
n/m
n/m

n/m
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Global Consumer and Small Business Banking

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006

Card
Services Home
(Dollars in millions) Total Deposits 1) Mortgage Equity ALM/Other
Net interest income ) $ 15,788 $ 7279 $ 6,535 $ 445 $ 1,029 $ 500
Noninterest income
Service charges 3,949 3,949
Mortgage banking income 630 567 63
Card income 9,983 1,406 8,577
All other income 712 917 33 (238)
Total noninterest income 15,274 5,355 9,494 600 63 (238)
Total revenue @ 31,062 12,634 16,029 1,045 1,092 262
Provision for credit losses 3,420 109 3,142 15 31 123
Gains (losses) on sales of debt
securities (€} @
Noninterest expense 13,957 6,693 5,816 724 480 244
Income before income taxes 13,684 5,832 7,071 306 581 (106)
Income tax expense (benefit) 5,040 2,148 2,604 113 214 39)
Net income $ 8,644 $ 3,084 $ 4467 $ 193 $ 367 $ (67
Shareholder value added $ 4,546 $ 2,701 $ 1,656 $ 38 $ 253 $ (102
Net interest yield © 6.40 % 291 % 8.95 % 177 % 248 % n/m
Return on average equity 18.16 32.57 13.33 13.64 35.50 n/m
Efficiency ratio 44.93 52.98 36.28 69.36 43.98 n/m
Period end  total assets $ 394,920 $ 345,940 $ 138,161 $ 38,206 $ 59,700 n/m
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005
Card Home
(Dollars in millions) Total Deposits Services (D Mortgage Equity ALM/Other
Net interest income @ $ 12,555 $ 6,202 $ 3,671 $ 574 $ 958 $ 1,150
Noninterest income
Service charges 3,734 3,734
Mortgage banking income 741 681 60
Card income 3,760 1,140 2,620
All other income 238 50 13 175
Total noninterest income 8,473 4,874 2,670 694 60 175
Total revenue 21,028 11,076 6,341 1,268 1,018 1,325
Provision for credit losses 2,973 50 2,808 15 27 73
Gains (losses) on sales of debt
securities ) )
Noninterest expense 9,839 6,026 2,257 785 502 269
Income before income taxes 8,214 5,000 1,276 468 489 981
Income tax expense 2,956 1,803 458 169 177 349
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Net income $ 5,258 $ 3,197
Shareholder value added $ 3,297 $ 2217
Net interest yield © 5.61 % 269 %
Return on average equity 24.29 28.51
Efficiency ratio 46.79 54.41
Period end total assets’ $ 326,926 $327.975

() Card Services presented on a held view.

(2 Fully taxable-equivalent basis

(3 Total Assets include asset allocations to match liabilities (i.e., deposits).

n/m= not meaningful
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$ 818
$ 71
8.91

9.88
35.59

$ 63,055

%

$ 299

$ 163
2.05
23.84
61.92

$ 44,606

%

$ 312

$ 222
2.74
37.82
49.26
$49,653

%

632

624
n/m
n/m
n/m

n/m
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Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30 September 30
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005
Average
Total loans and leases $ 193,845 $ 145,726 $ 189,378 $ 142,267
Total earning assets "’ 328,861 299,770 329,612 299,244
Total assets "’ 390,895 326,869 392,256 326,490
Total deposits 330,368 310,530 331,546 305,924
Allocated equity 62,239 28,968 63,628 28,946

September 30

2006 2005

Period End
Total loans and leases $ 195,728 $ 147,714
Total earning assets 331,734 299,378
Total assets "’ 394,920 326,926
Total deposits 330,789 313,059

(1) Total earning assets and Total Assets include asset allocations to match liabilities (i.e., deposits).

The strategy of Global Consumer and Small Business Banking is to attract, retain and deepen customer relationships. We achieve this strategy
through our ability to offer a wide range of products and services through a franchise that stretches coast to coast through 30 states and the
District of Columbia. With the recent acquisition of MBNA, we also provide credit card products to customers in Canada, Ireland, Spain, and the
United Kingdom. We serve more than 55 million consumer and small business relationships utilizing our network of 5,722 banking centers,
16,846 domestic branded ATMs, and telephone and Internet channels. Within Global Consumer and Small Business Banking, there are four
primary businesses: Deposits, Card Services, Mortgage, and Home Equity. In addition, ALM/Other includes the results of ALM activities and
other consumer-related businesses (e.g., insurance).

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $1.0 billion to $2.9 billion compared to the same period in 2005. Net Interest Income increased $1.0 billion, or 24 percent,
compared to the same period in 2005. The increase in Net Interest Income was primarily due to the MBNA acquisition and organic growth
which increased Average Loans and Leases.

Noninterest Income increased $2.2 billion, or 72 percent, compared to the same period in 2005, primarily due to increases of $1.9 billion in Card
Income and $245 million in all other income. Card Income increased primarily due to increases in excess servicing income, interchange income,
and cash advance fees due to the impact of the MBNA acquisition. All other income increased primarily as a result of the MBNA merger and the
sale of a portion of our Merchant Services business.

Noninterest Expense increased $1.5 billion, or 45 percent, compared to the same period in 2005. The primary driver of the increase was the
MBNA acquisition, which increased, among other line items, Personnel, Marketing and Amortization of Intangibles.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $3.4 billion to $8.6 billion compared to the same period in 2005. The increase to Net Income was primarily due to an
increase in Net Interest Income of $3.2 billion and an increase to Noninterest Income of $6.8 billion that was partially offset by an increase in
Noninterest Expense of $4.1 billion. These period over period changes were primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month
discussion above. Service Charges also increased for the period due to new account growth and increased usage.

In addition, the Provision for Credit Losses increased $447 million, or 15 percent, to $3.4 billion compared to the same period in 2005, primarily
resulting from an increase in Card Services mainly driven by the MBNA merger. For further discussion of this increase in the Provision for
Credit Losses related to Card Services, see the Card Services discussion beginning on page 55.
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Deposits

Deposits provides a comprehensive range of products to consumers and small businesses. Our products include traditional savings accounts,
money market savings accounts, CDs and IRAs, and regular and interest-checking accounts. Debit cards are also included in Deposits.

Deposit products provide a relatively stable source of funding and liquidity. We earn net interest spread revenues from investing this liquidity in
earning assets through client facing lending activity and our ALM activities. The revenue is attributed to the deposit products using our funds
transfer pricing process which takes into account the interest rates and maturity characteristics of the deposits. Deposits also generate various
account fees such as non-sufficient fund fees, overdraft charges and account service fees while debit cards generate interchange fees.
Interchange fees are volume based and paid by merchants to have the debit transaction processed.

We added approximately 744,000 net new retail checking accounts and 284,000 net new retail savings accounts in the third quarter of 2006. We
added approximately 2,048,000 net new retail checking accounts and 1,159,000 net new retail savings accounts in the first nine months of 2006.
These additions resulted from continued improvement in sales and service results in the Banking Center Channel, the introduction of certain
products such as Keep the Change™ and the success of focused marketing efforts.

The Corporation migrates qualifying affluent customers, and their related deposit balances and associated Net Interest Income from the Global
Consumer and Small Business Banking segment to Global Wealth and Investment Management. The total cumulative average impact of
migrated balances was $49.2 billion and $47.8 billion for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, compared to $41.5 billion and
$37.7 billion for the same periods in 2005.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $90 million, or seven percent, compared to the same period in 2005. The increase in Net Income was driven by an
increase in Total Revenue of $402 million, or 10 percent, compared to the same period in 2005. Driving this growth was an increase of $281
million, or 13 percent, in Net Interest Income resulting from an increase in deposit spreads and higher deposit levels. Deposit spreads increased
18 bps to 3.00 percent, compared to the same period in the prior year, as we effectively managed pricing in a rising interest rate environment.
Average deposits increased $19.8 billion, or six percent, compared to the same period in 2005, primarily due to the MBNA acquisition. Partially
offsetting the increase in deposits was the migration of deposit balances to Global Wealth and Investment Management. Noninterest Income
increased $121 million, or seven percent, driven by higher debit card interchange income and higher service charges. The increase in debit card
interchange income was primarily due to a higher number of active debit cards, increased usage, and continued improvement in penetration and
activation rates. Service charges were higher due to increased non-sufficient funds fees and overdraft charges, account service charges, and
ATM fees resulting from new account growth and increased usage.

Total Noninterest Expense increased $241 million, or 12 percent, compared to the same period in 2005, primarily driven by costs associated with
increased transaction volume.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $487 million, or 15 percent, compared to the same period in 2005. The increase in Net Income was driven by an increase
in Total Revenue of $1.6 billion, partially offset by an increase in Noninterest Expense of $667 million. These period over period changes were
primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month discussion above.

Card Services

Card Services, which excludes debit cards (included in Deposits), provides a broad offering of products, including U.S. Consumer and Business
Credit Card, Consumer Finance, International Loan Products, including foreign credit card, and Merchant Services. Through the MBNA
acquisition, we offer a variety of co-branded and affinity credit card products and have also become the leading issuer of credit cards through
endorsed marketing. Prior to the acquisition of MBNA, Card Services only included U.S. Consumer Card, Business Credit Card, and Merchant
Services.
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We evaluate our Card Services business on both a held and managed basis (a non-GAAP measure). Managed basis treats securitized loan
receivables as if they were still on the balance sheet and presents the earnings on the sold loan receivables as if they were not sold. Similarly, we
evaluate credit risk on a managed basis as the receivables that have been securitized are subject to the same underwriting standards and ongoing
monitoring as the held loans. The performance of the managed portfolio is important to understanding the results of card operations.

The following tables reconcile the Card Services portfolio and certain credit card data on a held basis to a managed basis to reflect the impact of
securitizations. For assets that have been securitized, we record excess servicing income, a component of Card Income, rather than Net Interest
Income and Provision for Credit Losses, as we are compensated for servicing. In a securitization, the credit card receivables, not the ongoing
relationships, are sold to the trust. After the revolving period of the securitization, assuming no new securitizations, the newly generated credit
card receivables arising from these relationships are recorded on our balance sheet. This has the effect of increasing Loans and Leases, and
increasing Net Interest Income and Provision for Credit Losses (including net charge-offs), with a related reduction in Noninterest Income.
Managed Noninterest Income includes the impact of the gains recognized on securitized loan principal receivables in accordance with SFAS
No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities a replacement of FASB Statement
No. 125 (SFAS 140).
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(Dollars in millions)
Income Statement Data

Held total revenue
Securitizations impact
Managed total revenue

Held provision for credit losses
Securitizations impact
Managed credit impact
Balance Sheet Data

Average held Card Services outstandings
Securitizations impact

Average managed Card Services outstandings
Ending held Card Services outstandings
Securitizations impact

Ending managed Card Services outstandings
Credit Quality Statistics ®

Held net charge-offs
Securitizations impact

Managed Card Services net losses
Held net charge-offs
Securitizations impact

Managed Card Services net losses

(Dollars in millions)
Balance Sheet Data

Average held credit card outstandings
Securitizations impact

Average managed credit card outstandings
Ending held credit card outstandings
Securitizations impact

Ending managed credit card outstandings
Credit Quality Statistics ®

Held net charge-offs
Securitizations impact
Managed credit card net losses
Held net charge-offs
Securitizations impact
Managed credit card net losses

Table of Contents

Card Services Data "

Three Months Ended
September 30
2006 2005
$ 5,330 $ 2,249
908 92
$ 6,238 $ 2,341
$ 1,032 $ 1,010
908 92
$ 1,940 $ 1,102
$ 95,948 $57,414
97,371 4,491
$ 193,319 $ 61,905
$ 96,173 $ 58,427
98,683 3,622
$ 194,856 $ 62,049
$ 1,094 $ 798
908 92
$ 2,002 $ 890
452 % 551 %
(0.41) 0.19
411 % 570 %
Credit Card Data ®
Three Months Ended
September 30
2006 2005
$ 71,963 $55,271
92,175 4,491
$ 164,138 $ 59,762
$ 70,067 $ 56,079
94,389 3,622
$ 164,456 $ 59,701
$ 923 $ 772
825 92
$ 1,748 $ 864
509 % 555 %
(0.86) 0.19
423 % 574 %

Nine Months Ended
September 30
2006 2005
$ 16,029 $ 6,341
2,340 372
$ 18,369 $ 6,713
$ 3,142 $ 2,808
2,340 372
$ 5,482 $ 3,180
$ 94,332 $ 54,925
95,050 5,788
$ 189,382 $60,713
$ 96,173 $ 58,427
98,683 3,622
$ 194,856 $ 62,049
$ 2,676 $ 2,353
2,340 372
$ 5,016 $ 2,725
379 % 573 %
0.25) 0.27
354 % 6.00 %
Nine Months Ended
September 30
2006 2005
$ 73,923 $53,033
88,615 5,788
$ 162,538 $ 58,821
$ 70,067 $ 56,079
94,389 3,622
$ 164,456 $59,701
$ 2,356 $ 2,286
2,112 372
$ 4468 $ 2,658
4.26 % 576 %
(0.58) 0.28
3.68 % 6.04 %
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(D Beginning with the first quarter of 2006, Card Services includes U.S. Consumer and Business Credit Card, Consumer Finance, International Loan Products and
Merchant Services. Prior to January 1, 2006, Card Services only included U.S. Consumer Card, Business Credit Card, and Merchant Services.

(@ American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Statement of Position No. 03-3  Accounting for Certain Loans or Debt Securities Acquired in a
Transfer (SOP 03-3) decreased held net charge-offs for Card Services and credit card $26 million or 11 bps and $15 million or 8 bps, for the three months ended
September 30, 2006. Managed net losses for Card Services and credit card decreased $26 million, or 5 bps and $15 million or 3 bps. SOP 03-3 decreased held
net charge-offs for Card Services and credit card $263 million or 38 bps and $137 million or 25 bps for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. Managed
net losses for Card Services and credit card decreased $263 million or 19 bps and $137 million or 11 bps. See discussion of SOP 03-3 in the Consumer Portfolio
Credit Quality Performance section.

(Includes U.S. Consumer Card and Foreign Credit Card. Does not include Business Credit Card.
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Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $1.2 billion to $1.5 billion compared to the same period in 2005 due to the growth in Total Revenue, partially offset by an
increase in Noninterest Expense. The MBNA acquisition increased revenue when compared to the same period in 2005. Held Total Revenue
increased $3.1 billion to $5.3 billion. Contributing to this increase was the $918 million increase in held Net Interest Income due to an increase
in average held credit card outstandings from the MBNA merger.

Driving the increase in held revenue was an increase in Noninterest Income of $2.2 billion compared to the same period in 2005 due to the
MBNA acquisition and organic growth. The MBNA acquisition increased excess servicing income, interchange income, cash advance fees and
all other income. All other income also increased due to the sale of a portion of our Merchant Services business. This sale resulted in a $72
million (pre-tax) gain in all other income within Card Services, with a related offset in Corporate Income Tax Expense due to the lack of
deductibility associated with goodwill.

Held Provision for Credit Losses increased $22 million to $1.0 billion compared to the same period in 2005. This increase was primarily driven
by the addition of MBNA, partially offset by reduced credit-related costs on the domestic credit card portfolio.

Card Services held net charge-offs were $1.1 billion, $296 million higher than the same quarter in 2005. Credit card held net charge-offs were
$923 million, or 5.09 percent of total average held credit card outstandings, compared to $772 million, or 5.55 percent, a year ago. This increase
was primarily due to the impact of the addition of the MBNA portfolio, changes made in 2005 in credit card minimum payment requirements
which resulted in 2006 net charge-offs, new advances on accounts for which previous loan balances were sold to the securitization trusts and
seasoning of the portfolio. These increases were partially offset by lower bankruptcy-related net charge-offs.

Managed Card Services revenue increased $3.9 billion to $6.2 billion compared to the same period in 2005. This increase was driven by the
acquisition of MBNA which increased average managed credit card outstandings, Net Interest Income, interchange and other fee income.

Managed Card Services net losses were $2.0 billion, $1.1 billion higher than the same quarter in 2005. This increase was primarily driven by
managed credit card net losses, which were $1.7 billion, or 4.23 percent of total average managed credit card loans for the three months ended
September 30, 2006 compared to $864 million, or 5.74 percent, for the same period in 2005. Managed losses were higher primarily due to the
addition of the MBNA portfolio, changes made in 2005 in credit card minimum payment requirements which resulted in 2006 net losses and
seasoning of the portfolio. These increases were partially offset by lower bankruptcy-related net losses. The 151 bps decrease in the net losses
ratio for the managed credit card portfolio was driven by the beneficial impact of the MBNA portfolio and lower net losses resulting from
bankruptcy reform.

Total Noninterest Expense increased $1.2 billion to $2.0 billion compared to the same period in 2005 and was primarily driven by the MBNA
merger.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $3.6 billion to $4.5 billion compared to the same period in 2005. The increase in Net Income was due to increases of $2.9
billion in Net Interest Income and $6.8 billion in Noninterest Income, partially offset by an increase of $3.6 billion in Noninterest Expense.

These period over period changes were primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month discussion above. In addition,
Noninterest Income also increased due to the gain recorded on MasterCard Incorporated s (MasterCard s) initial public offering.

In connection with MasterCard s initial public offering on May 24, 2006, the Corporation s previous investment in MasterCard was exchanged for
new shares at a ratio of 1 to 1.35. Subsequent to the initial public offering, MasterCard
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redeemed approximately 59 percent of these shares for cash. The Corporation is restricted from selling the remaining 41 percent of unredeemed
shares to the general public for a period of four years. As it relates to shares historically owned by the Corporation, a net gain of approximately
$36 million (pre-tax) was recorded in all other income relating to the shares redeemed for cash and no gain was recorded associated with the
unredeemed shares. A gain or loss will be recognized through all other income when the unredeemed shares are sold. For shares historically
owned by MBNA, a purchase accounting adjustment of $71 million was recorded as a reduction of Goodwill to record the fair value of both the
redeemed and unredeemed MasterCard shares.

Held Provision for Credit Losses increased $334 million to $3.1 billion. This increase was primarily due to the impact of the addition of the
MBNA portfolio, partially offset by reduced credit-related costs on the domestic credit card portfolio, in part, driven by the absence of the $210
million provision recorded in 2005 to establish reserves for changes in credit card minimum payment requirements.

Card Services held net charge-offs were $2.7 billion, $323 million higher than the same period in 2005, driven by the addition of the MBNA
portfolio, partially offset by lower bankruptcy-related net charge-offs. Credit card held net charge-offs were $2.4 billion, or 4.26 percent of total
average held credit card outstandings, compared to $2.3 billion, or 5.76 percent, for the same period in 2005 driven by the same factors as
described in the three month discussion above.

Managed Card Services revenue increased $11.7 billion to $18.4 billion compared to the same period in 2005. Managed Card Services net losses
were $5.0 billion, $2.3 billion higher than the same period in 2005. Managed credit card net losses were $4.5 billion, or 3.68 percent of total
average managed credit card loans compared to $2.7 billion, or 6.04 percent, for the same period in 2005. These period over period changes for
the nine months ended September 30, 2006, were primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month discussion above.

Mortgage

Mortgage generates revenue by providing an extensive line of mortgage products and services to customers nationwide. Mortgage products are
available to our customers through a retail network of personal bankers located in 5,722 banking centers, sales account executives in over 150
locations and through a sales force offering our customers direct telephone and online access to our products. Additionally, we serve our
customers through a partnership with more than 6,800 mortgage brokers in 48 states. The mortgage product offerings for home purchase and
refinancing needs include fixed and adjustable rate loans. To manage this portfolio, these products are either sold into the secondary mortgage
market to investors, while retaining the Bank of America customer relationships, or are held on our balance sheet for ALM purposes.

The first mortgage business includes the origination, fulfillment, sale and servicing of first mortgage loan products. Servicing activities primarily
include collecting cash for principal, interest and escrow payments from borrowers, and accounting for and remitting principal and interest
payments to investors. Servicing income includes ancillary income derived in connection with these activities, such as late fees.

Mortgage production within Global Consumer and Small Business Banking was $19.1 billion and $55.4 billion for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2006 compared to $24.1 billion and $57.5 billion in the same periods of 2005.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income for Mortgage decreased $33 million, or 35 percent, due to a decrease in Total Revenue of $53 million to $354 million. The change
in Total Revenue was due to a decrease of $44 million in Net Interest Income and a decrease of $17 million in Mortgage Banking Income. The
decrease in Net Interest Income was primarily driven by the impact of spread compression due to the flattening yield curve and the decrease in
average residential first mortgage balances. The decrease in Mortgage Banking Income was primarily due to weaker production income driven
by lower volumes sold, margin compression which negatively impacted the pricing of loans sold into secondary markets, and a strategic shift to
retain a larger share of mortgage production on the Corporation s balance sheet. Mortgage Banking Income within Global Consumer and Small
Business Banking was compensated on a management accounting basis for this strategic shift with the corresponding offset recorded in All
Other. This was partially offset by the favorable performances of the Mortgage Servicing Rights (MSRs) and the derivatives used to
economically hedge changes in the fair values of the MSRs.
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income for Mortgage decreased $106 million, or 35 percent, compared to the same period in 2005. The decrease to Net Income was due to
decreases of $129 million in Net Interest Income and $114 million in Mortgage Banking Income, partially offset by a $61 million decrease in
Noninterest Expense. This period over period change was primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month discussion above.

The Mortgage servicing portfolio includes loans serviced for others and originated and retained residential mortgages. The servicing portfolio at
September 30, 2006 was $323.3 billion, $26.5 billion higher than December 31, 2005, primarily driven by production and lower prepayment
rates. Included in this amount was $230.1 billion of loans serviced for others.

At September 30, 2006, the consumer MSR balance was $2.9 billion, an increase of $274 million, or 10 percent, from December 31, 2005. This
value represented 127 bps of the related unpaid principal balance, a 5 bps increase from December 31, 2005.

Home Equity

Home Equity generates revenue by providing an extensive line of home equity products and services to customers nationwide. Home Equity
products include lines of credit and home equity loans, and are also available to our customers through our retail network and through our
partnership with mortgage brokers.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income for Home Equity increased $6 million, or five percent, compared to the same period in 2005. Driving this increase in Net Income
was Total Revenue, which increased $20 million to $374 million compared to the same period in 2005. The increase in Total Revenue was
primarily attributable to account growth and larger line sizes resulting from enhanced product offerings and the expanding home equity market.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income for Home Equity increased $55 million, or 18 percent, compared to the same period in 2005. Total Revenue for Home Equity
increased $74 million to $1.1 billion. This period over period change was primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month
discussion above.

The Home Equity servicing portfolio at September 30, 2006 was $82.2 billion, $11.9 billion higher than December 31, 2005, driven primarily by
increased production and portfolio purchases.

ALM/Other

ALMY/Other is comprised primarily of the allocation of a portion of the Corporation s Net Interest Income from ALM activities, the residual of
the funds transfer pricing allocation process associated with recording Card Services securitizations and the results of other consumer-related
businesses (e.g., insurance).

Net Income decreased $174 million and $699 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in
2005. The decreases were primarily a result of a lower contribution from ALM activities due to the flattening yield curve and the impact of the
residual of the funds transfer pricing allocation process associated with recording Card Services securitizations.
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Global Corporate and Investment Banking

(Dollars in millions)
Net interest income

Noninterest income

Service charges

Investment and brokerage services
Investment banking income
Trading account profits

All other income

Total noninterest income

Total revenue ¥

Provision for credit losses
Gains on sales of debt securities
Noninterest expense

. [¢))
Income before income taxes

Income tax expense

Net income

Shareholder value added

Net interest yield o
Return on average equity

Efficiency ratio o

Period end total asset$’

(Dollars in millions)

Net interest income
Noninterest income

Service charges

Investment and brokerage services
Investment banking income
Trading account profits

All other income

Total noninterest income

Total revenue ¥
Provision for credit losses

Gains on sales of debt securities

Noninterest expense

Table of Contents

Total
$ 2,643

710
252
554
711
1,145
3,372
6,015

22

14

2,965
3,042
1,120

$ 1,922

$ 828
1.65
18.62
49.30

$ 675,893

Total
$ 2,749

671
267
532
571
499
2,540
5,289

12
17
2,854

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006

Business
Lending

$ 1,131

130
5

10
128
273

1,404

53

3

548

806

287

$ 519

$ 145

% 1.92
14.17

39.02

$ 241,257

Business
Lending
$ 1,199

127

5

171
308
1,507
113

499

%

Capital
Markets
and
Advisory
Services

$ 375

29
205
554
657

48

1,493
1,868

11.94
73.14
$ 374,488

Capital
Markets
and
Advisory
Services

$ 453

34
217
531
516

93

1,391
1,844

(14)

1,198

%

Treasury
Services

$ 979

509
8

13
195
725

1,704

1

810
895
331
$ 564

$ 387
2.90
33.37
47.51

$ 158,711

Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Treasury
Services

$ 86l

468
7

12
173
660

1,521

786

%

ALM/
Other

$ 158

42
34

31
774
881

1,039

(27)
241

828
313

$ 515

ALM/
Other

$ 236

4
38

38
62
181
417

(87)
12
371
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. 1
Income before income taxes "’

Income tax expense

Net income

Shareholder value added

Net interest yield M
Return on average equity

Efficiency ratio M

Period end total assets”

(DFully taxable-equivalent basis

(D Total Assets include asset allocations to match liabilities (i.e., deposits).
n/m = not meaningful
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2,440
889
$ 1,551

$ 450
1.92
1491
53.96

$ 602,008

%

61

897 663

328 241

$ 569 $ 422
$ 180 $ 153
229 % n/m
14.93 17.14
33.10 64.93
$217,357 $319,954

735
265
$ 470

$ 303
2.36
29.21
51.63

$ 165,021

%

145
55
$ 90

$ (186)
n/m
n/m
n/m

n/m
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Global Corporate and Investment Banking

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006

Capital
Markets
and
Business Advisory Treasury ALM/
(Dollars in millions) Total Lending Services Services Other
Net interest income $ 8,069 $ 3,476 $ 1,165 $ 2,901 $ 527
Noninterest income
Service charges 2,100 387 90 1,489 134
Investment and brokerage services 801 14 658 24 105
Investment banking income 1,721 1,720 1
Trading account profits 2,591 44 2,360 36 151
All other income 2,011 397 199 536 879
Total noninterest income 9,224 842 5,027 2,085 1,270
Total revenue 17,293 4,318 6,192 4,986 1,797
Provision for credit losses 102 88 8 6
Gains on sales of debt securities 34 8 12 14
Noninterest expense 8,953 1,603 4,074 2,430 846
Income before income taxes " 8,272 2,635 2,122 2,556 959
Income tax expense 3,051 976 785 946 344
Net income $ 5,221 $ 1,659 $ 1,337 $ 1,610 $ 615
Shareholder value added $ 1,865 $ 432 $ 452 $ 1,053 $ (72
Net interest yield 176 % 203 % n/m 285 % n/m
Return on average equity 16.50 13.88 16.54 % 30.27 n/m
Efficiency ratio 51.77 37.14 65.79 48.74 n/m
Period end total assets’ $ 675,893 $ 241,257 $ 374,488 $ 158,711 n/m

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Capital
Markets
and
Business Advisory Treasury ALM/

(Dollars in millions) Total Lending Services Services Other
Net interest income $ 8,394 $ 3,633 $ 1,527 $ 2411 $ 823
Noninterest income
Service charges 1,977 361 81 1,412 123
Investment and brokerage services 775 13 651 21 90
Investment banking income 1,345 1,344 1
Trading account profits 1,463 (36) 1,362 53 84
All other income 1,697 680 264 502 251
Total noninterest income 7,257 1,018 3,702 1,988 549
Total revenue 15,651 4,651 5,229 4,399 1,372
Provision for credit losses (388) (141) (14) (5) (228)
Gains on sales of debt securities 168 62 23 83
Noninterest expense 8,166 1,487 3,408 2,360 911
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Income before income taxes "’

Income tax expense

Net income

Shareholder value added
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8,041
2,933
$ 5,108

$ 1,820
2.06
16.43
52.17

$ 602,008

%

(D Total Assets include asset allocations to match liabilities (i.e., deposits).
n/m = not meaningful
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3,367
1,206
$ 2,161

$ 997
2.43
18.94
31.97
$217,357

%

1,858
665
$ 1,193

$ 399
n/m

16.43
65.18
$319,954

2,044
736
$ 1,308

$ 808
2.28
27.09
53.64

$ 165,021

%

772
326
$ 446

$ (384)
n/m
n/m
n/m

n/m
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Three Months Ended September 30 Nine Months Ended September 30
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005
Average
Total loans and leases $ 246,419 $ 216,121 $ 242,161 $ 210,038
Total trading-related assets 340,521 328,713 330,378 313,422
Total market-based earning assets (V 375,960 335,043 356,831 319,856
Total earning assets 636,614 566,674 612,441 543,719
Total assets 715,174 648,312 694,571 626,041
Total deposits 206,576 188,901 203,275 188,879
Allocated equity 40,941 41,265 42,308 41,556

September 30
2006 2005

Period end
Total loans and leases $ 243,410 $ 220,873
Total trading-related assets 296,504 273,261
Total market-based earning assets o 337,702 278,557
Total earning assets @ 592,702 514,944
Total assets 675,893 602,008
Total deposits 199,737 184,518

(D'Total market-based earning assets represents earning assets from the Capital Markets and Advisory Services business.

(D Total earning assets and Total Assets include asset allocations to match liabilities (i.e., deposits).

Global Corporate and Investment Banking provides a wide range of financial services, to both our issuer and investor clients that range from
business banking clients to large international corporate and institutional investor clients, using a strategy to deliver value-added financial
products and advisory solutions. Global Corporate and Investment Banking s products and services are delivered from three primary businesses:
Business Lending, Capital Markets and Advisory Services, and Treasury Services, and are provided to our clients through a global team of client
relationship managers and product partners. In addition, ALM/Other includes the results of ALM activities and other commercial-related
businesses such as Latin America and Asia consumer and commercial banking franchise in Hong Kong. In addition to our operations in Latin
America, our clients are supported through offices in 26 countries that are divided into three distinct geographic regions: U.S. and Canada; Asia;
and Europe, Middle East and Africa. For more information on our Latin American and Asian operations, see Foreign Portfolio beginning on
page 87.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $371 million to $1.9 billion due to an increase in Noninterest Income that was partially offset by declines in Net Interest
Income and increases in Noninterest Expense.

Although Global Corporate and Investment Banking experienced overall growth in Average Loans and Leases of $30.3 billion, or 14 percent,
Net Interest Income declined due to spread compression. This decline was partially offset by wider spreads in our Treasury Services deposit base
as we effectively managed pricing in a rising interest rate environment.

Noninterest Income increased $832 million, or 33 percent, driven largely by the sale of our Brazilian operations that closed this quarter which
generated a $720 million gain (pre-tax) and was reflected in all other income.

Noninterest Expense increased $111 million, or four percent, due to increased Personnel Expense, including performance-based incentive
compensation, and general operating costs.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $113 million, or two percent. Within this overall increase of Net Income, there was an increase in Total Revenue of $1.6
billion largely due to increases in Trading Account Profits, Investment Banking Income, and the sale of our Brazilian operations. The increases
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in Investment Banking Income and Trading Account Profits were driven by continued leadership in leveraged debt underwriting and a favorable
market environment. This increase in Total Revenue was partially offset by the increase in the Provision for Credit Losses. Provision for Credit
Losses was $102 million compared to negative $388 million for the same period in the prior year. The change in the Provision for Credit Losses
was
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primarily due to the absence this year of benefits from the release of reserves in 2005 related to reduced exposures in Latin America and reduced
uncertainties associated with the FleetBoston Financial Corporation (FleetBoston) credit integration. A lower level of commercial recoveries
also contributed to the increase in the Provision for Credit Losses. Additionally, Noninterest Expense increased $787 million. These period over
period changes were primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month discussion above.

Business Lending

Business Lending provides a wide range of lending-related products and services to our clients through client relationship teams along with
various product partners. Products include commercial and corporate bank loans and commitment facilities which cover our business banking
clients, middle market commercial clients and our large multinational corporate clients. Real estate lending products are issued primarily to
public and private developers, homebuilders and commercial real estate firms. Leasing and asset-based lending products offer our clients
innovative financing solutions. Products also include indirect consumer loans which allow us to offer financing through auto, marine,
motorcycle and recreational vehicle dealerships across the U.S. Business Lending also contains the results for the economic hedging of our risk
to certain credit counterparties utilizing various risk mitigation tools such as Credit Default Swaps (CDS) and may also use other products to
help reduce hedging costs.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income decreased $50 million, or nine percent, primarily due to decreases in Net Interest Income and Noninterest Income, combined with an
increase in Noninterest Expense. These items were partially offset by a decrease in the Provision for Credit Losses. The decrease in Net Interest
Income was driven by the impact of lower spreads on all loan products which were partially offset by growth in Average Loans and Leases.
Average Loans and Leases increased $22.8 billion, or 12 percent, due primarily to growth in the commercial loan portfolio. The decrease in
Noninterest Income was due to a decrease in Equity Investment Gains. Provision for Credit Losses decreased $60 million, or 53 percent, driven
by the continued stable credit environment. The increase in Noninterest Expense was primarily driven by increased expenses associated with
personnel, technology, and professional fees.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income decreased $502 million, or 23 percent. This decrease in Net Income was primarily due to increases in the Provision for Credit
Losses and Noninterest Expense combined with decreases in Noninterest Income and Net Interest Income. The decreases of $157 million in Net
Interest Income and $176 million in Noninterest Income were primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month discussion
above. In addition, Noninterest Income decreased as a result of the gains in 2005 from spreads widening in certain industries in our credit default
protection purchased. The Provision for Credit Losses was $88 million, compared to negative $141 million for the same period in the prior year.
The increase in the Provision for Credit Losses was primarily due to the absence of benefits from the release of reserves in 2005 related to
reduced uncertainties associated with the FleetBoston credit integration and a lower level of commercial recoveries in 2006. The increase in
Noninterest Expense was primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month discussion above.

Capital Markets and Advisory Services

Capital Markets and Advisory Services provides products, advisory services and financing globally to our institutional investor clients in support
of their investing and trading activities. We also work with our commercial and corporate issuer clients to provide debt and equity underwriting
and distribution capabilities, merger-related advisory services and risk management solutions using interest rate, equity, credit and commodity
derivatives, foreign exchange, fixed income and mortgage-related products. In support of these activities, the business may take positions in
these products and participate in market-making activities dealing in equity and equity-linked securities, high-grade and high-yield corporate
debt securities, commercial paper, and mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities. We also provide debt and equity securities research through
Banc of America Securities, LLC. This business is a primary dealer in the U.S. and in several international locations.

Capital Markets and Advisory Services market-based revenue includes Net Interest Income, Noninterest Income, including equity income, and
Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities. We evaluate our trading results and strategies based on total market-based revenue. The following
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fixed income from liquid products (primarily interest rate
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and commodity derivatives, foreign exchange contracts and public finance), credit products (primarily investment and noninvestment grade
corporate debt obligations and credit derivatives) and structured products (primarily commercial mortgage-backed securities, residential
mortgage-backed securities, and collateralized debt obligations); and equity income from equity-linked derivatives, securities, and cash equity
activity.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30 September 30
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005
Investment banking income
Advisory fees $ 8 $ 89 $ 215 $ 222
Debt underwriting 417 348 1,273 933
Equity underwriting 52 94 232 189
Total investment banking income 554 531 1,720 1,344
Sales and trading
Fixed income:
Liquid products 401 459 1,607 1,445
Credit products 238 219 678 570
Structured products 373 278 1,103 762
Total fixed income 1,012 956 3,388 2,777
Equity income 310 360 1,096 1,131
Total sales and trading ¥ 1,322 1,316 4,484 3,908
Total Capital Markets and Advisory Services Market-based Revenue $1876 $ 1847 $6204 $ 5252

(DIncludes Gains on Sales of Debt Securities of $8 million and $3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, and $12 million and $23
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.
Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income decreased $98 million, or 23 percent, as Noninterest Expense increased while total Capital Markets and Advisory Services
market-based revenue remained relatively flat.

Total Capital Markets and Advisory Services market-based revenue was $1.9 billion, representing an increase of $29 million, or two percent.
The increase in Investment Banking Income of $23 million, or four percent, was benefited by increased market activity and continued leadership
in leveraged debt underwriting. This increase was offset by a decrease in equity underwriting due to a decrease in merger and acquisition
activity. Sales and trading remained relatively flat as increases in structured products were offset by decreases in liquid products and equity
income.

Noninterest Expense increased $168 million, or 14 percent, due to higher Personnel Expense and general operating costs.
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $144 million, or 12 percent. This was driven primarily by increases in sales and trading fixed income activity of $611
million, or 22 percent, and was driven by a favorable market environment as well as benefits from previous investments in personnel and trading
infrastructure. The increases in Investment Banking Income of $376 million, or 28 percent, and Noninterest Expense of $666 million, or 20
percent, were primarily driven by the same factors described in the three month discussion above.

Treasury Services
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Treasury Services provides integrated working capital management and treasury solutions to clients across the U.S. and 52 countries through our
network of proprietary offices and special clearing arrangements. Our clients include multinationals, middle-market companies, correspondent
banks, commercial real estate firms and governments. Our products and services include treasury management, trade finance, foreign exchange,
short-term credit facilities and short-term investing options. Net Interest Income is derived from interest and noninterest-bearing deposits, sweep
investments, and other liability management products. Deposit products provide a relatively stable source of funding and liquidity. We earn net
interest spread revenues from investing this liquidity in earning assets through client facing lending activity and our ALM activities. The revenue
is attributed to the deposit products using our funds transfer pricing process which takes into account the interest rates and maturity
characteristics of the deposits. Noninterest Income is generated from payment and receipt products, merchant services, wholesale card products,
and trade services and is comprised primarily of service charges which are net of market-based earnings credit rates applied against
noninterest-bearing deposits.
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Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $94 million, or 20 percent, primarily due to an increase in Net Interest Income and higher Service Charges. Net Interest
Income from Treasury Services increased $118 million, or 14 percent, driven primarily by wider spreads associated with higher short-term
interest rates as we effectively managed pricing in a rising interest rate environment. This was partially offset by the impact of a $9.7 billion, or
six percent, decrease in Treasury Services average deposit balances. This decrease was primarily due to the slowdown in the mortgage and title
business reducing real estate escrow and demand deposit balances.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $302 million, or 23 percent. This increase in Net Income was primarily due to the increase in Net Interest Income of $490
million. This period over period change was primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month discussion above.

ALM/Other

ALM/Other is comprised primarily of our Latin American operations in Chile, Argentina and Uruguay, and our commercial operations in
Mexico. Brazilian operations were included through September 1, 2006, the effective date of the sale of these operations. These operations
primarily service indigenous and multinational corporations, small businesses and affluent consumers. ALM/Other also includes our Asia retail
and commercial banking franchise in Hong Kong and an allocation of a portion of the Corporation s Net Interest Income from ALM activities.
For more information on our Latin American and Asian operations, see Foreign Portfolio beginning on page 87.

Net Income increased $425 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to the same period in the prior year. The
increase was primarily the result of the gain recorded on the sale of our Brazilian operations for approximately $1.9 billion in equity of Banco
Itau, Brazil s second largest nongovernment-owned banking company. The sale resulted in a $720 million gain (pre-tax) that was recorded in all
other income. The $1.9 billion equity investment in Banco Itau was recorded in Corporate and Strategic Investments. For more information on
our Corporate and Strategic Investments, see All Other beginning on page 71. Partially offsetting the increase from the sale of our Brazilian
operations was a decrease in Net Interest Income driven by the impact of the flattening yield curve on the results of ALM activities. The
Provision for Credit losses was negative $27 million, $60 million higher than the same quarter in 2005, primarily due to the absence of the
benefit received in 2005 from reduced exposures in Latin America partially offset by an increased level of recoveries in 2006. Noninterest
Expense decreased $130 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to the same period in the prior year. The decrease
was primarily driven by lower expenses related to Latin America compared to the three months ended September 30, 2005.

Net Income increased $169 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to the same period in the prior year. The
decrease in Net Interest Income of $296 million and the increase in Noninterest income of $721 million was primarily driven by the same factors
as described in the three month discussion above. The Provision for Credit Losses was $6 million compared to negative $228 million for the
same period in the prior year. The change in the Provision for Credit Losses was primarily due to the absence of the benefit received in 2005
from reduced exposures in Latin America. Noninterest Expense decreased $65 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as
compared to the same periods in the prior year. The decrease was driven primarily by lower litigation related expenses as compared to the nine
months ended September 30, 2005.

During October 2005, we announced an agreement to sell our asset management business in Mexico with $1.8 billion of assets under
management to Grupo Financiero Santander Serfin (Santander). The sale will be completed in 2006.

During December 2005, we entered into a definitive agreement with a consortium led by Johannesburg-based Standard Bank Group Limited for
the sale of our assets and liabilities in Argentina. Closing is subject to obtaining all necessary regulatory approvals and is expected to be
completed in 2006 or early 2007.

In August 2006, we entered into an agreement with CCB to sell Bank of America (Asia) Ltd., our retail and commercial banking franchise in
Hong Kong, for total consideration of approximately $1.25 billion. Closing is subject to regulatory approval.

Also during August, 2006, we announced a definitive agreement to sell our operations in Chile and Uruguay for stock in Banco Itau and other
consideration for approximately $615 million. Each closing is subject to regulatory approval and is expected to be completed in 2006 of early
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Global Wealth and Investment Management

(Dollars in millions) Three Months Ended September 30, 2006
Premier
Banking
Private Columbia and ALM/
Total Bank Management Investments Other
Net interest income $ 943 $ 242 $ 13) $ 490 $ 224
Noninterest income
Investment and brokerage services 843 248 374 183 38
All other income 82 11 16 31 24
Total noninterest income 925 259 390 214 62
Total revenue 1,868 501 377 704 286
Provision for credit losses @ @) 3
Noninterest expense 992 342 250 340 60
Income before income taxes "’ 877 163 127 361 226
Income tax expense 324 60 47 133 84
Net income $ 553 $ 103 $ 80 $ 228 $ 142
Shareholder value added $ 291 $ 42 $ 43 $ 124 $ 82
Net interest yield " 3.22 % 3.07 % n/m 412 % n/m
Return on average equity 21.68 17.51 19.00 % 23.36 n/m
Efficiency ratio 53.12 68.16 66.64 48.30 n/m
Period end total assets” $ 125,247 $ 32,648 $ 2,980 $ 51,828 n/m
Three Months Ended September 30, 2005
Premier
Banking
Private Columbia and ALM/
(Dollars in millions) Total Bank Management Investments Other
Net interest income $ 937 $ 252 $ ) $ 444 $ 243
Noninterest income
Investment and brokerage services 793 252 330 176 35
All other income 89 15 10 40 24
Total noninterest income 882 267 340 216 59
Total revenue ) 1,819 519 338 660 302
Provision for credit losses 1) 3) 6 @)
Noninterest expense 924 302 221 329 72
Income before income taxes " 896 222 117 325 232
Income tax expense 328 80 42 117 89
Net income $ 568 $ 142 $ 75 $ 208 $ 143
Shareholder value added $ 310 $ 90 $ 35 $ 124 $ ol
Net interest yield 3.10 % 332 % n/m 315 % n/m
Return on average equity 22.51 27.16 16.88 % 26.29 n/m
Efficiency ratio "’ 50.79 58.37 65.69 49.85 n/m
Period end total assets” $ 125,684 $30,999 $ 2,928 $ 56,992 n/m
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n/m = not meaningful
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Global Wealth and Investment Management

(Dollars in millions)

Net interest income
Noninterest income

Investment and brokerage services
All other income

Total noninterest income

Total revenue ¥

Provision for credit losses
Noninterest expense

g 1
Income before income taxes o

Income tax expense

Net income

Shareholder value added

Net interest yield o
Return on average equity
Efficiency ratio "

Period end total assets”

(Dollars in millions)

Net interest income
Noninterest income

Investment and brokerage services
All other income

Total noninterest income

Total revenue ¥

Provision for credit losses
Noninterest expense

. 1
Income before income taxes "

Income tax expense

Net income

Shareholder value added

Net interest yield M
Return on average equity

Efficiency ratio M

Period end total assets”

Table of Contents

Total
$ 2910

2,546

335
2,881
5,791

42)
2,975
2,858
1,057
$ 1,801

$ 1,009
3.34
23.34
51.37

$ 125,247

Total
$ 2814

2,348

259
2,607
5,421

(®
2,763
2,666
959
$ 1,707

$ 938
3.13
22.68
50.97

$ 125,684

%

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006

Private
Bank

$ 746

768
72
840
1,586

(52)
948
690
255
$ 435

$ 255

% 3.23
24.66

59.72

$ 32,648

%

Columbia

$

Management

(34)

1,115

38
1,153
1,119

733
386
143
243

139
n/m
20.06
65.56
2,980

Premier
Banking
and
Investments

$ 1,509

550
91
641
2,150

10

1,012
1,128

417

$ 711

$ 433

4.13

% 27.10
47.07

$ 51,828

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Private
Bank

$ 748

781
48
829
1,577

(20)
918
679
244
$ 435

$ 268
3.36
26.06
58.21

$ 30,999

%

Columbia

$

Management

7

965

23
988
995

669
326
117
209

97
n/m
16.27
67.24
2,928

Premier
Banking
and
Investments

$ 1,227

502
112
614
1,841

14

956

871

314

$ 557

$ 307
2.93

o 23.54

51.93
$ 56,992

%

%

ALM/
Other

$ 689

113
134
247
936

282
654
242
$ 412

ALM/
Other

$ 832

100
76
176
1,008

(@)

220
790
284

$ 506

$ 266
n/m
n/m
n/m

n/m
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Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30 September 30
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005
Average
Total loans and leases $ 62,271 $ 55,260 $ 60,496 $ 53,063
Total earning assets 116,124 119,974 116,490 120,304
Total assets "’ 123,796 127,805 124,234 128,095
Total deposits 113,529 118,135 113,906 118,174
Allocated equity 10,115 10,014 10,316 10,059

September 30

2006 2005

Period end
Total loans and leases $ 63,301 $ 56,147
Total earning assets o 117,258 117,613
Total assets "’ 125,247 125,684
Total deposits 114,721 116,364

(DTotal earning assets and Total Assets include asset allocations to match liabilities (i.e., deposits).

Global Wealth and Investment Management provides a wide offering of customized banking and investment services tailored to meet the
changing wealth management goals of our individual and institutional customer base. Our clients have access to a range of services offered
through three primary businesses: The Private Bank, Columbia Management (Columbia), and Premier Banking and Investments (PB&I). In
addition, ALM/Other includes the impact of Banc of America Specialist, the results of ALM activities and the impact of migrating qualifying
affluent customers from Global Consumer and Small Business Banking to our PB&I customer service model.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income decreased $15 million, or three percent, mostly due to higher Noninterest Expense partially offset by higher Total Revenue. Total
Revenue increased $49 million, or three percent, due to increases in both Noninterest Income and Net Interest Income.

Net Interest Income increased $6 million, or one percent, due to increases in deposit spreads and higher Average Loans and Leases, offset by a
decline in ALM activity and loan spread compression. Global Wealth and Investment Management also benefited from the migration of deposits
from Global Consumer and Small Business Banking.

Noninterest Income increased $43 million, or five percent, primarily due to an increase in Investment and Brokerage Services driven by record
levels of assets under management.

Noninterest Expense increased $68 million, or seven percent, primarily due to increases in Personnel Expense driven by the PB&I expansion of
Client Managers and employee incentive plans.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $94 million, or six percent, due to higher Total Revenue and a credit loss recovery, partially offset by higher Noninterest
Expense. Net Interest Income increased $96 million, or three percent, and Noninterest Income increased $274 million, or 11 percent. Noninterest
Income also benefited from equity gains of $75 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. Noninterest expense increased $212
million, or eight percent. These period over period changes were primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month discussion
above.

Provision for Credit Losses decreased $34 million due to a credit loss recovery of approximately $50 million in 2006.
Assets Under Management

Assets under management generate fees based on a percentage of their market value. They consist largely of mutual funds and separate accounts,
which are comprised of taxable and nontaxable money market products, equities, and taxable and nontaxable fixed income securities. Client
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brokerage assets represent a source of commission revenue for the Corporation. Assets in custody represent trust assets administered for
customers. Trust assets encompass a broad range of asset types including real estate, private company ownership interest, personal property and
investments.
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Assets under management increased $34.7 billion, or seven percent, to $517.1 billion, which was driven by net inflows in both money market
and equity funds as well as favorable market action.

Client Assets

(Dollars in billions) September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005
Assets under management $ 517.1 $ 482.4

Client brokerage assets 175.9 161.7

Assets in custody 93.1 94.2

Less: Client brokerage assets and assets in custody included in assets under

management (36.8) (29.8)
Total net client assets $ 749.3 $ 708.5

The Private Bank

The Private Bank provides integrated wealth management solutions to high-net-worth individuals, middle market institutions and charitable
organizations with investable assets greater than $3 million. Services in The Private Bank include investment, trust, banking and lending services
as well as specialty asset management services (oil and gas, real estate, farm and ranch, timberland, private businesses and tax advisory). The
Private Bank also provides integrated wealth management solutions to ultra high-net-worth individuals and families with investable assets
greater than $50 million through its Family Wealth Advisors unit. Family Wealth Advisors provides a higher level of contact, tailored service and
wealth management solutions addressing the complex needs of their clients.

Net Income decreased $39 million, or 27 percent, for the three months ended September 30, 2006, compared to the same period in the prior year.
The decrease in Net Income was primarily due to a decrease in Total Revenue of $18 million, or three percent, driven by both lower Net Interest
Income and Noninterest Income and an increase in Noninterest Expense of $40 million, or 13 percent. The decrease in Net Interest Income was
due to spread compression in the loan portfolio partially offset by an increase in Average Loans and Leases. Noninterest Expense increased
primarily due to higher personnel cost.

Net Income was unchanged for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 as a result of an increase in Total Revenue of $9 million being
partially offset by an increase in Noninterest Expense of $30 million, compared to the same period in the prior year. These period over period
changes were primarily driven by the same factors as described in the three month discussion above. Noninterest Income also benefited from
equity gains of $25 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

In addition, Provision for Credit Losses decreased $32 million due to a credit loss recovery of approximately $50 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2006.

Columbia

Columbia is an asset management business serving the needs of both institutional clients and individual customers. Columbia provides asset
management services, including mutual funds, liquidity strategies and separate accounts. Columbia mutual fund offerings provide a broad array
of investment strategies and products, including equities, fixed income (taxable and non-taxable) and money market (taxable and non-taxable)
funds. Columbia distributes its products and services directly to institutional clients, and distributes to individuals through The Private Bank,
Family Wealth Advisors, PB&I, and nonproprietary channels including other brokerage firms.

Net Income increased $5 million, or seven percent, and $34 million, or 16 percent, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006,
compared to the same periods in the prior year. The increase in Net Income was primarily a result of an increase in Investment and Brokerage
Service Fees of $44 million, or 13 percent, and $150 million, or 16 percent, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, compared
to the same periods in the prior year. This increase is due to higher assets under management driven by net inflows in money market and equity
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funds and favorable market action. Noninterest Expense increased $29 million, or 13 percent, and $64 million, or 10 percent, for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2006, compared to the same periods in the prior year primarily due to Personnel Expense including
revenue-based compensation and other operating costs.

Premier Banking and Investments (PB&I)

Premier Banking and Investments includes Banc of America Investments (BAI), our full-service retail brokerage business and our Premier
Banking channel. PB&I brings personalized banking and investment expertise through priority service with
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client-dedicated teams. PB&I provides a high-touch client experience through a network of approximately 4,000 client advisors to our affluent
customers with a personal wealth profile that includes investable assets plus a mortgage that exceeds $300,000 or at least $100,000 of investable
assets. BAI is the third largest bank-owned brokerage company in the U.S. with $180.0 billion in client assets.

Net Income increased $20 million, or 10 percent, and $154 million, or 28 percent, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006,
compared to the same periods in the prior year, primarily due to an increase in Net Interest Income. The increase in Net Interest Income of $46
million, or 10 percent, and $282 million, or 23 percent, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, was primarily driven by higher
deposit spreads partially offset by lower average deposit balances. Net Interest Income also benefited from higher average loans and leases,
mainly residential mortgages and home equity. Deposit spreads increased 4 bps to 2.30 percent, and 9 bps to 2.24 percent, for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2006, compared to the same periods in the prior year, as we effectively managed pricing in a rising interest rate
environment.

The increase in Noninterest Income of $27 million, or four percent, for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, was primarily driven by
higher Investment and Brokerage Services. Noninterest Expense increased $56 million, or six percent, for the nine months ended September 30,
2006, primarily due to increases in Personnel Expense driven by the PB&I expansion of Client Managers and employee incentive plans.

ALM/Other

We migrate qualifying affluent customers, and their related deposit balances and associated Net Interest Income from the Global Consumer and
Small Business Banking segment to our PB&I customer service model. To provide a view of organic growth in PB&I, we allocate the original
migrated deposit balances, including attrition, as well as the corresponding Net Interest Income at original spreads from PB&I to ALM/Other.
Management believes that the resulting PB&I business approximates an organic, incremental view of the business.

Net Income decreased $1 million, or one percent, and $94 million, or 19 percent, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006,
compared to the same periods in the prior year. The decrease in Net Income was primarily due to a decrease in Net Interest Income partially
offset by an increase in Noninterest Income. Net Interest Income decreased $19 million and $143 million for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2006, compared to the same periods in the prior year, driven by a reduction from ALM activities due to a flattening yield curve,
partially offset by higher Net Interest Income on deposits due to migration of certain banking relationships from Global Consumer and Small
Business Banking. The total cumulative average impact of migrated balances was $49.2 billion and $47.8 billion for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2006, compared to $41.5 billion $37.7 billion for the same periods in 2005. Noninterest Income benefited from $50 million
in equity gains for the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

All Other

Three Months Ended September 30 Nine Months Ended September 30
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005
Net interest income $ 65 $ 9 $ 93 $ (296)
Noninterest income
Equity investment gains 687 640 1,835 1,471
All other income 117 (674) (648) (405)
Total noninterest income 570 (34) 1,187 1,066
Total revenue 635 (25) 1,280 770
Provision for credit losses 41 40) 37
Gains (losses) on sales of debt securities (483) 13 497) 847
Merger and restructuring charges & 269 120 561 353
All other noninterest expense 93) 132 58 240
Income before income taxes "’ 24) (305) 204 987
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Income tax expense (benefit) (76) (185)
Net income $ 52 $ (120)
Shareholder value added $ 15 $ (614)

(DFully taxable-equivalent basis

(@ For more information on Merger and Restructuring Charges, see Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Included in A/l Other are our Equity Investments businesses and Other.

Equity Investments includes Principal Investing, and Corporate and Strategic Investments. Principal Investing is comprised of a diversified
portfolio of investments in privately-held and publicly-traded companies at all stages of their life cycle from start-up to buyout. Corporate
Investments primarily includes investments in publicly traded equity securities and funds and are accounted for as available-for-sale (AFS)
securities and recorded in Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Strategic Investments includes the Corporation s strategic
investments in CCB, Santander and Banco Itau. The $1.9 billion equity investment in Banco Itau was recorded in Corporate and Strategic
Investments and the resulting $720 million gain (pre-tax) was recorded within Global Corporate and Investment Banking. Income associated
with Equity Investments is recorded in Equity Investment Gains and includes gains (losses) on sales of these investments, dividends, and
Principal Investing s fair value adjustments of its investments.

The following table presents the components of All Other s Equity Investment Gains and a reconciliation to the total consolidated Equity
Investment Gains for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.

Components of Equity Investment Gains

Three Months Ended September 30 Nine Months Ended September 30
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005
Principal Investing $ 604 $ 550 $ 1,347 $ 1,096
Corporate and Strategic Investments 83 90 488 375
Total All Other equity investment gains 687 640 1,835 1,471
Other equity investment gains M 18 73 287 220
Total consolidated equity investment gains $ 705 $ 713 $ 2,122 $ 1,691

() Other equity investment gains include results from activities within the three business segments.

The Other component of All Other includes the residual impact of the allowance for credit losses and the cost allocation processes, Merger and
Restructuring Charges, intersegment eliminations, and the results of certain consumer finance and commercial lending businesses that are being
liquidated. Other also includes certain amounts associated with ALM activities, including the residual impact of funds transfer pricing allocation
methodologies, amounts associated with the change in the value of derivatives used as economic hedges of interest rate and foreign exchange
rate fluctuations that do not qualify for SFAS 133 hedge accounting treatment, gains or losses on sales of whole mortgage loans, and Gains
(Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities. The objective of the funds transfer pricing allocation methodology is to neutralize the businesses from
changes in interest rate and foreign exchange fluctuations. Accordingly, for segment reporting purposes, the businesses receive the neutralizing
benefit to Net Interest Income related to the economic hedges previously mentioned, with the offset recorded in Other. Other also includes FTE
adjustments, through Noninterest Income and Income Tax Expense (Benefit), that impact the effective tax rate. See Note 14 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements for information associated with the FTE adjustments relating to Net Interest Income.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income increased $172 million to $52 million driven primarily by an increase in other income and a decrease in other noninterest expense
which was partially offset by a decrease in Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities and an increase in Merger and Restructuring Charges. The
increase in other income of $557 million was primarily the result of 2005 being negatively affected by the change in the value of derivatives of
$(418) million used as economic hedges that did not qualify for SFAS 133 hedge accounting treatment and a $65 million gain on the sale of
property that occurred in 2006. Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities decreased $496 million primarily due to a loss on the sale of
mortgage-backed securities which was driven by an overall strategic shift in our balance sheet strategy to hold a lower level of investments in
securities relative to loans (see Interest Rate Risk Management Securities on page 99 for further discussion). Merger and Restructuring Charges
increased $149 million due to the MBNA merger. See Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information associated with

the MBNA merger. Other noninterest expense declined $225 million due to decreases in general operating expenses.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) was $(76) million in 2006 as compared to $(185) million in 2005. The decrease in the tax benefit was driven by a
lower pre-tax loss, as well as higher effective tax expense, resulting from the prior implications of purchase accounting associated with certain
FleetBoston leveraged leases which were sold during the quarter. The gain on
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the leverage lease sales was recorded in Global Corporate Investment Banking, and the impact of the high effective tax expense was allocated as
a FTE charge to Noninterest Income. All Other includes an offset to this FTE impact.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Income decreased $607 million, or 74 percent, primarily due to a decrease of $1.3 billion in Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities and
an increase of $208 million in Merger and Restructuring Charges which was partially offset by increases in Net Interest Income of $389 million,
Equity Investment Gains of $364 million and decreases in all other noninterest expense of $182 million. The increase in Equity Investment
Gains was largely driven by an increase in Principal Investing of $251 million due to favorable market conditions and increased liquidity in the
markets. The decrease in Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities was primarily driven by a loss on the sale of mortgage-backed securities
described in the three month discussion above combined with the impact of gains recorded on the sales of mortgage-backed securities in 2005.
The increase in Merger and Restructuring Charges and decrease in all other noninterest expense was driven by the same factors as described in
the three month discussion above.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) was $(7) million in 2006 compared to $169 million in 2005. This change was driven by the decrease in pre-tax
income, partially offset by a $175 million cumulative tax charge in 2006 resulting from the change in tax legislation relating to the
extraterritorial income and foreign sales corporation regimes.

Off-Balance Sheet Financing Entities

Off-Balance Sheet Commercial Paper Conduits

In addition to traditional lending, we also support our customers financing needs by facilitating their access to the commercial paper markets.
These markets provide an attractive, lower-cost financing alternative for our customers. Our customers sell assets, such as high-grade trade or
other receivables or leases, to a commercial paper financing entity, which in turn issues high-grade short-term commercial paper that is
collateralized by the underlying assets. The purpose and use of these types of entities are more fully discussed on page 31 of Management s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Corporation s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on May 25, 2006.

We receive fees for providing combinations of liquidity, standby letters of credit (SBLCs) or similar loss protection commitments, and
derivatives to the commercial paper financing entities. We manage our credit risk on these commitments by subjecting them to our normal
underwriting and risk management processes. At September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, we had off-balance sheet liquidity commitments
and SBLCs to these entities of $30.9 billion and $25.9 billion. Substantially all of these liquidity commitments and SBLCs mature within one
year. These amounts are included in Table 10. Net revenues earned from fees associated with these off-balance sheet financing entities were
approximately $67 million and $52 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.

Qualified Special Purpose Entities

To manage our capital position and diversify funding sources, we will, from time to time, sell assets to off-balance sheet entities that obtain
financing by issuing commercial paper, term notes, or both to our customers. These entities are Qualified Special Purpose Entities (QSPEs) that
have been isolated beyond our reach or that of our creditors, even in the event of bankruptcy or other receivership. The purpose and use of these
types of entities are more fully discussed on page 31 of Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Corporation s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2006.
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We may provide liquidity, SBLCs or similar loss protection commitments to these entities, or we may enter into derivatives with these entities in
which we assume certain risks. We manage any credit or market risk on commitments or derivatives through normal underwriting and risk
management processes. At September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, we had off-balance sheet liquidity commitments, SBLCs and other
financial guarantees to these entities of $7.4 billion and $7.1 billion, for which we received fees of $8 million and $7 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. Substantially all of these commitments mature within one year and are included in Table 10. Derivative
activity related to these entities is included in Note 4 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In addition, as a result of the MBNA merger on January 1, 2006, the Corporation acquired interests in off-balance sheet credit card securitization
vehicles which issue both commercial paper and medium-term notes. We hold subordinated interests issued by these entities, which are QSPEs,
but do not otherwise provide liquidity or other forms of loss protection to these vehicles. For additional information on credit card
securitizations, see Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Obligations and Commitments

We have contractual obligations to make future payments on debt and lease agreements. Additionally, in the normal course of business, we enter
into contractual arrangements whereby we commit to future purchases of products or services from unaffiliated parties. These obligations are
more fully discussed in Note 10 of the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes 12 and 13 of the Consolidated Financial Statements filed as
Exhibit 99.2 to the Corporation s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2006.

Many of our lending relationships contain funded and unfunded elements. The funded portion is reflected on our balance sheet. The unfunded
component of these commitments is not recorded on our balance sheet until a draw is made under the credit facility; however, a reserve is
established for probable losses. These commitments, as well as guarantees, are more fully discussed in Note 10 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

The following table summarizes the total unfunded, or off-balance sheet, credit extension commitment amounts by expiration date. At
September 30, 2006, charge cards (nonrevolving card lines) to individuals and government entities guaranteed by the U.S. government in the
amount of $9.6 billion (related outstandings of $255 million) were not included in credit card line commitments in the table below.

Table 10

Credit Extension Commitments

September 30, 2006

Expires in
1 year

(Dollars in millions) or less Thereafter Total

Loan commitments "’ $ 145819 $ 178,137 $ 323,956
Home equity lines of credit 1,800 92,386 94,186
Standby letters of credit and financial guarantees 30,419 19,121 49,540
Commercial letters of credit 4,753 592 5,345
Legally binding commitments 182,791 290,236 473,027
Credit card lines * 831,790 12,521 844,311
Total $1,014,581  $ 302,757 $1,317,338

(1) Included at September 30, 2006, are equity commitments of $1.6 billion related to obligations to further fund Principal Investing equity investments.

(@ As part of the MBNA merger, on January 1, 2006, the Corporation acquired $588.4 billion of unused credit card lines.

Managing Risk

Our management governance structure enables us to manage all major aspects of our business through an integrated planning and review process
that includes strategic, financial, associate, customer and risk planning. We derive much of our revenue from managing risk from customer
transactions for profit. In addition to qualitative factors, we utilize quantitative measures to optimize risk and reward trade offs in order to
achieve growth targets and financial objectives while reducing the variability of earnings and minimizing unexpected losses. Risk metrics that
allow us to measure performance include economic capital targets, SVA targets and corporate risk limits. By allocating capital to a business unit,
we effectively define that unit s ability to take on risk. Country, trading, asset class and other limits supplement the allocation of economic
capital. These limits are based on an analysis of risk and reward in each business unit and management is responsible for tracking and reporting
performance measurements as well as any exceptions to guidelines or limits. Our risk management process continually evaluates risk and
appropriate metrics needed to measure it. Our business exposes us to the following major risks: strategic, liquidity, credit, market and
operational. For a more detailed discussion of our risk management activities, see pages 33 through 62 of Management s Discussion and Analysis
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of Financial Condition and Results of Operations filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Corporation s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2006.

Strategic Risk Management

The Board provides oversight for strategic risk through the CEO and the Finance Committee. We use an integrated business planning process to
help manage strategic risk. A key component of the planning process aligns strategies, goals, tactics and resources. The process begins with an
assessment that creates a plan for the Corporation, setting the corporate strategic direction. The planning process then cascades through the
business units, creating business unit plans that are
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aligned with the Corporation s direction. Tactics and metrics are monitored to ensure adherence to the plans. As part of this monitoring, business
units must perform periodic self-assessments further described in the Operational Risk Management section beginning on page 103. This
assessment looks at changing market and business conditions, and the overall risk in meeting objectives. Corporate Audit in turn monitors, and
independently reviews and evaluates, the plans and self-assessments.

One of the key tools for managing strategic risk is capital allocation. Through allocating capital, we effectively manage each business segment s
ability to take on risk. Review and approval of business plans incorporates approval of capital allocation, and economic capital usage is
monitored through financial and risk reporting.

Liquidity Risk and Capital Management

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity is the ongoing ability to accommodate liability maturities and deposit withdrawals, fund asset growth and business operations, and
meet contractual obligations through unconstrained access to funding at reasonable market rates. Liquidity management involves forecasting
funding requirements and maintaining sufficient capacity to meet the needs and accommodate fluctuations in asset and liability levels due to
changes in our business operations or unanticipated events. A more detailed discussion of our liquidity risk is included beginning on page 35 of
Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Corporation s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2006.

One ratio used to monitor the stability of our funding composition is the loan to domestic deposit (LTD) ratio. This ratio reflects the percent of
Loans and Leases that are funded by domestic customer deposits, a relatively stable funding source. A ratio below 100 percent indicates that our
loan portfolio is completely funded by domestic customer deposits. The ratio was 116 percent at September 30, 2006 compared to 102 percent at
December 31, 2005. The increase was primarily attributable to the acquisition of MBNA, organic growth in the loan and lease portfolio, and a
strategic shift to retain a larger share of mortgage production on the Corporation s balance sheet.

The parent company maintains a cushion of excess liquidity that would be sufficient to fully fund holding company and nonbank affiliate
operations for an extended period during which funding from normal sources is disrupted. The primary measure used to assess the parent
company s liquidity is the Time to Required Funding during such a period of liquidity disruption. As of September 30, 2006, Time to Required
Funding was 22 months compared to 29 months at December 31, 2005. The reduction reflects the pre-funding of the $5.2 billion cash payment
related to the MBNA acquisition combined with an increase in share repurchases.

We originate loans for retention on our balance sheet and for distribution. As part of our originate to distribute strategy, commercial loan
originations are distributed through syndication structures, and residential mortgages originated by Mortgage and Home Equity are frequently
distributed in the secondary market. In connection with our balance sheet management activities, we may retain mortgage loans originated as
well as purchase and sell loans based on our assessment of market conditions. During the three months ended September 30, 2006, the
Corporation made a strategic shift in its balance sheet composition strategy. As part of this strategic shift, management targeted a reduction of
mortgage-backed securities of approximately $100 billion over the next couple of years in order to achieve a balance sheet composition that
would be consistent with management s revised risk-reward profile. This will reduce the Corporation s concentration in mortgage-backed
securities and provide for a future balance sheet composition more heavily concentrated in loans. See Interest Rate Risk Management Securities
beginning on page 99 for further discussion.

Regulatory Capital
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As a regulated financial services company, we are governed by certain regulatory capital requirements. Presented in Table 11 are the regulatory
capital ratios, actual capital amounts and minimum required capital amounts for the Corporation, Bank of America, N.A., FIA Card Services,
N.A., and Bank of America, N.A. (USA) at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005. Effective June 10, 2006, MBNA America Bank, N.A.
was renamed FIA Card Services, N.A. Additionally, on October 20, 2006, Bank of America, N.A. (USA) merged into FIA Card Services, N.A.
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Table 11

Regulatory Capital

September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005
Actual Actual Minimum
Minimum
(Dollars in millions) Ratio Amount Required M Ratio Amount Required (D
Risk-based capital
Tier 1
Bank of America Corporation 848 % $ 88,085 $ 41,571 825 % $ 74,375 $ 36,059
Bank of America, N.A. 9.05 76,360 33,744 8.70 69,547 31,987
FIA Card Services, N.A. @ 22.03 14,217 2,582
Bank of America, N.A. (USA) 10.92 6,370 2,333 8.66 5,567 2,570
Total
Bank of America Corporation 11.46 119,074 83,143 11.08 99,901 72,118
Bank of America, N.A. 11.04 93,106 67,487 10.73 85,773 63,973
FIA Card Services, N.A. ? 25.42 16,409 5,164
Bank of America, N.A. (USA) 13.87 8,090 4,666 11.46 7,361 5,140
Tier 1 Leverage
Bank of America Corporation 6.16 88,085 42,882 5.91 74,375 37,732
Bank of America, N.A. 6.65 76,360 34,425 6.69 69,547 31,192
FIA Card Services, N.A. ® 23.21 14,217 1,838
Bank of America, N.A. (USA) 11.43 6,370 1,672 9.37 5,567 1,783

(D Dollar amount required to meet guidelines for adequately capitalized institutions.

(DFIA Card Services, N.A. is presented for periods subsequent to December 31, 2005.

Basel I1

On September 25, 2006, the Agencies officially published several documents providing updates to the Basel II Risk-Based Capital Standards for
the United States as well as new Regulatory Reporting Requirements related to these Risk-Based Capital Standards for review and comment by
U.S.-based banks and trade associations. With the publication, a 120 day public comment period began, providing an opportunity to submit
comments for consideration to the Agencies. The Agencies consist of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Office of the Comptroller
of the Currency and the Office of Thrift Supervision, collectively with the Federal Reserve.

These documents included previously published regulations and guidance as well as revised Market Risk rules and a proposal including several
new regulatory reporting templates. These Capital Standards are expected to be finalized in 2007.

We continue our execution efforts to ensure preparedness with Basel II requirements. Our goal is to achieve full compliance by the start of the
domestic parallel processing in 2008. Further, we anticipate being ready for all international reporting requirements that occur before this time.
We continue to interact regularly with regulators in this process.

Dividends
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On October 25, 2006, the Board declared a regular quarterly cash dividend on common stock of $0.56 per share, payable on December 22, 2006
to common shareholders of record on December 1, 2006. On July 26, 2006, the Board increased the quarterly cash dividend on common stock
12 percent from $0.50 to 0.56 per share.

Common Share Repurchases

We will continue to repurchase shares, from time to time, in the open market or in private transactions through our approved repurchase
programs. We repurchased approximately 231 million shares of common stock for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, which more than
offset the 98.3 million shares issued under employee stock plans. On April 26, 2006, the Board authorized a stock repurchase program of up to
200 million shares of the Corporation s common stock at an aggregate cost not to exceed $12.0 billion to be completed within a period of 18
months. As of September 30, 2006, 123.2 million shares remained outstanding under the 2006 authorized plan. For additional information on
common share repurchases, see Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Preferred Stock

In November 2006, the Corporation issued 74,000 shares, or $1.9 billion, of Bank of America Corporation Floating Rate Non-Cumulative
Preferred Stock, Series E (Series E Preferred Stock) with a par value of $0.01 per share. An option to purchase up to an additional 11,100 shares
of Series E Preferred Stock, at a purchase price of $25,000 per share, has been granted to the underwriters. Ownership is held in the form of
depositary shares, each representing a 1/1,000 interest in a share of Series E Preferred Stock, paying a quarterly cash dividend on the liquidation
preference of $25,000 per share of Series E Preferred Stock at an annual rate equal to the greater of (a) three-month London InterBank Offered
Rates (LIBOR) plus 0.35 percent and (b) 4.00 percent, payable quarterly in arrears. On any dividend date on or after November 15, 2011, the
Corporation may redeem Series E Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at its option, at $25,000 per share, plus accrued and unpaid dividends.
Series E Preferred Stock shares are not subject to the operations of a sinking fund, have no participation rights and are not convertible. The
holders of Series E Preferred Stock have no general voting rights. If any quarterly dividend payable on the Series E Preferred Stock is in arrears
for six or more quarterly dividend periods (whether consecutive or not) the holders of the Series E Preferred Stock and any other class or series
of preferred stock ranking equally with the Series E Preferred Stock as to payment of dividends and upon which equivalent voting rights have
been conferred and are exercisable (voting as a single class) will be entitled to vote for the election of two additional directors. These voting
rights terminate when the Corporation has paid in full dividends on the Series E Preferred Stock for at least four quarterly dividend periods
following the dividend arrearage.

During October 2006, the Board declared a $0.38775 regular cash dividend on the 6.204% Non-Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series D (Series D
Preferred Stock). The dividend is payable December 14, 2006, to shareholders of record on November 30, 2006.

In September 2006, the Corporation authorized 34,500 shares and issued 33,000 shares, or $825 million, of Series D Preferred Stock with a par
value of $0.01 per share. Ownership is held in the form of depositary shares, each representing a 1/1,000 interest in a share of Series D Preferred
Stock, paying a quarterly cash dividend on the liquidation preference of $25,000 per share of Series D Preferred Stock at an annual rate of 6.204
percent. On any dividend date on or after September 14, 2011, the Corporation may redeem Series D Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at its
option, at $25,000 per share, plus accrued and unpaid dividends. Series D Preferred Stock shares are not subject to the operation of a sinking
fund, have no participation rights and are not convertible. The holders of Series D Preferred Stock have no general voting rights. If any quarterly
dividend payable on the Series D Preferred Stock is in arrears for six or more quarterly dividend periods (whether consecutive or not), the
holders of the preferred stock and any other class or series of preferred stock ranking equally with the Series D Preferred Stock as to payment of
dividends and upon which equivalent voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable (voting as a single class) will be entitled to vote for
the election of two additional directors. These voting rights terminate when the Corporation has paid in full dividends on the Series D Preferred
Stock for at least four quarterly dividend periods following the dividend arrearage.

During July 2006, the Corporation redeemed its 6.75% Perpetual Preferred Stock with a stated value of $250 per share. The 382,450 shares, or
$96 million, outstanding of preferred stock were redeemed at the stated value of $250 per share, plus accrued and unpaid dividends.

Also during July 2006, the Corporation redeemed its Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock with a stated value of $250 per
share. The 700,000 shares, or $175 million, outstanding of preferred stock were redeemed at the stated value of $250 per share, plus accrued and
unpaid dividends.

For additional information on the issuance and redemption of preferred stock, see Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Credit Risk Management

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from the inability of a borrower or counterparty to meet its obligations. Credit risk can also arise from
operational failures that result in an advance, commitment or investment of funds. We define the credit exposure to a borrower or counterparty
as the loss potential arising from all product classifications, including loans and leases, derivatives, trading account assets, assets held-for-sale,
and unfunded lending commitments that include loan commitments, letters of credit and financial guarantees. For derivative positions, our credit
risk is measured as the net replacement cost in the event the counterparties with contracts in a gain position to us fail to perform under the terms
of those
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contracts. We use the current mark-to-market value to represent credit exposure without giving consideration to future mark-to-market changes.
The credit risk amounts take into consideration the effects of legally enforceable master netting agreements. Our consumer and commercial
credit extension and review procedures take into account funded and unfunded credit exposures. For additional information on derivatives and
credit extension commitments, see Notes 4 and 10 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

For credit risk purposes, we evaluate our Card Services operations on both a held and managed basis (a non-GAAP measure). Managed basis
treats securitized loan receivables as if they were still on the balance sheet. We evaluate credit performance on a managed basis as the
receivables that have been securitized are subject to the same underwriting standards and ongoing monitoring as the held loans. For additional
discussion of credit quality statistics of both held and managed loans, refer to the Card Services discussion beginning on page 55. For additional
information on securitizations, refer to Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We manage credit risk based on the risk profile of the borrower or counterparty, repayment sources, the nature of underlying collateral, and
other support given current events, conditions and expectations. We classify our Loans and Leases as either consumer or commercial and
monitor their credit risk separately as discussed below.

Consumer Portfolio Credit Risk Management

For a detailed discussion of our consumer portfolio credit risk management process, see page 38 of Management s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Corporation s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2006. For
additional information on our managed portfolio, refer to Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Table 12 presents outstanding consumer loans and leases at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.
Table 12

Outstanding Consumer Loans and Leases

September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005

(Dollars in millions) Amount Percent Amount Percent
Residential mortgage $ 218,918 504 % $ 182,596 513 %
Credit card domestic 60,130 13.9 58,548 16.5
Credit card foreign 9,937 23

Home equity lines 71,577 16.5 62,098 17.5
Direct/Indirect consumer " 62,985 145 45,490 12.8
Other consumer 10,468 2.4 6,725 1.9
Total consumer loans and leases $ 434,015 100.0 % $ 355,457 100.0 %

(DIncludes home equity loans of $10.6 billion and $8.1 billion at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.

(@ Includes foreign consumer of $7.6 billion and $3.8 billion, and consumer finance of $2.9 billion and $2.8 billion at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.

Concentrations of Consumer Credit Risk

Our consumer credit risk is diversified both geographically and through our various product offerings. In addition, credit decisions are
statistically based with tolerances set to decrease the percentage of approvals as the risk profile increases.
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From time to time, we purchase credit protection on certain portions of our consumer portfolio. This protection is designed to enhance our
overall risk management strategy. At September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, we had mitigated a portion of our credit risk on
approximately $137.3 billion and $110.4 billion of residential mortgage and indirect automobile loans through the purchase of credit protection.
Our regulatory risk-weighted assets were reduced as a result of these transactions because we transferred a portion of our credit risk to
unaffiliated parties. At September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, these transactions had the cumulative effect of reducing our risk-weighted
assets by $37.4 billion and $30.6 billion, and resulted in increases of 30 bps and 28 bps in our Tier 1 Capital ratio at September 30, 2006 and
December 31, 2005.
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Consumer Portfolio Credit Quality Performance

Overall, consumer credit quality remained stable in the first nine months of 2006 as performance was favorably impacted by lower
bankruptcy-related charge-offs.

The entire balance of an account is contractually delinquent if the minimum payment is not received by the specified date on the customer s
billing statement. Interest and fees continue to accrue on past due loans until the date the loan goes into nonaccrual status, if applicable.
Delinquency is reported on accruing loans that are 30 days or more past due.

Credit card loans are charged off no later than the end of the month in which the account becomes 180 days past due or in which 60 days has
elapsed since receipt of notification of bankruptcy filing and are not classified as nonperforming. Other unsecured consumer loans are charged
off no later than the end of the month in which the account becomes 120 days past due or 60 days past due if in bankruptcy and are not classified
as nonperforming. Deficiencies in non-real estate secured loans and leases are charged off no later than the end of the month in which the
account becomes 120 days past due and are generally not classified as nonperforming. Real estate secured consumer loans are placed on
nonaccrual and are classified as nonperforming no later than 90 days past due. The amount deemed uncollectible on real estate secured loans is
charged off at 180 days past due.

Table 13 presents consumer net charge-offs and net charge-off ratios on the held portfolio during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2006 and 2005.

Table 13

Consumer Net Charge-offs and Net Charge-off Ratios (V)

Three Months Ended September 30 Nine Months Ended September 30
2006 2005 2006 2005

(Dollars in millions) Amount  Percent Amount  Percent Amount  Percent Amount Percent
Residential mortgage $ 6 001 % $ 7 002 % $ 30 002 % $ 22 0.02 %
Credit card domestic 853 5.42 772 5.55 2,210 4.53 2,286 5.76
Credit card foreign 70 2.94 146 2.24
Home equity lines 11 0.06 9 0.06 32 0.06 24 0.06
Direct/Indirect consumer 152 0.99 60 0.50 334 0.77 167 0.50
Other consumer 85 3.03 58 3.42 202 2.52 157 3.00
Total consumer $1,177 1.07 % $906 1.06 % $2,954 096 % $ 2,656 1.07 %

(DPercentage amounts are calculated as annualized net charge-offs divided by average outstanding consumer loans and leases during the period for each loan
category.

As presented in Table 13, consumer net charge-offs from on-balance sheet loans increased $271 million to $1.2 billion, and $298 million to $3.0
billion for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to the same periods in 2005. The increase in consumer net charge-offs
for both periods was primarily driven by the addition of the MBNA portfolio. The three month comparison was also impacted by changes made
in 2005 in credit card minimum payment requirements which resulted in 2006 net charge-offs. The increase in the nine month comparison was
partially offset by a decrease in credit card domestic net charge-offs. See below for a discussion of the impact of SOP 03-3 on the MBNA
portfolio.

Net charge-offs for the held credit card  domestic portfolio increased $81 million to $853 million, or 5.42 percent of total average held credit
card domestic loans for the three months ended September 30, 2006 compared to 5.55 percent for the same period in 2005. This increase was
driven by changes made in 2005 in credit card minimum payment requirements which resulted in 2006 net charge-offs, new advances on
accounts for which previous loan balances were sold to the securitization trusts, the addition of the MBNA portfolio and seasoning of the
portfolio. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in bankruptcy-related net charge-offs. Net charge-offs for the held credit card
domestic portfolio decreased $76 million to $2.2 billion, or 4.53 percent of total average held credit card ~domestic loans for the nine months
ended September 30, 2006 compared to 5.76 percent for the same period in 2005. This decrease was primarily driven by lower
bankruptcy-related net charge-offs partially offset by new advances on accounts for which previous loan balances were sold to the securitization
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trusts, the addition of the MBNA portfolio and seasoning of the portfolio.

Net losses for the managed credit card domestic portfolio increased $614 million to $1.5 billion, or 4.23 percent of total average managed credit
card domestic loans for the three months ended September 30, 2006 compared to 5.74 percent of
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total average managed credit card domestic loans for the three months ended September 30, 2005. Net losses for the managed credit card
domestic portfolio increased $1.1 billion to $3.8 billion, or 3.65 percent of total average managed credit card domestic loans for the nine months
ended September 30, 2006 compared to 6.04 percent of total average managed credit card domestic loans for the nine months ended
September 30, 2005. Managed losses were primarily higher due to the addition of the MBNA portfolio and seasoning of the portfolio, partially
offset by lower bankruptcy-related net losses. The 151 bps and 239 bps decreases in the managed credit card ~domestic portfolio net loss ratio for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 were driven by the beneficial impact of MBNA and lower net losses resulting from
bankruptcy reform. The three month comparison was also impacted by losses in 2006 related to changes made in 2005 for credit card minimum
payment requirements.

Net charge-offs for the held credit card ~ foreign portfolio were $70 million, or 2.94 percent, and $146 million, or 2.24 percent for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2006. Net losses for the managed credit card  foreign portfolio were $270 million, or 4.17 percent, and $690
million, or 3.82 percent, of total average managed credit card foreign loans for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006. These net
charge-offs and net losses relate to the addition of the MBNA portfolio.

Table 14

Credit Card Net Charge-offs/Losses and Net Charge-off/Loss Ratios

Three Months Ended September 30

2006 2005
Held Basis Managed Basis Held Basis Managed Basis
(Dollars in millions) Amount Percent Amount  Percent Amount  Percent Amount  Percent
Net Charge-offs/Losses
Credit card domestic $ 853 542 % $ 1,478 423 % $ 772 555 % $ 864 574 %
Credit card foreign 70 2.94 270 4.17
Average Balances
Credit card domestic 62,508 138,545 55,271 59,762
Credit card foreign 9,455 25,593
Nine Months Ended September 30
2006 2005
Held Basis Managed Basis Held Basis Managed Basis
(Dollars in millions) Amount Percent Amount  Percent Amount  Percent Amount  Percent
Net Charge-offs/Losses
Credit card domestic $ 2,210 453 % $ 3,778 3.65 % $ 2,286 576 % $ 2,658 6.04 %
Credit card foreign 146 2.24 690 3.82
Average Balances
Credit card domestic 65,198 138,402 53,033 58,821
Credit card foreign 8,725 24,136

SOP 03-3 addresses accounting for differences between contractual cash flows and cash flows expected to be collected from an investor s initial
investment in loans acquired in a transfer if those differences are attributable, at least in part, to credit quality. SOP 03-3 prohibits carrying over
or the creation of valuation allowances in the initial accounting of all loans acquired in a transfer that are within the scope of the SOP (categories
of loans for which it is probable, at the time of acquisition, that all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement will not
be collected). The prohibition of the valuation allowance carryover applies to the purchase of an individual loan, a pool of loans, a group of
loans, and loans acquired in a purchase business combination.

In accordance with SOP 03-3, certain acquired loans of MBNA that were considered impaired were written down to fair value at the acquisition
date. Therefore, reported charge-offs and managed losses were lower since these impaired loans that would have been charged off during the
period were reduced to fair value as of the acquisition date. SOP 03-3 did not impact the securitized loan portfolio.

Consumer net charge-offs and net charge-off ratios as reported and excluding the impact of SOP 03-3 for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2006 are presented below. Management believes that excluding the impact of SOP 03-3 from the net charge-offs and the net
charge-off ratios provides a more accurate reflection of portfolio credit quality.
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Table 15

Consumer Net Charge-offs and Net Charge-off Ratios (Excluding the Impact of SOP 03-3) ¥

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006

As Reported Excluding Impact As Reported Excluding Impact
(Dollars in millions) Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent
Residential mortgage $ 6 001 % $ 6 001 % $ 30 002 % $ 30 002 %
Credit card domestic 853 5.42 863 5.48 2,210 4.53 2,298 4.71
Credit card foreign 70 2.94 75 3.13 146 2.24 195 2.98
Home equity lines 11 0.06 11 0.06 32 0.06 32 0.06
Direct/Indirect consumer 152 0.99 157 1.02 334 0.77 406 0.94
Other consumer 85 3.03 91 3.22 202 2.52 239 2.98
Total consumer $1,177 1.07 % $1,203 1.09 % $2,954 096 % $3,200 1.04 %

(DThis table presents a non-GAAP financial measure. Net charge-offs exclude the impact of SOP 03-3 which decreased net charge-offs on credit card domestic
$10 million and $88 million, credit card foreign $5 million and $49 million, direct/indirect consumer $5 million and $72 million, and other consumer $6 million
and $37 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006. The impact of SOP 03-3 on average outstanding consumer loans and leases for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 was not material.

As presented in Table 16, nonperforming consumer assets increased $111 million to $957 million at September 30, 2006 from December 31,

2005. Nonperforming consumer loans and leases were $897 million at September 30, 2006 compared to $785 million at December 31, 2005,

representing 0.21 percent and 0.22 percent of outstanding consumer loans and leases. Nonperforming home equity lines increased $58 million

due to growth and seasoning of the portfolio.

Table 16

Nonperforming Consumer Assets

September 30 December 31
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005
Nonperforming consumer loans and leases
Residential mortgage $ 599 $ 570
Home equity lines 175 117
Direct/Indirect consumer 37 37
Other consumer 86 61
Total nonperforming consumer loans and leases 897 785
Consumer foreclosed properties 60 61
Total nonperforming consumer assets ¥ $ 957 $ 846
Nonperforming consumer loans and leases as a percentage of outstanding
consumer loans and leases 021 % 022 %
Nonperforming consumer assets as a percentage of outstanding consumer loans,
leases and foreclosed properties 0.22 0.24

(DBalances do not include $28 million and $24 million of nonperforming consumer loans held-for-sale, included in Other Assets at September 30, 2006 and
December 31, 2005.
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Table 17 presents the additions and reductions to nonperforming assets in the consumer portfolio during the most recent five quarters.
Table 17

Nonperforming Consumer Assets Activity

Third Second First Fourth Third

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005
Nonperforming loans and leases
Balance, beginning of period $ 805 $ 785 $ 785 $ 688 $ 678
Additions to nonperforming loans and leases:
New nonaccrual loans and leases 394 314 274 354 256
Reductions in nonperforming loans and leases:
Paydowns and payoffs (61) (35) (7) (33) (52)
Sales 27) (33) (31) (35) (25)
Returns to performing status (163) (173) (183) (141) (120)
Charge-offs * (33) (41) (33) @7 (29)
Transfers to foreclosed properties (18) (12) (20) (17) (20)
Transfers to loans held-for-sale (@)
Total net additions to nonperforming loans and leases 92 20 97 10
Total nonperforming loans and leases, end of period 897 805 785 785 688
Foreclosed properties
Balance, beginning of period 47 62 61 63 62
Additions to foreclosed properties:
New foreclosed properties 49 31 40 34 35
Reductions in foreclosed properties:
Sales 10) (32) (31) (29) (28)
Writedowns (26) (14) (8) (7) (6)
Total net additions to (reductions in) foreclosed properties 13 (15) 1 2) 1
Total foreclosed properties, end of period 60 47 62 61 63
Nonperforming consumer assets, end of period $ 957 $ 852 $ 847 $ 846 $ 751

() Consumer loans and leases are generally returned to performing status when principal or interest is less than 90 days past due.

(2 Our policy is not to classify consumer credit card and consumer non-real estate loans and leases as nonperforming; therefore, the charge-offs on these loans are
not included.

On-balance sheet consumer loans and leases 90 days or more past due and still accruing interest totaled $2.5 billion at September 30, 2006, and
were up $1.2 billion from December 31, 2005. Included in this balance at September 30, 2006 were $111 million of residential mortgage loans
related to repurchases pursuant to our servicing agreements with Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA) mortgage pools whose
repayments are insured by the Federal Housing Administration or guaranteed by the Department of Veterans Affairs. In addition, included in
loans held-for-sale at December 31, 2005 were $161 million of government-guaranteed GNMA residential mortgage loans 90 days or more past
due and still accruing interest. There were no such balances at September 30, 2006. The increase in total consumer loans and leases 90 days or
more past due and still accruing interest from December 31, 2005 was primarily driven by an increase of $659 million in credit card domestic due
to seasoning of the portfolio, adoption of MBNA collection practices that have historically led to higher delinquencies but lower losses, the trend
toward more normalized loss levels and the addition of the MBNA portfolio. Other increases in consumer loans and leases 90 days or more past
due and accruing interest of $192 million in consumer direct/indirect and $181 million in credit card foreign were due to the addition of MBNA.

Commercial Portfolio Credit Risk Management
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For a detailed discussion of our commercial portfolio credit risk management process, see page 41 of Management s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Corporation s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2006.
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Table 18 presents outstanding commercial loans and leases at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.
Table 18

Outstanding Commercial Loans and Leases

September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005
(Dollars in millions) Amount Percent Amount Percent
Commercial domestic $ 154,578 65.7% $ 140,533 64.3%
Commercial real estate " 37,121 15.8 35,766 16.4
Commercial lease financing 21,289 9.1 20,705 9.5
Commercial foreign 22,146 9.4 21,330 9.8
Total commercial loans and leases $ 235,134 100.0 % $218,334 100.0%

(DIncludes domestic commercial real estate loans of $36.4 billion and $35.2 billion, and foreign commercial real estate loans of $768 million and $585 million at
September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.

Concentrations of Commercial Credit Risk

Portfolio credit risk is evaluated and managed with a goal that concentrations of credit exposure do not result in undesirable levels of risk. We
review, measure, and manage concentrations of credit exposure by industry, product, geography and customer relationship. Distribution of loans
and leases by loan size is an additional measure of the portfolio risk diversification. We also review, measure, and manage commercial real
estate loans by geographic location and property type. In addition, within our international portfolio, we evaluate borrowings by region and by
country. Tables 19 through 24 summarize these concentrations.

From the perspective of portfolio risk management, customer concentration management is most relevant in Global Corporate and Investment
Banking. Within that group s Business Lending and Capital Markets and Advisory Services portfolios, we facilitate bridge financing to fund
acquisitions and other short-term needs as well as providing syndicated financing for our clients. These client transactions are sometimes large
and leveraged. They can also have a higher degree of risk as we are providing offers or commitments for various components of the clients
capital structures, including lower rated unsecured and subordinated debt tranches. These concentrations are managed in part through our
established originate to distribute strategy. In many cases, these offers to finance will not be accepted. If accepted, these highly conditioned
commitments are often retired prior to or shortly following funding via the placement of securities, syndication or the client s decision to
terminate. Where we have a binding commitment and there is a market disruption or other unexpected event, there may be heightened exposure

in the portfolios, an increase in criticized assets and higher potential for loss, until an orderly disposition of the exposure can be made.

In Business Lending within Global Corporate and Investment Banking, concentrations are actively managed through the underwriting and
ongoing monitoring processes, the established strategy of originate to distribute and through the utilization of various risk mitigation tools, such
as credit derivatives, to economically hedge our risk to certain credit counterparties. Credit derivatives are financial instruments that we purchase
for protection against the deterioration of credit quality. Earnings volatility increases due to accounting asymmetry as we mark-to-market the
credit derivatives, as required by SFAS 133. The exposures being hedged, including the funding commitments, are accounted for on an accrual
basis. Once funded, these exposures are accounted for at historical cost less an allowance for credit losses or, if held-for-sale, at the lower of cost

or market.

At September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, we had net notional credit default protection purchased in our credit derivatives portfolio of
$9.1 billion and $14.7 billion. The mark-to-market impact from the credit default protection resulted in net losses of $34 million and $172
million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to net losses of $43 million and net gains of $95 million in the
comparable periods in 2005. Losses in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 primarily reflected the impact of credit spread
tightening across most of our hedge positions. Effective January 1, 2006, we record the impact of these credit derivatives that economically
hedge the portfolio in Other Income in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Prior to January 1, 2006, the impact was recorded in Trading
Account Profits. Prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to current period presentation. The average Value-at-Risk (VAR) for
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these credit derivative hedges was $63 million for the twelve months ended September 30, 2006, and $61 million for the twelve months ended
September 30, 2005. There is a diversification effect between the credit derivative hedges and the market-based trading portfolio such that their
combined average VAR was $60 million and $59 million for the twelve months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. Refer to the discussion on
page 97 for a description of our VAR calculation for market-based trading portfolio.
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Table 19 shows commercial credit exposure by industry in the categories of utilized exposure, unfunded exposure and total committed exposure
and includes commercial loans and leases, SBLCs and financial guarantees, derivative assets, assets held-for-sale, and commercial letters of
credit. These amounts exclude the impact of our credit hedging activities, which are separately shown in Table 20. As shown in Table 19, our
commercial credit exposure is diversified across a broad range of industries. Total commercial credit exposure increased by $39.7 billion, or
seven percent to $603.8 billion at September 30, 2006 compared to December 31, 2005. Real estate increased by $5.2 billion, or seven percent,
due primarily to high levels of commercial mortgage-backed securities activity in 2006, which is included in assets held-for-sale. Government
and public education increased $4.3 billion, or 13 percent, due primarily to increases in exposure to various state and local government entities.
The addition of MBNA contributed to growth in a number of industries including individuals and trusts, insurance, and healthcare equipment
and services.

Table 19

Commercial Credit Exposure by Industry %2

Commercial Utilized Commercial Unfunded Total Commercial
(Dollars in millions)
September 30 December 31 September 30 December 31 September 30 December 31
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Real estate ® $ 52,791 $ 47,580 $ 22815 $ 22,793 $ 75,606 $ 70,373
Diversified financials 27,074 24,975 40,567 39,098 67,641 64,073
Retailing 28,177 25,189 15,496 16,778 43,673 41,967
Government and public education 21,589 19,041 16,095 14,309 37,684 33,350
Capital goods 16,332 15,337 18,810 17,667 35,142 33,004
Banks 24,607 21,755 10,078 9,056 34,685 30,811
Consumer services 18,421 17,481 12,243 12,014 30,664 29,495
Individuals and trusts 18,720 16,754 10,134 7,594 28,854 24,348
Materials 15,710 16,754 12,131 12,139 27,841 28,893
Healthcare equipment and services 15,245 13,455 11,874 12,039 27,119 25,494
Commercial services and supplies 14,243 13,038 8,118 8,114 22,361 21,152
Food, beverage and tobacco 10,675 11,194 8,946 9,396 19,621 20,590
Energy 9,516 9,061 8,509 8,038 18,025 17,099
Utilities 6,714 5,507 11,007 9,675 17,721 15,182
Transportation 11,142 11,297 5,997 5,683 17,139 16,980
Insurance 6,646 4,745 10,101 9,123 16,747 13,868
Media 6,379 6,701 8,763 8,549 15,142 15,250
Religious and social organizations 7,817 7,426 2,747 2,596 10,564 10,022
Consumer durables and apparel 5,147 5,142 4,367 4,176 9,514 9,318
Telecommunication services 3,577 3,520 5,092 5,673 8,609 9,193
Pharmaceuticals and biotechnology 3,743 1,675 3,588 3,231 7,331 4,906
Technology hardware and equipment 2,820 3,116 4,393 4,055 7,213 7,171
Software and services 2,364 2,573 3,481 3,135 5,845 5,708
Automobiles and components 1,481 1,602 3,683 4,276 5,164 5,878
Food and staples retailing 2,122 2,258 1,960 1,983 4,082 4,241
Household and personal products 672 536 1,375 1,133 2,047 1,669
Semiconductors and semiconductor equipment 1,150 536 554 583 1,704 1,119
Other 5,531 2,503 455 423 5,986 2,926
Total $ 340,405 $ 310,751 $263,379 $ 253,329 $ 603,784 $ 564,080

(D December 31, 2005 industry balances have been restated to reflect the realignment of industry codes utilizing Standard & Poor s industry classifications and
internal industry management.

(@ Derivative Assets are reported on a mark-to-market basis and have been reduced by the amount of cash collateral applied of $7.8 billion and $9.3 billion at
September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005. Commercial utilized credit exposure at December 31, 2005 has been restated to reflect cash collateral applied to
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Derivative Assets. In addition to cash collateral, Derivative Assets are also collateralized by $7.7 billion and $7.8 billion of other marketable securities at
September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 for which the credit risk has not been reduced.

(3 Industries are viewed from a variety of perspectives to best isolate the perceived risks. For purposes of this table, the real estate industry is defined based upon
the borrowers or counterparties primary business activity using operating cash flow and primary source of repayment as key factors.
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Table 20 shows our net credit default protection by industry. To lessen the cost of obtaining our desired credit protection levels, credit exposure
may be added within an industry, borrower or counterparty group by selling protection. A negative notional amount indicates a net amount of
protection purchased in a particular industry; conversely, a positive notional amount indicates a net amount of protection sold in a particular
industry. Credit protection is purchased to cover the funded portion as well as the unfunded portion of credit exposure. Since December 31,
2005, our net credit default swap positions have been reduced by $5.6 billion reflecting our view of the underlying risk in our excess
concentrations and our near term outlook on the credit environment.

Table 20

Net Credit Default Protection by Industry (V)

September 30 December 31
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005
Telecommunication services $ (1,149) $ (1,205)
Media 971) (1,790)
Retailing (790) (1,134)
Real estate (785) (1,305)
Materials (649) (1,119)
Consumer services (573) (788)
Automobiles and components (518) (679)
Insurance (508) (1,493)
Utilities (450) (899)
Banks (415) (315)
Capital goods 412) (741)
Commercial services and supplies 407) 472)
Energy 373) (589)
Food, beverage and tobacco (348) (580)
Healthcare equipment and services 317) (709)
Pharmaceuticals and biotechnology (248) 470)
Transportation (222) (323)
Food and staples retailing (201) (324)
Consumer durables and apparel (190) 475)
Software and services (153) (299)
Diversified financials 45) (250)
Semiconductors and semiconductor equipment 45) 54)
Government and public education 30)
Technology hardware and equipment Q) (402)
Individuals and trusts 3 30)
Household and personal products 75 75
Other ? 661 1,677
Total $ (9,065) $ (14,693)

(D' December 31, 2005 industry balances have been restated to reflect the realignment of industry codes utilizing Standard & Poor s industry classifications and
internal industry management.

(@ Represents net credit default swaps index positions, including tranched index exposure, which were principally investment grade. Indices are comprised of
corporate credit derivatives that trade as an aggregate index value. Generally, they are grouped into portfolios based on specific ratings of credit quality or
global geographic location. As of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, CDS index positions were sold to reflect our current view of the credit markets.
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Table 21 shows the maturity profile of the net credit default protection portfolio at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.
Table 21

Net Credit Default Protection by Maturity Profile

September 30 December 31
2006 2005
Less than or equal to one year 2 % %
Greater than one year and less than or equal to five years 52 65
Greater than five years 46 35
Total 100 % 100 %

Table 22 shows our net credit default protection portfolio by credit exposure debt rating at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.
Table 22

Net Credit Default Protection by Credit Exposure Debt Rating ("

(Dollars in millions) September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005

Ratings Net Notional Percent Net Notional Percent
AAA $ @3 01 % $ (22) 02 %
AA (125) 14 (523) 3.6

A (2,699) 29.8 (4,861) 33.1
BBB (4,946) 54.6 (8,572) 58.2

BB (1,463) 16.1 (1,792) 12.2

B (360) 4.0 (424) 2.9
CCC and below 112) 1.2 (149) 1.0

NR @ 653 (1.2) 1,650 (11.2)
Total $ (9,065) 100.0 % $ (14,693) 100.0 %

(D1n order to mitigate the cost of purchasing credit protection, credit exposure can be added by selling credit protection. The distribution of debt rating for net
notional credit default protection purchased is shown as negative amounts and the net notional credit protection sold is shown as positive amounts.

(@1n addition to unrated names, NR includes $661 million and $1.7 billion in net credit default swaps index positions at September 30, 2006 and December 31,
2005. While index positions are principally investment grade, credit default swaps indices include names in and across each of the ratings categories.
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Table 23 presents outstanding commercial real estate loans by geographic region and property type diversification. The amounts outstanding
exclude commercial loans and leases secured by owner-occupied real estate. Commercial loans and leases secured by owner-occupied real estate
are made on the general creditworthiness of the borrower where real estate is obtained as additional security and the ultimate repayment of the
credit is not dependent on the sale, lease and rental, or refinancing of the real estate. For purposes of this table, commercial real estate reflects
loans dependent on the sale of the real estate as the primary source of repayment. The increase in residential property type loans was driven by
higher utilizations in the for sale housing sector due to increased construction and land costs.

Table 23

Outstanding Commercial Real Estate Loans

(Dollars in millions) September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005
By Geographic Region ¥

California $ 7,716 $ 7,615
Northeast 6,666 6,337
Southeast 5,426 4,370
Florida 3,923 4,507
Southwest 3,723 3,658
Midwest 2,361 2,595
Northwest 2,103 2,048
Midsouth 1,942 1,485
Other 1,021 873
Geographically diversified ® 1,472 1,693
Non-U.S. 768 585
Total $ 37,121 $ 35,766
By Property Type

Residential $ 8,686 $ 7,601
Office buildings 4,813 4,984
Apartments 4,173 4,461
Land and land development 4,144 3,715
Shopping centers/retail 3,900 4,165
Industrial/warehouse 2,828 3,031
Multiple use 1,165 996
Hotels/motels 999 790
Resorts 160 183
Other ¥ 6,253 5,840
Total $ 37,121 $ 35,766

(D Distribution is based on geographic location of collateral. Geographic regions are in the U.S. unless otherwise noted.

(2 The geographically diversified category is comprised primarily of unsecured outstandings to real estate investment trusts and national homebuilders whose
portfolios of properties span multiple geographic regions.

()Represents loans to borrowers whose primary business is commercial real estate, but the exposure is not secured by the listed property types.

Foreign Portfolio
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As shown in Table 24, at September 30, 2006, foreign exposure to borrowers or counterparties in emerging markets increased $3.6 billion to
$20.8 billion compared to $17.2 billion at December 31, 2005. The increase was primarily due to higher sovereign and corporate securities
trading exposures in Asia Pacific. Foreign exposure to borrowers or counterparties in emerging markets represented 16 percent and 20 percent of
total foreign exposure at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.

At September 30, 2006, 59 percent of the emerging markets exposure was in Asia Pacific, compared to 51 percent at December 31, 2005. Asia
Pacific emerging markets exposure increased by $3.6 billion. Growth was driven by higher cross border sovereign and corporate securities
trading exposure primarily in South Korea, as well as higher other financing and loan exposures in both India and South Korea. Our investment
in CCB accounted for $3.0 billion of reported exposure in China at both September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.
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In August 2006, we entered into a definitive agreement with CCB to sell Bank of America (Asia) Ltd., our retail and commercial banking
franchise in Hong Kong for total consideration of approximately $1.25 billion. Closing is subject to regulatory approval. As previously
disclosed, our corporate banking and wholesale franchises are not impacted by this sale.

At September 30, 2006, 40 percent of the emerging markets exposure was in Latin America compared to 49 percent at December 31, 2005.
Lower exposures in Chile and Brazil were offset by an increase in Mexico. The decline in Chile was due to higher local liabilities which reduced
our local currency exposure. The decline in Brazil was due to the closure of the transaction for the sale of our Brazilian operations in exchange
principally for equity in Banco Itau. As of September 30, 2006, our investment in Banco Itau accounted for $1.9 billion of reported exposure in
Brazil.

Similar to the transaction for the sale of our Brazilian operations, in August, 2006, we announced a definitive agreement to sell our operations in
Chile and Uruguay for equity in Banco Itau and other consideration for approximately $615 million. Each closing is subject to regulatory
approval and is expected to be completed in 2006 or early 2007.

The sale of our Brazilian operations and the closing of the Chile and Uruguay transactions will result in Bank of America holding approximately
7.4 percent of the equity of Banco Itau through voting and non-voting shares.

The increased exposures in Mexico were attributable to higher loan exposures. Our 24.9 percent investment in Santander accounted for $2.2
billion and $2.1 billion of reported exposure in Mexico at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.

In December 2005, we entered into a definitive agreement with a consortium led by Johannesburg-based Standard Bank Group Limited for the
sale of our assets and liabilities in Argentina. Closing is subject to obtaining regulatory approvals and is expected to be completed in 2006 or
early 2007.
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Table 24 sets forth regional foreign exposure to selected countries in emerging markets.
Table 24

Selected Emerging Markets ("

Loans and

Local Total Increase/
Leases, Total Country Foreign (Decrease)
Derivative Securities/ Cross- Exposure Exposure from

and Loan Other Assets Other Border Net of Local September 30 December 31
(Dollars in millions) Commitments Financing &) Investments 4  Exposure )  Liabilities (® 2006 2005
Region/Country
Asia Pacific
China $ 230 $ 70 $ 42 3 3,167 $ 3509 $ $ 3509 $ 105
South Korea 200 713 91 2,064 3,068 3,068 1,913
India 792 419 234 695 2,140 2,140 549
Taiwan 301 55 84 164 604 444 1,048 130
Hong Kong 367 51 23 374 815 815 256
Singapore 249 13 39 435 736 736 266
Macau 69 17 6 66 158 179 337 92
Malaysia 13 2 1 298 314 314 225
Other Asia Pacific 4 21 9 317 351 351 90
Total Asia Pacific 2,225 1,361 529 7,580 11,695 623 12,318 3,626
Latin America
Mexico 958 257 128 2,502 3,845 3,845 521
Brazil 838 106 23 1,980 2,947 426 3,373 (98)
Chile 239 16 1 256 329 585 (395)
Argentina 36 17 74 127 60 187 @)
Other Latin America 102 105 4 62 273 15 288 (71)
Total Latin America 2,173 501 155 4,619 7,448 830 8,278 (50)
Central and Eastern
Europe ? 26 30 14 110 180 180 38
Total $ 4424 $§ 1892 § 698 $ 12,309 $ 19,323 $ 1453 $ 20,776 $ 3,614

(D'There is no generally accepted definition of emerging markets. The definition that we use includes all countries in Latin America excluding Cayman Islands and
Bermuda; all countries in Asia Pacific excluding Japan, Australia and New Zealand; and all countries in Central and Eastern Europe excluding Greece.

(@ 1Includes acceptances, standby letters of credit, commercial letters of credit and formal guarantees.

() Derivative Assets are reported on a mark-to-market basis and have been reduced by the amount of cash collateral applied of $18 million and $55 million at
September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005. There are no other marketable securities collateralizing Derivative Assets as of September 30, 2006. Derivative
Assets were collateralized by $3 million of other marketable securities at December 31, 2005.

() Generally, cross-border resale agreements are presented based on the domicile of the counterparty because the counterparty has the legal obligation for
repayment except where the underlying securities are U.S. Treasuries, in which case where the domicile is the U.S., and are therefore excluded from this
presentation. For regulatory reporting under Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) guidelines, cross-border resale agreements are
presented based on the domicile of the issuer of the securities that are held as collateral.

)
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Cross-border exposure includes amounts payable to us by borrowers or counterparties with a country of residence other than the one in which the credit is
booked, regardless of the currency in which the claim is denominated, consistent with FFIEC reporting rules.

(®Local country exposure includes amounts payable to us by borrowers with a country of residence in which the credit is booked, regardless of the currency in
which the claim is denominated. Management subtracts local funding or liabilities from local exposures as allowed by the FFIEC. Total amount of available
local liabilities funding local country exposure at September 30, 2006 was $22.7 billion compared to $24.2 billion at December 31, 2005. Local liabilities at
September 30, 2006 in Asia Pacific and Latin America were $16.9 billion and $5.8 billion of which $7.5 billion were in Hong Kong, $6.2 billion in Singapore,
$2.0 billion in Chile, $1.8 billion in Argentina, $1.2 billion in Mexico, $897 million in South Korea, $871 million in India, $744 million in Uruguay, and $532
million in China. There were no other countries with available local liabilities funding local country exposure greater than $500 million.

(DNo country included in Other Asia Pacific, Other Latin America, and Central and Eastern Europe had total foreign exposure of more than $300 million.
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Commercial Portfolio Credit Quality Performance

Commercial credit quality continued to be good in the first nine months of 2006.
Table 25 presents commercial net charge-offs and net charge-off ratios for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.
Table 25

Commercial Net Charge-offs and Net Charge-off Ratios ¥

Three Months Ended September 30 Nine Months Ended September 30

2006 2005 2006 2005
(Dollars in millions) Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount @  Percent Amount Percent
Commercial domestic $111 029 % $ 54 0.17 % $213 019 % $ 73 0.08 %
Commercial real estate 2 0.02 2 0.02 2 0.01 3 0.01
Commercial lease financing 209 4.06 40) (0.26) 243 1.58
Commercial foreign 13) 0.21) (26) (0.55) 7 (0.04) 61) (0.45)
Total commercial $100 017 % $ 239 047 % $ 168 010 % $258 0.18 %

() Percentage amounts are calculated as annualized net charge-offs divided by average outstanding loans and leases during the period for each loan category.
@1Includes a reduction in net charge-offs on commercial domestic of $17 million as a result of the impact of SOP 03-3 for the nine months ended September 30,
2006. See discussion of SOP 03-3 in the Consumer Portfolio Credit Quality Performance section.
Commercial net charge-offs in the three months ended September 30, 2006 totaled $100 million, a decrease of $139 million from the same
period in 2005. The charge-offs in 2006 in the commercial domestic category were primarily in small business commercial product due to
portfolio seasoning and the addition of MBNA. The charge-offs for the three months ended September 30, 2005 were centered in commercial
lease financing related to the domestic airline industry. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, net charge-offs totaled $168 million, a
decrease of $90 million from the same period in 2005. The decrease was centered in commercial lease financing which experienced a higher
level of airline industry charge-offs in 2005. Commercial domestic net charge-offs for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 were up $140
million from the same period in 2005 due to a lower level of recoveries, small business commercial product portfolio seasoning and the addition
of MBNA. Commercial foreign net charge-offs continued to be in a net recovery position for both the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2006. The lower net recovery position for the nine month period was primarily driven by higher charge-offs in Brazil.

As presented in Table 26, commercial utilized criticized credit exposure was essentially flat at $7.6 billion at September 30, 2006 compared to
December 31, 2005. Newly criticized exposure of $6.1 billion was offset by $6.0 billion of paydowns, payoffs, credit quality improvements,
charge-offs and loan sales. From a line of business perspective, the most significant net increase was $147 million in Global Consumer and
Small Business Banking, primarily attributable to the MBNA business credit card portfolio. The most significant improvement was in Global
Corporate and Investment Banking, with a net decrease of $108 million primarily attributable to the sale of our Brazilian operations and a
reduction in commercial assets held-for-sale.

Commercial utilized criticized exposure currently includes funded bridge and/or syndicated loans that are intended to be distributed, syndicated
or retired in the normal course of business and do not represent deterioration in the portfolio. This held-for-sale funded bridge exposure is
included in Other Assets and recorded at the lower of cost or market. See further discussion on bridge financing on page 83.
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Table 26

Commercial Utilized Criticized Exposure V

September 30, 2006
(Dollars in millions) Amount Percent (2)
Commercial domestic $ 5,477 2.59
Commercial real estate 744 1.55
Commercial lease financing 572 2.69
Commercial foreign 760 1.28
Total commercial utilized criticized exposure ¥ $7,553 2.22

December 31, 2005

Amount Percent (2:3)
% $5,259 275 %
723 1.63
611 2.95
934 1.73
% $7,527 242 %

(D Criticized exposure corresponds to the Special Mention, Substandard and Doubtful asset categories defined by regulatory authorities. Exposure amounts include
loans and leases, SBLCs and financial guarantees, Derivative Assets, assets held-for-sale and commercial letters of credit.

(2 Commercial utilized criticized exposure is taken as a percentage of total commercial utilized credit exposure.

() Commercial - domestic and total commercial utilized criticized exposure ratios at December 31, 2005 have been restated to reflect cash collateral applied to

Derivative Assets that are in total commercial utilized credit exposure.

®1Includes funded bridge and/or syndicated loans of $252 million and $442 million at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 which are intended to be or

have been distributed, syndicated or retired.

Table 27 presents nonperforming commercial assets at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.

Table 27

Nonperforming Commercial Assets

(Dollars in millions)

Nonperforming commercial loans and leases

Commercial domestic

Commercial real estate

Commercial lease financing

Commercial foreign

Total nonperforming commercial loans and leases

Commercial foreclosed properties

Total nonperforming commercial assets (V

Nonperforming commercial loans and leases as a percentage of outstanding
commercial loans and leases

Nonperforming commercial assets as a percentage of outstanding commercial loans,
leases and foreclosed properties

September 30

2006

$ 544
68

35

36

683

16

$ 699

0.29

0.30

December 31

2005

$ 581
49

62

34

726

31

$ 757

%0 033 %

0.35

(DBalances do not include $71 million and $45 million of nonperforming commercial assets, primarily commercial loans held-for-sale, included in Other Assets at

September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.
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Table 28 presents the additions and reductions to nonperforming assets in the commercial portfolio during the most recent five quarters.
Table 28

Nonperforming Commercial Assets Activity

Third Second First Fourth Third

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(Dollars in millions) 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005
Nonperforming loans and leases
Balance, beginning of period $ 762 $ 799 $ 726 $ 810 $ 1,092
Additions to nonperforming loans and leases:
New nonaccrual loans and leases 174 204 286 215 213
Advances 13 6 3 8 11
Reductions in nonperforming loans and leases:
Paydowns and payoffs (115) (32) (152) (149) (131)
Sales (41) (74) ©)] )
Returns to performing status o (26) 17 (10) 27) (16)
Charge-offs © (84) (124) A1) (122) (303)
Transfers to foreclosed properties 3) 3)
Transfers to loans held-for-sale (10) 44)
Total net additions to (reductions in) nonperforming loans and leases 79) 37 73 (84) (282)
Total nonperforming loans and leases, end of period 683 762 799 726 810
Nonperforming securities
Balance, beginning of period 14
Reductions in nonperforming securities:
Paydowns, payoffs, and exchanges (14)
Total net reductions in nonperforming securities (14)
Total nonperforming securities, end of period
Foreclosed properties
Balance, beginning of period 27 34 31 36 49
Additions to foreclosed properties:
New foreclosed properties 1 1 4 4
Reductions in foreclosed properties:
Sales ) (@) (1) 3) 14
Writedowns 7 (D 2) 2)
Charge-offs (D
Total net additions to (reductions in) foreclosed properties a1 @) 3 5) (13)
Total foreclosed properties, end of period 16 27 34 31 36
Nonperforming commercial assets, end of period $ 699 $ 789 $ 833 $ 757 $ 846

(D Commercial loans and leases may be restored to performing status when all principal and interest is current and full repayment of the remaining contractual
principal and interest is expected, or when the loan otherwise becomes well secured and is in the process of collection.

() Certain loan and lease products, including business credit card, are not classified as nonperforming; therefore, the charge-offs on these loans are not included.
At September 30, 2006, Other Assets included commercial loans held-for-sale of $22.1 billion, of which $71 million was nonperforming, and
leveraged lease partnership interests of $173 million. At December 31, 2005, Other Assets included commercial loans held-for-sale of $7.3
billion, of which $45 million was nonperforming, and leveraged lease partnership interests of $183 million. The $14.8 billion increase in
commercial loans held-for-sale was centered in Capital Markets and Advisory Services within Global Corporate and Investment Banking.
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Commercial loans and leases 90 days or more past due and still accruing interest, were $267 million at September 30, 2006, an increase of $99
million compared to December 31, 2005 primarily due to a $109 million increase in commercial ~domestic driven by the addition of the MBNA
business credit card portfolio.
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Provision for Credit Losses

The Provision for Credit Losses was $1.2 billion, for the three months ended September 30, 2006, essentially flat compared to the same period in
2005. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Provision for Credit Losses was $3.4 billion, a 32 percent increase compared to the
same period in 2005.

The consumer portion of the Provision for Credit Losses decreased $129 million to $1.0 billion for the third quarter and increased $150 million
to $3.2 billion for the first nine months of 2006 compared to the same periods a year ago. The increase resulting from the addition of MBNA was
more than offset in the third quarter comparison, and was partially offset in the nine month comparison, by reduced credit-related costs on the
domestic credit card portfolio. In the nine month comparison, the absence of $210 million provision recorded in the second quarter of 2005 to
establish reserves for changes in credit card minimum payment requirements also partially offset the increase in provision. For discussions of the
impact of SOP 03-3, see Consumer Portfolio Credit Quality Performance on page 79.

The commercial portion of the Provision for Credit Losses increased $142 million to $116 million, and $664 million to $218 million for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, primarily due to the absence in 2006 of the benefits from release of reserves in 2005 related to
reduced exposures in Latin America. The provision was also higher due to the addition of MBNA. In addition to the drivers for the three month
comparison, the increase in provision in the nine month comparison also resulted from the absence of the benefits from the release of reserves in
2005 related to reduced uncertainties associated with the FleetBoston credit integration as well as lower recoveries in 2006 and seasoning of the
small business commercial product portfolios.

Allowance for Credit Losses

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses

The Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses is allocated based on two components. We evaluate the adequacy of the Allowance for Loan and
Lease Losses based on the combined total of these two components.

The first component of the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses covers those commercial loans that are either nonperforming or impaired. An
allowance is allocated when the discounted cash flows (or collateral value or observable market price) are lower than the carrying value of that
loan. For purposes of computing the specific loss component of the allowance, larger impaired loans are evaluated individually and smaller
impaired loans are evaluated as a pool using historical loss experience for the respective product type and risk rating of the loans.

The second component of the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses covers performing commercial loans and leases, and consumer loans. The
allowance for commercial loan and lease losses is established by product type after analyzing historical loss experience by internal risk rating,
current economic conditions, industry performance trends, geographic or obligor concentrations within each portfolio segment, and any other
pertinent information. The commercial historical loss experience is updated quarterly to incorporate the most recent data reflective of the current
economic environment. As of September 30, 2006, quarterly updating of historical loss experience did not have a material impact to the
allowance for commercial loan and lease losses. The allowance for consumer loan and lease losses is based on aggregated portfolio segment
evaluations, generally by product type. Loss forecast models are utilized for consumer products that consider a variety of factors including, but
not limited to, historical loss experience, estimated defaults or foreclosures based on portfolio trends, delinquencies, economic trends and credit
scores. These consumer loss forecast models are updated on a quarterly basis in order to incorporate information reflective of the current
economic environment. As of September 30, 2006, quarterly updating of the loss forecast models did not have a material impact on allowance
for consumer loan and lease losses. Included within this second component of the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses and determined
separately from the procedures outlined above are reserves which are maintained to cover uncertainties that affect our estimate of probable
losses including the imprecision inherent in the forecasting methodologies, as well as domestic and global economic uncertainty, large single
name defaults and event risk.
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‘We monitor differences between estimated and actual incurred loan and lease losses. This monitoring process includes periodic assessments by
senior management of loan and lease portfolios and the models used to estimate incurred losses in those portfolios.
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Additions to the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses are made by charges to the Provision for Credit Losses. Credit exposures deemed to be
uncollectible are charged against the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses. Recoveries of previously charged off amounts are credited to the
Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses.

The Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses for the consumer portfolio as presented in Table 30 increased $789 million from December 31, 2005
to $5.3 billion at September 30, 2006. The increase was primarily attributable to the addition of MBNA.

The allowance for commercial loan and lease losses was $3.6 billion at September 30, 2006, a $38 million increase from December 31, 2005.
This increase is primarily attributable to the addition of MBNA partially offset by the impact of the sale of our Brazilian operations.

Within the individual consumer and commercial product categories, credit card domestic allowance levels include reductions throughout 2006
from new securitizations and reductions as reserves established in 2005 for changes in minimum payment requirements were utilized to absorb
associated net charge-offs. Direct/indirect consumer allowance levels increased as the Corporation discontinued new sales of receivables into
consumer finance securitization trusts. Commercial domestic allowance levels also increased as reserves were established for new advances on
business credit card accounts for which previous loan balances were sold to the securitization trusts.

Reserve for Unfunded Lending Commitments

In addition to the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses, we also estimate probable losses related to unfunded lending commitments, such as
letters of credit and financial guarantees, and binding unfunded loan commitments. Unfunded lending commitments are subject to individual
reviews, and are analyzed and segregated by risk according to our internal risk rating scale. These risk classifications, in conjunction with an
analysis of historical loss experience, current economic conditions and performance trends within specific portfolio segments, and any other
pertinent information result in the estimation of the reserve for unfunded lending commitments. The reserve for unfunded lending commitments
is included in Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

We monitor differences between estimated and actual incurred credit losses upon draws of the commitments. This monitoring process includes
periodic assessments by senior management of credit portfolios and the models used to estimate incurred losses in those portfolios.

Changes to the reserve for unfunded lending commitments are made through the Provision for Credit Losses. The reserve for unfunded lending
commitments at September 30, 2006 was $388 million, a decrease of $7 million from December 31, 2005, attributable to the impact of the sale
of our Brazilian operations.
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Table 29 presents a rollforward of the allowance for credit losses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.

Table 29

Allowance for Credit Losses

(Dollars in millions)

Allowance for loan and lease losses, beginning of period
MBNA balance, January 1, 2006

Loans and leases charged off

Residential mortgage

Credit card domestic

Credit card foreign

Home equity lines

Direct/Indirect consumer

Other consumer

Total consumer
Commercial domestic
Commercial real estate
Commercial lease financing

Commercial foreign
Total commercial

Total loans and leases charged off

Recoveries of loans and leases previously charged off
Residential mortgage

Credit card domestic

Credit card foreign

Home equity lines

Direct/Indirect consumer

Other consumer

Total consumer
Commercial domestic
Commercial real estate
Commercial lease financing

Commercial foreign

Total commercial

Total recoveries of loans and leases previously charged off
Net charge-offs

Provision for loan and lease losses

Other

Allowance for loan and lease losses, September 30

Reserve for unfunded lending commitments, beginning of

period
Provision for unfunded lending commitments

Other
Reserve for unfunded lending commitments,
September 30

Total

Loans and leases outstanding at September 30

Allowance for loan and lease losses as a percentage of loans
and leases outstanding at September 30

Consumer allowance for loan and lease losses as a
percentage of consumer loans and leases outstanding at
September 30

Commercial allowance for loan and lease losses as a
percentage of commercial loans and leases outstanding at

Table of Contents

Three Months Ended
September 30
2006 2005
$ 9,080 $ 8319

17) (14)
(984) (871)

(85)

(14) (12)
(205) on
132) (84)

(1,437) (1,072)
(155) (133)
3) 2

()] (215)

(34) 17)

(200) (367)
(1,637) (1,439)
11 7
131 99
15
3 3
53 31
47 26
260 166
44 79
1
8 6
47 43
100 128
360 294
1,277) (1,145)
1,165 1,152

96)

8,872 8,326

395 383

7

@

388 390

$ 9,260 $ 8,716
$ 669,149 $ 554,612
133 % 1.50

1.22 1.37

1.52 1.72

%

Nine Months Ended
September 30
2006 2005
$ 8,045 $ 8,626
577
(57) (44)
(2,569) (2,554)

(189)

(44) (35)
(498) (261)
(309) (235)

(3,666) (3,129)
(400) (381)
) (5)

(16) (267)

(74) (37)
(495) (690)

(4,161) (3,819)
27 22
359 268
43
12 11

164 94

107 78

712 473

187 308

3 2
56 24
81 98
327 432
1,039 905
3,122) (2,914)
3,440 2,626
(68) (12)
8,872 8,326
395 402
(12)
W)
388 390
$ 9,260 $ 8,716
$ 669,149 $ 554,612
133 % 1.50 %
1.22 1.37
1.52 1.72
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September 30

Average loans and leases outstanding during the period $ 673,477 $ 539,497 $ 641,909 $ 528,331
Annualized net charge-offs as a percentage of average loans

and leases outstanding during the period (1) 075 % 084 % 0.65 % 074 %
Allowance for loan and lease losses as a percentage of

nonperforming loans and leases at September 30 562 556 562 556
Ratio of the allowance for loan and lease losses at

September 30 to annualized net charge-offs (1) 1.75 1.83 2.13 2.14

(DFor the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, the impact of SOP 03-3 decreased net charge-offs by $26 million and $263 million. Excluding the
impact of SOP 03-3, annualized net charge-offs as a percentage of average loans and leases outstanding for the three and nine months ended September 30,

2006 was 0.77 percent and 0.70 percent, and the ratio of the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses at September 30, 2006 to annualized net charge-offs was
1.72 and 1.97.
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For reporting purposes, we allocate the allowance for credit losses across products. However, the allowance is available to absorb any credit
losses without restriction. Table 30 presents our allocation by product type.

Table 30

Allocation of the Allowance for Credit Losses by Product Type

September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005
(Dollars in millions) Amount Percent Amount Percent
Allowance for loan and lease losses
Residential mortgage $ 273 31 % $ 277 34 %
Credit card domestic 3,078 34.7 3,301 41.0
Credit card foreign 264 3.0
Home equity lines 135 1.5 136 1.7
Direct/Indirect consumer 1,066 12.0 421 5.2
Other consumer 488 5.5 380 4.8
Total consumer 5,304 59.8 4,515 56.1
Commercial domestic 2,256 25.4 2,100 26.1
Commercial real estate 592 6.7 609 7.6
Commercial lease financing 222 2.5 232 29
Commercial foreign 498 5.6 589 73
Total commercial 3,568 40.2 3,530 43.9
Allowance for loan and lease losses 8,872 100.0 % 8,045 100.0 %
Reserve for unfunded lending commitments 388 395
Total $9,260 $ 8,440

(DIncludes allowance for loan and lease losses on commercial impaired loans of $50 million and $55 million at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.

Market Risk Management

Market risk is the risk that values of assets and liabilities or revenues will be adversely affected by changes in market conditions such as market
movements. This risk is inherent in the financial instruments associated with our operations and/or activities including loans, deposits, securities,
short-term borrowings, long-term debt, trading account assets and liabilities, and derivatives. Market-sensitive assets and liabilities are generated
through loans and deposits associated with our traditional banking business, our customer and proprietary trading operations, our ALM
activities, credit risk mitigation activities, and mortgage banking activities. More detailed information on our market risk management process is
included on pages 53 through 61 of Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations filed as Exhibit
99.1 to the Corporation s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2006.
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Trading Risk Management

The histogram of daily revenue or loss below is a graphic depiction of trading volatility and illustrates the daily level of trading-related revenue
for the twelve months ended September 30, 2006. Trading-related revenue encompasses proprietary trading and customer-related activities.
During the twelve months ended September 30, 2006, positive trading-related revenue was recorded for 94 percent of the trading days.
Furthermore, only one percent of the total trading days had losses greater than $10 million, and the largest loss was $24 million. This can be
compared to the twelve months ended September 30, 2005, where positive trading-related revenue was recorded for 87 percent of the trading
days and only four percent of the total trading days had losses greater than $10 million, and the largest loss was $55 million.

Histogram of Daily Market Risk-related Revenue

Twelve Months Ended September 30, 2006

To evaluate risk in our trading activities, we focus on the actual and potential volatility of individual positions as well as portfolios. At a
portfolio and corporate level, we use VAR modeling and stress testing. VAR is a key statistic used to measure and manage market risk. Trading
limits and VAR are used to manage day-to-day risks and are subject to testing where we compare expected performance to actual performance.
This testing provides us a view of our models predictive accuracy. All limit excesses are communicated to senior management for review.

A VAR model estimates a range of hypothetical scenarios to calculate a potential loss which is not expected to be exceeded with a specified
confidence level. These estimates are impacted by the nature of the positions in the portfolio and the correlation within the portfolio. Within any
VAR model, there are significant and numerous assumptions that will differ from company to company. Our VAR model assumes a 99 percent
confidence level. Statistically, this means that losses will exceed VAR, on average, one out of 100 trading days, or two to three times each year.
Actual losses did not exceed VAR in the twelve months ended September 30, 2006 and exceeded VAR twice in the twelve months ended
September 30, 2005.

In addition to reviewing our underlying model assumptions, we seek to mitigate the uncertainties related to these assumptions and estimates
through close monitoring and by updating the assumptions and estimates on an ongoing basis. If the results of our analysis indicate higher than
expected levels of risk, proactive measures are taken to adjust risk levels.
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Table 31 presents average, high and low daily VAR for the twelve months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.
Table 31

Trading Activities Market Risk

Twelve Months Ended September 30

2006 2005

VAR VAR
(Dollars in millions) Average High @M Low ® Average High M Low (D
Foreign exchange $ 64 $ 193 $ 31 $ 54 $ 12.1 $ 24
Interest rate 19.3 50.0 8.8 25.3 58.2 10.7
Credit 26.5 35.1 184 20.9 322 14.4
Real estate/mortgage 9.2 15.8 4.7 10.4 20.7 49
Equities 19.8 39.6 12.6 15.9 35.1 8.0
Commodities 5.8 9.1 34 7.2 10.6 3.7
Portfolio diversification (45.6) 44.4)
Total market-based trading portfolio ® $ 414 $ 59.8 $ 293 $ 407 $ 67.0 $ 26.0

(D'The high and low for the total portfolio may not equal the sum of the individual components as the highs or lows of the individual portfolios may have occurred
on different trading days.

(2 See Commercial Portfolio Credit Risk Management on page 82 for a discussion of the VAR related to the credit derivatives that economically hedge the loan
portfolio.

Stress Testing

Because the very nature of a VAR model suggests results can exceed our estimates, we stress test our portfolio. Stress testing estimates the value
change in our trading portfolio due to abnormal market movements. Various stress scenarios are run regularly against the trading portfolio to
verify that, even under extreme market moves, we will preserve our capital; to determine the effects of significant historical events; and to
determine the effects of specific, extreme hypothetical, but plausible events. The results of the stress scenarios are calculated daily and reported

to senior management as part of the regular reporting process. The results of certain specific, extreme hypothetical scenarios are presented to the
Asset and Liability Committee.

Interest Rate Risk Management

Interest rate risk represents the most significant market risk exposure to our nontrading financial instruments. Our overall goal is to manage
interest rate risk so that movements in interest rates do not adversely affect Net Interest Income. Interest rate risk is measured as the potential
volatility in our Net Interest Income caused by changes in market interest rates. Client facing activities, primarily lending and deposit-taking,
create interest rate sensitive positions on our balance sheet. Interest rate risk from these activities, as well as the impact of changing market
conditions, is managed through our ALM activities.

Sensitivity simulations are used to estimate the impact on Net Interest Income of numerous interest rate scenarios, balance sheet trends and
strategies. These simulations estimate levels of short-term financial instruments, debt securities, loans, deposits, borrowings and derivative
instruments. In addition, these simulations incorporate assumptions about balance sheet dynamics such as loan and deposit growth and pricing,
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changes in funding mix, and asset and liability repricing and maturity characteristics. In addition to Net Interest Income sensitivity simulations,
market value sensitivity measures are also utilized.

The Balance Sheet Management group analyzes Net Interest Income forecasts utilizing different rate scenarios, with the base case utilizing the
forward market curve. The Balance Sheet Management group frequently updates the Net Interest Income forecast for changing assumptions and
differing outlooks based on economic trends and market conditions. Thus, we continually monitor our balance sheet position in an effort to
maintain an acceptable level of exposure to volatile interest rate changes.
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We prepare forward looking forecasts of managed Net Interest Income. These baseline forecasts take into consideration expected future business
growth, ALM positioning, and the direction of interest rate movements as implied by the forward market curve. We then measure and evaluate
the impact that alternative interest rate scenarios have to these static baseline forecasts in order to assess interest rate sensitivity under varied
conditions. The spot and 12-month forward rates used in our respective baseline forecasts at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 were
as follows:

Table 32
Forward Rates
September 30, 2006 December 31, 2005
Federal Ten-Year Federal Ten-Year
Funds Swap Funds Swap
Spot rates 525 % 517 % 425 % 494 %
12-month forward rates 4.75 5.17 4.75 4.97

The following table reflects the pre-tax dollar impact to forecasted Core Net Interest Income Managed Basis (see Table 7 on page 45) over the
next twelve months from September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, resulting from a 100 bp gradual parallel increase, a 100 bp gradual
parallel decrease, a 100 bp gradual curve flattening (increase in short-term rates or decrease in long-term rates) and a 100 bp gradual curve
steepening (decrease in short-term rates or increase in long-term rates) from the forward market curve.

Table 33

Estimated Core Net Interest Income Managed Basis at Risk

(Dollars in millions)

September 30 December 31
Curve Change Short Rate Long Rate 2006 2005
+100 Parallel shift +100 +100 $ (171) $ (357)
-100 Parallel shift -100 -100 544 244
Flatteners
Short end +100 (304) (523)
Long end -100 (191) (298)
Steepeners
Short end -100 734 536
Long end +100 132 168

The sensitivity analysis above assumes that we take no action in response to these rate shifts over the indicated years. The estimated exposure is
reported on a managed basis and reflects impacts that may be realized primarily in Net Interest Income and Card Income. This sensitivity
analysis excludes any impact that could occur in the valuation of retained interests in the Corporation s securitizations due to changes in interest
rate levels (see Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on Securitizations).

Beyond what is already implied in the forward market curve, the interest rate risk position has become less exposed to rising rates since
December 31, 2005 due to the termination of receive-fixed swap positions, the addition of pay-fixed swap positions, the addition of interest rate
option positions and a reduction in mortgage-backed securities holdings. These actions that reduced the exposure to rising rates were partially
offset by the addition of MBNA, which was liability sensitive, and a net increase in residential whole loan balances. Conversely, we would
benefit from falling rates or a steepening of the yield curve beyond what is already implied in the forward market curve.

As part of our ALM activities, we use securities, residential mortgages, and interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives in managing interest
rate sensitivity.
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Securities

The securities portfolio is an integral part of our ALM position. During the three months ended September 30, 2006, the Corporation made a
strategic shift in its balance sheet composition strategy to reduce the level of mortgage-backed securities and thereby reduce the level of
investments in debt securities relative to loans. Accordingly, management targeted a reduction of mortgage-backed securities of approximately
$100 billion over the next couple of years in order to achieve a
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balance sheet composition that would be consistent with management s revised risk-reward profile. This reduction will also reduce the
Corporation s concentration in overall debt securities and would provide for a future balance sheet composition more heavily concentrated in
loans.

During the three months ended September 30, 2006, the Corporation sold $43.7 billion of mortgage-backed securities at a loss of $496 million.
Management expects the total targeted reduction in securities levels of approximately $100 billion will result from the third-quarter sale,
combined with expected maturities and paydowns of mortgage-backed securities over the next couple of years. Accordingly, management
intends to hold the remaining mortgage-backed securities until recovery.

The securities portfolio also includes investments to a lesser extent in corporate, municipal and other investment grade debt securities. The
strategic shift in the balance sheet composition strategy did not impact these holdings. The Corporation has the intent to hold these securities to
recovery unless there is a significant deterioration in credit quality in any individual security.

During the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, we purchased debt securities of $3.5 billion and $9.7 billion and sold $45.8 billion
and $2.4 billion. Of the $45.8 billion sold in the quarter ended September 30, 2006, $35.9 billion settled in October 2006. The unsettled amount
at September 30, 2006, is reflected in Other Assets. We realized $(469) million and $29 million in Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities
during the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. During the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the portfolio had
maturities and received paydowns of $6.1 billion and $9.6 billion. As a result of a decrease in interest rates, combined with the securities sale,
the value of the Corporation s Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) related to AFS debt securities increased by $6.6 billion
(pre-tax) during the three months ended September 30, 2006. For further information, see Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, we purchased AFS debt securities of $38.3 billion and $200.4 billion, sold $53.1
billion and $133.4 billion, and had maturities and received paydowns of $17.7 billion and $31.4 billion. We realized $(464) million and $1.0
billion in Gains (Losses) on Sales of Debt Securities during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. As a result of the increase in
interest rates, combined with the securities sale, the value of the Corporation s Accumulated OCI related to AFS debt securities declined by $577
million (pre-tax) during the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

Accumulated OCI includes $3.1 billion in after-tax losses at September 30, 2006, related to unrealized losses associated with our AFS securities
portfolio, including $3.5 billion of unrealized losses related to AFS debt securities and $418 million of unrealized gains related to AFS equity
securities. Total market value of the AFS debt securities was $195.1 billion with a weighted average duration of 4.1 years and primarily relates
to our mortgage-backed securities portfolio.

Changes to the Accumulated OCI amounts for the AFS debt securities portfolio going forward will be driven by further interest rate or price
fluctuations, the collection of cash flows including prepayment and maturity activity, and the passage of time.

Residential Mortgage Portfolio

During the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, we purchased $1.1 billion and $10.5 billion of residential mortgages related to
ALM activities, sold $9.7 billion during the quarter in 2006 and had no whole mortgage loan sales during the quarter in 2005. We added $12.0
billion and $6.6 billion of originated residential mortgages to the balance sheet for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.
Additionally, we received paydowns of $6.1 billion and $9.8 billion for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, we purchased $30.8 billion and $25.0 billion of residential mortgages related to
ALM activities and sold $9.7 billion and $10.0 billion. We added $34.4 billion and $12.3 billion of originated residential mortgages to the
balance sheet for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. Additionally, we received paydowns of $18.2 billion and $28.0 billion
for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.

Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange Derivative Contracts
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Interest rate and foreign exchange derivative contracts are utilized in our ALM activities and serve as an efficient tool to mitigate our risk. We
use derivatives to hedge the changes in cash flows or market values of our balance sheet. See Note 4 of the Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information on our hedging activities.
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Our interest rate contracts are generally non-leveraged generic interest rate and foreign exchange basis swaps, options, futures, and forwards. In
addition, we use foreign exchange contracts, including cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward contracts, to mitigate the
foreign exchange risk associated with foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities, as well as certain equity investments in foreign
subsidiaries. Table 34 reflects the notional amounts, fair value, weighted average receive fixed and pay fixed rates, expected maturity, and
estimated duration of our open ALM derivatives at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.

The changes in our derivatives portfolio reflect actions taken for interest rate risk management. The decision to reposition our derivative
portfolio are based upon the current assessment of economic and financial conditions including the interest rate environment, balance sheet
composition and trends, and the relative mix of our cash and derivative positions. The notional amount of our net pay fixed swap position
(including foreign exchange contracts) increased $93.9 billion to $71.2 billion at September 30, 2006 compared to the net receive fixed position
of $22.8 billion at December 31, 2005. The notional amount of our option position increased $166.0 billion to $223.3 billion at September 30,
2006, compared to December 31, 2005. The increase in the notional amount of options was due primarily to the addition of caps and floors, used
to reduce the sensitivity of Net Interest Income to changes in market interest rates as described above. Futures and forward rate contracts are
comprised primarily of $117.0 billion of short Eurodollar futures at September 30, 2006 and $35.0 billion of forward purchase contracts of
mortgage-backed securities and mortgage loans at December 31, 2005. The forward purchase contracts outstanding at December 31, 2005,
settled from January 2006 to April 2006, with an average yield of 5.46 percent.

The following table includes derivatives utilized in our ALM activities, including those designated as SFAS 133 accounting hedges and those
used as economic hedges. The fair value of net ALM contracts increased from a loss of $386 million at December 31, 2005 to a gain of $439
million at September 30, 2006. The increase was attributable to gains from changes in the value of foreign exchange basis swaps of $1.6 billion,
receive fixed and pay fixed interest rate swaps of $983 million, and futures and forward rate contracts of $125 million, partially offset by losses
from changes in the values of foreign exchange contracts of $1.0 billion, and option products of $877 million. The increase in the value of
foreign exchange basis swaps was due to the strengthening of most foreign currencies against the dollar during the first nine months of 2006.
The increase in the value of receive fixed interest rate swaps was due to terminations, partially offset by losses due to increases in market interest
rates. The increase in the value of pay fixed interest rate swaps was due to gains from increases in market interest rates, partially offset by
terminations. The decrease in the value of foreign exchange contracts was due primarily to increases in interest rates in most foreign markets
during the nine months ended September 30, 2006. The decrease in the value of option products was primarily due to the termination of
swaptions.
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Table 34

Asset and Liability Management Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange Contracts

September 30, 2006

Expected Maturity

Average

(Dollars in millions, average Fair Estimated
estimated duration in years)  Value Total 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter Duration
Receive fixed interest rate
swaps (D $ (666) 5.04
Notional amount $ 55,265 $ 1,000 $ 2,795 $ 7,519 $ 3,900 $ 3,265 $ 36,786
Weighted average fixed rate 485 % 4.64 % 480 % 453 % 417 % 435 % 504 %
Pay fixed interest rate
swaps (D (149) 1.50
Notional amount $ 145,739 $ $ 50,000 $ 29,390 $ 51,000 $ $ 15,349
Weighted average fixed rate 519 % % 548 % 533 % 484 % %0 515 %
Foreign exchange basis
swaps @ 960
Notional amount $ 29,860 $ $ 174 $ 2,201 $ 2,951 $ 5,169 $ 19,365
Option products 3 472
Notional amount 223,278 205,000 18,176 68 34
Foreign exchange
contracts 9 (101)
Notional amount () 18,999 (413) 52 1,527 1,877 3,734 12,222
Futures and forward rate
contracts (0) 77

Notional amount () (116,998) 2 (62,000) (55,000)
Net ALM contracts $ 439

December 31, 2005

Expected Maturity

Average

(Dollars in millions, average Fair Estimated
estimated duration in years) Value Total 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter Duration
Receive fixed interest rate
swaps (D $ (1,390) 417
Notional amount $ 108,985 $ 4,337 $ 13,080 $ 6,144 $ 39,107 $ 10,387 $ 35,930
Weighted average fixed rate 462 % 475 % 4.66 % 402 % 451 % 443 % 477 %
Pay fixed interest rate
swaps (D (408) 3.85
Notional amount $ 102,281 $ 5,100 $ 55,925 $ 10,152 $ $ $31,104
Weighted average fixed rate 461 % 323 % 446 % 424 % % % 521 %
Foreign exchange basis
swaps @ (644)
Notional amount $ 17,806 $ 514 $ 174 $ 884 $ 2,839 $ 3,094 $ 10,301
Option products 3 1,349
Notional amount 57,246 57,246
Foreign exchange
contracts 4 909
Notional amount ) 16,061 1,335 51 1,436 1,826 3,485 7,928
Futures and forward rate
contracts (6) (202)
Notional amount ) 34716 34,716

Net ALM contracts $ (386)

(D At September 30, 2006, none of the receive fixed and $52.5 billion of the pay fixed swap notional represented forward starting swaps that will not be effective
until their respective contractual start dates. At December 31, 2005, $46.6 billion of the receive fixed swap notional and $41.9 billion of the pay fixed swap
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notional represented forward starting swaps that will not be effective until their respective contractual start dates.

(2 Foreign exchange basis swaps consist of cross-currency variable interest rate swaps used separately or in conjunction with receive fixed interest rate swaps.

() Option products include $150.1 billion in caps, $55.0 billion in floors and $18.2 billion in swaptions at September 30, 2006. Amounts at December 31, 2005
totaled $5.0 billion in caps and $52.2 billion in swaptions.

(4 Foreign exchange contracts include foreign-denominated receive fixed interest rate swaps, cross-currency receive fixed interest rate swaps and foreign currency
forward rate contracts. Total notional at September 30, 2006 was comprised of $19.3 billion in foreign-denominated and cross currency receive fixed swaps and
$309 million in foreign currency forward rate contracts. At December 31, 2005, the notional balance consisted entirely of $16.1 billion in foreign-denominated
and cross-currency fixed swaps.

(3 Reflects the net of long and short positions.

(®Futures and forward rate contracts include Eurodollar futures and forward purchase and sale contracts. Notional balances were mostly comprised of $117.0
billion in Eurodollar futures at September 30, 2006. At December 31, 2005, the position was comprised of $34.7 billion in forward purchase contracts.
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The Corporation uses interest rate and foreign exchange rate derivative instruments to hedge the variability in the cash flows of its assets and
liabilities, and other forecasted transactions (cash flow hedges). The net losses on both open and closed derivative instruments recorded in
Accumulated OCI net-of-tax at September 30, 2006 was $3.7 billion. These net losses are expected to be reclassified into earnings in the same
period when the hedged item affects earnings and will decrease income or increase expense on the respective hedged items. Assuming no change
in open cash flow derivative hedge positions and no changes to interest and foreign exchange rates beyond what is implied in the forward yield
curve at September 30, 2006, the net losses are expected to be reclassified into earnings as follows: 12 percent within the next year, 57
percent within five years, 83 percent within 10 years, with the remaining 17 percent thereafter. For more information on derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges, see Note 4 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The amounts included in Accumulated OCI for terminated derivative contracts were losses of $3.1 billion and $2.5 billion, net-of-tax, at
September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005. The increase in losses was attributable primarily to losses in the value of interest rate swaps that
were terminated during the nine month period. Losses on these terminated derivative contracts are reclassified into earnings in the same period
or periods during which the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.

Mortgage Banking Risk Management

Interest rate lock commitments (IRLCs) on loans intended to be sold are subject to interest rate risk between the date of the IRLC and the date
the loan is funded. Residential first mortgage loans held-for-sale are subject to interest rate risk from the date of funding until the loans are sold
to the secondary market. To hedge interest rate risk, we utilize forward loan sale commitments and other derivative instruments including
options. These instruments are used either as an economic hedge of IRLCs and residential first mortgage loans held-for-sale, or designated as a
cash flow hedge of residential first mortgage loans held-for-sale, in which case their net-of-tax unrealized gains and losses are included in
Accumulated OCI. At September 30, 2006, the notional amount of derivatives hedging the IRLCs and residential first mortgage loans
held-for-sale was $22.6 billion.

We manage changes in the value of MSRs by entering into derivative financial instruments. MSRs are a nonfinancial asset created when the
underlying mortgage loan is sold to investors and we retain the right to service the loan. We use certain derivatives such as options and interest
rate swaps as economic hedges of MSRs. At September 30, 2006, the amount of MSRs identified as being hedged by derivatives was
approximately $2.9 billion. The notional amount of the derivative contracts designated as economic hedges of MSRs at September 30, 2006 was
$39.0 billion. The changes in the fair values of the derivative contracts are substantially offset by changes in values of the MSRs that are hedged
by these derivative contracts. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, the changes in values attributed to economically
hedged MSRs were $(162) million and $310 million, offset by derivative hedge gains or (losses) of $260 million and $(179) million.

The Corporation has elected to adopt SFAS 156 Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets and account for consumer MSR s using the fair
value measurement method on January 1, 2006. See Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information as it relates to
this accounting standard. See Note 7 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on MSRs.

Operational Risk Management

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, including system conversions and
integration, and external events. Successful operational risk management is particularly important to a diversified financial services company
like ours because of the very nature, volume and complexity of our various businesses.

In keeping with our management governance structure, the lines of business are responsible for all the risks within the business including
operational risks. Such risks are managed through corporate-wide or line of business specific policies and procedures, controls, and monitoring
tools. Examples of these include personnel management practices, data reconciliation processes, fraud management units, transaction processing
monitoring and analysis, business recovery planning, and new product introduction processes.
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We approach operational risk from two perspectives: enterprise-wide and line of business-specific. The Compliance and Operational Risk
Committee, chartered in 2005 as a subcommittee of the Finance Committee, provides consistent communication and oversight of significant
operational and compliance issues and oversees the adoption of best practices. Two groups within Risk Management, Compliance Risk
Management and Enterprise Operational Risk Management, facilitate the consistency of effective policies, industry best practices, controls and
monitoring tools for managing and assessing operational risks across the Corporation. These groups also work with the line of business
executives and their Risk Management counterparts to implement appropriate policies, processes and assessments at the line of business level
and support groups. Compliance and operational risk awareness is also driven across the Corporation through training and strategic
communication efforts. For selected risks, we establish specialized support groups, such as Information Security and Supply Chain Management.
These specialized groups develop corporate-wide risk management practices, such as an information security program and a supplier program, in
order to ensure that suppliers adopt appropriate policies and procedures when performing work on behalf of the Corporation. These specialized
groups also assist the lines of business in the development and implementation of risk management practices specific to the needs of the
individual businesses.

At the line of business level, the Line of Business Risk Executives are responsible for monitoring adherence to corporate practices and oversight
of all operational risks in the line of business they support. Operational and compliance risk management, working in conjunction with senior
line of business executives, have developed key tools to help manage, monitor and summarize operational risk. One tool the businesses and
executive management utilize is a corporate-wide self-assessment process, which helps to identify and evaluate the status of risk issues,
including mitigation plans, if appropriate. Its goal is to continuously assess changing market and business conditions and evaluate all operational
risks impacting the line of business. The self-assessment process assists in identifying emerging operational risk issues and determining at the
line of business or corporate level how they should be managed. In addition to information gathered from the self-assessment process, key
operational risk indicators have been developed and are used to help identify trends and issues on both a corporate and a line of business level.

More generally, we mitigate operational risk through a broad-based approach to process management and process improvement. Improvement
efforts are focused on reduction of variation in outputs. We have a dedicated Quality and Productivity team to manage and certify the process
management and improvement efforts.

Recent Accounting and Reporting Developments
See Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of recently issued or proposed accounting pronouncements.

Complex Accounting Estimates

Our significant accounting principles as described in Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Corporation s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2006 are essential in understanding Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations. Many of our significant accounting principles require complex judgments to estimate values of assets and liabilities.
We have procedures and processes to facilitate making these judgments. For a complete discussion of our more judgmental and complex
accounting estimates, see Complex Accounting Estimates on pages 62 through 65 of Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Corporation s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2006.

Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
See Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Market Risk Management beginning on page 96
and the sections referenced therein for Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
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Item 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report and pursuant to Rule 13a-15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act), the
Corporation s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness and
design of the Corporation s disclosure controls and procedures (as that term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act). Based upon that
evaluation, the Corporation s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded, as of the end of the period covered by this report,
that the Corporation s disclosure controls and procedures were effective in recording, processing, summarizing and reporting information
required to be disclosed by the Corporation, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission s rules and forms.

Changes in internal controls

In addition and as of the end of the period covered by this report, there have been no changes in internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the quarter to which this report relates that have materially affected or are reasonably
likely to materially affect the Corporation s internal control over financial reporting.

Part II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

See Note 10 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for litigation and regulatory disclosure that supplements the disclosure in the Corporation s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2006, as well as the quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended June 30, 2006 and
March 31, 2006, and the Current Reports on Form 8-K filed since December 31, 2005.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
There are no material changes from the risk factors set forth under Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in the Corporation s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and the Use of Proceeds

See Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for information on the monthly share repurchase activity for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, including total common shares repurchased under announced programs, weighted average per share price
and the remaining buyback authority under announced programs.
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Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit 3(a) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the
Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 7, 1999

Exhibit 3(b) Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of the Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
of the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 30, 2004

Exhibit 3(c) Certificate of Designations of 6.204% Non-Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series D ( Series D Preferred Stock ) of the
Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 14,
2006

Exhibit 3(d) Certificate of Designations of Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series E ( Series E Preferred Stock ) of the

Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 6, 2006

Exhibit 3(e) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, as in effect on the date hereof, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of
the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2006

Exhibit 4(a) Specimen certificate of the Registrant s Series D Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Registrant s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 14, 2006

Exhibit 4(b) Deposit Agreement relating to the Series D Preferred Stock, dated September 6, 2006, among the Registrant, Computershare
Shareholder Services, Inc., Computershare Trust Company, N.A. and Holders from time to time of the Series D Preferred
Stock depositary shares, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
September 14, 2006

Exhibit 4(c) Form of Depositary Receipt for the Series D Preferred Stock depositary shares, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of
the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 14, 2006

Exhibit 4(d) Specimen certificate of the Registrant s Series E Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Registrant s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 6, 2006

Exhibit 4(e) Deposit Agreement relating to the Series E Preferred Stock, dated October 30, 2006, among the Registrant, Computershare
Shareholder Services, Inc., Computershare Trust Company, N.A. and Holders from time to time of the Series E Preferred
Stock depositary shares, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
November 6, 2006

Exhibit 4(f) Form of Depositary Receipt for the Series E Preferred Stock depositary shares, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of
the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 6, 2006

Exhibit 11 Earnings Per Share Computation - included in Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Exhibit 12 Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Dividends

Exhibit 31(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Exhibit 31(b) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Exhibit 32(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002

Exhibit 32(b) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Bank of America Corporation

Registrant

/s/ Neil A. Cotty

Date: November 8. 2006

Neil A. Cotty
Chief Accounting Officer

(Duly Authorized Officer)
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Index to Exhibits

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1

of the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 7, 1999

Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of the Registrant, incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 30, 2004
Certificate of Designations of 6.204% Non-Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series D ( Series D Preferred

Stock ) of the Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant s Current Report on Form

8-K filed September 14, 2006

Certificate of Designations of Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series E ( Series E Preferred
Stock ) of the Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant s Current Report on Form

8-K filed November 6, 2006

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, as in effect on the date hereof, incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2006

Specimen certificate of the Registrant s Series D Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of

the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 14, 2006
Deposit Agreement relating to the Series D Preferred Stock, dated September 6, 2006, among the Registrant,

Computershare Shareholder Services, Inc., Computershare Trust Company, N.A. and Holders from time to time
of the Series D Preferred Stock depositary shares, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 14, 2006

Form of Depositary Receipt for the Series D Preferred Stock depositary shares, incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.3 of the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 14, 2006

Specimen certificate of the Registrant s Series E Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of

the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 6, 2006
Deposit Agreement relating to the Series E Preferred Stock, dated October 30, 2006, among the Registrant,

Computershare Shareholder Services, Inc., Computershare Trust Company, N.A. and Holders from time to time

of the Series E Preferred Stock depositary shares, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant s
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Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 6, 2006

4(f) Form of Depositary Receipt for the Series E Preferred Stock depositary shares, incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.3 of the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 6, 2006
11 Earnings Per Share Computation - included in Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements

12 Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Dividends
31(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31(b) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32(b) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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